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Introduction

References to Financial Accounting Standards Board Pronouncements in This

Checklist

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements have made certain AICPA and Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements specifically applicable to governmental en-
tities. For example, GASB Statements No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended, and No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, require the appli-
cation of certain pronouncements of FASB and its predecessor standards-setting organizations issued be-
fore November 30, 1989, and permit the application of later FASB pronouncements in certain situations,
as discussed in chapter 2, "Financial Reporting," of AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local
Governments (with conforming changes as of March 1, 2010). For this reason, references to FASB pro-
nouncements and predecessor standards-setting organization pronouncements are included throughout
this checklist.

In January 2010, GASB issued proposed statement Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guid-
ance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and AICPA Pronouncements (found at www.gasb.org), the
purpose of which is to directly incorporate into GASB’s authoritative literature and financial reporting
requirements applicable to state and local government financial statements that currently reside in FASB
statements and interpretations, Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinions, and Accounting Research
Bulletins, issued on or before November 30, 1989 (collectively, the "FASB pronouncements"), that do not
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

FASB Accounting Standards Codificatione (ASC) disassembled and reassembled thousands of nongovern-
mental accounting pronouncements (including those of FASB, the Emerging Issues Task Force, and the
AICPA) to organize them under approximately 90 topics. FASB ASC became authoritative effective July
1, 2009, at which time it became the source of authoritative U.S. accounting and reporting standards, other

(continued)
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than guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), for nongovernmental entities
generally effective for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. FASB ASC did not
change U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or any requirements of the SEC; rather, it
is part of FASB’s efforts to reduce the complexity of accounting standards and also to facilitate interna-
tional convergence.

FASB ASC uses a topical structure in which guidance is organized into areas, topics, subtopics, sections,
and subsections. This effectively organizes the content without regard to the original standard setter or
standard from which the content was derived. Because this format would be of limited use in locating
the text of pronouncements that were issued on or before November 30, 1989, the accounting guidance in
this checklist has not been conformed to reflect reference to FASB ASC as described in the following
sections.

The references to FASB pronouncements in this checklist will be updated upon completion of the GASB
project. For ease of reference, this checklist continues to use the original FASB pronouncement references
rather than those of FASB ASC.

.01 This publication includes the following information, extracted from sections 13,000–13,400 of the
Financial Statement Preparation Manual (FSP):

● Financial Statements and Notes Checklist (FSP section 13,100). This checklist can be used by prepar-
ers of governmental financial statements prepared in conformity with GAAP and by practition-
ers who audit, review, or compile those financial statements as they evaluate the adequacy of
disclosures made in the basic financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and re-
quired supplementary information (RSI).

● Auditors’ Reports Checklist for Audits Performed in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards (FSP section 13,200). This checklist can be used by auditors in reporting on audits of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS).

● Auditors’ Reports Checklist for Audits Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
and OMB Circular A-133 (FSP section 13,300). This checklist can be used by auditors in reporting
on financial audits of financial statements in accordance with the Government Accountability
Office’s Government Auditing Standards (also referred to as the Yellow Book), issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, and on audits performed under the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996 and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.

● Illustrative Financial Statements (FSP section 13,400). These illustrative financial statements dem-
onstrate financial statement formats and disclosures appropriate for state and local govern-
ments.

.02 These checklists consider relevant standards through those in the following listing. Users should
modify the checklists, as appropriate, for subsequent standards. In determining the applicability of a stan-
dard, its effective date also should be considered.

The checklists have been updated to include relevant accounting and auditing pronouncements through
the following:

● GASB Statement No. 58, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Chapter 9 Bankruptcies
(continued)
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● GASB Interpretation No. 6, Recognition and Measurement of Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in
Governmental Fund Financial Statements—an interpretation of NCGA Statements 1, 4, and 5; NCGA
Interpretation 8; and GASB Statements No. 10, 16, and 18

● GASB Technical Bulletin No. 2008-1, Determining the Annual Required Contribution Adjustment for
Postemployment Benefits

● GASB Comprehensive Implementation Guide as of June 30, 2009

● FASB Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-19, Foreign Currency (Topic 830): Foreign Currency
Issues: Multiple Foreign Currency Exchange Rates (SEC Update)

● AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 07-1, Clarification of the Scope of the Audit and Accounting Guide
Investment Companies and Accounting by Parent Companies and Equity Method Investors for Invest-
ments in Investment Companies

● 2007 revision to Government Auditing Standards

● OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, as revised
on June 26, 2007

● AICPA Practice Bulletin No. 15, Accounting by the Issuer of Surplus Notes

● AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 120, Required Supplementary Information
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 558)

● Interpretation No. 19, "Financial Statements Prepared in Conformity With International Financial
Reporting Standards as Issued by the International Accounting Standards Board," of AU section
508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508
par. .93–.97)

● Revised interpretations issued through May 31, 2010, including Interpretation No. 4, "Appropri-
ateness of Identifying No Significant Deficiencies or No Material Weaknesses in an Interim Com-
munication," of AU section 325, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Au-
dit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9325 par. .11–.13)

● SOP 09-1, Performing Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements That Address the Completeness, Accuracy,
or Consistency of XBRL-Tagged Data (AICPA, Technical Practice Aids, AUD sec. 14,440)

● AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments (with conforming changes as of
March 1, 2010)

● AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits (with conforming
changes as of May 1, 2010)

The checklists and illustrative financial statements should be modified, as appropriate, for subsequent
pronouncements. In determining the applicability of a pronouncement, its effective date should also be
considered.

.03 These checklists and illustrative materials have been developed by the AICPA Accounting and Au-
diting Publications Staff to serve as nonauthoritative practice aids for use by preparers and auditors for the
financial statements of and federal financial assistance received by state and local governments. The Audit
and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments defines those entities that are state and local govern-
ments. This publication is an other auditing publication as defined in AU section 150, Generally Accepted
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Auditing Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1). Other auditing publications have no authoritative
status; however, they may help the auditor understand and apply SASs:

● The financial statements and notes checklist includes disclosures—whether in the basic financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements, or RSI—that preparers and auditors should
consider in governmental financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.1 The provi-
sions of accounting and financial reporting standards, including disclosure provisions, need not
be applied to immaterial items. The checklist does not include recognition and measurement
issues relating to preparing governmental financial statements. It also does not address addi-
tional disclosures applicable only to supplementary information other than RSI that accompa-
nies a government’s basic financial statements (for example, in a Comprehensive Annual Finan-
cial Report),2 specialized disclosure requirements for governmental health care organizations
and public entity risk pools contained in the Audit and Accounting Guides Health Care Entities
and Property and Liability Insurance Entities, or disclosures required by pronouncements that are
deemed remote for governmental financial statements. The items (including appendix A) in the
checklist that are derived solely from private-sector standards (such as those promulgated by
the FASB and the APB) may have limited applicability for governmental financial statements.
To determine the applicability of private-sector pronouncements to governmental financial
statements, see GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds
and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended by GASB State-
ment No. 29, The Use of Not-for-Profit Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles by Governmental
Entities, and No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for
State and Local Governments, and GASB Statement No 55, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Ac-
counting Principles for State and Local Governments.3

● The auditors’ reports checklists addresses those requirements most likely to be encountered
when reporting on GAAS and generally accepted government auditing standards audits of gov-
ernmental financial statements prepared in conformity with GAAP and reporting on compliance
over major programs in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. They do not include reporting
requirements relating to other matters, such as agreed-upon procedures or other attestation en-
gagements.

.04 Additional guidance concerning governmental financial reporting is provided in the AICPA Practice
Aid Applying OCBOA in State and Local Governmental Financial Statements (product no. 006614).

.05 These checklists sometimes uses the term financial position statements in a generic manner to refer to
one or more of the following—the government-wide statement of net assets, the governmental funds balance

1 Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 55, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for
State and Local Governments, incorporates the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for state and local govern-
ments into the GASB’s authoritative literature. It is intended to make it easier for preparers of state and local government financial
statements to identify and apply the "GAAP hierarchy," which consists of sources of accounting principles used in the preparation of
financial statements so that they are presented in conformity with GAAP and the framework for selecting those principles.

In August 2009, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board voted to withdraw AU section 411, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conform-
ity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, effective September 2009, the time at which standards issued by GASB, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB), and the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board establishing the respective "GAAP hierar-
chy" were generally effective.

2 For example, the financial statements and notes checklist does not address the provisions of GASB Statement No. 44, Economic
Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section—an amendment of NCGA Statement 1, which establishes and modifies requirements for the
supplementary information presented in a statistical section that accompanies the basic financial statements.

3 In January 2010, GASB issued proposed statement Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November
30, 1989, FASB and AICPA Pronouncements (found at www.gasb.org), the purpose of which is to directly incorporate into GASB’s author-
itative literature and financial reporting requirements applicable to state and local government financial statements that currently reside
in FASB statements and interpretations, Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins, issued on or before
November 30, 1989 (collectively, the "FASB pronouncements"), that do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. Among
other changes, the exposure draft proposes to eliminate the option for business type activities to follow post-November 30, 1989, FASB
pronouncements allowed in paragraph 7 of GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended.
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sheet, the proprietary funds statement of fund net assets or balance sheet, and the fiduciary funds statement
of fiduciary net assets. These checklists also sometimes uses the term activity statements in a generic manner
to refer to one or more of the following—the government-wide statement of activities; the governmental
funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances; the proprietary funds statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets or fund equity; and the fiduciary funds statement of
changes in fiduciary net assets.

.06 These checklists contain references to authoritative accounting and auditing standards using the fol-
lowing abbreviations and acronyms:

A-133 5 OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations (June 2007 revision)

AAG-SLA 5 AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133
Audits (with conforming changes as of May 1, 2010)

AAG-SLV 5 AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments (with
conforming changes as of March 1, 2010)

ACC 5 Reference to a section number in AICPA Technical Practice Aids, Statements of
Position—Accounting

APB 5 APB Opinion

ARB 5 Accounting Research Bulletin

AU 5 Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)

FIN 5 FASB Interpretation

GAS 5 Government Accountability Office 2007 revision to Government Auditing
Standards

GASB 5 GASB Statement

GASB Cod. sec. 5 Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards by
GASB (as of June 30, 2009)

GASBI 5 GASB Interpretation

GTB 5 Technical Bulletin issued by the staff of the GASB

NCGA 5 National Council on Governmental Accounting Statement

NCGAI 5 National Council on Governmental Accounting Interpretation

Q&A 5 GASB Comprehensive Implementation Guide as of June 30, 2009

SFAS 5 FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

.07 The checklists provide spaces for checking off or initialing each question or point to indicate that it
has been considered. Carefully review the topics listed and consider whether they represent potential disclo-
sure items for the reporting entity for which you are preparing or auditing financial statements. Users
should check or initial

● Yes—If the item is required and has been made appropriately.

● No—If the item is required but has not been made.

● N/A—If the item is not required to be made.
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.08 Users may find it helpful to include references to the location in the financial report where each item
marked "Yes" can be found. It also may be helpful to include on the checklists or elsewhere the reasons that
items marked "N/A" do not apply. It is important that the effect of any "No" response be considered on the
auditor’s report. A "No" response that is material to the financial statements may warrant a departure from
an unqualified opinion as discussed in paragraphs .20–.64 of AU section 508. If a "No" response is indicated,
the authors recommend that a notation be made in the margin to explain why the disclosure was not made
(for example, because the item was not considered to be material to the financial statements). A "No" re-
sponse to a required disclosure that is material may warrant the issuance of a qualified or adverse opinion
on the financial statements of the affected opinion unit4 or an explanatory paragraph on RSI. The right
margin may be used for other remarks or comments as appropriate, including cross-referencing to applica-
ble work papers where the support to a disclosure may be found.

.09 These checklists and illustrative financial statements have been prepared by the AICPA staff. They
have not been reviewed, approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted on by any senior technical committee
of the AICPA and do not represent official positions or pronouncements of the AICPA.

.10 The use of these or any other checklists requires the exercise of individual professional judgment
and should be used by, or under the supervision of, persons having adequate technical training and profi-
ciency in the application of GAAP, GAAS, and other applicable standards and requirements. These checkl-
ists and illustrative materials are not substitutes for original authoritative standards and requirements. Users
of these checklists are urged to refer directly to applicable standards and requirements when appropriate.
The checklists are not all-inclusive and are not intended to present minimum requirements. Users of the
checklists are encouraged to tailor them as required to meet specific circumstances of each particular en-
gagement. Users who have further questions may call the AICPA Technical Hotline at 877-242-7212.

4 See the discussion of opinion units in chapters 4, "General Auditing Considerations," and 14, "Audit Reporting," of the Audit and
Accounting Guide State and Local Governments.



7Financial Statements and Notes Checklist

FSP §13,100

FSP Section 13,100

Financial Statements and Notes Checklist

References to Financial Accounting Standards Board Pronouncements in

this Checklist

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements have made certain AICPA and Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements specifically applicable to governmental en-
tities. For example, GASB Statements No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended, and No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, require the appli-
cation of certain pronouncements of the FASB and its predecessor standards-setting organizations issued
before November 30, 1989, and permit the application of later FASB pronouncements in certain situations,
as discussed in chapter 2, "Financial Reporting," of AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local
Governments (with conforming changes as of March 1, 2010). For this reason, references to FASB pro-
nouncements and predecessor standards-setting organization pronouncements are included throughout
this checklist.

In January 2010, GASB issued a proposed statement, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989, FASB and AICPA Pronouncements (found at www.gasb.org),
the purpose of which is to directly incorporate into GASB’s authoritative literature and financial reporting
requirements applicable to state and local government financial statements that currently reside in FASB
Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principle Board Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulle-
tins, issued on or before November 30, 1989 (collectively, the FASB pronouncements), that do not conflict
with or contradict GASB pronouncements. Among other changes, the exposure draft proposes to elimi-
nate the option for business type activities to follow post-November 30, 1989, FASB pronouncements
allowed in paragraph 7 of GASB Statement No. 20.

The FASB Accounting Standards Codificatione (ASC) disassembled and reassembled thousands of nongov-
ernmental accounting pronouncements (including those of the FASB, Emerging Issues Task Force, and
the AICPA) to organize them under approximately 90 topics. FASB ASC became authoritative effective
July 1, 2009, at which time it became the source of authoritative U.S. accounting and reporting standards,
other than guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), for nongovernmental en-
tities generally effective for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. FASB ASC did
not change U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or any requirements of the SEC; rather,
it is part of FASB’s efforts to reduce the complexity of accounting standards and also to facilitate inter-
national convergence.

FASB ASC uses a topical structure in which guidance is organized into areas, topics, subtopics, sections,
and subsections. This effectively organizes the content without regard to the original standard setter or
standard from which the content was derived. Because this format would be of limited use in locating
the text of pronouncements that were issued on or before November 30, 1989, the accounting guidance in
this checklist has not been conformed to reflect reference to FASB ASC as described in the following
sections.

The references to FASB pronouncements in this checklist will be updated upon completion of the GASB
project. For ease of reference, this checklist continues to use the original FASB pronouncement references
rather than those of FASB ASC.
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.01 This checklist can be used by preparers of governmental financial statements prepared in conformity
with GAAP and by practitioners who audit, review, or compile those financial statements as they evaluate
the adequacy of disclosures made in the basic financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and
required supplementary information (RSI). This checklist is organized into the sections listed in the follow-
ing paragraph. Carefully review the topics listed and consider whether they represent potential disclosure
items for the government. Place a checkmark by those topics or sections considered applicable. Place an N/
A by those sections considered not applicable; those sections need not be completed. For example, if the
entity does not use the modified approach for infrastructure assets, place an N/A by item C, "Modified
Approach for Eligible Infrastructure Assets" in the section titled "Required Supplementary Information."

Place U by

Sections

Applicable

I. General Reporting

A. Overview

B. Comparative Financial Information

C. Accounting Changes

D. Prior-Period Adjustments

II. Government-Wide Financial Statements

A. Overview

B. Statement of Net Assets

C. Statement of Activities

III. Fund Financial Statements

A. Overview

B. Governmental Funds

C. Proprietary Funds

D. Fiduciary Funds

E. Interfund Activity and Balances

IV. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position

A. Cash, Investments, and Investment-Related Activity

B. Nonexchange Transactions

C. Inventories

D. Capital Assets, Including Intangible Assets

E. Clearing Account Assets

F. Liabilities, Including Debt

G. Net Position

V. Revenues and Expenses/Expenditures

A. Income on Investments and Investment-Related Activity

B. Nonexchange Transactions

C. Capital Asset-Related Revenues and Expenses/Expenditures

D. Other

VI. Note Disclosures

A. Focus of Note Disclosures

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

C. Cash, Investments, and Investment-Related Activity

D. Nonexchange Transactions

E. Capital Assets

F. Liabilities, Including Debt
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Place U by

Sections

Applicable

G. Contingencies and Commitments

H. Joint Costs That Include Fund Raising

I. Segment Disclosures

J. Subsequent Events

K. Related Parties, Including Component Units

L. Other Disclosures

VII. Specialized Topics

A. Organizational Relationships, Including Component Units
and Joint Ventures

B. Derivative Instruments

C. Escheat Property

D. Governmental External Investment Pools

E. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

F. Leases

G. Noninterest-Bearing Receivables and Payables

H. Employee Benefit Pension Plans

I. Employee Other Postemployment Benefit Plans

J. Pension Benefits—Employer Reporting

K. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions—Employer
Reporting

L. Pollution Remediation Obligations

M. Public Entity Risk Pools

N. Risk Financing and Related Financing Issues—Entities Other
Than Risk Pools

O. Sales and Pledges of Receivables and Future Revenues

P. Special Assessments

Q. Termination Benefits

R. Going Concern

S. Chapter 9 Bankruptcies

VIII. Required Supplementary Information

A. Management’s Discussion and Analysis

B. Budgetary Comparison Schedules

C. Modified Approach for Eligible Infrastructure Assets

D. Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit
Plans

E. Pensions and Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions—Employer Reporting

F. Public Entity Risk Pools

.02 Explanation of References:

AAG-SLV 5 AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments (with
conforming changes as of March 1, 2010)

ACC 5 Reference to a section number in AICPA Technical Practice Aids, Statements of
Position—Accounting
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APB 5 Accounting Principles Board Opinion

ARB 5 Accounting Research Bulletin

AU 5 Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)

FIN 5 Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation

GASB 5 Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement

GASB Cod. sec. 5 Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards by
GASB (as of June 30, 2009)

GASBI 5 GASB Interpretation

GTB 5 Technical Bulletin issued by the staff of GASB

NCGA 5 National Council on Governmental Accounting Statement

NCGAI 5 National Council on Governmental Accounting Interpretation

Q&A 5 GASB Comprehensive Implementation Guide 2008

SFAS 5 FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

.03 Checklist questionnaire:

Yes No N/A

I. General Reporting

A. Overview

1. Does the entity’s financial report consist of, at a minimum, a
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), basic finan-
cial statements (including the notes thereto), and applicable
RSI other than MD&A?

2. Except for certain entities as discussed in the following ques-
tions 3–5, do the entity’s basic financial statements present
both government-wide financial statements (GWFS) and fund
financial statements?
[GASB 34 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.102)]

3. If the entity is a special-purpose government engaged in a
single governmental program, has it chosen to combine the
fund financial statements and the GWFS using a columnar
format that reconciles individual line items of fund financial
data to government-wide data in a separate column on the
face of the financial statements rather than at the bottom of
the statements or in an accompanying schedule? (Alterna-
tively, a single-program government may present separate
government-wide and fund financial statements and may
present its government-wide statement of activities using a
different format—for example, by presenting a single column
that reports expenses first followed by revenues (by major
sources), with the resulting net revenue (expense) followed
by contributions to permanent and term endowments, special
and extraordinary items, transfers, and beginning and ending
net assets.)
[GASB 34 par. 136–137 (GASB Cod. sec. Sp20.105–.106)]



11Financial Statements and Notes Checklist

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

4. If the entity is a special-purpose government engaged only in
business-type activities, does it present only the financial
statements required for enterprise funds? (Note that entities
that reported as of June 30, 1999, using AICPA Statement of
Position 78-10, Accounting Principles and Reporting Practices for
Certain Nonprofit Organizations, or Industry Audit Guide Au-
dits of Voluntary Health and Welfare Organizations,, but that do
not meet the criteria for reporting using enterprise funds,
may nevertheless choose to report as special-purpose govern-
ments engaged only in business-type activities.)
[GASB 29 par. 5, as amended by GASB 34 par. 147 (GASB
Cod. sec. Sp20.111); GASB 34 par. 138 (GASB Cod. sec.
Sp20.107)]

5. If the entity is a special-purpose government engaged only in
fiduciary activities, does it present only the financial state-
ments required for fiduciary funds?
[GASB 34 par. 139 (GASB Cod. sec. Sp20.108)]

6. Is each financial statement properly titled?
[Generally Accepted]

7. Is each page of the basic financial statements referenced to the
notes to the financial statements (and to the summary of sig-
nificant accounting policies, if presented as a stand-alone
summary)?
[NCGAI 6 par. 8, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2300.110)]

B. Comparative Financial Information

1. If comparative financial statements are presented, are the
notes and other disclosures included in the financial state-
ment of the preceding year(s) repeated, or at least referred to,
to the extent that they continue to be of significance?
[ARB 43 ch. 2A par. 2]

2. If changes occurred in the manner of or basis for presenting
corresponding items for two or more periods, are appropriate
explanations of the changes disclosed?
[ARB 43 ch. 2A par. 3]

3. If prior-period financial information is presented in a partial
or summarized manner and does not include the minimum
information required by GAAP, is the nature of the prior-pe-
riod information described by the use of appropriate titles on
the face of the financial statements and in a note to the finan-
cial statements?
[AAG-SLV 2.54]

C. Accounting Changes

1. Is the implementation of any new GASB standard reported as
provided in the transition section of the standard?
[Generally Accepted]



12 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

2. Are changes in accounting principles, addressed in APB
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, as amended, reported as
restatements of beginning net assets or fund equity, or both,
not as a separately identified cumulative effect in the current-
period statement of activities or proprietary fund statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets?1

[GASB 34 fn 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600 fn 3)]

3. For an accounting change, does disclosure in the period of the
change include

a. nature of the change?

b. justification for the change and a clear explanation of
why the newly adopted principle is preferable?

c. amount of the change?2

[APB 20 par. 17, 19, 28, and 35]

4. Are changes in the entity’s policy for determining which
items are treated as cash equivalents in the statement of cash
flows reported by restating financial statements for earlier
years presented for comparative purposes?
[GASB 9 par. 11]

5. Are the effects of changes in accounting estimates disclosed?3

[APB 20 par. 31–33]

a. Is a change to depreciation from the modified approach
for eligible infrastructure assets (and visa versa) re-
ported as a change in accounting estimate?
[GASB 34 fn 21 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400 fn 8); GASB 37
par. 8]

6. For accounting changes that are corrections of errors in pre-
viously issued financial statements, is the nature and effect on
current-period amounts disclosed?4

[APB 20 par. 37]

D. Prior-Period Adjustments

1. For prior-period adjustments

a. for single-period statements, does the disclosure indi-
cate the effects of such restatement on net assets or
fund, or both, equity at the beginning of the period and
on the results of operations of the immediately preced-
ing period?

1 Although Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—a replacement
of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3, superseded Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes
(effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005), it did not supersede
APB Opinion No. 20 for a governmental entity’s funds and activities (a) that are required to apply private-sector pronouncements issued
on or before November 30, 1989, and (b) that do not choose to apply all FASB statements and interpretations issued after November 30,
1989, except for those that conflict with or contradict Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. If a govern-
ment applies post-November 30, 1989, FASB pronouncements, the GASB website (www.gasb.org) includes a nonauthoritative chart that
provides guidance on the applicability of those pronouncements.

2 See footnote 1.
3 See footnote 1.
4 See footnote 1.
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b. if financial statements for more than one period are
presented, does disclosure include the effects for each
of the periods presented in the statements?
[APB 9 par. 26]

2. If the prior-period adjustments pertain to historical summa-
ries of financial data, are the adjustments reflected therein
with appropriate disclosure?
[APB 9 par. 27]

3. If the current-period financial statements will have to be re-
stated in the future because a GASB or FASB pronouncement
will require retroactive application of its provisions by prior
period adjustment, are the impending change in principle
and the resulting restatement disclosed if they are considered
essential data?
[Interpretation 3 of AU 410 (AU 9410.13–.16)]

4. For an adjustment of an extraordinary item reported in a
prior period

a. is the adjustment classified separately as an extraordi-
nary item in the current period?

b. are the nature, year of origin, and amount of the item
disclosed?
[SFAS 16 par. 16(c)]

II. Government-Wide Financial Statements

A. Overview

1. Do the GWFS

a. consist of a statement of net assets and a statement of
activities?
[GASB 34 par. 12]

b. display information about the reporting government as
a whole, including the primary government and its
component units, except for the fiduciary funds of the
primary government and component units that are fi-
duciary in nature?5

[GASB 34 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.111)]

5 In March 2010, GASB issued the proposed statement The Financial Reporting Entity: An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No.
34, which will modify certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity upon its adoption. For
organizations that previously were required to be included as component units by meeting the fiscal dependency criterion, a financial
benefit or burden relationship also would have to be present between the primary government and that organization for it to be included
in the reporting entity as a component unit. For organizations that do not meet the financial accountability criteria for inclusion as
component units but that, nevertheless, should be included because the primary government’s management determines it would be
misleading to exclude them, the proposed statement would clarify the manner in which the determination should be made and the types
of relationships that generally should be considered in making the determination. Additionally, the proposed statement would also
amend the criteria for reporting component units as if they were part of the primary government (blending) in certain circumstances.
The proposed statement would be effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2012, with earlier application
encouraged. More information is available at www.gasb.org.
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c. include the activity and balances of blended component
units that are reported in the governmental and propri-
etary funds as if they were part of the primary govern-
ment?
[GASB 14 par. 52, and GASB 34 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec.
2600.112)]

i. Is the entity’s component unit Tobacco Settle-
ment Authority included as a blended compo-
nent unit?
[GTB 04-1 par. 10–11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.601)]

d. use separate rows and columns to distinguish between
the total primary government and its discretely pre-
sented component units and between the governmental
and business-type activities of the primary govern-
ment?
[GASB 34 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.110); GASB 34
par. 14–15 (GASB Cod. sec. 2100.110, 2200.112–.113,
and 2600.101)]

e. present a total column for the primary government?
[GASB 34 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.112)]

f. include one or more columns to display the combined
data of the discretely presented component units, lo-
cated to the right of the total column of the primary
government and using a descriptive column heading?
[GASB 14 par. 44 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.107)]

i. Are the legally separate, tax-exempt organiza-
tions that are reported as component units be-
cause they meet the criteria of GASB Statement
No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations
Are Component Units—an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 14 par. 5 (GASB Cod. Section
2100.140), included as discretely presented com-
ponent units?
[GASB 39 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.105)]

2. Is the reporting for governmental and business-type activities
based on all applicable GASB pronouncements, as well as
FASB statements and interpretations, APB opinions, and
ARBs issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those
pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pro-
nouncements?
[GASB 34 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.104)]

3. Is the use of all noncontradictory, nonconflicting FASB state-
ments and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989, for
business-type activities based on the application of those pro-
nouncements in the underlying enterprise funds?
[GASB 34 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.104); Q&A, item
7.8.1)]

B. Statement of Net Assets

1. Does the statement report all financial and capital resources?
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2. Is the statement presented either in a format that displays as-
sets less liabilities equal net assets (encouraged) or uses the
traditional balance sheet format (assets equal liabilities plus
net assets)?
[GASB 34 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.115)]

3. Are assets and liabilities presented either in order of their rel-
ative liquidity (encouraged) or classified between current and
long-term (including presentation of restricted assets) using
the provisions of chapter 3 of ARB 43, Restatement and Revi-
sion of Accounting Research Bulletins and GASB Statement No.
34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, paragraph 99?
[GASB 34 par. 31, 97, 99, and fn 23 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.116
and fn 12)]

a. If making a liquidity presentation, are liabilities whose
average maturities are greater than one year reported
in two components—the amount due within one year
and the amount due in more than one year?
[GASB 34 par. 31 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.116)]

4. Concerning internal balances:

a. Are amounts reported in the funds as interfund receiv-
ables and payables (including amounts owing between
the primary government and blended component
units) eliminated in the governmental and business-
type activities columns of the statement of net assets,
except for the net residual amounts due between gov-
ernmental and business-type activities, which should
be presented as internal balances?

b. Are amounts reported in the funds as receivable from
or payable to fiduciary funds included in the statement
of net assets as receivable from and payable to external
parties (consistent with the nature of fiduciary funds),
rather than as internal balances?

c. Are all internal balances eliminated in the total primary
government column?
[GASB 34 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.103 and
2200.146); GASB 34 par. 61 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.106
and 2200.149)]

5. Are amounts payable and receivable between the primary
government and its discretely presented component units or
between those components reported on a separate line?
[GASB 34 par. 61 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.106 and 2200.149)]
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6. Are internal service fund asset and liability balances that are
not eliminated in the statement of net assets reported in the
governmental activities column unless enterprise funds are
the predominant or only participants in an internal service
fund? (If enterprise funds are the predominant or only partic-
ipants in an internal service fund, that internal service fund’s
residual assets and liabilities should be reported within the
business-type activities column.)
[GASB 34 par. 62 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.107 and 2200.150)]

7. Is the difference between assets and liabilities reported as "net
assets"?
[GASB 34 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.115)]

8. Are net assets displayed in three components—invested in
capital assets, net of related debt; restricted (distinguishing
between major categories of restrictions); and unrestricted?
[GASB 34 par. 32 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.132 and 2200.117)]

a. When permanent endowments or permanent fund
principal amounts are included, is "restricted net as-
sets" displayed in two additional compo-
nents—expendable and nonexpendable?
[GASB 34 par. 35 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.138 and
2200.123)]

9. Are designations of net assets not reported on the face of the
statement?
[GASB 34 par. 37 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.140 and 2200.125)]

C. Statement of Activities

1. Does the statement present activities accounted for in govern-
mental funds by function and those activities accounted for
in enterprise funds by different identifiable activities? (Here-
inafter, this checklist uses the term function to refer to the
minimum required level of detail for both governmental and
business-type activities in the statement of activities.)
[GASB 37 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.123 and 2200.127)]

2. Is the statement presented in a format that presents expenses
before program revenues, thereby reporting the net (expense)
revenue of its individual functions?
[GASB 34 par. 38 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.126)]

3. Are general revenues, contributions to term and permanent
endowments, contributions to permanent fund principal, spe-
cial items, extraordinary items, and transfers reported sepa-
rately after the total net expenses of the government’s func-
tions, ultimately arriving at the "change in net assets" for the
period?
[GASB 34 par. 38 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.126); GASB 34 par. 52
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.127 and 2200.140); GASB 34 par. 53
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.128 and 2200.141); GASB 34 par. 55
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.129–.130 and 2200.143–.144)]
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a. Are special items reported before extraordinary items?
[GASB 34 par. 56 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.130 and
2200.144)]

4. Are all expenses reported by function and consistent with
those functions reported in the fund level statements (as ap-
plicable), except for those that are special or extraordinary
items?

5. At a minimum, does the entity report direct expenses for each
function?
[GASB 34 par. 41 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.125 and 2200.129)]

6. If the entity allocates some or all of its indirect expenses
among functions, are direct and indirect expenses presented
in separate columns?
[GASB 34 par. 42 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.130)]

7. Except as provided in GASB Statement No. 34 par. 46, is in-
terest on general long-term liabilities reported as a separate
line item that clearly indicates that it excludes direct interest
expenses, if any, reported in other functions, with the amount
excluded disclosed in the notes or presented on the face of
the statement?
[GASB 34 par. 46 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.134)]

8. Are program revenues separately reported in three catego-
ries—charges for services; program-specific operating grants
and contributions; and program-specific capital grants and
contributions?
[GASB 34 par. 48 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.126 and 2200.136)]

9. Are all taxes, which are general revenues, reported by type of
tax?
[GASB 34 par. 52 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.127 and 2200.140)]

10. Concerning internal activity:

a. Are resource flows between the primary government
and blended component units reclassified as internal
activity?
[GASB 34 par. 61 (GASB Cod sec. 1800.106 and
2200.149); GTB 04-1 par. 22–23 (GASB Cod. sec.
T50.601)]

b. Are eliminations made in the statement of activities to
remove the "doubling-up" effect of internal service
fund activity and similar internal events that are, in ef-
fect, allocations of overhead expenses from one func-
tion to another or within the same function?
[GASB 34 par. 59 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.104 and
2200.147)]

c. Is the effect of interfund services provided and used be-
tween functions not eliminated in the statement of ac-
tivities?
[GASB 34 par. 60 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.105 and
2200.148)]
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11. Are resource flows (except those that affect the statement of
net assets only, such as loans and repayments) between a pri-
mary government and its discretely presented component
units reported as if they were external transactions—that is,
as revenues and expenses?
[GASB 34 par. 61 (GASB Cod sec. 1800.106 and 2200.149);
GTB 04-1 par. 22–23 (GASB Cod. sec. T50.601)]

III. Fund Financial Statements

Practice Tips

GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, enhances the
usefulness of fund balance information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be
more consistently applied and by clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions. This state-
ment establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent
to which a government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported
in governmental funds.

The initial distinction that is made in reporting fund balance information is identifying amounts that
are considered nonspendable, such as fund balance associated with inventories. This statement also
provides for additional classification as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned based on the
relative strength of the constraints that control how specific amounts can be spent.

The restricted fund balance category includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes
stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation. The committed
fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes deter-
mined by a formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. Amounts in
the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the government for specific purposes
but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental funds other
than the general fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or
committed. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the government’s general fund
and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other funds, the un-
assigned classification should be used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for
specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned. Governments are
required to disclose information about the processes through which constraints are imposed on
amounts in the committed and assigned classifications.

Governments also are required to classify and report amounts in the appropriate fund balance classi-
fications by applying their accounting policies that determine whether restricted, committed, assigned,
and unassigned amounts are considered to have been spent. Disclosure of the policies in the notes to
the financial statements is required.

This statement also provides guidance for classifying stabilization amounts on the face of the balance
sheet and requires disclosure of certain information about stabilization arrangements in the notes to
the financial statements.

The definitions of the general fund, special revenue fund type, capital projects fund type, debt service
fund type, and permanent fund type are clarified by the provisions in this statement. Interpretations
of certain terms within the definition of the special revenue fund type have been provided and, for
some governments, those interpretations may affect the activities they choose to report in those funds.
The capital projects fund type definition also was clarified for better alignment with the needs of pre-
parers and users. Definitions of other governmental fund types also have been modified for clarity and
consistency.

The requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after
June 15, 2010. Early implementation is encouraged. Fund balance reclassifications made to conform to
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the provisions of this statement should be applied retroactively by restating fund balance for all prior
periods presented.

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 54 should also answer questions 12–18.

A. Overview

1. Does the entity report governmental, proprietary, and fiduci-
ary funds to the extent that it has activities that meet the cri-
teria for using those funds?
[GASB 34 par. 63 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102)]

2. Are separate financial statements presented for the three fund
categories—governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary—after
the government-wide financial statements?
[GASB 34 par. 6b(2) and 74 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.102b(2) and
.148)]

B. Governmental Funds

1. Is the general fund used to account for all financial resources
except those required to be reported in another fund?
[NCGA 1 par. 26 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.104)]

a. Are resources that are provided for administrative
costs and fees of a state’s unemployment programs ac-
counted for in the general fund unless legal require-
ments exist that require the resources be reported in an-
other fund?
[NCGAI 9 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. U50.101)]

b. If an employer government reports using more than
one fund and a single fund is used to report on-behalf
payments for fringe benefits and salaries, is that fund
the general fund unless the on-behalf payments relate
entirely to another fund?
[GASB 24 par. 11 and fn 8 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.133 and
fn 19)]

2. Does the entity report only one general fund?
[NCGAI 9 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.116)]

3. Is the primary government’s general fund the only general
fund for the reporting entity?
[GASB 14 par. 54 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.116 and 2600.114)]

4. Are special revenues funds used to account for the proceeds
of specific revenue sources (other than trusts for individuals,
private organizations, or other governments or for major cap-
ital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditure for
specified purposes? (Resources restricted to expenditure for
purposes normally financed from the general fund may be
accounted for through the general fund provided that appli-
cable legal requirements can be appropriately satisfied; and
use of special revenue funds is not required unless they are
legally mandated.)
[NCGA 1 par. 26, as amended, and 30 (GASB Cod. sec.
1300.105); NCGA 1 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.117)]
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a. Is the general fund of a blended component unit re-
ported as a special revenue fund?
[GASB 14 par. 54 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.105 and .116
and 2600.114)]

5. Are capital projects funds used to account for financial re-
sources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major
capital facilities, including those outlays financed by general
obligation bond proceeds (other than those financed by pro-
prietary funds or in trust funds for individuals, private or-
ganizations, or other governments)?
[NCGA 1 par. 10 and par. 26, as amended by GASB 34 par.
69 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.106)]

6. Are debt service funds used to account for the accumulation
of resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt
principal and interest? (Debt service funds are required if
they are legally mandated or if financial resources are being
accumulated for principal and interest payments maturing in
future years.)
[NCGA 1 par. 26 and 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.107); NCGA 1
par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.117)]

7. Are permanent funds used to report resources that are legally
restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal,
may be used for purposes that support the entity’s pro-
grams—that is, for the benefit of the government or its citi-
zenry? (An example is a cemetery perpetual-care fund that
provides resources for the ongoing maintenance of a public
cemetery.)
[GASB 34 par. 65 and fn 32 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.108 and fn
3)]

8. Do the governmental fund financial statements

a. consist of a balance sheet (displaying assets equal lia-
bilities plus fund balances) and a statement of reve-
nues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances?
[GASB 34 par. 78 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102a and
2200.155); GASB 34 par. 83 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.156)]

b. include the governmental funds of blended component
units and blended component units that are govern-
mental in nature?
[GASB 14 par. 52 and 54 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.112 and
.114); GASB 34 par. 125 (GASB Cod. sec. 2100.110 and
2600.101)]

c. present the financial information of the entity’s main
operating fund (the general fund or its equivalent) and
each other major governmental fund in a separate col-
umn?
[GASB 34 par. 75–76, 83, and 86 (GASB Cod. sec.
2200.152–.153, .156, and .159)]
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d. display the aggregate nonmajor governmental funds in
a single column, regardless of fund type?
[GASB 34 par. 75, 83, and 86 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.152,
.156, and .159)]

e. display a total column for all governmental funds?
[GASB 34 par. 83 and 86 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.156 and
.159)]

f. present summary reconciliations to the GWFS on the
face of the financial statements or in accompanying
schedules?
[GASB 34 par. 77, 85, and 90 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.154,
.158, and .163); Q&A, item 7.57.2]

9. Are the governmental fund financial statements presented us-
ing the current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting?
[GASB 34 par. 79 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102a)]

10. Does the balance sheet

a. not report asset valuation accounts or deferred reve-
nues as reserves?
[NCGA 1 par. 119 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.143)]

b. report accumulated earmarked net assets for eventual
payment of unmatured general long-term indebtedness
as a part of fund balance—for example, as unreserved,
designated fund balance, if appropriate?
[GASBI 6 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.124)]

c. segregate fund balances into reserved and unreserved
amounts?
[NCGA 1 par. 118 and 121 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.142
and .145); GASB 34 par. 84 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.157)]

d. report fund balance reserves

i. for encumbrances outstanding at year-end?
[NCGA 1 par. 91 (GASB Cod. sec. 1700.128)]

ii. for inventories, to indicate the portion of fund
balance that is not available for appropriation
and expenditure at the financial statement date?
[NCGA 1 par. 118 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.142)]

iii. for contractual commitments to third parties that
are not liabilities at the financial statement date?

iv. for prepaid items?

v. for noncurrent receivables that are not offset by
deferred revenue?

vi. for the noncurrent portion of interfund receiva-
bles?
[AAG-SLV 10.10]
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e. Display reserved fund balances of the combined non-
major funds in sufficient detail to disclose the purposes
of the reservations (for example, reserved for debt ser-
vice or reserved for encumbrances)?

f. Display unreserved fund balances of nonmajor funds
by fund type?
[GASB 34 par. 84 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.143 and
2200.157)]

g. Display or parenthetically disclose fund balance desig-
nations as part of unreserved fund balances? (Alterna-
tively, designations may be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.)
[NCGA 1 par. 120 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.144)]

i. Does the display of fund balance designations
not result in reporting negative undesignated
balances at year-end?
[AAG-SLV 10.17]

11. Does the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in
fund balances

a. present the following information, in the following se-
quence:

i. Revenues (detailed)?

ii. Expenditures (detailed)?

iii. Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expendi-
tures?

iv. Other financing sources and uses, including
transfers (detailed)?

v. Special and extraordinary items (detailed)?

vi. Net change in fund balances?

vii. Fund balances (both reserved and unre-
served)—beginning of period?

viii. Fund balances—end of period?
[GASB 34 par. 86 and 89 and fn 38 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2200.156 and .159, and fn 27)]

b. classify revenues by major source?
[NCGA 1 par. 110 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.115); GASB 34
par. 87 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.160)]

c. classify expenditures at a minimum by function?
[NCGA 1 par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.117); GASB 34
par. 87 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.160)]

d. classify debt issue costs, both those paid out of debt
proceeds and those paid from existing resources, as ex-
penditures?
[GASB 34 par. 87 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.110 and
2200.160)]
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e. classify the following as other financing sources and
uses:

i. The face amount of long-term debt not recorded
as fund liabilities, in captions such as "Bonds Is-
sued" or "Long-Term Notes Issued" (except for
the proceeds of special assessment debt for which
the government is not obligated in any manner)?
[NCGA 1 par. 108, as amended (GASB Cod. sec.
1500.110 and 1800.108); GASB 6 par. 19 (GASB
Cod. sec. S40.119); GASB 7 par. 8, as amended
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.109); GASB 34 par. 88, as
amended (GASB Cod. sec. 1500.110, 1800.108,
and 2200.161)]

ii. Issuance premium or discount?
[GASB 34 par. 88 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.108 and
2200.161)]

iii. Payments to escrow agents for bond refundings
from resources provided by the new debt?
[GASB 7 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.109); GASB
34 par. 88 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.108 and
2200.161)]

iv. Transfers?
[GASB 34 par. 88 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.161);
GASB 34 par. 112b(1) (GASB Cod. sec.
1800.102b(1))]

v. Sales of capital assets (unless the sale meets the
criteria for reporting as a special item)?
[GASB 34 par. 88 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.113 and
2200.161)]

f. report special and extraordinary items separately
within a "special and extraordinary items" classification
if both occur during the same period?

g. separately identify significant transactions or other
events that are either unusual or infrequent but are not
within the control of management within the appropri-
ate revenue or expenditure category? (Alternatively,
these items may be disclosed in the notes to the finan-
cial statements.)

h. not report debt refundings as extraordinary items?
[GASB 34 par. 89 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.131 and
2200.162)]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 54 should

also answer questions 12–18.

12. Is the general fund used to account for and report all financial
resources that are not accounted for and reported in another
fund?
[GASB 54 par. 29]
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13. If special revenue funds are reported, are they used to ac-
count for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources
that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified
purposes (other than debt service or capital projects) and
where the specific revenue sources are expected to comprise
a substantial portion of the inflows reported in the fund?
[GASB 54 par. 30–31]

14. If capital projects funds are reported, are they used to account
for and report financial resources that are restricted, commit-
ted, or assigned to be used for the acquisition or construction
of capital facilities or other capital assets, including those out-
lays financed by general obligation bond proceeds (other than
those financed by proprietary funds or in trust funds for in-
dividuals, private organizations, or other governments)?
[GASB 54 par. 33]

15. Are debt service funds used to account for and report finan-
cial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to
expenditure of principal and interest?
[GASB 54 par. 34]

16. Are fund balances segregated between restricted, committed
or assigned and nonspendable fund balances?
[GASB 54 par. 22–25]

a. Are nonspendable resources only those that cannot be
spent readily with cash or are legally or contractually
required not to be spent, including but not limited to
inventories, prepaid items, and long term balances of
loans and accounts receivable?
[GASB 54 par. 22–25]

17. Are fund balances further segregated by restricted, commit-
ted or assigned?

a. Are restricted balances only those that have revenues
that are segregated by legislation or constitutional pro-
visions or externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other govern-
ments?

b. Are committed balances only those that have revenues
that are used for specific purposes, imposed by formal
action of the government’s highest level of decision
making authority and can only be changed by a similar
action (for example, law, ordinance, or resolution)?

c. For other governmental funds, are all amounts not re-
ported as restricted or committed, reported as assigned
in accordance with the intent of the governing body or
its designee, and are amounts in the general fund re-
ported as assigned where the government has docu-
mented intent to spend those resources in some man-
ner?

d. Are positive unassigned amounts reported only in the
general fund?
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e. If governmental fund (other than the general fund) ex-
penditures incurred for a specific purpose exceed
amounts that are restricted, committed, and assigned to
that purpose resulted in a negative residual balance for
that purpose, were amounts assigned to other purposes
in the fund reduced to eliminate the deficit?

f. If a deficit remains related to a specific purpose (see
17e) after using amounts assigned to other purposes to
eliminate it, or if there are no amounts assigned to
other purposes, has the remaining negative residual
amount been classified as unassigned fund balance?
[GASB 54 par. 8, 10, 13, and 19–25]

18. If aggregated amounts are presented in the balance sheet, are
disaggregated amounts presented in the notes to the basic fi-
nancial statements in amounts for specific purposes in suffi-
cient detail so that the major commitments and assignments
are evident to the financial statement user?
[GASB 54 par. 22–25]

C. Proprietary Funds

1. Are enterprise funds used to report

a. only activities for which a fee is charged to external
users for goods or services?

b. activities that are financed with debt that is secured
solely by a pledge of the net revenues from fees and
charges to external users for the activity?

c. activities for which laws or regulations require that the
activity’s costs of providing services, including capital
costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be recov-
ered with fees and charges to external users?

d. activities with pricing policies that establishes fees and
charges to external users designed to recover its costs,
including capital costs?
[GASB 34 par. 67 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.109)]

e. a state’s unemployment compensation benefit plan?
[NCGAI 9 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. U50.101); GASB 34 fn
34 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300 fn 5)]

2. Are internal service funds only used to report activities that
provide goods or services to other funds, departments, or
agencies of the primary government and its component units,
or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis and
for which the reporting government is the predominant par-
ticipant in the activity?
[GASB 34 par. 68 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.110)]
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3. Do the proprietary fund financial statements

a. consist of a statement of net assets or balance sheet; a
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund
net assets or fund equity; and a statement of cash
flows? (Hereinafter, this checklist uses the terms state-
ment of net assets and statement of revenues, expenses, and
changes in fund net assets when referring specifically to
the proprietary fund financial statements.)
[GASB 34 par. 91 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102b, 2200.164,
and P80.106)]

b. include the proprietary funds of blended component
units and blended component units that are proprie-
tary in nature?
[GASB 14 par. 52 and 54 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.112 and
.114); GASB 34 par. 125 (GASB Cod. sec. 2100.110 and
2600.101)]

c. present the financial information of each major enter-
prise fund in a separate column?

d. display aggregate nonmajor enterprise funds in a single
column?
[GASB 34 par. 75 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.152 and
P80.107); GASB 34 par. 96 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.165
and P80.111)]

e. display a total column for all enterprise funds?
[GASB 34 par. 96 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.165 and
P80.111)]

f. display the aggregate internal service funds in a single
column to the right of the total enterprise funds col-
umn?
[GASB 34 par. 96 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.165 and
P80.111); GASB 34 fn 35 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200 fn 24 and
P80 fn 5)]

g. present summary reconciliations to the GWFS, if there
are reconciling differences, on the face of the financial
statements or in accompanying schedules?
[GASB 34 par. 77 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.154 and
P80.109); GASB 34 par. 104 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.173
and P80.110); Q&A, item 7.57.2]

4. Are the proprietary fund financial statements presented using
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting?
[GASB 34 par. 92 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102b and P80.102)]

5. Are proprietary funds reported based on all applicable GASB
pronouncements, as well as FASB statements and interpreta-
tions, APB opinions, and ARBs issued on or before November
30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with or con-
tradict GASB pronouncements?
[GASB 1 par. 8, and GASB 20 par. 6, as amended by GASB 34
par. 93 (GASB Cod. sec. P80.102)]
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6. Do enterprise funds that apply the provisions of all noncon-
tradictory, nonconflicting FASB statements and interpreta-
tions issued after November 30, 1989, apply only those post-
November 30, 1989 FASB statements and interpretations that
are developed for business enterprises?
[GASB 29 par. 7, as amended by GASB 34 par. 94 (GASB Cod.
sec. P80.103)]

7. Is the statement of net assets presented either in a format that
displays assets less liabilities equal net assets or using a bal-
ance sheet format (assets equal liabilities plus net assets)?
[GASB 34 par. 98 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.167 and P80.113)]

8. Does the statement of net assets

a. present assets and liabilities in a classified format to
distinguish between current and long-term (including
presentation of restricted assets) as discussed in chapter
3 of ARB 43 and GASB Statement No. 34, paragraph
99?
[GASB 34 par. 97 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.166 and
P80.112); GASB 34 par. 99 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.168
and P80.114)]

b. display net assets in three components—invested in
capital assets, net of related debt; restricted (distin-
guishing between major categories of restrictions); and
unrestricted?
[GASB 34 par. 98 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.141, 2200.167,
and P80.113)]

i. When permanent endowments are included, is
"restricted net assets" displayed in two additional
components—expendable and nonexpendable?
[GASB 34 par. 103 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.172 and
P80.119)]

c. not display capital contributions as a separate compo-
nent of net assets?

d. not display designations of net assets?
[GASB 34 par. 98 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.141, 2200.164,
and P80.113)]

9. Does the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in
fund net assets

a. distinguish between operating and nonoperating reve-
nues and expenses in accordance with the govern-
ment’s policy defining operating revenues and ex-
penses and consistent with the statement of cash flows?
[GASB 34 par. 100 and 102 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.122,
2200.169, and P80.115)]

b. present the following information, in the following se-
quence:

i. Operating revenues (detailed)?
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ii. Total operating revenues?

iii. Operating expenses (detailed)?

iv. Total operating expenses?

v. Operating income (loss)?

vi. Nonoperating revenues and expenses (detailed)?

vii. Income before other revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, and transfers?

viii. Capital contributions (grant, developer, and
other), additions to permanent and term endow-
ments, special and extraordinary items (detailed),
and transfers?

ix. Increase (decrease) in net assets?

x. Net assets—beginning of period?

xi. Net assets—end of period?
[GASB 34 par. 100 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.131,
2200.170, and P80.115); GASB 34 par. 101 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2200.170 and P80.116); GASB 34 par.
103 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.172 and P80.119)]

c. classify revenues and expenses in a manner essentially
like those of similar business organizations, trusts, or
activities, unless that classification conflicts with or
contradicts GASB pronouncements?
[NCGA 1 par. 117, as amended by GASB 20 par. 6
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.122 and P80.117)]

d. report revenues by major source?
[GASB 34 par. 100 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.122, 2200.169,
and P80.115)]

e. either report revenues net of discounts and allowances
with the discount or allowance amount parenthetically
disclosed on the face of the statement or in a note to the
financial statements, or report revenues gross with the
related discounts and allowances reported directly be-
neath the revenue amount?
[GASB 34, fn 41 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200 fn 30 and P80 fn
8)]

f. identify revenues used as security for revenue bonds?
[GASB 34 par. 100 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.169 and
P80.115)]
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10. Does the statement of cash flows

a. report the net cash provided or used by the fund’s op-
erating, noncapital financing, capital and related fi-
nancing, and investing activities, and the net effect of
those flows on cash and cash equivalents during the
period, including restricted cash and cash equivalents,
in a manner that reconciles beginning and ending cash
and cash equivalents?
[GASB 9 par. 7–8, 15, and 30 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.104–.105, .112, and .127)]

b. use a descriptive term, such as cash or cash and cash
equivalents, rather than the term funds?

c. show an amount of cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning and end of the period that is easily traceable
to similarly titled line items or subtotals in the fund’s
statement of net assets as of those dates?
[GASB 9 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 2450.105)]

d. present information about cash receipts and payments
as gross amounts rather than as net amounts, except for
items in the investing and financing categories whose
turnover is quick, amounts are large, and maturities are
short and, in certain situations, the purchases and sales
of highly liquid investments?
[GASB 9 par. 12–14 and 35 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.109–.111 and .130)]

e. use the direct method of presenting cash flows from
operating activities, which reports major classes of
gross cash receipts and gross cash payments and their
arithmetic sum?
[GASB 34 par. 105 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.174 and
2450.128)]

f. classify cash receipts and payments from the following
activities as cash flows from operating activities:

i. Cash inflows from sales of goods or services, in-
cluding receipts from collection of accounts re-
ceivable and both short- and long-term notes re-
ceivable from customers arising from those sales?

ii. Cash receipts from interfund reimbursements?

iii. Cash payments to acquire materials for provid-
ing services and manufacturing goods for resale,
including principal payments on accounts paya-
ble and both short- and long-term notes payable
to suppliers for those materials or goods?

iv. Cash payments to other suppliers for other goods
or services?

v. Cash payments to employees for services?

vi. Cash payments for taxes, duties, fines, and other
fees or penalties?
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vii. Cash receipts and payments for grants from or to
other governments or organizations for specific
activities that are considered to be operating ac-
tivities of the grantor government or organiza-
tion? (A grant arrangement of this type is essen-
tially the same as a contract for services.)

viii. Cash receipts and payments for interfund pro-
vided and services used, including receipts and
payments in lieu of taxes that are payments for,
and reasonably equivalent in value to, services
provided?

ix. Cash receipts and payments from the principal
and interest on loan programs that are under-
taken to fulfill a governmental responsibility
(program loans)?

x. All other cash receipts and payments that do not
result from transactions defined as capital and re-
lated financing, noncapital financing, or invest-
ing activities?
[GASB 9 par. 16 and 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2450.113
and .116); GASB 9 par. 17–18, as amended by
GASB 34 par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.114–.115)]

g. at a minimum, separately report these classes of oper-
ating cash receipts and payments:

i. Cash receipts from customers?

ii. Cash receipts from interfund services provided?

iii. Other operating cash receipts, if any?

iv. Cash payments to employees for services?

v. Cash payments to other suppliers of goods or
services?

vi. Cash payments for interfund services used, in-
cluding payments in lieu of taxes that are pay-
ments for, and reasonably equivalent in value to,
services provided?

vii. Other operating cash payments, if any?
[GASB 9 par. 31, as amended by GASB 34 par.
105 and 112 (GASB Cod. sec. 2450.128)]

h. provide in an accompanying schedule a reconciliation
of operating cash flows to operating income?
[GASB 9 par. 34, as amended by GASB 34 par. 100 and
105 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.171 and 2450.129)]
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i. Does the reconciliation report the same amount
for net cash flow from operating activities indi-
rectly by adjusting operating income to remove
the effects of depreciation, amortization, and
other deferrals of past operating cash receipts
and payments, such as changes during the period
in inventory, deferred revenue, and the like, and
all accruals of expected future operating cash re-
ceipts and payments, such as changes during the
period in receivables and payables?

ii. Does the reconciliation separately report all ma-
jor classes of reconciling items, including, at a
minimum, changes during the period in receiva-
bles pertaining to operating activities, in inven-
tory, and in payables pertaining to operating ac-
tivities?
[GASB 9 par. 32–33, as amended by GASB 34 par.
100 and 105 (GASB Cod. sec. 2450.129)]

i. classify cash receipts and payments from the following
activities as cash flows from noncapital financing activ-
ities:

i. Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes, and other
short- or long-term borrowings not clearly attrib-
utable to acquisition, construction, or improve-
ment of capital assets, or program loans?

ii. Cash receipts from grants or subsidies except
those specifically restricted for capital purposes
and those for specific activities that are consid-
ered to be operating activities of the grantor gov-
ernment?

iii. Cash received from other funds except those
amounts that are clearly attributable to acquisi-
tion, construction, or improvement of capital as-
sets; interfund services provided; and interfund
reimbursements?

iv. Cash received from property and other taxes col-
lected for the governmental enterprise and not
specifically restricted for capital purposes?

v. Repayments of amounts borrowed for purposes
other than acquiring, constructing, or improving
capital assets or to finance program loans?

vi. Interest payments to lenders and other creditors
on amounts borrowed or credit extended for pur-
poses other than acquiring, constructing, or im-
proving capital assets or to finance program
loans?
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vii. Cash paid as grants or subsidies to other govern-
ments or organizations, except those for specific
activities that are considered to be operating ac-
tivities of the grantor government?

viii. Cash paid to other funds, except for interfund
services used?
[GASB 9 par. 19–20 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.116–.117); GASB 9 par. 21–22, as amended
by GASB 34 par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.118–.119)]

j. classify cash receipts and payments from the following
activities as cash flows from capital and related financ-
ing activities:

i. Proceeds from issuing or refunding bonds, mort-
gages, notes, and other short- or long-term bor-
rowing clearly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of capital assets?

ii. Receipts from capital grants awarded to the gov-
ernmental enterprise?

iii. Receipts from contributions made by other
funds, other governments, and other organiza-
tions or individuals for the specific purpose of
defraying the cost of acquiring, constructing, or
improving capital assets?

iv. Receipts from sales of capital assets as well as
proceeds from insurance on capital assets that are
stolen or destroyed?

v. Receipts from special assessments or property
and other taxes levied specifically to finance the
construction, acquisition, or improvement of cap-
ital assets?

vi. Payments to acquire, construct, or improve capi-
tal assets?

vii. Repayments or refundings of amounts borrowed
specifically to acquire, construct, or improve cap-
ital assets?

viii. Other principal payments to vendors who have
extended credit to the governmental enterprise
directly for purposes of acquiring, constructing,
or improving capital assets?

ix. Cash payments to lenders and other creditors for
interest directly related to acquiring, construct-
ing, or improving capital assets?
[GASB 9 par. 23–25 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.120–.122)]



33Financial Statements and Notes Checklist

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

k. classify cash receipts and payments from the following
activities as cash flows from investing activities:

i. Receipts from collections of loans (except pro-
gram loans) made by the governmental enter-
prise and sales of other entities’ debt instruments
(other than cash equivalents) that were pur-
chased by the governmental enterprise?

ii. Receipts from sales of equity instruments and
from returns of investment in those instruments?

iii. Interest and dividends received as returns on
loans (except program loans), debt instruments
of other entities, equity securities, and cash man-
agement or investment pools?

iv. Withdrawals from investment pools that the gov-
ernmental enterprise is not using as demand ac-
counts?

v. Disbursements for loans (except program loans)
made by the governmental enterprise and pay-
ments to acquire debt instruments of other enti-
ties (other than cash equivalents)?

vi. Payments to acquire equity instruments?

vii. Deposits into investment pools that the govern-
mental enterprise is not using as demand ac-
counts?
[GASB 9 par. 26–28 (GASB Cod. sec.
2450.123–.125)]

l. report in a separate schedule (in narrative or tabular
form) information about all investing, capital, and fi-
nancing activities of a governmental enterprise during
a period that affect recognized assets or liabilities but
do not result in cash receipts or cash payments in the
period?

i. Does the information clearly describe the cash
and noncash aspects of transactions involving
similar items?
[GASB 9 par. 37 (GASB Cod. sec. 2450.132)]

D. Fiduciary Funds

1. Are pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds used to
report resources that are required to be held in trust for the
members and beneficiaries of defined benefit pension plans,
defined contribution plans, other postemployment benefit
plans, and other employee benefit plans?
[GASB 34 par. 70 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.111)]
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a. Do pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds
include Internal Revenue Code Section 457 deferred
compensation plans that meet the criteria for reporting
in that manner?
[GASB 32 par. 4, as amended by GASB 34 par. 70
(GASB Cod. sec. D25.101)]

2. Are investment trust funds used to report the external por-
tion of investment pools reported by the sponsoring govern-
ment?
[GASB 34 par. 71 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.112)]

a. If the entity provides individual investment accounts to
other, legally separate entities that are not part of the
same financial reporting entity, does it report those in-
vestments in one or more separate investment trust
funds?
[GASB 31 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.117)]

b. If individual accounts are offered as an alternative to a
pooled position, are the individual accounts reported in
a different investment trust from the pool?
[GASB 31 fn 11 (GASB Cod. sec. I50, fn 12)]

3. Are private-purpose trust funds used to report all other trust
arrangements under which principal and income benefit in-
dividuals, private organizations, or other governments?
[GASB 34 par. 72 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.113)]

4. Are agency funds used to report resources held by the re-
porting government in a purely custodial capacity? (Agency
funds typically involve only the receipt, temporary invest-
ment, and remittance of fiduciary resources to individuals,
private organizations, or other governments.)
[GASB 34 par. 73 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.114)]

a. Are agency funds used to report cash pass-through
grants only in those infrequent cases in which the recip-
ient government serves only as a cash conduit?
[GASB 24 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.128)]

5. Are the fiduciary fund financial statements reported using
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting, except for the recognition of certain lia-
bilities of defined benefit pension plans and certain postem-
ployment healthcare plans?6

[GASB 34 par. 107 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102c)]

6 Paragraphs 11 and 24 of GASB Statement No. 43 remove this exception for the recognition of certain liabilities without effectively
changing the recognition requirements for those liabilities.
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6. Do the fiduciary fund financial statements

a. consist of a statement of fiduciary net assets and state-
ment of changes in fiduciary net assets? (For defined
benefit pension plans and other postemployment ben-
efit plans, the statement of fiduciary net assets and
statement of changes in fiduciary net assets are equiv-
alent to the statement of plan net assets and statement
of changes in plan net assets, respectively, required by
GASB Statement No. 25, Financial Reporting for Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined
Contribution Plans and GASB Statement No. 43, Finan-
cial Reporting for Post-employment Benefit Plans Other
Than Pension Plans.)
[GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102c and
2200.175); GASB 34 fn 43; GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod.
sec. 1300 fn 1 and 2200 fn 32)]

i. Does the statement of changes in fiduciary net as-
sets report additions and deductions rather than
revenues and expenses?
[GASB 34 par. 109 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.177)]

b. include information about all fiduciary funds of the pri-
mary government, as well as component units that are
fiduciary in nature?
[GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102c and
2200.175); GASB 34 par. 125 (GASB Cod. sec. 2100.110
and 2600.101)]

c. include organizations that do not meet the definition
for inclusion in the financial reporting entity if the pri-
mary government has a fiduciary responsibility for
them?
[GASB 14 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2100.118 and
2600.104)]

d. provide a separate column for each fund type—pension
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment
trust funds, private-purpose trusts, agency funds?
[GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.175)]

e. apply the detailed display requirements of GASB Cod.
sec. Pe5 and Po50 to the financial statements of em-
ployee benefit trust funds other than pension trust
funds?7

[GASB 34 par. 108–109 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176–.177)]

f. report agency fund assets equal to agency fund liabili-
ties?
[GASB 34 par. 110 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.178)]

7 See also the subsection on employee benefit pension plans—sponsor and employer reporting in the section of this checklist titled
"Specialized Topics."
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i. If an agency fund has a negative cash balance be-
cause more cash has been paid out than received
or if it has incurred more liabilities than there is
cash to pay them, has the entity reported an in-
terfund receivable in the agency fund to reflect
the amount of its liability to cover the shortage?
[AAG-SLV 5.30]

g. not report agency funds in the statement of changes in
fiduciary net assets?
[GASB 34 par. 110 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.178)]

E. Interfund Activity and Balances8

1. Are amounts due from and due to other funds, including
long-term amounts, reported in the fund financial state-
ments? (Current amounts due from and due to the same
funds may be offset and the net amounts shown in the re-
spective fund financial position statements.)
[NCGA 1 par. 22, as amended by GASB 34 par. 81 and 112
(GASB Cod. sec. 1300.120); NCGA 1 fn 5 (GASB Cod. sec.
1300.120); GASB 34 par. 81 (GASB Cod. sec. 1500.102)]

2. Are interfund loans reported as interfund receivables in
lender funds and interfund payables in borrower funds (and
not as other financing sources or uses)?

a. If repayment of interfund loans is not expected within
a reasonable time, is the interfund balances reduced
and the amount that is not expected to be repaid re-
ported as a transfer from the fund that made the loan
to the fund that received the loan?
[GASB 34 par. 112a(1) (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.102a(1))]

3. Are interfund services provided and used reported as reve-
nues in seller funds and expenditures or expenses in pur-
chaser funds (except when the general fund is used to ac-
count for risk-financing activities), with unpaid amounts
reported as interfund receivables and payables in the fund
financial position statements?
[GASB 34 par. 112a(2) and fn 45 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.102a(2)
and fn 1)]

4. Are transfers reported as

a. other financing uses in the governmental funds making
transfers?

b. other financing sources in the governmental funds re-
ceiving transfers?

c. after nonoperating revenues and expenses in proprie-
tary funds?
[GASB 34 par. 112b(1) (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.102b(1))]

8 This section applies not only to activity between the funds of a legal entity but also to activity between a primary government and its
blended component units. Resource flows between a primary government and its discretely presented component units (except those
that affect the financial position statement only, such as loans and repayments) are reported as revenues and expenses or expenditures,
or both (GASB 34 par. 61 [GASB Cod. sec. 1800.106 and 2200.149]).
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5. Are reimbursements not displayed in the financial state-
ments?
[GASB 34 par. 112b(2) (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.102b(2))]

6. If the entity moves capital assets from one fund or activity to
another

a. is the movement accounted for at the asset’s book
value, with no gain or loss reported?

b. are movements of general capital assets to a proprie-
tary or fiduciary fund not reported in governmental
funds?

c. are movements of general capital assets to a proprie-
tary fund (or vice versa) reported in the government-
wide financial statements as internal activity between
the governmental and business-type activities?
[AAG-SLV 7.60]

7. Are any interfund and similar eliminations made in the fund
financial statements apparent from the headings or disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements?
[NCGA 1 par. 145, 147, and 156, as amended by GASB 34 par.
6 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200 fn 5)]

8. Do interfund receivables equal interfund payables and do
transfers in equal transfers out (unless there is a difference in
fiscal year between the primary government and its blended
component units)?
[Generally Accepted]

IV. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position9

A. Cash, Investments, and Investment-Related Activity10

1. Does the entity not apply the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Invest-
ments and for External Investment Pools, to investments in eq-
uity securities that are accounted for under the equity
method, to investments in joint ventures or component units,
or to securities or other instruments not held by the entity for
investment purposes, either for itself or for parties for which
it serves as investment manager or other fiduciary?
[GASB 31 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.104)]

2. Does the entity apply the equity method for reporting invest-
ments in common stock, if applicable in the circumstances?
[GASB 31 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.104); APB 18]

3. If a cash account for the entity is overdrawn in total, is the
balance classified as a liability in the fund and government-
wide financial statements?
[AAG-SLV 5.28]

9 See also the section of this checklist titled "Specialized Topics."
10 See also the subsections on derivative instruments, governmental external investment pools, employee benefit pension plans—stand-

alone plan and employee other postemployment benefit plans—stand-alone plan reporting in the section of this checklist titled "Special-
ized Topics."
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4. Is the equity position of each fund or component unit in an
internal investment pool (or in an external investment pool
that is sponsored by the entity) reported as assets in those
funds and component units?
[GASB 31 par. 14 and 18 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.113 and .117)]

a. If a fund has overdrawn its share of the pool, has that
fund reported an interfund liability to the fund that the
government’s management deems to have lent the cash
or investments to the overdrawn fund, with the fund
deemed to have lent the cash or investments reporting
an interfund receivable from the borrowing fund?
[AAG-SLV 5.28]

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

5. Are yield maintenance repurchase and reverse repurchase
agreements accounted for as purchases and sales of securi-
ties?
[GASB 3 par. 83 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.115 and I55.119)]

6. For reverse repurchase and fixed coupon reverse repurchase
agreements

a. are the assets and liabilities arising from the agree-
ments not netted on the financial position statements?

b. are the agreements reported as a liability captioned
"obligations under reverse repurchase agreements,"
and the underlying securities reported as "invest-
ments"?
[GASB 3 par. 81 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.115)]

c. if the entity pools moneys from several funds for in-
vestment purposes, and the pool, rather than the indi-
vidual funds, has the agreements, are the assets and li-
abilities reported in the financial position statements of
the funds and activities that have the risk of loss on
those assets (which may involve a pro rata allocation to
the various funds and activities based on their equity
in the pool)?
[GASBI 3 par. 3, as amended by GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. I55.117)]

Securities Lending Transactions

7. Are the following items reported in the financial position
statements:

a. Securities lent?
[GASB 28 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.103)]

b. Cash received as collateral and investments made with
that cash?

c. Securities received as collateral if the entity has the abil-
ity to pledge or sell them without a borrower default?

d. Liabilities resulting from these transactions?
[GASB 28 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.104)]
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8. Are securities lending transactions (SLTs) collateralized by
letters of credit or by securities that the entity does not have
the ability to pledge or sell unless the borrower defaults not
reported as assets or liabilities?
[GASB 28 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.105)]

9. If the entity pools moneys from several funds for investment
purposes, and the pool, rather than the individual funds, has
SLTs, are the assets and liabilities reported in the financial
position statements of the funds and activities that have the
risk of loss on those assets (which may involve a pro rata al-
location to the various funds and activities based on their eq-
uity in the pool)?
[GASB 28 par. 9, and GASB 34 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec.
I60.107)]

Land and Other Real Estate Held as Investments by Endowments

10. Is land and other real estate held as investments by endow-
ments reported at fair value at the reporting date?

11. Are changes in fair value of land and other real estate held as
investments by endowments during the period reported as
investment income?
[GASB 52 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.106 and I50.112)]

B. Nonexchange Transactions

Practice Tip

In a nonexchange transaction, a government (including the federal government, as a provider) either gives
value (benefit) to another party without directly receiving equal value in exchange, or receives value (ben-
efit) from another party without directly giving equal value in exchange. There are four classes of nonex-
change transactions: derived tax revenues; imposed nonexchange revenues; government-mandated nonex-
change transactions; and voluntary nonexchange transactions. Derived tax revenues result from assessments
imposed by governments on exchange transactions. Examples include taxes on personal income, corporate
income, and retail sales of goods and services. Imposed nonexchange revenues result from assessments by
governments on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange
transactions. Examples include property (ad valorem) taxes; fines and penalties; and property forfeitures,
such as seizures and escheats. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions occur when a government (in-
cluding the federal government) at one level provides resources to a government at another level and re-
quires that government to use them for a specific purpose or purposes established in the provider’s ena-
bling legislation. Examples include federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to
perform, and state programs that local governments are mandated to perform. Voluntary nonexchange trans-
actions result from legislative or contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by
two or more parties. Examples include certain grants, certain entitlements, and donations by nongovern-
mental entities, including individuals (private donations).
[GASB 33 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.104)]
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1. Are nonexchange transaction resources received or reported
as receivable before revenue recognition criteria are met re-
corded as deferred revenues? (For example, are property
taxes or other revenues collected in advance of the fiscal year
to which they apply recorded as deferred revenues?)
[NCGA 1 par. 66 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.114); GASB 34 par.
15–16, 18–19, and 21 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.112–.113, .115–.116,
and .118); NCGAI 3 par. 7, as amended by GASB 33 par. 18
(GASB Cod. sec. P70.108)]

2. Are nonexchange transaction resources transmitted before
the expense or expenditure, or both, recognition criteria are
met reported as advances?
[GASB 33 par. 15, 19, and 21 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.112, .116,
and .118)]

Food Stamps

3. Are food stamp balances held by the state or by its agents at
the financial statement date reported as an asset, but not clas-
sified as cash or cash equivalents?
[GASB 24 par. 6 and fn 5 (GASB Cod. sec. F60.101 and fn 3);
GASB 34 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. F60.102)]

4. In governmental funds, are food stamp balances offset by de-
ferred revenue?
[GASB 24 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. F60.101)]

C. Inventories

Entities that are not implementing GASB Statement No. 54

should answer question 1.

1. Are significant amounts of governmental fund inventories
(for example, materials and supplies) reported in the balance
sheet?
[NCGA 1 par. 73 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.127)]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 54 should

answer question 2.

2. As inventories are in a nonspendable form, if implementing
GASB Statement No. 54, are amounts of inventories classified
as nonspendable fund balances in the balance sheet?
[GASB 54 par. 6]
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D. Capital Assets, Including Intangible Assets11

Practice Tips

Capital assets includes land, improvements to land, easements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles,
machinery, equipment, works of art and historical treasures, infrastructure, and all other tangible or intan-
gible assets that are used in operations and that have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting
period. (Capital assets that have been or will be used in operations also are comprehended in this defini-
tion.) Infrastructure assets are long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and that nor-
mally can be preserved for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. Examples of
infrastructure assets include roads, bridges, tunnels, drainage systems, water and sewer systems, dams, and
lighting systems. Buildings, except those that are an ancillary part of a network of infrastructure assets,
should not be considered infrastructure assets.
[GASB 34 par. 19 and GASB 42 par. 3 fn 1 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.103 fn 1 and fn 2)]

GASB Statement No. 34 requires prospective reporting of general infrastructure assets in the statement of
net assets beginning at the effective dates of the statement. It also encourages retroactive reporting of all
major general infrastructure assets at that date. Phase 1 governments should retroactively report all major
general infrastructure assets for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Phase 2 governments should
retroactively report all major general infrastructure assets for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2006.
Phase 3 governments are encouraged but are not required to report major general infrastructure assets
retroactively. Major general infrastructure assets are (1) subsystems of general infrastructure assets for
which the cost or estimated cost is expected to be at least 5 percent of the total cost of all general capital
assets reported in the first fiscal year ending after June 15, 1999, or (2) networks of general infrastructure
assets for which the costs or estimated cost is expected to be at least 10 percent of the total cost of all general
capital assets reported in the first fiscal year ending after June 15, 1999.
[GASB 34 par. 148 and 156 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.142 and .150)]

GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, provides guidance for ac-
counting and financial reporting of intangible assets which are included as a type of capital asset as defined
in GASB Statement No. 34. The requirements of GASB Statement No. 51 are effective for financial state-
ments for periods beginning after June 15, 2009, with certain transition rules for retroactive reporting.
[GASB 51 par. 1–23 (GASB Cod.sec. 1400.120–.135)]

1. Are capital assets of proprietary funds reported in both the
government-wide and fund financial statements?
[NCGA 1 par. 32 and 34, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6, 30,
and 92 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.101); GASB 34 par. 92 (GASB
Cod. sec. 1400.115)]

2. Are capital assets of fiduciary funds (and similar component
units) reported only in the statement of fiduciary net assets?
[NCGA 1 par. 32 and 34, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6 and
108 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.101); GASB 34 par. 108 (GASB Cod.
sec. 1400.116)]

11 See also the subsections on leases, landfill closure and postclosure care costs, and special assessments in the section of this checklist
titled "Specialized Topics."
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3. Are all other of the entity’s capital assets (general capital as-
sets) not reported as assets in governmental funds but re-
ported in the governmental activities column in the govern-
ment-wide statement of net assets?
[NCGA 1 par. 32, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6, 30, and 80
(GASB Cod. sec. 1400.101); GASB 34 par. 80 (GASB Cod. sec.
1400.114)]

4. Subject to the general rules for asset capitalization indicated
in the preceding questions:

a. For eligible infrastructure assets for which the entity
uses the modified approach, are additions and im-
provements to those assets capitalized? (All other ex-
penditures made for those assets should be expensed.)
[GASB 34 par. 25 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.107)]

b. Are works of art, historical treasures, and similar assets
capitalized unless the collection meets all of the follow-
ing—held for public exhibition, education, or research
in furtherance of public service, rather than financial
gain; protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and
preserved; subject to an organizational policy that re-
quires the proceeds from sales of collection items to be
used to acquire other items for collections; and not cap-
italized at June 30, 1999?
[GASB 34 par. 27 and fn 22 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.109
and fn 11)]

c. Are intangible assets that meet the identifiable criteria
reported in the statement of net assets and meet the rec-
ognition, measurement, depreciation or amortization,
impairment, presentation, and disclosure requirements
applicable for capital assets?
[GASB 51 par. 5 and 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.122–123)]

d. Are outlays for internally generated intangible assets
only capitalized upon the occurrence of all of the fol-
lowing:

i. Determination of the specific objective of the pro-
ject and the nature of the service-capacity that is
expected to be provided by the intangible asset
upon completion of the project.

ii. Demonstration of the technical or technological
feasibility for completing the project so that the
intangible asset will provide its expected service
capacity.

iii. Demonstration of the current intention, ability,
and presence of effort to complete, or in the case
of a multiyear project, continue development of
the intangible asset.
[GASB 51 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.125)]
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5. In the government-wide statement of net assets

a. are capital assets that are being or that have been de-
preciated reported net of accumulated depreciation?
(Accumulated depreciation may be reported on the face
of the statement or disclosed in the notes.)

b. are capital assets that are not being depreciated, such
as land or infrastructure assets reported using the mod-
ified approach, reported in a separate line item if the
entity has a significant amount of these assets?
[GASB 34 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.112)]

E. Clearing Account Assets

1. If an agency fund is used as a clearing account to distribute
financial resources to other funds of the government, is the
portion of the clearing account balance that pertains to those
other funds not reported in agency funds but rather reported
as assets in the appropriate funds?
[GASB 34 par. 111 and GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec.
2200.176)]

F. Liabilities, Including Debt

1. Are long-term liabilities directly related to and expected to be
paid from proprietary funds reported in the proprietary fund
statement of net assets and in the government-wide statement
of net assets?
[NCGA 1 par. 42, as amended, and GASB 34 par. 30 and 92
(GASB Cod. sec. 1500.102)]

2. Are long-term liabilities directly related to and expected to be
paid from fiduciary funds (and similar component units) re-
ported only in the statement of fiduciary net assets?
[NCGA 1 par. 42, as amended, and GASB 34 par. 6 and 108
(GASB Cod. sec. 1500.102)]

3. Are all other reported unmatured long-term liabilities of the
government (except interfund liabilities, certain long-term de-
mand bonds, long-term tax and revenue anticipation notes,
and certain principal and interest payments due early in the
following year12) not reported as liabilities in governmental
funds but reported only in the governmental activities col-
umn in the government-wide statement of net assets?
[NCGA 1 par. 43, as amended, and GASB 34 par. 82 (GASB
Cod. sec. 1500.103)]

12 If debt service fund resources have been provided during the current year for payment of principal and interest due early in the
following year, the expenditure and related liability may be recognized in the debt service fund. Early in the following year refers to a short
time period—usually one to several days and not more than one month. Accumulations of financial resources that do not meet the
criterion for recognition of an additional debt service fund liability and expenditure should be reported as part of fund balance (NCGA 1
par. 72 [GASB Cod. sec. 1500.111]; GASBI 6 par. 13 and fn 5 [GASB Cod. sec. 1500.111–.112 and fn 3]).
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4. Are matured liabilities (other than those associated with pro-
prietary or fiduciary funds) reported as governmental fund
liabilities? (Matured liabilities include liabilities that normally
are due and payable in full when incurred, and the matured
portion of general long-term indebtedness, that is, the portion
that has come due for payment.)
[GASBI 6 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 1500.107)]

Customer Deposits

5. For utility services reported in enterprise funds, are customer
deposits for utility services reported in the fund and govern-
ment-wide financial statements as liabilities until they are ap-
plied against unpaid billings or refunded to customers?
[AAG-SLV 8.69]

Compensated Absences Liabilities

6. Are accrued liabilities for compensated absences reported in
the government-wide and proprietary and fiduciary fund fi-
nancial statements, but only reported in the governmental
fund financial statements to the extent the liabilities are "nor-
mally expected to be liquidated with expendable available fi-
nancial resources"?
[GASB 16 par. 13, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6, 79, and 82,
and GASBI 6 par. 14 and 16 (GASB Cod. sec. C60.111); GASB
34 par. 16, 92, and 107 (GASB Cod. sec. C60.109 and .110)]

Lottery Prizes

7. Does the entity report a liability for lottery prizes?
[AAG-SLV 12.118–.123]

a. If the entity has purchased an annuity in the name of a
prize-winner, does it not report a liability or asset, but
disclose in the financial statements that a contingent li-
ability exists, if appropriate?
[AAG-SLV 12.120]

Bond, Tax, and Revenue Anticipation Notes

8. Are proprietary fund bond, tax, and revenue anticipation
notes reported as current or long-term liabilities depending
on the refinancing status in accordance with the criteria in
SFAS No. 6, Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to
Be Refinanced—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 3A, and
reported in the business-type activities column of the govern-
ment-wide statement of net assets?
[NCGAI 9 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. B50.101); GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. B50.103)]

9. For governmental fund-related notes

a. if bond anticipation notes meet the criteria for reporting
on a long-term basis set forth in SFAS No. 6, are they
not reported in the governmental funds but reported
only as general long-term liabilities in the govern-
mental activities column of the government-wide state-
ment of net assets?
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b. if bond anticipation notes do not meet the criteria for
reporting on a long-term basis, are they reported both
in the governmental fund receiving the proceeds and in
the governmental activities column of the government-
wide statement of net assets?

c. are tax and revenue anticipation notes reported as a li-
ability in the governmental fund receiving proceeds
and in the governmental activities column of the gov-
ernment-wide statement of net assets?
[NCGAI 9 par. 12, as amended by GASB 34 par. 82
(GASB Cod. sec. B50.102); GASB 34 par. 15 (GASB Cod.
sec. B50.103)]

Debt Refundings

10. In governmental funds13

a. for current and advance refundings resulting in defea-
sance of general long-term debt, is the face amount of
the new debt reported as an "other financing
source—refunding bonds" in the governmental fund
receiving the proceeds?

b. for advance refundings, are payments to the escrow
agent from resources provided by the new debt re-
ported as an "other financing use—payment to re-
funded bond escrow agent" and are payments to the
escrow agent made from other resources of the entity
reported as debt service expenditures?
[GASB 7 par. 8, as amended by GASB 34 par. 82 and
par. 88, and GASB 37 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.109
and D20.106)]

11. For current and advance refundings in proprietary funds, is
the unamortized difference between the reacquisition price
and the net carrying amount of the old debt deferred and re-
ported as a deduction from or an addition to the new debt
liability on the statement of net assets? (The new debt may be
reported "net," with either parenthetical or note disclosure of
the deferred amount on refunding; or it may be reported
"gross," with both the debt liability and related deferred
amount presented in the statement of net assets.)
[GASB 23 par. 4, as amended by GASB 34 par. 15 and 91
(GASB Cod. sec. D20.108); GASB 23 fn 5, as amended by
GASB 34 par. 91 (GASB Cod. sec. D20 fn 6)]

13 Because other financing sources and uses, rather than gains or losses, are reported for debt refundings in governmental funds, those
transactions should not be reported as extraordinary items in governmental funds (GASB 34 par. 89 [GASB Cod. sec. 1800.131 and
2200.162]).
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12. In the government-wide financial statements, are all current
and advance refundings, including refundings of general
long-term debt (which should be reported in the govern-
mental activities column), reported in the same manner as in
proprietary fund financial statements as indicated in the pre-
ceding question 11?
[GASB 34 par. 16 and 82 (GASB Cod. sec. D20.110)]

Demand Bonds

13. Are demand bonds reported as general long-term liabilities
(and reported only in the government-wide statement of net
assets) or excluded from current liabilities of proprietary
funds if all of the following conditions are met:

a. Before the financial statements are issued, the issuer
has entered into an arm’s-length financing (take out)
agreement to convert bonds "put" but not resold into
some other form of long-term obligation?

b. The take out agreement does not expire within one year
from the issuer’s financial statement date?

c. The take out agreement is not cancelable by the lender
or the prospective lender during that year, and obliga-
tions incurred under the take out agreement are not
callable by the lender during that year?

d. The lender or the prospective lender or investor is ex-
pected to be financially capable of honoring the take
out agreement?
[GASBI 1 par. 10, as amended by GASB 34 par. 12, 82,
and 97 (GASB Cod. sec. D30.108)]

14. If the conditions listed in question 13 are not met, are demand
bonds reported as liabilities in the governmental fund used
to account for the proceeds of the bond issue or, in the case
of proprietary funds, as current liabilities?
[GASBI 1 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.111 and D30.108);
GASBI 1 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.111 and D30.109)]

15. If, because a take out agreement expires, it is necessary to re-
port a liability in a governmental fund for demand bonds
previously reported only in the government-wide statement
of net assets, is the liability reported as a liability of the gov-
ernmental fund in which the proceeds of the issue were ini-
tially reported with a corresponding debit to "other financing
uses"?
[GASBI 1 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.111 and D30.109);
GASB 34 par. 82 (GASB Cod. sec. D30.109)]

16. Are redemptions of demand bonds reported in governmental
funds reported as expenditures of the fund from which debt
service is normally paid and the demand bond liability re-
duced simultaneously by a credit to "other financing
sources"?
[GASBI 1 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.111 and D30.109)]
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17. If a take out agreement has been exercised converting de-
mand bonds to an installment loan, is the installment loan
reported as general long-term debt (or as long-term debt in
the proprietary funds and business-type activities) and is the
payment schedule under the installment loan included as
part of the schedule of debt service requirements to maturity?
[GASBI 1 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. D30.112)]

Long-Term Obligations That Are Callable Because of Covenant Vi-

olations

18. Are long-term obligations that are or will be callable by the
creditor (because the debtor’s violation of a provision of the
debt agreement at the financial statement date makes the ob-
ligation callable or because the violation, if not cured within
a specified grace period, will make the obligation callable)
classified as a current liability unless one of the following
conditions is met:

a. The creditor has waived or subsequently lost the right
to demand repayment for more than one year (or op-
erating cycle, if longer) from the financial statement
date?

b. For long-term obligations containing a grace period
within which the debtor may cure the violation, it is
probable that the violation will be cured within that pe-
riod, thus preventing the obligation from becoming
callable?
[SFAS 78 par. 5]

19. If an obligation as discussed in question 18 is classified as a
long-term liability, are the circumstances disclosed?
[SFAS 78 par. 5]

Contingent Liabilities

20. If fund liabilities for which the entity is contingently liable
(for example, through a general obligation backing on enter-
prise fund debt) are in default—or where for other reasons it
appears probable that they will not be paid on a timely basis
from the resources of these funds and default is immi-
nent—are the liabilities reported separately from other liabil-
ities in the financial position statements and are all significant
facts with respect to the situation disclosed?
[NCGA 1 par. 46 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106d and 1500.114)]

G. Net Position

1. If the entity receives nonexchange transaction resources that
have purpose restrictions, does it report the resulting equity
as restricted or reserved, as appropriate, until the resources
are used for the specified purpose or for as long as the pro-
vider requires the resources to be maintained intact?
[GASB 33 par. 14 and 22 and fn 9 and 13 (GASB Cod. sec.
N50.111 and .119 and fn 8 and 12)]
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2. If the entity uses the purchases method to account for inven-
tories, does it display the change in the fund balance reserve
for inventories as a change to beginning fund balance?
[AAG-SLV 10.14]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 54 should

answer question 3 instead of questions 1–2.

3. If the entity receives nonexchange transaction resources that
have purpose restrictions, does it report the resulting equity
as restricted or committed or assigned, as appropriate, until
the resources are used for the specified purpose or for as long
as the provider requires the resources to be maintained in-
tact?
[GASB 33 par. 14 and 22 and fn 9; GASB 54 par. 5]

V. Revenues and Expenses/Expenditures14

A. Income on Investments and Investment-Related Activity15

1. Is investment income, including changes in the fair value of
investments, reported as revenue in the activity statements?

2. If identified separately as an element of investment income,
is the change in the fair value of investments captioned "net
increase (decrease) in the fair value of investments"?

3. Are realized gains and losses not displayed separately from
the net increase (decrease) in the fair value of investments in
the financial statements?
[GASB 31 par. 13, as amended by GASB 34 (GASB Cod. sec.
I50.112)]

4. If income from investments associated with one fund is as-
signed to another fund because of legal or contractual provi-
sions, is the reporting treatment based on the specific lan-
guage of those provisions?

5. If income from investments associated with one fund is as-
signed to another fund for other than legal or contractual rea-
sons—for example, management decision—is the income re-
ported in the fund that reports the investments with the
transfer of that income to the recipient fund reported as an
interfund transfer?
[GASB 31 par. 14 and fn 8, as amended by GASB 34 par. 113
(GASB Cod. sec. I50.112 and fn 11)]

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

6. Is the income from repurchase and fixed coupon repurchase
agreements shown as interest income?
[GASB 3 par. 82 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.114)]

14 See also the section of this checklist titled "Specialized Topics."
15 See also the subsections on derivative instruments, governmental external investment pools, employee benefit pension plans—stand-

alone plan reporting and employee other postemployment benefit plans—stand-alone plan reporting, and public entity risk pools in the
section of this checklist titled "Specialized Topics."
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7. Are yield maintenance repurchase and reverse repurchase
agreements accounted for as purchases and sales of securities,
with gains or losses reported?
[GASB 3 par. 83 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.115 and I55.119)]

8. Concerning reverse repurchase and fixed coupon reverse re-
purchase agreements:

a. Is the interest cost of the agreements reported as inter-
est expenditure or expense, or both, and not netted
with interest earned on any related investments?
[GASB 3 par. 82 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.116)]

b. Is the income and costs arising from pooled agreements
reported in the activity statements of the funds and ac-
tivities that have the risk of loss on the assets (which
may involve a pro rata allocation to the various funds
and activities based on their equity in the pool)?
[GASBI 3 par. 4, as amended by GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. I55.118)]

c. If income from pooled reverse repurchase agreements
that represent equity associated with one fund become
the assets of another fund because of legal or contrac-
tual provisions, is the reporting treatment based on the
specific language of those provisions?
[GASBI 3 par. 4 and fn 3, as amended by GASB 34 par.
112 (GASB Cod. sec. 155.118 and fn 6)]

d. If income from pooled agreements that represent equity
associated with one fund become the assets of another
fund for other than legal or contractual reasons—for
example, management decision—is the income and
costs reported in the fund that reports the equity with
the transfer of those amounts to the recipient fund re-
ported as an interfund transfer?
[GASBI 3 par. 4, as amended by GASB 34 par. 112
(GASB Cod. sec. I55.118)]

Securities Lending Transactions

9. Concerning SLTs:

a. Are the costs of SLTs, including borrower rebates
(which should be reported as interest expenditures or
expenses) and agent fees, reported as expenditures or
expenses, and not netted with interest revenue or in-
come from the investment of cash collateral, any other
related investments, or loan premiums or fees?
[GASB 28 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.106)]

b. Are the income and costs arising from pooled SLTs re-
ported in the activity statements of the funds and activ-
ities that have the risk of loss on the assets (which may
involve a pro rata allocation to the various funds and
activities based on their equity in the pool)?
[GASB 28 par. 10, as amended by GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. I60.108)]
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c. If income from pooled SLTs that represent equity asso-
ciated with one fund become the assets of another fund
because of legal or contractual provisions, is the report-
ing treatment based on the specific language of those
provisions?
[GASB 28 par. 10 and fn 9, as amended by GASB 34
par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.108 and fn 9)]

d. If income from pooled SLTs that represent equity asso-
ciated with one fund become the assets of another fund
for other than legal or contractual reasons—for exam-
ple, management decision—is the income and costs re-
ported in the fund that reports the equity with the
transfer of those amounts to the recipient fund reported
as an interfund transfer?
[GASB 28 par. 10, as amended by GASB 34 par. 112
(GASB Cod. sec. I60.108)]

B. Nonexchange Transactions16

1. Does the entity report fees received for administering pass-
through grants as revenues?
[AAG-SLV 8.42]

2. Does the entity report retiree drug subsidy payment received
from the federal government under Medicare Part D as vol-
untary nonexchange revenues?
[GTB 2006-1 par. 2–3]

On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

3. Does a paying government classify the expenditures or ex-
penses for the on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and sal-
aries that it makes in the same manner that it classifies similar
cash grants to other entities?
[GASB 24 par. 13, as amended by GASB 34 par. 16 (GASB
Cod. sec. N50.135)]

Food Stamps

4. If the entity is a state government, does it report distributions
of food stamp benefits as revenue and expenditures in the
general fund or a special revenue fund and as revenues and
expenses in the governmental activities column of the gov-
ernment-wide financial statements?
[GASB 24 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. F60.101); GASB 34 par. 12
(GASB Cod. sec. F60.102)]

C. Capital Asset-Related Revenues and Expenses/Expenditures

1. In the government-wide, proprietary fund, and fiduciary
fund activity statements

16 The practice tip in the subsection on nonexchange transactions in the section of this checklist titled "Assets, Liabilities, and Net
Position" provides definitions, classifications, and examples of nonexchange transactions.
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a. is depreciation reported on capital assets? (Inexhausti-
ble capital assets, infrastructure assets reported using
the modified approach, and intangible assets with in-
definite lives are not depreciated.)
[GASB 34 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400, 3rd principle,
.104 and fn 1); GASB 34 par. 22, 92, and 107 (GASB
Cod. sec. 1400, 3rd principle); GASB 34 par. 29 (GASB
Cod. sec. 1400.111)]

b. are intangible assets with indefinite useful lives not de-
preciated, and those with definite lives amortized over
a useful life that does not exceed the period to which
the service capacity of the asset is limited?
[GASB 51 par. 16–17 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.104)]

c. for eligible infrastructure assets for which the entity
uses the modified approach, are expenditures made to
maintain those assets expensed? (Additions and im-
provements to those assets should be capitalized.)
[GASB 34 par. 25 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.107)]

d. when donated collection items are added to noncapital-
ized collections of works of art, historical treasures, and
similar assets, does the entity report offsetting revenue
and expense?
[GASB 34 par. 28 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.110 and N50 fn
10)]

2. In the government-wide statement of activities

a. if the entity uses a separate line item to report unallo-
cated depreciation expense, does it clearly indicate on
the face of the statement that this line item excludes di-
rect depreciation expenses of the various programs?
[GASB 34 par. 44 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.132)]

b. is depreciation expense for general infrastructure assets
reported as either a direct expense of the function (for
example, public works or transportation) that the entity
normally associates with capital outlays for, and main-
tenance of, infrastructure assets or as a separate line in
the statement of activities?
[GASB 34 par. 45 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.133)]

3. In governmental funds, are capital asset purchases reported
as expenditures?
[GASB 34 par. 80 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.114)]

4. Concerning capital asset impairments:

a. Are impairment losses (and accounting gains that re-
sult from insured impairments) reported in the state-
ment of activities and in the statement of revenues, ex-
penses, and changes in fund net assets, as a program or
operating expense, special item, or extraordinary item,
as appropriate?
[GASB 42 par. 17 and fn 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.173
and fn 26)]
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b. Are impairment losses reported as program expense
generally reported as a direct expense of the program
that uses or used the impaired capital asset?
[GASB 42 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.173)]

5. Concerning insurance recoveries and asset restorations and
replacements relating to capital asset impairments:17

a. In governmental fund financial statements, is the res-
toration or replacement of an impaired capital asset re-
ported as a transaction separate from the associated in-
surance recovery?

i. Is the insurance recovery reported as an other fi-
nancing source or extraordinary item, as appro-
priate?

b. In governmental and business-type activities in govern-
ment-wide financial statements and in proprietary fund
financial statements, is the restoration or replacement
of an impaired capital asset reported as a transaction
separate from the impairment loss and associated in-
surance recovery?

i. Is the impairment loss reported net of the associ-
ated insurance recovery when the recovery and
loss occur in the same year?

ii. Are insurance recoveries reported in subsequent
years reported as a program revenue, nonoper-
ating revenue, or extraordinary item, as appro-
priate?
[GASB 42 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.177)]

D. Other

1. Are insurance recoveries other than those relating to impair-
ment of capital assets, such as for theft or embezzlement of
cash or other monetary assets, reported as described in ques-
tion 5?
[GASB 42 par. 22 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.125)]

VI. Note Disclosures

Practice Tips

The notes to the financial statements, which form an integral part of the basic financial statements, should
communicate information essential for fair presentation of the basic financial statements that is not dis-
played on the face of the financial statements.
[GASB 34 par. 113 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.102)]

Disclosure in the notes to the financial statements is needed only when the information required to be
disclosed is not displayed on the face of the financial statements.
[GASB 38 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.103)]

17 In accordance with the provisions of GASB Cod. sec. C50, recoveries received from internal service funds should be accounted for as
indicated in this question. Recoveries received from the general fund should be accounted for as reimbursements to the extent of the
impairment loss, if any, and be reported as transfers in the fund financial statements for amounts in excess of the impairment loss, if any
(GASB 42 fn 8 [GASB Cod. sec. 1400 fn 27]).

1
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FASB ASC generally became effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending
after September 15, 2009, thus superseding all then-existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards
with certain limited exceptions. Therefore, it is inappropriate to make reference to specific FASB pronounce-
ments issued prior to the effective date of FASB ASC in governmental financial statements for annual per-
iods ending after September 15, 2009.

This section of the checklist includes question regarding note disclosure requirements that are not ad-
dressed in the "Specialized Topics" section of the checklist.

A. Focus of Note Disclosures

1. Do the note disclosures

a. distinguish between information pertaining to the pri-
mary government (including its blended component
units) and that of its discretely presented component
units?
[GASB 14 par. 62 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.104 and
2600.121)]

b. focus on the primary government—specifically, its gov-
ernmental activities, business-type activities, major
funds individually, and nonmajor funds in the aggre-
gate (including blended component units)?
[GASB 14 par. 63, as amended by GASB 34 par. 113
(GASB Cod. sec. 2300.102 and 2600.122)]

c. encompass individual discretely presented component
units considering both (1) the unit’s significance rela-
tive to the total discretely presented component units
and (2) the nature and significance of the unit’s rela-
tionship to the primary government?
[GASB 14 par. 63 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.105 and
2600.122)]

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies18

1. Is a summary of significant accounting policies (SSAP) in-
cluded as a stand-alone summary or as the initial note to fi-
nancial statements?
[NCGAI 6 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.110); APB 22 par. 15]

2. Does the SSAP include

a. a description of the government-wide financial state-
ments, noting that neither fiduciary funds nor compo-
nent units that are fiduciary in nature are included?
[GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a)]

18 Certain note disclosures listed elsewhere in this checklist should or may be located in the summary of significant accounting policies.
See GASB Cod. Section 2300.106a.
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b. a description of component units, their relationships to
the primary government, how they are reported
(blended or discretely presented) and the reasons there-
fore, the criteria for including component units (that is,
the reason(s) an entity is reported as a component unit),
how to obtain separate financial statements for individ-
ual component units, and the effect of component units
with differing fiscal years?
[GASB 14 par. 60 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.901 and
2600.119); GASB 14 par. 61 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a
and .901 and 2600.120)]

c. if the primary government is presented in more than a
single column in the basic financial statements, a de-
scription of the activities accounted for in each major
fund, the internal service funds, and the fiduciary fund
types? (Except for the general fund or its equivalent,
the descriptions should be specific to the entity, rather
than general definitions that could describe any gov-
ernment.)
[GASB 38 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.125 and
2300.106a)]

d. the measurement focus and basis of accounting used in
the government-wide and fund financial statements?
[NCGAI 6, appendix, as amended (GASB Cod. sec.
2300.901); GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec.
2300.106a)]

e. the revenue recognition policies used in fund financial
statements, including the length of time used to define
available (as used in the modified accrual basis of ac-
counting) for purposes of revenue recognition in the
governmental fund financial statements?
[NCGA 1 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.108 and
2300.106a); GASB 38 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. 1600.106
and 2300.106a)]

f. the policy for eliminating internal activity in the gov-
ernment-wide statement of activities, including, if ap-
plicable, that an administrative overhead component is
included in direct expenses?
[GASB 34 par. 43 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.131); GASB 34
par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a)]

g. the policy for interfund eliminations in the fund finan-
cial statements?
[NCGAI 6, appendix, as amended (GASB Cod. sec.
2300.901)]

h. the policy for capitalizing assets and for estimating the
useful lives of those assets (used to calculate deprecia-
tion expense)?

i. a description of the modified approach for reporting el-
igible infrastructure assets, if used?
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j. the types of transactions included in program revenues
in the statement of activities?

k. the policy for allocating indirect expenses to functions
in the statement of activities?
[GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a)]

l. the policy for defining operating and nonoperating rev-
enues of proprietary funds?
[GASB 34 par. 102 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.171, 2300.106a,
and P80.118); GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec.
2300.106a)]

m. the policy for applying FASB pronouncements issued
after November 30, 1989, to business-type activities and
to enterprise funds of the primary government?
[GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a)]

n. the definition of cash and cash equivalents used in the
statement of cash flows for proprietary funds?
[GASB 9 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a and
2450.108)]

o. the government’s policy regarding whether to first ap-
ply restricted or unrestricted resources when an ex-
pense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net assets are available?
[GASB 34 par. 115 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a)]

p. significant or unusual accounting treatment for other
material account balances or activities?
[NCGAI 6, appendix, as amended (GASB Cod. sec.
2300.901)]

q. the method and period of amortization for intangible
assets?
[GASB 51 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106a[7])]

r. the basis for stating inventories, including the method
of determining cost?
[ARB 43, ch. 3A par. 9; APB 22 par. 13]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 54

should also answer questions 2s–w.

s. the government’s fund balance classification policies
and procedures related to committed and assigned
fund balances?

t. the government’s policy regarding whether it considers
restricted or unrestricted amounts to have been spent
when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for
which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is
available?
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u. the government’s policy regarding whether committed,
assigned, or unassigned amounts are considered to
have been spent when an expenditure is incurred for
purposes for which amounts in any of those unres-
tricted fund balance classifications could be used?
[GASB 54 par. 23]

v. information related to stabilization arrangements even
if the arrangement does not meet the criteria to be clas-
sified as restricted or committed?
[GASB 54 par. 26]

w. the government’s minimum fund balance policies, if
applicable?
[GASB 54 par. 27]

C. Cash, Investments, and Investment-Related Activity19

1. Are the investment disclosures organized by investment type,
unless otherwise required?
[GASB 40 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.124)]

2. Are the disclosures required by GASB Statement No. 3, De-
posits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repur-
chase Agreements), and Reverse Repurchase Agreements, made for
the primary government, including its blended component
units, with the risk disclosures required by GASB Statement
No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures—an amendment
of GASB Statement No. 3, also made for governmental and
business-type activities, individual major funds, nonmajor
funds in the aggregate, or fiduciary funds when the risk ex-
posures are significantly greater than the deposit and invest-
ment risks of the primary government?
[GASB 40 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.104, I50.122, and
I55.107)]

3. For deposits with financial institutions and investments (in-
cluding repurchase agreements), do note disclosures include

a. a brief description of the types of investments author-
ized by legal or contractual provisions?

b. the differences in authorized investment types, if the
types of investments authorized for different funds,
fund types, blended component units, or discretely pre-
sented component units differ significantly from those
authorized for the primary government, and those
funds, fund types, blended component units, or dis-
cretely presented component units have material in-
vestment activity compared with the reporting entity’s
investment activity?
[GASB 3 par. 65, as amended by GASB 14 and GASB
34 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.125)]

19 See also the subsections on derivative instruments and governmental external investment pools in the section of this checklist titled
"Specialized Topics."
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c. deposit and investment policies that are related to dis-
closed credit quality, custodial credit risk, concentra-
tion of credit risk, interest rate risk, and foreign cur-
rency risk? (If a government has no deposit or
investment policy that addresses a specific type of risk
that it is exposed to, the disclosure should indicate that
fact.)
[GASB 40 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.109 and I50.127)]

d. the U.S. dollar balances of deposits and investments
that are exposed to foreign currency risk, organized by
currency denomination and, if applicable, investment
type?
[GASB 40 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.108 and I50.134)]

e. significant violations during the period of legal or con-
tractual provisions for deposits and investments and
actions taken to address such violations?
[GASB 3 par. 66 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.106 and I50.126);
GASB 38 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. 1200.112, C20.106, and
I50.126)]

f. losses recognized during the period due to default by
counterparties to deposit or investment transactions
and amounts recovered from prior-period losses, if not
separately displayed on the activity statement?
[GASB 3 par. 75 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.110 and I50.136)]

4. If the entity has deposits, including deposits that represent
cash collateral on SLTs, as of the financial statement date that
are exposed to custodial credit risk as defined by GASB State-
ment No. 40, paragraph 8, do note disclosures include the
amount of the bank balances, the fact those balances are un-
insured, and the basis on which the balances are exposed to
custodial credit risk?
[GASB 40 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.107); GASB 40 par. 10
(GASB Cod. sec. I60.114 fn 14)]

5. If the entity has investment securities (including securities
underlying repurchase agreements) as of the financial state-
ment date that are exposed to custodial credit risk as defined
by GASB Statement No. 40, paragraph 9, do note disclosures
include the investments’ type, the reported amount, and how
the securities are held? (Investments in external investment
pools, investments in open-end mutual funds, and securities
underlying reverse repurchase agreements do not require this
disclosure. GASB Statement No. 40, paragraph 10, explains
the application of this disclosure requirement to collateral
and underlying securities for SLTs.)
[GASB 40 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.129); GASB 40 par. 10
(GASB Cod. sec. I60.114)]

6. For investments, do note disclosures include

a. information about investment valuation, including
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i. the methods and significant assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of investments, if that fair
value is based on other than quoted market
prices?

ii. the policy for determining which investments, if
any, are reported at amortized cost?
[GASB 31 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.120)]

b. the credit quality ratings of investments in debt securi-
ties (including investments in external investment
pools, money market funds, bond mutual funds, and
other pooled investments of fixed income securities) as
described by rating agencies as of the financial state-
ment date? (In general, obligations of the U.S. govern-
ment and obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S.
government do not require this disclosure. In addition,
if a credit quality disclosure is required and the invest-
ment is unrated, the disclosure should indicate that
fact.)
[GASB 40 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.128)]

c. concentration of credit risk, that is, the amount and is-
suer when investments in any one issuer represents 5
percent or more of total investments based on the level
of detail described in GASB Statement No. 40, para-
graph 5? (See question 2 in this section.) (Investments
issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government
and investments in mutual funds, external investment
pools, and other pooled investments do not require this
disclosure.)
[GASB 40 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.130); GASB 40
par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.124e); GASB 40 par. 13
(GASB Cod. sec. Pe6.104c)]

d. information about the interest rate risk of debt invest-
ments using a disclosure method described in GASB
Statement No. 40 paragraph 15, with information about
assumptions regarding cash flows, interest rate factors,
and other factors that affect interest rate risk? (This dis-
closure should include investments in mutual funds,
external investment pools, or other pooled investments
that do not meet the definition of a 2a7-like pool.)
[GASB 40 par. 14–15 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.131–.132)]

e. the terms of investments with fair values that are
highly sensitive to changes in interest rates?
[GASB 40 par. 14 and 16 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.131 and
.133)]

f. for any investments in external investment pools that
are not Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)-
registered, a brief description of any regulatory over-
sight for the pool and whether the fair value of the po-
sition in the pool is the same as the value of the pool
shares?
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g. any involuntary participation in an external investment
pool?

h. if an entity cannot obtain information from a pool
sponsor to allow it to determine the fair value of its in-
vestment in the pool, the methods used and significant
assumptions made in determining that fair value and
the reasons for having had to make such an estimate?

i. any income from investments associated with one fund
that is assigned to another fund?
[GASB 31 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.120)]

7. If the entity discloses realized gains and losses

a. do the amounts include all realized gains and losses for
the year?20

b. does the disclosure state that the calculation of realized
gains and losses is independent of a calculation of the
net change in the fair value of investments?

c. does the disclosure state that realized gains and losses
on investments that had been held in more than one
fiscal year and sold in the current year were included
as a change in the fair value of investments reported in
the prior year(s) and the current year?
[GASB 25 par. 29 fn 9 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.121 fn 9);
GASB 26 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.123d and fn 6);
GASB 31 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.120)]

8. Are the following disclosures made for investments in com-
mon stock accounted for using the equity method:

a. The name of each investee and percentage of owner-
ship of common stock?

b. The accounting policies relative to equity method in-
vestments?

c. The difference, if any, between the amount at which an
investment is carried and the amount of underlying eq-
uity in net assets and the accounting treatment of the
difference?

d. The aggregate fair value of each identified investment
for which a quoted market price is available?
[GASB 31 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.104); APB 18 par.
20]

20 GASB Interpretation No. 3, Financial Reporting for Reverse Repurchase Agreements—an interpretation of GASB Statement No. 3, paragraph
5 (GASB Cod. sec. I55 fn 5), GASB Statement No. 28, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Securities Lending Transactions, footnote 12
(GASB Cod. sec. I60 fn 12), and GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External
Investment Pools, footnote 9 (GASB Cod. sec. I50 fn 13) provide that the required disclosure of default losses and recoveries for reverse
repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions does not constitute a disclosure of realized gains and losses that would require
disclosure of all realized gains and losses for the year. It logically follows that the disclosure of default losses and recoveries on deposit
or investment transactions required by GASB Statement No. 3, Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase
Agreements), and Reverse Repurchase Agreements, paragraph 75 (GASB Cod. sec. C20.110 and I50.136) also would not constitute a disclosure
of realized gains and losses that would require disclosure of all realized gains and losses for the year.
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9. If there are commitments as of the financial statement date to
resell securities under yield maintenance repurchase agree-
ments, does the entity disclose the reported amount (if appli-
cable) and fair value as of that date of the securities to be
resold and a description of the terms of the agreements (such
as settlement price ranges, agreed-on yields, maturity dates,
and so forth)?
[GASB 3 par. 72, as amended by GASB 31 par. 6 (GASB Cod.
sec. I50.134)]

Futures Contracts

10. If the entity enters into futures contracts that are accounted
for as hedges, does it disclose

a. the nature of the assets, liabilities, firm commitments,
or anticipated transactions that are hedged with futures
contracts?

b. method of accounting for the futures contracts, includ-
ing a description of the events or transactions that re-
sult in recognition in results of operations of changes in
value of the futures contracts?
[GASB 20 par. 6, as amended by GASB 34 par. 93
(GASB Cod. sec. P80.102); GASB 34 par. 17 (GASB Cod.
sec. 1600.104); SFAS 80 par. 1221]

Foreign Currency Translation

11. Does the entity disclose the following:

a. The aggregate transaction gain or loss including in de-
termining results of operations for the period?

b. Rate changes that occur after the financial statement
date and their effects on unsettled balances pertaining
to foreign currency transactions, if significant?

c. An analysis and discussion of the effect of rate changes
on the reported results of operations?
[GASB 20 par. 6, as amended by GASB 34 par. 93
(GASB Cod. sec. P80.102); GASB 34 par. 17 (GASB Cod.
sec. 1600.104); SFAS 52 par. 30, 32, and 143–144]

Reverse Repurchase Agreements

12. Do note disclosures include

a. the source of legal or contractual authorization for the
use of reverse repurchase agreements, if those agree-
ments were used during the period?
[GASB 3 par. 76 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.109)]

21 Although FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended, superseded SFAS No.
80, Accounting for Futures Contracts, it did not supersede FASB Statement No. 80 for a governmental entity’s funds and activities (a) that
are required to apply private-sector pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, and (b) that do not choose to apply all FASB
statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989, except for those that conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.
If a government applies post-November 30, 1989, FASB pronouncements, the GASB website (www.gasb.org) includes a nonauthoritative
chart that provides guidance on the applicability of those pronouncements.
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b. significant violations during the period of legal or con-
tractual provisions for reverse repurchase agreements
and actions taken to address such violations?
[GASB 3 par. 77 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.110); GASB 38 par.
9 (GASB Cod. sec. 1200.112)]

c. for reverse repurchase agreements other than yield
maintenance agreements outstanding as of the financial
statement date, the credit risk related to the agree-
ments? (Credit risk is calculated by comparing the ag-
gregate amount of the reverse repurchase agreement
obligations including accrued interest with the aggre-
gate fair value of the securities underlying those agree-
ments including accrued interest.)
[GASB 3 par. 78, as amended by GASB 31 par. 6 (GASB
Cod. sec. I55.111)]

d. for commitments as of the financial statement date to
repurchase securities under yield maintenance agree-
ments, the fair value as of that date of the securities to
be repurchased and a description of the terms of the
agreements (such as settlement price ranges, agreed-on
yields, maturity dates, and so forth)?
[GASB 3 par. 79, as amended by GASB 31 par. 6 (GASB
Cod. sec. I55.112)]

e. losses recognized during the period due to default by
counterparties to reverse repurchase agreements and
amounts recovered from prior-period losses?22

[GASB 3 par. 80 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.113)]

f. whether the maturities of the investments made with
the proceeds of reverse repurchase and fixed-coupon
reverse repurchase agreements generally are matched
to the maturities of the agreements, as well as the ex-
tent of such matching at the financial statement date?
[GASBI 3 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. I55.114)]

Securities Lending Transactions

13. For SLTs, are the following note disclosures included:

a. The source of legal or contractual authorization for the
use of SLTs?
[GASB 28 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.109)]

b. Significant violations of those provisions that occurred
during the period and actions taken to address such vi-
olations?
[GASB 28 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.109); GASB 38
par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. 1200.113)]

22 Disclosure of default losses and recoveries by defined benefit pension plans does not constitute a disclosure of realized gains and
losses that under GASB Statement No. 25, Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution
Plans, footnote 10 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5 fn 10) would require disclosure of all realized gains and losses for the period (GASBI 3 par. 5
[GASB Cod. sec. I55 fn 5]).
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c. A general description of their SLTs during the period,
including

i. the types of securities lent?

ii. the types of collateral received?

iii. whether the government has the ability to pledge
or sell collateral securities without a borrower de-
fault?

iv. the amount by which the value of the collateral
provided is required to exceed the value of the
underlying securities?

v. any restrictions on the amount of the loans that
can be made?

vi. any loss indemnification provided to the entity
by its securities lending agents?

vii. the fair values and reported amounts (if differ-
ent) of underlying securities at the financial state-
ment date?
[GASB 28 par. 12, as amended by GASB 31 par. 6
(GASB Cod. sec. I60.110)]

d. Whether the maturities of the investments made with
cash collateral generally match the maturities of the se-
curities loans, as well as the extent of such matching at
the financial statement date?
[GASB 28 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.111)]

e. The amount of credit risk, if any, related to the SLTs at
the financial statement date? (Credit risk is calculated
as the aggregate of the lender’s exposures to individual
borrowers or on individual loans, depending on
whether individual loans to the same borrower can be
aggregated for purposes of offset in the event of de-
fault.)

i. If the governmental lender has no credit risk, is
that fact stated? (Disclosure of the net amounts
owed to the borrowers is not required.)
[GASB 28 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.112)]

f. The amount of losses on SLTs during the period result-
ing from the default of a borrower or lending agent and
amounts recovered from prior-period losses?23

[GASB 28 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.113)]

g. Custodial credit risk for collateral and underlying se-
curities for securities lending transactions as provided
by GASB Statement No. 40, paragraph 10?
[GASB 40 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. I60.114)]

23 See footnote 22.
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D. Nonexchange Transactions24

1. Do the notes disclose nonexchange transactions that are not
recognizable because they are not measurable?
[GASB 33 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.108)]

Property Taxes

2. If, because of unusual circumstances, the facts justify an avail-
ability period greater than 60 days for the recognition of
property tax revenues in governmental funds, does the entity
disclose the period being used and the facts that justify it?
[NCGAI 3 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. P70.104)]

3. If the entity desires to exclude some property tax revenue
from appropriation to protect cash liquidity, does it report
the restricted revenue in governmental funds by disclosing a
designation of fund balance and an appropriate note to the
financial statements?
[NCGAI 3 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. P70.105)]

Only entities not implementing GASB Statement No. 54

should answer question 4.

4. Do the notes disclose the nature and purpose of any reserva-
tion or designation of governmental fund balance relating to
property taxes?

5. Do the notes disclose details of the entity’s property tax cal-
endar, including lien dates, levy dates, due dates, and collec-
tion dates?
[NCGAI 3 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. P70.109)]

On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

6. Do the notes disclose the amount of revenue recognized for
on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and salaries?

7. If another organization makes contributions to a pension plan
on behalf of the entity’s employees for which the entity is not
legally responsible, do the notes disclose the name of the plan
that covers the entity’s employees and the name of the other
organization that makes the contributions?
[GASB 24 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. N50.134)]

Donor-Restricted Endowments

8. Do the notes disclose the following information about donor-
restricted endowments:

a. The amounts of net appreciation on investments of do-
nor-restricted endowments that are available for au-
thorization for expenditure by the governing board,
and how those amounts are reported in net assets?

b. The state law regarding the ability to spend net appre-
ciation?

24 The practice tip in the subsection on nonexchange transactions in the section of this checklist titled "Assets, Liabilities, and Net
Position" discusses the definitions, classifications, and examples of nonexchange transactions.
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c. The policy for authorizing and spending investment in-
come, such as a spending-rate or total-return policy?
[GASB 34 par. 121 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.117)]

E. Capital Assets

1. Do the notes disclose the following information about capital
assets (including intangible assets), divided into major classes
of capital assets as well as between assets associated with
governmental activities and those associated with business-
type activities, and between assets that are not being depre-
ciated and those that are being depreciated:
[GASB 34 par. 116 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.111)]

a. Beginning- and end-of-year balances, with accumulated
depreciation presented separately from historical cost?

b. Capital acquisitions?

c. Sales or other dispositions?

d. Current-period depreciation expense, with the amounts
charged to each of the functions in the statement of ac-
tivities?
[GASB 34 par. 117–118 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.112–.113);
GASB 51 par. 5]

2. Do the notes disclose the method or methods used to com-
pute depreciation for each major class of depreciable asset?
[APB 12 par. 5]

3. For collections that are not capitalized, do the notes describe
the collection and the reasons the assets are not capitalized?
[GASB 34 par. 118 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.113)]

4. While the entity is applying the general infrastructure asset
transition provisions of GASB Statement No. 34, paragraphs
148–150 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.125–.127), do the notes disclose

a. a description of the infrastructure assets being reported
and of those that are not?

b. a description of any eligible infrastructure assets that
the government has decided to report using the modi-
fied approach?
[GASB 34 par. 151 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.128)]

5. Is the carrying amount of impaired capital assets that are idle
at year-end disclosed, regardless of whether the impairment
is considered permanent or temporary?
[GASB 42 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.159 and 2300.107ff)]

F. Liabilities, Including Debt

Short-Term Debt

1. Do the notes disclose details about short-term debt activity
during the year, even if no short-term debt is outstanding at
year-end, including the following:
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a. A schedule of changes in short-term debt, disclosing
beginning-and end-of-year balances, increases, and de-
creases?

b. The purpose for which the short-term debt was issued?
[NCGAI 6 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.107e); GASB 38
par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.118)]

Long-Term Liabilities, Including Debt

2. Does the entity disclose the following information about
long-term liabilities (both long-term debt, such as bonds,
notes, loans, and leases payable, and other long-term liabili-
ties, such as compensated absences and claims and judg-
ments), divided between liabilities associated with govern-
mental activities and those associated with business-type
activities:25

[GASB 34 par. 116 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.111)]

a. Beginning- and end-of-year balances (regardless of
whether prior-year data are presented on the face of the
government-wide financial statements)?

b. Increases and decreases (separately presented)?

c. The portions of each item that are due within one year
of the statement date?

d. Which governmental funds typically have been used to
liquidate other long-term liabilities (such as compen-
sated absences and pension liabilities) in prior years?
[GASB 34 par. 119 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.114)]

3. Does the entity disclose the following details of debt service
requirements to maturity:

a. Principal and interest requirements to maturity, pre-
sented separately, for each of the five subsequent fiscal
years and in five-year increments thereafter? (Interest
requirements for variable-rate debt should be deter-
mined using the rate in effect at the financial statement
date.)

b. The terms by which interest rates change for variable-
rate debt?
[GASB 38 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 1500.118 and
2300.106j)]

Interest Costs

4. Does the entity disclose the following with respect to interest
cost:

a. If no interest cost is capitalized, the amount of interest
cost incurred and charged to expense during the pe-
riod?

25 Information about net pension obligations should be reported in a separate pension note. (GASB 34 fn 47 [GASB Cod. sec. 2300 fn
4]). See the subsection on pensions—employer reporting in the section of this checklist titled "Specialized Topics."
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b. If some interest cost is capitalized, the total amount of
interest cost incurred and the amount capitalized?
[SFAS 34 par. 21]

Bond, Tax, and Revenue Anticipation Notes

5. If the entity excludes bond, tax, and revenue anticipation
notes from fund or current liabilities because of the provi-
sions of NCGA Interpretation 9, do the notes disclose a gen-
eral description of the financing agreement and the terms of
any new obligation incurred or expected to be incurred as a
result of a refinancing?
[NCGAI 9 fn 5 (GASB Cod. sec. B50 fn 1)]

Conduit Debt

6. Do disclosures about conduit debt obligations (whether or
not reported in the financial statements) include

a. a general description of the conduit debt transactions?

b. the aggregate amount of all conduit debt obligations
outstanding at the financial statement date?

c. a clear indication that the issuer has no obligation for
the debt beyond the resources provided by related
leases or loans?
[GASBI 2 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. C65.102)]

Debt Refundings

7. For debt defeased through an advance or current refunding,
does the entity disclose a general description of the transac-
tion in the year of the refunding that includes, at a minimum,
the difference between the cash flows required to service the
old debt and the cash flows required to service the new debt
and complete the refunding and the economic gain or loss
resulting from the transaction? (If old fixed-rate debt is defea-
sed with new variable-rate debt, additional disclosures
should be made as provided in GASB Statement No. 7, Ad-
vance Refundings Resulting in Defeasance of Debt, footnote 4
[GASB Cod. sec. D20 fn 7].)
[GASB 7 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. D20.111); GASB 23 par. 6
(GASB Cod. sec. D20.115)]

8. For debt defeased through an advance refunding, does the
entity disclose the amount of that debt, if any, outstanding at
the financial statement date?
[GASB 7 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. D20.114)]

Demand Bonds

9. Do disclosures for demand bonds outstanding include

a. a general description of the demand bond program?

b. terms of any letters of credit or other standby liquidity
agreements outstanding, commitment fees to obtain the
letters of credit, and any amounts drawn on them out-
standing as of the financial statement date?
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c. a description of the take out agreement including its ex-
piration date, commitment fees to obtain that agree-
ment, and the terms of any new obligation under the
take out agreement?

d. the debt service requirements that would result if the
take out agreement were to be exercised?
[GASBI 1 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. D30.111)]

Troubled Debt Restructuring

10. For periods after a troubled debt restructuring, do disclosures
include

a. extent to which amounts contingently payable are in-
cluded in the carrying amount of restructured paya-
bles?

b. total amounts contingently payable, if applicable, and
conditions under which those amounts would become
payable or forgiven?
[SFAS 15 par. 26]

G. Contingencies and Commitments

1. Do the notes disclose contingent liabilities not requiring ac-
crual, including guarantees, such as situations in which the
entity is contingently liable for proprietary fund or trust fund
indebtedness (for example, through a general obligation
backing on enterprise fund debt)?26

[NCGA 1 par. 46, as amended by NCGA 4 par. 14, and GASB
10 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec. 1500.114 and C50.115); SFAS 5 par.
12; FIN 34 par. 2–3; FIN 45 par. 17–1827]

2. For unconditional purchase obligations that have not been
recognized on the entity’s financial position statement(s), do
the notes disclose

a. the nature and term of the obligation(s)?

b. the amount of the fixed and determinable portion of
the obligation(s) as of the date of the latest financial po-
sition statement in the aggregate and, if determinable,
for each of the five succeeding fiscal years?

c. the nature of any variable components of the obliga-
tion(s)?

d. the amounts purchased under the obligation(s) (for ex-
ample, the take-or-pay or throughput contract) for each
period for which an activity statement is presented?
[SFAS 47 par. 7]

26 See also the subsection on risk financing and related financing issues—entities other than risk pools in the section of this checklist
titled "Specialized Topics."

27 Although FASB Interpretation No. 34, Disclosure of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others—an interpretation of FASB Statement No.
5, was superseded by FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others—an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34, it is
not superseded for a governmental entity’s funds and activities that are required to apply FASB pronouncements issued on or before
November 30, 1989. Further, the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 45 paragraphs 17–18 are substantially the same as those of FASB
Interpretation No. 34 paragraphs 2–3.



68 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

3. Does the entity disclose unused letters of credit, assets
pledged as security for loans, and construction and other sig-
nificant commitments?28

[NCGA 1 par. 158, as amended by NCGAI 6 par. 4 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2300.106k); SFAS 5 par. 18–19]

4. Does the entity disclose conditions that raise a question about
its ability to continue in existence for a reasonable period of
time, and viable plans to overcome these difficulties?
[GASB 56 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2250.117)]

5. Does the entity adequately disclose gain contingencies, with
care to avoid any misleading implications about the likeli-
hood of realization?
[SFAS 5 par. 17]

H. Joint Costs That Include Fund Raising

1. If the entity allocates joint costs among fund raising and other
functions, does it disclose

a. the types of activities for which joint costs have been
incurred?

b. a statement that such costs have been allocated?

c. the total amount allocated during the period and the
portion allocated to each functional expense category?

d. the amount of joint costs for each kind of joint activity
(encouraged but not required)?
[ACC 10,730.18–.19]

I. Segment Disclosures

1. Does the entity make segment disclosures for each identifia-
ble activity (or grouping of activities) reported as or within
an enterprise fund or an other stand-alone entity that use en-
terprise fund accounting and reporting standards; and that
has one or more bonds or other debt instruments (such as
certificates of participation) outstanding, with a revenue
stream pledged in support of that debt and an externally im-
posed requirement to account for the activity’s revenues, ex-
penses, gains and losses, assets, and liabilities separately?29

2. Do disclosures for each segment

a. identify the types of goods and services provided?

b. present a condensed statement of net assets, including

i. total assets, distinguishing between current as-
sets, capital assets, and other assets (with
amounts receivable from other funds or compo-
nent units reported separately)?

28 Commitments are existing arrangements to enter into future transactions or events (AAG-SLV 8.99).
29 Segment disclosures are not required for an activity whose only outstanding debt is conduit debt for which the government has no

obligation beyond the resources provided by related leases or loans. In addition, segment reporting is not required when an individual
fund both is a segment and is reported as a major fund (GASB Cod. sec. 2500 fn 1 [GASB 34 fn 48]).
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ii. total liabilities, distinguishing between current
and long-term amounts (with amounts payable
to other funds or component units reported sep-
arately)?

iii. total net assets, distinguishing among restricted
(separately reporting expendable and nonex-
pendable components); unrestricted; and
amounts invested in capital assets, net of related
debt?

c. present a condensed statement of revenues, expenses,
and changes in net assets, including

i. operating revenues (by major source)?

ii. operating expenses, with depreciation, including
any amortization, identified separately?

iii. operating income (loss)?

iv. nonoperating revenues (expenses), with separate
reporting of major revenues and expenses?

v. capital contributions and additions to permanent
and term endowments?

vi. special and extraordinary items?

vii. transfers?

viii. change in net assets?

ix. beginning net assets?

x. ending net assets?

d. present a condensed statement of cash flows, including

i. net cash provided (used) by

(1) operating activities?

(2) noncapital financing activities?

(3) capital and related financing activities?

(4) investing activities?

ii. beginning cash and cash equivalent balances?

iii. ending cash and cash equivalent balances?
[GASB 34 par. 122, as amended by GASB 37 par.
17 (GASB Cod. sec. 2500.101)]

J. Subsequent Events

1. Are subsequent events evaluated and classified between
those that require adjustments to the financial statements
(recognized events) and those that may require disclosure in
the financial statements (nonrecognized events)?

2. Are recognized events those that provide additional evidence
with respect to conditions that existed at the date of the state-
ment of net assets and affect the estimates inherent in the pro-
cess of preparing financial statements?
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a. Are the financial statements adjusted for those recog-
nized events including for changes in estimates?
[GASB 56 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106–.113)]

3. Are nonrecognized events those events that provide evidence
to conditions that did not exist at the date of the statement of
net assets, but arose subsequent to that date but prior to the
date of the issuance of the financial statements?
[GASB 56 par. 10 (GASB Cod sec. 2300.106–.113)]

a. Are nonrecognized events that are presented in the
notes to the basic financial statements essential to the
user’s understanding of those financial statements?
[GASB 56 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106–.113)]

b. Do these events include the issuance of bonds, the cre-
ation of a new component unit, the loss of a govern-
ment facility due to tornado, fire, flood or other item?
[GASB 56 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106–.113)]

c. Are these events limited to those that should not re-
quire a prior period adjustment, including those finan-
cial statements that are reissued in comparative form
with financial statements of subsequent periods?
[GASB 56 par. 14 (GASB Cod sec. 2300.106–.113)]

d. If necessary, is a discussion of these events included in
the MD&A?
[GASB 56 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106–.113)]

K. Related Parties, Including Component Units

1. For the separately issued financial statements of a component
unit, do the financial statements

a. acknowledge that it is a component unit of another
government?

b. identify in the notes to the financial statements the pri-
mary government in whose financial reporting entity it
is included and describe its relationship with the pri-
mary government?
[GASB 14 par. 65 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.124)]

2. If a voting majority of the governing board of a stand-alone
government is appointed by a primary government, does the
stand-alone government disclose that accountability relation-
ship in its financial statements?
[GASB 14 par. 66 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.125)]

3. Does the primary government disclose in the notes to the fi-
nancial statements the nature of its accountability for related
organizations? (Groups of related organizations with similar
relationships with the primary government may be summa-
rized for purposes of the disclosure.)
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4. Do the financial statements of a related governmental orga-
nization disclose the primary government that is accountable
for it and describe its relationship with that primary govern-
ment?
[GASB 14 par. 68 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.127)]

5. Do the notes disclose, for each major component unit, the na-
ture and amount of significant transactions with the primary
government and other component units?
[GASB 34 par. 128 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.110)]

6. Do the notes disclose the following information about re-
lated-party transactions considering the substance of the
transaction rather than merely its legal form?
[GASB 56 par. 4 (GASB Cod. Sec. 2200.102–105)]

a. The nature of the relationship(s)?

b. A description of the transactions, including transac-
tions to which no amount or nominal amounts were as-
cribed, and such other information deemed necessary
to understand the effects of the transactions on the fi-
nancial statements?

c. The dollar amounts of transactions for each of the per-
iods for which results of operations are presented and
the effects of any change in the method of establishing
the terms from that used in the preceding period?

d. Amounts due from or to related parties as of the date
of each financial position statement presented and, if
not otherwise apparent, the terms and manner of settle-
ment?
[NCGAI 6 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.107f)]

e. The nature and extent of leasing transactions with re-
lated parties?
[NCGA 5 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.125); SFAS 13
par. 29]

f. Are the following examples of form over substance
conditions existing, including borrowing or lending on
an interest free basis or at a rate of interest significantly
above or below market rates prevailing at the time of
the transaction, selling real estate at a price that differs
significantly from its appraised value, exchanging
property for similar property in a non-monetary trans-
action or making loans with no scheduled terms for
when or how the loans will be repaid reported as re-
lated parties transactions?
[GASB 56 par. 5 (GASB Cod. Sec. 2250.103, 2300.107f,
L20.124)]



72 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

L. Other Disclosures

1. Do the notes disclose

a. details about balances of receivables and payable when
significant components of those accounts have been ob-
scured by the aggregation of those accounts in the fi-
nancial position statements?

b. significant receivable balances not expected to be col-
lected within one year of the financial statement date?
[GASB 38 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.119)]

c. the following details about interfund balances reported
in the fund financial statements:

i. Amounts due from other funds by individual
major fund, nonmajor governmental funds in the
aggregate, nonmajor enterprise funds in the ag-
gregate, internal service funds in the aggregate,
and fiduciary fund type?

ii. The purpose for interfund balances?

iii. Interfund balances that are not expected to be re-
paid within one year from the financial statement
date?
[NCGA1 par. 158, as amended by NCGAI 6 par.
4 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106p); GASB 38 par. 14
(GASB Cod. sec. 2300.120)]

d. the following details about interfund transfers reported
in the fund financial statements:

i. Amounts transferred from other funds by indi-
vidual major fund, nonmajor governmental
funds in the aggregate, nonmajor enterprise
funds in the aggregate, internal service funds in
the aggregate, and fiduciary fund type?

ii. A general description of the principal purposes
of the government’s interfund transfers?

iii. The intended purpose and the amount of signifi-
cant transfers that do not occur on a routine basis
or that are inconsistent with the activities of the
fund making the transfer?
[NCGA1 par. 158, as amended by NCGAI 6 par.
4 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106p); GASB 38 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. 2300.121)]

e. significant violations of finance-related legal or contrac-
tual provisions and actions taken to address such vio-
lations?
[NCGA 1 par. 11, as amended by GASB 38 par. 9
(GASB Cod. sec. 1200.113)]
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f. detailed explanations if aggregated information in the
summary reconciliation between the fund and govern-
ment-wide financial statements obscures the nature of
the individual elements of a particular reconciling
item?
[GASB 34 par. 77 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.154 and
P80.109)]

g. any significant transactions or other events that are ei-
ther unusual or infrequent but not within the control of
management? In the governmental funds, such trans-
actions or events alternatively may be separately iden-
tified within the appropriate revenue or expenditure
category in the statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances.)
[GASB 34 par. 56 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.130 and
2200.141); GASB 34 par. 89 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.131)]

h. a general description, the amount, and the financial
statement classification of impairment losses on capital
assets?
[GASB 42 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.156 and
2300.107gg)]

i. the amount and financial statement classification of in-
surance recoveries?
[GASB 42 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.160 and
2300.107gg)]

j. deficit fund balance or net assets of individual nonma-
jor funds?
[NCGAI 6 par. 4, as amended by GASB 34 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2300.106o)]

k. the amount of the primary government’s net assets at
the end of the reporting period that are restricted by
enabling legislation?
[GASB 46 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.134 and
2200.119)]

l. the amount of any allowances for uncollectible receiv-
ables if not presented on the face of the financial state-
ments?
[APB 12 par. 3]

VII. Specialized Topics

A. Organizational Relationships, Including Component Units and

Joint Ventures Component Units30

30 The requirements of GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, should be applied in the separately issued financial
statements of governmental component units and stand-alone governments as if they were primary governments (GASB 14 par. 65–66
[GASB Cod. sec. 2600.124–.125]).
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1. If the financial statements present only the data of the pri-
mary government, do they acknowledge that they do not in-
clude the data of the component units necessary for reporting
in conformity with GAAP?
[GASB 14 par. 64 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.123)]

2. Does the government’s intent in owning a majority of the vot-
ing stock of a for-profit corporation determine whether the
corporation is presented as a component unit or an invest-
ment of the primary government?
[GASB 14 par. 55 and 73 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.115)]

3. Is certain information about each major component units, ex-
cept for those that are fiduciary in nature, and the aggregate
of nonmajor component units provided by presenting one of
the following:

a. Presenting each major component unit in a separate
column in the reporting entity’s government-wide fi-
nancial statements, with nonmajor component units ag-
gregated in a single column?

b. Including combining statements of major component
units in the reporting entity’s basic statements after the
fund financial statements, with nonmajor component
units aggregated in a single column?

c. Presenting condensed financial statements in the notes
to the reporting entity’s financial statements?
[GASB 14 par. 51, as amended by GASB 34 par. 126 and
fn 49 and 50 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.108)]

4. If the entity chooses to present component unit information
in the notes (question 3c), are these details presented, at a
minimum, for each major component units and the aggregate
of nonmajor component units:

a. Condensed statement of net assets:

i. Total assets—distinguishing between capital as-
sets and other assets (with amounts receivable
from the primary government or from other com-
ponent units reported separately)?

ii. Total liabilities—distinguishing between long-
term debt outstanding and other liabilities (with
amounts payable to the primary government or
to other component units reported separately)?

iii. Total net assets—distinguishing between re-
stricted, unrestricted, and amounts invested in
capital assets, net of related debt?

b. Condensed statement of activities:

i. Expenses (by major functions and for deprecia-
tion expense, if separately reported)?

ii. Program revenues (by type)?

iii. Net program (expense) revenue?
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iv. Tax revenues?

v. Other nontax general revenues?

vi. Contributions to endowments and permanent
fund principal?

vii. Special and extraordinary items?

viii. Change in net assets?

ix. Beginning net assets?

x. Ending net assets?
[GASB 34 par. 127 and fn 50 (GASB Cod. sec.
2600.108 and .109)]

5. If transactions between component units that have different
fiscal years result in inconsistencies in amounts reported as
due to or due from, and so forth, are the nature and amount
of those transactions disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements?
[GASB 14 par. 60, as amended by GASB 34 par. 61 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2600.119)]

6. If the fiscal year of a component unit included in the report-
ing entity is not consistent from year to year, are changes in
fiscal years disclosed?
[GASB 14 par. 60 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.119)]

Joint Ventures and Jointly Governed Organizations

Practice Tip

These questions apply to an entity’s participation in a joint venture or jointly controlled organization as
defined in GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, paragraph 69 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.102). If
an organization has several participants, but one participating government appoints a voting majority of
the organization’s governing body (and joint control is precluded because that participant has the power to
make decisions unilaterally), the organization is either a component unit or a related organization of that
participating government and should be reported in that participating government’s financial statements
as such. However, the other (minority) participants should report their participation in the organization as
indicated in the following questions 7–12.
[GASB 14 par. 78 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.112)]

7. In proprietary funds that participate in joint ventures in
which there is an equity interest

a. is the "investment in joint venture" account, represent-
ing the proprietary fund’s equity interest, reported in
the proprietary fund’s statement of net assets as a sin-
gle amount?

b. is the fund’s share of the joint venture’s change in net
assets reported in its statement of revenues, expenses,
and changes in fund net assets as a single amount?
[GASB 14 par. 73, as amended by GASB 34 par. 91
(GASB Cod. sec. J50.106)]

8. In governmental funds that participate in joint ventures in
which there is an equity interest
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a. are amounts reported in the balance sheet limited to
amounts appropriately reported under the current fi-
nancial resources measurement focus (and thus not in-
clude equity in capital assets)?

b. are amounts reported in the statement of revenues, ex-
penditures, and changes in fund balances limited to
amounts received or receivable from or paid or payable
to the joint venture and that satisfy the revenue or ex-
penditure recognition criteria for governmental funds?
[GASB 14 par. 74 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.107)]

9. In the government-wide financial statements, are equity in-
terests in joint ventures reported in the same manner as in
proprietary funds? (See question 7.)
[GASB 34 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.108)]

10. For all joint ventures (regardless of whether there is an equity
interest), does the entity disclose a general description, in-
cluding

a. a description of the participating government’s ongo-
ing financial interest (including its equity interest, if ap-
plicable) or ongoing financial responsibility?

b. enough information to allow the reader to evaluate
whether the joint venture is accumulating significant fi-
nancial resources or is experiencing fiscal stress that
may cause an additional financial benefit or burden on
the participating government in the future?

c. information about the availability of separate financial
statements of the joint venture?

d. required information about related-party transactions?
[GASB 14 par. 75 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.109)]

11. For jointly governed organizations, has the entity disclosed
required information about related-party transactions?
[GASB 14 par. 77 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.111)]

12. For joint building or finance authorities, if the capital assets
are leased back to the participating government, does the
government report its respective shares of the assets, liabili-
ties, and operations of the joint venture by using capital lease
accounting and disclosures rather than by reporting a partic-
ipant’s equity interest (if any) in the joint authority or by
making joint venture disclosures?
[GASB 14 par. 76 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.110)]

13. When a joint venture or jointly governed organization is in-
cluded as a component unit in the majority participant’s fi-
nancial reporting entity, does the joint venture or jointly gov-
erned organization report any equity interests of the minority
participants as "reserved for minority interests"?
[GASB 14 par. 78 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.112)]
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Undivided Interests

14. Does an entity that participates in an undivided interest (no
entity or organization is created by the participants and two
or more parties own property in which title is held individu-
ally to the extent of each party’s interest) report its assets, li-
abilities, expenditures or expenses, or both, and revenues that
are associated with the joint operation?

15. If a separate organization is created in which there is both an
undivided interest in specific assets and liabilities and equity
interests in the other net resources of the organization (a hy-
brid arrangement), does the participant report using the
guidance for both undivided interests and joint ventures?
[GASB 14 par. 80 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.114)]

B. Derivative Instruments31

Practice Tips

GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, addresses
the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of information regarding derivative instruments
entered into by state and local governments. Derivative instruments are often complex financial
arrangements used by governments to manage specific risks or to make investments. By entering
into these arrangements, governments receive and make payments based on market prices with-
out actually entering into the related financial or commodity transactions. Derivative instruments
associated with changing financial and commodity prices result in changing cash flows and fair
values that can be used as effective risk management or investment tools. Derivative instruments,
however, also can expose governments to significant risks and liabilities. Common types of de-
rivative instruments used by governments include interest rate and commodity swaps, interest
rate locks, options (caps, floors, and collars), swaptions, forward contracts, and futures contracts.

Governments enter into derivative instruments as investments; as hedges of identified financial
risks associated with assets or liabilities, or expected transactions (that is, hedgeable items); or to
lower the costs of borrowings. Governments often enter into derivative instruments with the
intention of effectively fixing cash flows or synthetically fixing prices. For example, a government
with variable-rate debt may enter into a derivative instrument designed to synthetically fix the
debt’s interest rate, thereby hedging the risk that rising interest rates will negatively affect cash
flows. Governments also enter into derivative instruments to offset the changes in fair value of
hedgeable items.

A key provision in this statement is that derivative instruments covered in its scope, with the
exception of synthetic guaranteed investment contracts (SGICs) that are fully benefit-responsive,
are reported at fair value. For many derivative instruments, historical prices are zero because
their terms are developed so that the instruments may be entered into without a payment being
received or made. The changes in fair value of derivative instruments that are used for invest-

31 GASB Technical Bulletin No. 03-1 adopts the definition of derivative from FASB Statement No. 133, paragraph 6, as amended (GTB
03-1 par. 3 [GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601]). GASB Statement No. 53 defines a derivative instrument as a financial instrument or other contract
with all three of the following characteristics:

● Settlement factors. It has (a) one or more reference rates and (b) one or more notional amounts or payment provisions or (c) both.
Those terms determine the amount of the settlement or settlements and, in some cases, whether or not a settlement is required.

● Leverage. It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types
of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

● Net settlement. Its terms require or permit net settlement, it can readily be settled net by a means outside the contract, or it
provides for delivery of an asset that puts the recipient in a position not substantially different from net settlement.

1
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ment purposes or that are reported as investment derivative instruments because of ineffective-
ness are reported within the investment revenue classification. Alternatively, the changes in fair
value of derivative instruments that are classified as hedging derivative instruments are reported
in the statement of net assets as deferrals.

Derivative instruments associated with hedgeable items that are determined to be effective in
reducing exposures to identified financial risks are considered hedging derivative instruments.
Effectiveness is determined by considering whether the changes in cash flows or fair values of
the potential hedging derivative instrument substantially offset the changes in cash flows or fair
values of the hedgeable item. In these instances, hedge accounting should be applied. Under
hedge accounting, the changes in fair values of the hedging derivative instrument are reported
as either deferred inflows or deferred outflows in a government’s statement of net assets.

Much of this statement describes the methods of evaluating effectiveness. The consistent critical
terms method considers the terms of the potential hedging derivative instrument and the hed-
geable item. If relevant terms match or in certain instances are similar, a potential hedging deriv-
ative instrument is determined to be effective. The other methods are based on quantitative anal-
yses. The synthetic instrument method considers whether a fixed rate or price has been
established within a prescribed range. The dollar-offset method evaluates changes in expected
cash flows or fair values over time between the potential hedging derivative instrument and the
hedgeable item. The regression analysis method considers the relationship between changes in
the cash flows or fair values of the potential hedging derivative instrument and the hedgeable
item. In these methods, critical and quantitative values are evaluated to determine whether a
potential hedging derivative instrument is effective. Quantitative methods other than those spec-
ified in the statement are permitted, provided that they address whether the changes in cash
flows or fair values of the potential hedging derivative instrument substantially offset the
changes in cash flows or fair values of the hedgeable item.

The disclosures required by GTB 2003-1, Disclosure Requirements for Derivatives Not Reported at Fair
Value on the Statement of Net Assets, have been incorporated into this Statement. The objectives,
terms, and risks of hedging derivative instruments are required disclosures. Disclosures also in-
clude a summary of derivative instrument activity that provides an indication of the location of
fair value amounts reported on the financial statements. The disclosures for investment deriva-
tive instruments are similar to the disclosures of other investments.

The requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning
after June 15, 2009. Earlier application is encouraged. For potential hedging derivative instru-
ments existing prior to the fiscal period during which this statement is implemented, the evalu-
ation of effectiveness should be performed as of the end of the current period. If determined to
be effective, hedging derivative instruments are reported as if they were effective from their in-
ception. If determined to be ineffective, the potential hedging derivative instrument is then eval-
uated as of the end of the prior reporting period.

Entities that are not implementing GASB Statement No. 53

should answer question 1

1. Are the following disclosures made for derivatives that are
not reported at fair value on the statement of net assets (dis-
closure information for similar derivative types may be ag-
gregated):
[GTB 03-1 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]
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a. The entity’s objective for entering into the derivative,
the context needed to understand that objective, and its
strategies for achieving the objective, indicating the
types of derivatives used?
[GTB 03-1 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]

b. The significant terms of the transaction, including no-
tional, face, or contract amount; underlying indexes or
interest rates, including terms such as caps, floors, or
collars; options embedded in the derivatives; the date
when the derivative became effective and when it is
scheduled to terminate or mature; and the amount of
cash paid or received when the derivative was initi-
ated?
[GTB 03-1 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]

c. The fair value of the derivative as of the financial state-
ment date and, if that fair value is based on other than
quoted market prices, the method and significant as-
sumptions used to estimate the fair value of the deriv-
ative unless the fair value is developed by a pricing ser-
vice that considers the assumptions to be proprietary?
[GTB 03-1 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]

d. If the derivative is entered into with the intention of
effectively making the entity’s debt obligation carry a
synthetic interest rate, the derivative’s net cash flow
and the debt service requirements of the associated
debt?
[GTB 03-1 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]

e. Details about the entity’s exposure, where applicable,
to credit risk, interest rate risk, basis risk, termination
risk, rollover risk, and market-access risk as of the fi-
nancial reporting date, as GTB 03-1 par. 10, defines
those risks and discusses the required details?
[GTB 03-1 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.601)]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 53 should

answer question 2.

2. Are the following disclosures made for derivatives that are
reported at fair value on the statement of net assets:

a. Are the derivatives disclosure in the notes to the basic
financial statements organized by governmental activi-
ties, business-type activities, and fiduciary funds?
[GASB 53 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.165)]

b. Are the derivatives then further subdivided into the
following categories—hedging derivative instruments
(distinguishing between fair value hedges and cash
flow hedges) and investment derivative instruments?
[GASB 53 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.165)]
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c. Within each category, are the derivative instruments fi-
nally aggregated by type (for example, receive-fixed
swaps, pay-fixed swaps, swaptions, rate caps, basis
swaps, or futures contracts).
[GASB 53 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.165)]

d. Does the summary include, in either narrative, colum-
nar or tabular form, or a combination, the following:

i. The notional amount

ii. Changes in fair value during the reporting period
and the classification in the financial statements
where those changes in fair value are reported.

iii. Fair values as of the end of the reporting period
and the classification in the financial statements
where those fair values are reported. (If deriva-
tive instrument fair values are based on other
than quoted market prices, the methods and sig-
nificant assumptions used to estimate those fair
values should be disclosed.)

iv. Fair values of derivative instruments reclassified
from a hedging derivative instrument to an in-
vestment derivative instrument. (There also
should be disclosure of the deferral amount that
was reported within investment revenue upon
the reclassification.)
[GASB 53 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.165)]

e. For hedging derivatives, does disclosure contain the
following:

i. The derivative’s objectives for entering into those
instruments, the context needed to understand
those objectives, the strategies for achieving those
objectives, and the types of derivative instru-
ments entered into.
[GASB 53 par. 71 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.167)]

ii. The terms of the derivative, including

(1) the notional amounts

(2) reference rates, such as indexes or interest
rates.

(3) embedded options, such as caps, floors, or
collars.

(4) the date when the hedging derivative in-
strument was entered into and when it is
scheduled to terminate or mature.

(5) the amount of cash paid or received, if any,
when a forward contract or swap (includ-
ing swaptions) was entered into.
[GASB 53 par. 72 (GASB Cod. sec.
D40.168)]
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iii. Details about the entity’s exposure, where appli-
cable, to credit risk, interest rate risk, basis risk,
termination risk, rollover risk, and market-access
risk as of the financial reporting date, as defined
in GASB Statement No. 53 paragraph 73.
[GASB 53 par. 73 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.169,
I50.128, and I50.130–.131)]

iv. Details of the net cash flows in accordance with
Statement 38, paragraphs 10–11, including prin-
cipal and interest requirements to maturity, pre-
sented separately, for each of the 5 subsequent
fiscal years and in 5-year increments thereafter.
Interest requirements for variable-rate debt
should be determined using the rate in effect at
the financial statement date and the terms by
which interest rates change for variable-rate debt.
[GASB 53 par. 74 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.170)]

v. If an other quantitative method of evaluating effective-
ness is used by the entity, disclosure should in-
clude the identity and characteristics of the
method used the range of critical terms the
method tolerates and the actual critical terms of
the hedge?
[GASB 53 par. 75 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.171)]

f. For investment derivatives, does the disclosure include
risk disclosures as of the end of the reporting period
presented in the context of an investment derivative in-
strument’s risk, including credit risk, interest rate risk,
and foreign currency risk, if applicable, in a similar
manner to GASB Statement No. 53 paragraph 73 and
GASB Statement No. 40 paragraphs 16–17? (The fair
value, notional amount, reference rate, and embedded
options should be disclosed.)
[GASB 53 par. 76 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.172, I50.128, and
I50.130–.131)]

g. If there are contingent features, does the entity disclose
them at the end of the reporting period, if there is an
obligation to post collateral if the credit quality of the
government’s hedgeable item declines? (This disclosure
should include, the existence and nature of contingent
features and the circumstances in which the features
could be triggered, the aggregate fair value of deriva-
tive instruments that contain those features, the aggre-
gate fair value of assets that would be required to be
posted as collateral or transferred in accordance with
the provisions related to the triggering of the contin-
gent liabilities and the amount, if any, that has been
posted as collateral by the government as of the end of
the reporting period.)
[GASB 53 par. 77 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.173)]



82 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

h. For hybrid derivative instruments, does the entity dis-
close them for the companion instrument consistent
with disclosures required?
[GASB 53 par. 78 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.174)]

i. For fully benefit responsive synthetic Guaranteed In-
vestment Contracts as described in paragraph 67 of
GASB Statement No. 53, does the disclosure include a
description of the nature of the SGIC and the SGIC’s
fair value (including separate disclosure of the fair
value of the wrap contract and the fair value of the cor-
responding underlying investments)?
[GASB 53 par. 79 (GASB Cod. sec. D40.175 and
I50.101)]

C. Escheat Property

1. Is escheat property generally reported as an asset in the gov-
ernmental or proprietary fund to which the property ulti-
mately escheats? (Escheat property held for individuals, pri-
vate organizations, or another government should be
reported in a private-purpose trust fund or an agency fund,
as appropriate, or in the governmental or proprietary fund in
which escheat property is otherwise reported.)
[GASB 34 par. 72 and GASB 37 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec.
E70.102)]

2. When escheat property is reported in governmental or pro-
prietary funds, is escheat revenue reduced and a govern-
mental or proprietary fund liability reported to the extent
that it is probable that escheat property will be reclaimed and
paid to claimants?
[GASB 37 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. E70.103)]

D. Governmental External Investment Pools

Separate or Stand-Alone Financial Reports

1. Does the pool report include an MD&A, a statement of net
assets, a statement of changes in net assets, notes to the finan-
cial statements, and RSI other than MD&A, as applicable? (A
statement of cash flows is not required.)
[GASB 31 par. 17, and GASB 34 par. 139 (GASB Cod. sec.
In5.103)]

2. Does the report apply all applicable GASB pronounce-
ments?32

3. Do the report’s notes to the financial statements disclose

a. a brief description of any regulatory oversight (includ-
ing whether the pool is registered with the SEC as an
investment company)?

b. the frequency of determining the fair value of invest-
ments?

32 See, in particular, the subsections on cash, investments, and investment-related activity in the sections of this checklist titled "Assets,
Liabilities, and Net Position" and "Note Disclosures" and the subsection on derivatives earlier in this section of this checklist.



83Financial Statements and Notes Checklist

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

c. the method used to determine participants’ shares sold
and redeemed and whether that method differs from
the method used to report investments?

d. whether the pool sponsor has provided or obtained any
legally binding guarantees during the period to sup-
port the value of shares?

e. the extent of involuntary participation in the pool, if
any?

f. a summary of the fair value, the carrying amount (if
different from fair value), the number of shares or the
principal amount, ranges of interest rates, and maturity
dates of each major investment classification?

g. the accounting policy for defining each component of
investment income if the report distinguishes among
different components (for example, interest, dividend,
and other income versus the net increase or decrease in
the fair value of investments)?
[GASB 31 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. In5.103)]

Sponsoring Government’s Financial Report

4. Is the external portion of each sponsored pool reported as a
separate investment trust fund?
[GASB 31 par. 18, as amended by GASB 34 par. 71 (GASB
Cod. sec. I50.117)]

5. Is the equity position of each of the sponsor’s funds or com-
ponent units (the internal portion) reported as assets in those
funds and component units?

[GASB 31 par. 14 and 18 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.113 and .117)]

6. Is the difference between the external pool assets and liabili-
ties captioned "net assets held in trust for pool participants"?
[GASB 31 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.117)]

7. Do the notes disclose how to obtain the pool’s separate re-
port, if one is issued?

8. If the pool does not issue a separate report, does the sponsor-
ing government’s report disclose

a. the disclosures required for a separate or stand-alone
pool report indicated in question 3?

b. the disclosures required by GASB Cod. sec. C20, I50,
I55, and I60, and other cash and investment standards?
(See the subsection on cash, investments, and invest-
ment-related activity in the section of this checklist ti-
tled "Note Disclosures" and the subsection on deriva-
tives in this section of this checklist.)
[GASB 31 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. I50.118)]
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c. condensed statements of fiduciary net assets and
changes in fiduciary net assets? (If a pool includes both
internal and external investors, those condensed finan-
cial statements should include, in total, the net assets
held in trust for all pool participants, and the equity of
participants should distinguish between internal and
external portions.)
[GASB 31 par. 19, as amended by GASB 34 par. 106
(GASB Cod. sec. I50.118)]

E. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

1. Are assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses related to mu-
nicipal solid waste landfills (MSWLFs) reported in the gov-
ernment-wide financial statements?
[GASB 34 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.110)]

2. Are assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses related to
MSWLFs reported in the proprietary fund financial state-
ments?
[GASB 18 par. 7, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6 (GASB Cod.
sec. L10.106); GASB 18 par. 8–9 (GASB Cod. sec.
L10.107–.108)]

3. For MSWLF activities reported in governmental funds, are
long-term liabilities for closure and postclosure care costs not
reported as expenditures and liabilities in the governmental
funds but only as expenses and liabilities in the governmental
activities column in the government-wide statement of net as-
sets? (Liabilities for landfill closure and postclosure care costs
are normally liquidated with expendable available financial
resources, and a governmental fund liability and expenditure
should be recognized, as payments come due each period
upon receipt of goods and services used in the closing and
postclosure care processes.)
[GASB 18 par. 10, as amended by GASB 34 par. 82, and
GASBI 6 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.109)]

4. In the proprietary fund and government-wide financial state-
ments, are equipment and facilities included in the estimated
total current cost of closure and postclosure care not reported
as capital assets? (Those costs and the final cover should be
reported as a reduction of the accrued liability for MSWLF
closure and postclosure care.)
[GASB 18 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.107); GASB 34 par. 16
(GASB Cod. sec. L10.110)]

5. In the governmental fund financial statements, are acquisi-
tions of equipment and facilities included in the estimated to-
tal current cost of closure and postclosure care reported as
closure and postclosure care expenditures?
[GASB 18 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.109)]
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6. Are amounts placed with a third-party trustee or in a surety
standby trust for MSWLF closure, postclosure care, and re-
mediation reported in the fund used to report landfill opera-
tions and identified by a description such as "amounts held
by trustee"?

7. Are investment earnings on amounts set aside to finance clo-
sure and postclosure care reported as revenue, not as reduc-
tions of the estimated total current cost of MSWLF closure
and postclosure care and related accrued liability?
[GASB 18 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.113)]

8. If the government has transferred its responsibility for
MSWLF closure and postclosure care to another entity but re-
mains contingently liable for that care under applicable fed-
eral, state, or local laws or regulations, and it appears that the
assuming entity will not be able to meet its obligations and it
is probable that the government will be required to pay clo-
sure and postclosure care costs, does the government report
the obligation as provided in the preceding questions?
[GASB 18 par. 16, as amended by GASB 34 par. 82, and GASB
35 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.114)]

9. Do the notes to the financial statements disclose

a. the nature and source of landfill closure and postclo-
sure care requirements (federal, state, or local laws or
regulations)?

b. that recognition of a liability for closure and postclo-
sure care costs is based on landfill capacity used to
date?

c. the reported liability for closure and postclosure care at
the financial statement date and the estimated total cur-
rent cost of closure and postclosure care remaining to
be recognized?

d. the percentage of landfill capacity used to date and es-
timated remaining landfill life in years?

e. how closure and postclosure care financial assurance
requirements, if any, are being met and any assets re-
stricted for payment of closure and postclosure care
costs?

f. the nature of the estimates and the potential for
changes due to inflation or deflation, technology, or ap-
plicable laws or regulations?
[GASB 18 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. L10.115)]



86 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

F. Leases

1. Does the entity apply the criteria of SFAS No. 13, Accounting
for Leases, as amended and interpreted, to its lease agreements
(except for operating leases with scheduled rent increases and
leases between governments and public authorities that are
part of the primary government for financial reporting pur-
poses [see question 2]), subject to the accounting and financial
reporting distinctions of governmental funds?
[NCGA 5 par. 11, as amended by GASB 13 par. 5–6, and
GASB 34 par. 69 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.103); NCGA 5 par. 24
(GASB Cod. sec. L20.121); GASB 14 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec.
2600.117 and L20.121)]

2. If a public authority is part of a primary government for fi-
nancial reporting purposes (because it has no separate legal
standing or because it is a blended component unit), and
there is a lease agreement between the primary government
and the authority, is the authority’s debt and assets reported
as a form of the primary government’s debt and assets? (For
example, the leased assets should be reported as general cap-
ital assets in the government-wide statement of net assets, re-
lated debt should be reported as a general long-term liability
in the government-wide statement of net assets, and the debt
service activity of the public authority should be reported as
a debt service activity of the primary government.)
[NCGA 5 par. 23, as amended by GASB 14 (GASB Cod. sec.
L20.120); NCGA 5 par. 24, and GASB 34 par. 80 and 82 (GASB
Cod. sec. L20.121); GASB 14 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.117
and L20.121)]

3. Are lease receivables and payables associated with capital
lease arrangements between the primary government and
public authorities reported as discretely presented compo-
nent units (or between those component units) not combined
with other amounts due to or from, or both, component units
or with capital lease receivables and payables with organiza-
tions outside the reporting entity?
[GASB 14 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.117 and L20.122)]

Lessors

4. If a capital lease is accounted for in a governmental fund, is
an other financing source reported for the portion of the lease
receivable that is measurable and available and is the noncur-
rent receivable reported in the fund, offset by deferred reve-
nue?
[NCGA 5 par. 10 and 15, as amended by GASB 34 par. 88
(GASB Cod. sec. L20.114)]

5. If an operating lease with scheduled rent increases is ac-
counted for in a governmental fund, is the accrued receivable
in the fund offset by deferred revenue for the portion not yet
recognized as revenue?
[GASB 13 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.108)]
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6. Does the entity make the disclosures required by SFAS No.
13, as amended and interpreted, including the following:33

[NCGA 5 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.125)]

a. For all leases, a general description of the lessor’s leas-
ing arrangements?
[SFAS 13 par. 23]

b. For sales-type and direct financing leases

i. specific components of the net investment in the
leases as of the date of each financial position
statement presented?

ii. future minimum lease payments to be received
for each of the five succeeding fiscal years as of
the date of the latest financial position statement
presented?

iii. total contingent rentals included in operations for
each period for which an activity statement is
presented?
[SFAS 13 par. 23, as amended by SFAS 91 par. 25]

c. For operating leases

i. the cost and carrying amount, if different, of
property on lease or held for leasing by major
classes of property according to nature or func-
tion, and the amount of accumulated deprecia-
tion in total as of the date of the latest financial
position statement presented?

ii. minimum future rentals on noncancelable leases
as of the date of the latest financial position state-
ment presented, in the aggregate and for each of
the five succeeding fiscal years?

iii. total contingent rentals included in operations for
each period for which an activity statement is
presented?
[SFAS 13 par. 23]

d. For leveraged leases, the disclosures provided for in
SFAS No. 13, paragraph 47?
[SFAS 13 par. 47]

33 Disclosures required by FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, are required when leasing, exclusive of leveraged leasing, is a
significant part of the lessor’s business activities in terms of revenue, net income, or assets (SFAS 13 par. 23).
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Lessees34

7. Are capital leases that represent the acquisition or construc-
tion of a general capital asset reported as expenditures and
other financing sources in a governmental fund? (General
capital assets and general long-term liabilities arising from
governmental fund capital leases should be reported only in
the governmental activities column in the government-wide
statement of net assets.)
[NCGA 5 par. 14, as amended by GASB 34 par. 80 and 82
(GASB Cod. sec. 1800.112 and L20.113)]

a. Are subsequent governmental fund lease payments ac-
counted for consistently with GASB Cod. Section
1600.120–.121 standards for general obligation debt?
[NCGA 5 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.113)]

8. Are capital lease obligations separately identified in the ap-
plicable financial position statements and subject to the same
considerations as other obligations in classifying them with
current and noncurrent liabilities in classified financial posi-
tion statements?
[SFAS 13 par. 13]

9. Are accrued liabilities for operating leases with scheduled
rent increases reported in the government-wide and proprie-
tary and fiduciary fund financial statements, but only re-
ported in the governmental fund financial statements to the
extent the liabilities are "normally expected to be liquidated
with expendable available financial resources"?
[GASB 13 par. 7 and 9, as amended by GASB 34 (GASB Cod.
sec. L20.107 and .108)]

10. Does the entity disclose the future minimum payments for
each of the five subsequent fiscal years and in five-year incre-
ments thereafter for its obligations under capital and noncan-
celable operating leases?
[NCGA5 par. 27, as amended by GASB 38 par. 11 (GASB
Cod. sec. L20.125)]

11. Does the entity make the disclosures required by SFAS No.
13, as amended and interpreted, including the following:
[NCGA 5 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. L20.125)]

a. For all leases, a general description of the lessee’s leas-
ing arrangements including, but not limited to

i. the basis on which contingent rental payments
are determined?

ii. the existence and terms of renewal or purchase
options and escalation clauses?

34 Governments also are required to disclose information about changes in long-term liabilities, including leases payable, as indicated
in a question in the subsection on liabilities, including debt, in the section of this checklist titled "Note Disclosures."
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iii. restrictions imposed by lease agreements, such as
those concerning dividends, additional debt, and
further leasing?
[SFAS 13 par. 16]

b. For capital leases

i. the gross amount of assets recorded as of each
financial position statement date presented by
major classes according to nature or function?
(This information may be combined with the
comparable information for owned assets.)

ii. the total of minimum sublease rentals to be re-
ceived in the future under noncancelable sub-
leases as of the latest financial position statement
date?

iii. total contingent rentals actually incurred for each
period for which an activity statement is pre-
sented?

iv. assets recorded under capital leases and the ac-
cumulated amortization thereon, unless sepa-
rately identified in the applicable financial posi-
tion statements?

v. the amortization charge on assets recorded under
capital leases, unless the charge is included with
depreciation expense (with the fact that it is so
disclosed) or unless it is separately identified in
the financial statements?
[SFAS 13 par. 13 and 16]

c. For operating leases, rental expense for each period for
which an activity statement is presented, with separate
amounts for minimum rentals, contingent rentals, and
sublease rentals?
[SFAS 13 par. 16]

d. For operating leases having initial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year, future min-
imum rental payments required as of the date of the
latest financial position statement presented, in the ag-
gregate and for each of the five succeeding fiscal years?
[SFAS 13 par. 16]

G. Noninterest-Bearing Receivables and Payables

1. If a note is noninterest-bearing or has an inappropriate stated
interest rate

a. is the discount or premium presented as a deduction
from or addition to the face amount of the asset or lia-
bility? (The face amount of the note should be disclosed
in the financial statements or in the notes to the finan-
cial statements.)

b. is the amortization of the discount or premium re-
ported as interest expense in the activity statements?
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c. is the effective interest rate disclosed?
[APB 21 par. 16]

H. Employee Benefit Pension Plans35

Practice Tips

GASB Statement Nos. 14 and 34 establish general standards for reporting fiduciary funds and component
units, including pension and other employee benefit plans.

GASB Statement No. 25 establishes specific standards for defined benefit and defined contribution pension
plans. A defined benefit pension is one that specifies the amount of pension benefits to be provided at a
future date or after a certain period of time. A defined contribution pension plan is one that specifies how
contributions to a plan member’s account are to be determined, rather than the amount of retirement in-
come the member is to receive.
[GASB 25 par. 44 and GASB 43 par. 46 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.524)]

A defined benefit pension plan provides retirement income and also may provide other types of postem-
ployment benefits, including disability benefits, death benefits, life insurance, healthcare benefits, and other
ancillary benefits. As used GASB standards, the term pension benefits includes retirement income and all
other types of benefits provided through a defined benefit pension plan, except postemployment healthcare
benefits and termination benefits. For financial reporting purposes, postemployment healthcare benefits
(including medical, dental, vision, and other health-related benefits) provided through a defined benefit
pension plan, and the assets accumulated by the plan for the payment of postemployment healthcare ben-
efits, are considered, in substance, a postemployment healthcare plan administered by but not part of the
pension plan. GASB Statement No. 43 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50) addresses financial reporting for postemploy-
ment healthcare plans.
[GASB 25 par. 12, as amended by GASB 47 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.104)]

The standards for defined benefit pension plans apply whether a plan is a single-employer, agent multiple-
employer, or cost-sharing multiple-employer plan and regardless of how or when benefits provided by the
plan are financed. (GASB Statement No. 25 defines those types of plans.) The requirements apply whether
(a) the plan’s financial statements are included in a separate financial report issued by the plan or by the
public employee retirement system (PERS) that administers the plan (stand-alone plan financial report) or
(b) the plan is included as a pension trust fund or fiduciary component unit in the financial reporting entity
of the sponsor or employer.
[GASB 25 par. 13, as amended by GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.105)]

This subsection of this checklist contains separate subsections that apply to (1) stand-alone plan financial
statements and (2) pension plans—sponsor and employer reporting that provides guidance on adapting the
questions in this subsection to plans that are included as pension trust funds or fiduciary component units
in the financial reporting entity of the sponsor or employer.

This subsection of this checklist should be used in conjunction with other applicable questions in this
checklist to evaluate the financial statements and notes of the plan financial statements. For example, plans
will have cash and investments, and the questions in this checklist relating to cash and investments should
be answered. As another example, if a plan has capital assets, the questions relating to capital assets should
be answered.

35 See footnote 6.
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Stand-Alone Financial Statements of Pension Plans

Overview of the Financial Statements

1. Do the basic financial statements consist of a statement of fi-
duciary net assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net
assets? (Those financial statements may be referred to by dif-
ferent terms, such as a statement of plan net assets and a state-
ment of changes in plan net assets.)
[GASB 43 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.105); GASB 25 par. 19
(GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.111); GASB 34 par. 106, as amended by
GASB 43 par. 15, and fn 43, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11
(GASB Cod. sec. 1300.102c and fn 1 and 2200.175 and fn 32);
GASB 34 par. 139 (GASB Cod. sec. Sp20.108)]

2. If the entity administers more than one defined benefit pen-
sion plan, does it present combining financial statements for
all plans administered? (An entity should meet this require-
ment by (a) presenting a separate column in its basic financial
statements for each plan administered or (b) presenting com-
bining statements for those plans as part of the basic financial
statements. If the entity administers one or more agent mul-
tiple-employer plans, the display requirements apply at the
aggregate plan level for each plan administered; the entity is
not required to include financial statements and schedules for
the individual plans of the participating employers.)
[GASB 25 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.107); GASB 34 par. 140
and fn 63, as amended by GASB 43 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec.
Pe5.111, Sp20.109, and fn 7)]

3. If the entity administers and reports other employee benefit
plans (such as defined contribution pension plans, other pos-
temployment benefit plans, or Internal Revenue Code Section
457 deferred compensation plans that meet the criteria for re-
porting), are they displayed in the statement of fiduciary net
assets and statement of changes in fiduciary net assets as em-
ployee benefit trust funds? (Combining financial statements
for those plans are encouraged, but not required.)
[GASB 34 par. 108–109 and 141, as amended by GASB 43 par.
11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176–.177 and Sp20.110)]

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

4. Are plan assets subdivided into

a. the major categories of assets held, for example, cash
and cash equivalents, receivables, investments, and as-
sets used in plan operations?

b. the principal components of the receivables and invest-
ment categories?
[GASB 25 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.113); GASB 34
par. 108, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2200.176)]

5. Do plan assets exclude allocated insurance contracts?
[GASB 25 par. 24 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.116); GASB 34 par. 108
(GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176)]
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Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 53

should answer question 5a.

a. Do plan assets include derivative instruments at fair
value?
[GASB 25 par. 24, as amended by GASB 53 par. 20 and
67 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.118)]

6. Do plan liabilities exclude benefits payable from contracts
that are excluded from plan assets and for which payments
to the insurance company have been made?
[GASB 25 par. 26 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.118); GASB 34 par. 108,
as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176)]

7. Is the difference between total plan assets and total plan lia-
bilities at the reporting date appropriately captioned, for ex-
ample as net assets held in trust for pension benefits?
[GASB 25 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.119); GASB 34 par. 108,
as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176)]

8. If a schedule of funding progress for a defined benefit pen-
sion plan is presented as RSI, does a parenthetical reference
follow the net asset amount to refer to that schedule?
[GASB 25 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.119)]

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

9. Is the information in the statement presented in two principal
sections—additions and deductions?

10. Is the difference between total additions and deductions re-
ported as the net increase (or decrease) for the year in plan
net assets?
[GASB 25 par. 28 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.120); GASB 34 par. 109,
as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.177)]

11. Does the additions section of the statement include the infor-
mation in these four categories as applicable, separately dis-
played:

a. Contributions from the employers?

b. Contributions from plan members, including those
transmitted by the employers?

c. Contributions from sources other than the employers
and plan members (for example, state government con-
tributions to a local government plan)?
[GASB 25 par. 29 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.121); GASB 34
par. 109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2200.177)]

d. Net investment income, including

i. the following two components either separately
displayed or combined and reported as one
amount?
[GASB 25 fn 11 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5 fn 10); GASB
34 par. 109, as amended by GASB 43 par.
11(GASB Cod. sec. 2200.177)]
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(1) The net appreciation (depreciation) in the
fair value of plan investments? (The net ap-
preciation (depreciation) in the fair value of
investments should include realized gains
and losses on investments that were both
bought and sold during the year. Realized
and unrealized gains and losses should not
be separately displayed in the financial
statements.)
[GASB 25 par. 29 and fn 9 (GASB Cod. sec.
Pe5.121 and fn 9); GASB 34 par. 109, as
amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2200.177)]

(2) Interest income, dividend income, and
other income? (Consistent with reporting
investments at their fair value, interest in-
come should be reported at the stated in-
terest rate; any premiums or discounts on
debt securities should not be amortized.)
[GASB 25 par. 29 and fn 10 (GASB Cod.
sec. Pe5.121 and fn 11); GASB 34 par. 109,
as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2200.177)]

ii. total investment expense, separately displayed,
including investment management and custodial
fees and all other significant investment-related
costs?
[GASB 25 par. 29 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.121);
GASB 34 par. 109, as amended by GASB 43 par.
11 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.177)]

12. Does the deductions section separately display

a. benefits and refunds paid to plan members and benefi-
ciaries? (Benefits paid should not include payments
made by an insurance company in accordance with a
contract that is excluded from plan assets. However,
amounts paid by the plan to an insurance company
pursuant to such a contract, including purchases of an-
nuities with amounts allocated from existing invest-
ments with the insurance company, should be included
in benefits paid. The amounts reported may be net of
the plan’s dividend income for the year on excluded
contracts.)
[GASB 25 par. 30–31 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.122–.123);
GASB 34 par. 109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11
(GASB Cod. sec. 2200.177)]

b. total administrative expense?
[GASB 25 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.122); GASB 34
par. 109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB Cod.
sec. 2200.177)]



94 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

Note Disclosures

13. Does the SSAP

a. describe the recognition policies for contributions, ben-
efits paid, and refunds paid for defined benefit pension
plans?
[GASB 25 par. 32b (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.124b)]

b. describe the basis of accounting and fair value of plan
assets (unless reported at fair value) for defined contri-
bution pension plans?
[GASB 25 par. 41b (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6.104b)]

c. provide information about investment valuation, in-
cluding

i. for defined benefit pension plans, a brief descrip-
tion of how the fair value of investments is deter-
mined?
[GASB 25 par. 32b (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.124b)]

ii. for defined contribution pension plans, the fair
value of plan assets (unless plan assets are re-
ported at fair value), and a brief description of
how the fair value is determined, including the
significant assumptions used to estimate fair
value, if based on other than quoted market
prices?
[GASB 25 par. 41b (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6.104b)]

14. For defined benefit pension and plans, do the notes to the
financial statements

a. identify the nature of the plan (for example, as a single-
employer, agent multiple-employer, or cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan) and
disclose the number of participating employers and
other contributing entities?

b. disclose the classes of employees covered (for example,
general employees and public safety employees) and
the current membership, including the number of retir-
ees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, ter-
minated members entitled to but not yet receiving ben-
efits, and current active members? (If the plan is closed
to new entrants, that fact should be disclosed.)

c. briefly describe the benefit provisions, including the
types of benefits, the provisions or policies with respect
to automatic and ad hoc postretirement benefit in-
creases, and the authority under which benefit provi-
sions are established or may be amended?

d. disclose the authority under which the obligations of
the plan members, employers, and other contributing
entities to contribute to the plan are established or may
be amended?
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e. disclose the funding policy, including a brief descrip-
tion of how the contributions of the plan members, em-
ployers, and other contributing entities are determined
(for example, by statute, through an actuarial valua-
tion, or in some other manner) and how the costs of
administering the plan are financed?

f. disclose any legal or contractual maximum contribu-
tion rates?

g. disclose the required contribution rates of active plan
members, in accordance with the funding policy?

h. briefly describe the terms of any long-term contracts for
contributions to the plan and disclosure of the amounts
outstanding at the reporting date?

i. disclose the balances in the plan’s legally required re-
serves at the reporting date? (Amounts of net assets
designated by the plan’s board of trustees or other gov-
erning body for specific purposes also may be disclosed
but should be captioned designations, rather than re-
serves.)

j. briefly describe the purpose of each reserve and desig-
nation and whether the reserve is fully funded?

k. do the notes disclose the funded status of the plan as of
the most recent valuation date, including the actuarial
valuation date, actuarial value of plan assets, actuarial
accrued liability, the total unfunded actuarial accrued
liability, the actuarial value of plan assets as a percent-
age of the actuarial accrued liability, the annual cov-
ered payroll, and the ratio of the unfunded actuarial li-
ability to annual covered payroll?

l. do the notes disclose information about the actuarial
methods and assumptions used in valuations on which
information on the annual required contributions
(ARC) and funded status of the plan are based, includ-
ing the actuarial cost method, methods used to deter-
mine actuarial value of assets, assumptions with re-
spect to investment returns and salary and benefit
increases, amortization methods?
[GASB 25 par. 32; GASB 50 par. 4; (GASB Cod. sec.
Pe5.124a-d)]

15. For plan investments, do disclosures include concentrations
of credit risk—that is, an identification, by amount and issuer,
of investments in any one issuer that represent 5 percent or
more of plan net assets? (Investments issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mu-
tual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled in-
vestments are excluded from this requirement.)
[GASB 40 par. 12–13 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.124e and Pe6.104c)]
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16. For defined contribution pension plans, do the notes to the
financial statements disclose a plan description, including the
following:

a. Identification of the plan as a defined contribution pen-
sion plan and disclosure of the number of participating
employers and other contributing entities?

b. Classes of employees covered (for example, general
employees, public safety employees) and the total cur-
rent membership?

c. Brief description of plan provisions and the authority
under which they are established or may be amended?

d. Contribution requirements (for example, the contribu-
tion rates in dollars or as a percentage of salary) of the
plan members, employers, and other contributing enti-
ties and the authority under which the requirements
are established or may be amended?

e. Brief description of how fair value of investments is de-
termined?
[GASB 25 par. 41b and GASB 50 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec.
Pe6.104b)]

Required Supplementary Information for Defined Benefit Pension

Plans

Practice Tips

GASB Statement No. 25 requires presentation of RSI to provide actuarially determined information, from a
long-term perspective, about the funded status of defined benefit pension plans and the progress being
made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. GASB Statement No. 25 requires plans to
measure all actuarially determined information included in their financial reports in accordance with cer-
tain parameters. The parameters include requirements for the frequency and timing of actuarial valuations
as well as for the actuarial methods and assumptions that are acceptable for financial reporting. When the
methods and assumptions used in determining a plan’s funding requirements meet the parameters, the
same methods and assumptions are required for financial reporting by the plan.
[GASB 25 par. 35–36, GASB 50 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.127–.128)]

GASB Statement No. 25, as amended by GASB Statement No. 50, requires schedules of funding progress
(as of the most recent valuation date) and of employer contributions to be presented immediately after the
notes to the financial statements as RSI. At a minimum, the information should be presented as RSI for each
of the past six consecutive fiscal years of the plan. The following questions are written in terms of presen-
tation of schedules and notes as RSI, but they apply equally to the content of the information in the financial
statements or the notes to the financial statements.
[GASB 25 par. 33 and 37; GASB 50 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.125 and Pe5.129)]

17. Are schedules of funding progress and of employer contri-
butions presented as RSI immediately after the notes to the
financial statements? (Plans that use the aggregate actuarial
cost method in accordance with the parameters of GASB
Statement No. 25 are not required to present a schedule of
funding progress but should disclose that the aggregate
method is used.)
[GASB 25 par. 33 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.125)]
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18. Does the schedule of funding progress present the following
information for each of the past six consecutive fiscal years of
the plan, presented as of the actuarial valuation date (note
that plans with biennial valuations need not present dupli-
cate information for the intervening years):

a. The actuarial valuation date?

b. The actuarial value of plan assets?

c. The actuarial accrued liability?

d. The total unfunded actuarial liability or excess [(b) mi-
nus (c)]?

e. The actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the ac-
tuarial accrued liability or excess (funded ratio) [(b) di-
vided by (c)]?

f. The annual covered payroll?

g. The ratio of the unfunded actuarial liability or excess to
annual covered payroll [(d) divided by (f)]?
[GASB 25 par. 37 and fn 26 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.129
and fn 25)]

19. Does the schedule of employer contributions present the fol-
lowing information for each of the past six consecutive fiscal
years of the plan:

a. The dollar amount of the ARC applicable to that year?

b. The percentage of that ARC that was recognized in the
plan’s statement of changes in fiduciary net assets for
that year as contributions from the employers?

20. If the plan’s funding policy includes contributions from
sources other than the plan members and the employers, are
the required contributions of those other contributing entities
and the percentage recognized as made included in the
schedule of employer contributions?

a. Is the schedule appropriately titled to indicate that it
includes contributions from nonemployer entities?
[GASB 25 par. 38 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.130)]

21. Do the following note disclosures accompany the RSI:

a. Identification of the actuarial methods and significant
assumptions used for the most recent year reported in
the schedules, including

i. the actuarial cost method?

ii. the methods used to determine the actuarial
value of assets?
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iii. the assumptions with respect to the inflation rate,
investment return, projected salary increases, and
postretirement benefit increases? (If the economic
assumptions contemplate different rates for suc-
cessive years [year-based or select and ultimate
rates], the rates that should be disclosed are the
ultimate rates.)

iv. the amortization method (level dollar or level
percentage of projected payroll) and the amorti-
zation period (equivalent single amortization pe-
riod, for plans that use multiple periods) for the
most recent actuarial valuation and whether the
period is closed or open? (Plans that use the ag-
gregate actuarial cost method should disclose
that the method does not identify or separately
amortize unfunded actuarial liabilities.)

b. Factors that significantly affect the identification of
trends in the amounts reported in the schedules, in-
cluding, for example, changes in benefit provisions, the
size or composition of the population covered by the
plan, or the actuarial methods and assumptions used?
[GASB 25 par. 40 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.132)]

22. For defined benefit plans that use the aggregate actuarial cost
method, does the required supplementary schedule of fund-
ing progress use the entry age actuarial cost method and dis-
close that fact and that the purpose of the disclosure is to pro-
vide information that approximates the funding progress of
the plan?
[GASB 50 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.129)]

Pension Plans—Sponsor and Employer Reporting as Trust Funds36

Practice Tips

As discussed in the Practice Tips at the beginning of the subsection on employee benefit pension
plans—stand-alone plan reporting of this section of this checklist, the GASB standards for defined benefit
pension plans apply whether (a) the plan’s financial statements are included in a separate financial report
issued by the plan or by the PERS that administers the plan (stand-alone plan financial report) or (b) the
plan is included as a pension trust fund or fiduciary component unit in the financial reporting entity of the
sponsor or employer.
[GASB 25 par. 13, as amended by GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.105); GASB 26 par. 4, as amended
by GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.102)]

This subsection of the checklist includes questions that address financial reporting and disclosure require-
ments when employee benefit pension plans are included as pension trust funds or fiduciary component
units in a sponsor’s or employer’s financial statements.

This subsection of this checklist should be used in conjunction with other applicable questions in this
checklist to evaluate the financial statements and notes of the plan financial statements. For example, plans
will have cash and investments, and the questions in this checklist relating to cash and investments should

36 See footnote 5.

1
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be answered. As another example, if a plan has capital assets, the questions relating to capital assets should
be answered.

Overview

23. Are employee benefit plans, including those that are fiduciary
component units, reported in the entity’s financial statements
as pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds?
[GASB 25 fn 2 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6 fn 2); GASB 25 par. 13, as
amended by GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.105);
GASB 43 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.102); GASB 34 par. 70
(GASB Cod. sec. 1300.111)]

24. Is each plan considered a separate fund?
[GASB 25 par. 15 and 17 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe5.107 and .109);
GASB 43 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.105); Generally Ac-
cepted]

25. Are financial statements for individual pension plans and
postemployment healthcare plans presented in the notes to
the financial statements if the plans have not issued separate,
GAAP financial reports?

a. If the pension plans or postemployment healthcare
plans have issued separate, GAAP financial reports, do
the notes instead include information about how to ob-
tain those separate reports?
[GASB 34 par. 106 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.175 and
Pe5.109)]

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets and Statement of Changes in Fi-

duciary Net Assets

26. Do the financial statements meet the GASB standards for the
display of pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds?
(See questions 4–12 in the subsection on employee benefit
pension plans in this section of this checklist.)
[GASB 34 par. 108–109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11
(GASB Cod. sec. 2200.176–.177)]

27. If the financial statements include both defined benefit pen-
sion plans and postemployment healthcare plans, do the
combined statements of fiduciary net assets and changes in
fiduciary net assets subdivide net assets and the net increase
or decrease for the year between those for the pension plans
and those for the postemployment healthcare plans?
[GASB 43 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.110)]
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Note Disclosures

28. Are required note disclosures made for defined benefit pen-
sion plans? See questions 13a, 13c(1), 14, and 15 in the subsec-
tion on employee benefit pension plans in this section of this
checklist. (If the plan’s financial statements are presented in
both the employer’s report and a publicly available GAAP fi-
nancial report, and the employer discloses information about
how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial report, the em-
ployer may limit its disclosures to those listed in questions
13a, 13b(1), 14c, 14g, and 15.)
[GASB 25 par. 32 and GASB 40 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec.
Pe5.124)]

29. Are required note disclosures made for defined contribution
pension plans? See questions 13b, 13c(2), 15, and 16 in the
subsection on employee benefit pension plans in this section
of this checklist. (If the plan’s financial statements are pre-
sented in both the employer’s report and a publicly available
GAAP financial report, and the employer discloses informa-
tion about how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial re-
port, the employer may limit its disclosures to those listed in
questions 13b, 13c(2), 15, and 16a.)
[GASB 25 par. 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6.104)]

Required Supplementary Information for Defined Benefit Pension

Plans

30. For each plan, are schedules of funding progress and em-
ployer contributions and notes to RSI included as RSI in the
employer’s financial report unless (a) the required schedules
are included with the plan’s financial statements in a publicly
available, stand-alone plan financial report and (b) the em-
ployer discloses in its notes to the financial statements infor-
mation about how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial re-
port? (The requirements for these schedules and notes are
listed in questions 17–22 in the subsection on employee ben-
efit pension plans in this section of this checklist.)

31. For each single employer plan for which (a) the required
schedules are included with the plan’s financial statements in
a publicly available, stand-alone plan financial report and (b)
the employer discloses in its notes to the financial statements
information about how to obtain the stand-alone plan finan-
cial report, is a schedule of funding progress and notes to RSI
presented for the three most recent actuarial valuations? (The
requirements for this schedule and notes are listed in ques-
tions 17–18 and questions 21–22 in the subsection on em-
ployee benefit pension plans in this section of this checklist.)
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I. Employee Other Postemployment Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit OPEB Plans—Stand-Alone Plan Reporting Over-

view

1. If the entity administers the plan as a trust or equivalent ar-
rangement as provided in GASB Statement No. 43 paragraph
4, do the basic financial statements consist of a statement of
plan net assets and a statement of changes in plan net assets?
[GASB 43 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.113)]

2. Are multiple-employer OPEB plans that the entity adminis-
ters, but not as a trust or equivalent arrangement as provided
in GASB Statement No. 43, paragraph 4, reported as agency
funds?
[GASB 43 par. 5 and 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.102 and
Po50.137)]

3. If the financial report includes more than one defined benefit
OPEB plan, does it present combining financial statements for
all plans administered? (An entity should meet this require-
ment by (a) presenting a separate column in its basic financial
statements for each plan administered or (b) presenting com-
bining statements for those plans as part of the basic financial
statements. If the entity administers one or more agent mul-
tiple-employer plans, the display requirements apply at the
aggregate plan level for each plan administered. The entity is
not required to include financial statements and schedules for
the individual plans of the participating employers.)
[GASB 34 par. 140, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11 (GASB
Cod. sec. Po50.102) and GASB 43 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec.
2200 fn 39)]

Statement of Plan Net Assets

4. Are plan assets subdivided into

a. the major categories of assets held, for example, cash
and cash equivalents, receivables, investments, and as-
sets used in plan operations?

b. the principal components of the receivables and invest-
ment categories?
[GASB 43 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.115)]

5. Do plan assets exclude allocated insurance contracts?
[GASB 43 par. 22 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.118)]

Entities that are implementing GASB Statement No. 53

should answer question 5a.

a. Do plan assets include derivative contracts at fair
value?
[GASB 43 par. 22 as amended by GASB 53 par. 20 and
67 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.118)]



102 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

6. Do plan liabilities exclude benefits payable from contracts
that are excluded from plan assets and for which payments
to the insurance company have been made?
[GASB 43 par. 24 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.120)]

7. For plans that are reported as agency funds, are assets accu-
mulated in excess of liabilities to pay premiums or benefits,
or for investment or administrative expenses, offset by liabil-
ities to participating employers? (That is, no plan net assets
should be reported.)
[GASB 43 par. 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.137)]

8. For OPEB plans that are administered as trust or equivalent
arrangements as provided in GASB Statement No. 43, para-
graph 4, is the difference between total plan assets and total
plan liabilities at the reporting date captioned net assets held
in trust for OPEB?
[GASB 43 par. 25 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.121)]

Statement of Changes in Plan Net Assets

9. Is the information in the statement presented in two principal
sections—additions and deductions?

10. Is the difference between total additions and deductions re-
ported as the net increase (or decrease) for the year in plan
net assets?
[GASB 43 par. 26 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.122)]

11. Does the additions section of the statement include the infor-
mation in these four categories as applicable, separately dis-
played:

a. Contributions from the employers?

b. Contributions from plan members, including those
transmitted by the employers?

c. Contributions from sources other than the employers
and plan members (for example, state government con-
tributions to a local government plan)?
[GASB 43 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.123)]

d. Net investment income, including

i. the following two components either separately
displayed or combined and reported as one
amount:
[GASB 43 par. 27 fn 7 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50 fn
7)]
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(1) the net appreciation (depreciation) in the
fair value of plan investments? (The net ap-
preciation (depreciation) in the fair value of
investments should include realized gains
and losses on investments that were both
bought and sold during the year. Realized
and unrealized gains and losses should not
be separately displayed in the financial
statements.)
[GASB 43 par. 27 and fn 6 (GASB Cod. sec.
Po50 fn 6)]

(2) Interest income, dividend income, and
other income? (Consistent with reporting
investments at their fair value, interest in-
come should be reported at the stated in-
terest rate; any premiums or discounts on
debt securities should not be amortized.)
[GASB 43 par. 27 and fn 7 (GASB Cod. sec.
Po50 fn 7)]

ii. Total investment expense, separately displayed,
including investment management and custodial
fees and all other significant investment-related
costs?
[GASB 43 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.123)]

12. Does the deductions section separately display

a. benefits and refunds paid to plan members and benefi-
ciaries? (Benefits paid should not include payments
made by an insurance company in accordance with a
contract that is excluded from plan assets. However,
amounts paid by the plan to an insurance company
pursuant to such a contract, including purchases of an-
nuities with amounts allocated from existing invest-
ments with the insurance company, should be included
in benefits paid. The amounts reported may be net of
the plan’s dividend income for the year on excluded
contracts.)
[GASB 43 par. 28–29 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.124–.125)]

b. total administrative expense?
[GASB 43 par. 28 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.124)]

Note Disclosures

13. Does the summary of significant accounting policies (SSAP)

a. describe the recognition policies for contributions, ben-
efits paid, and refunds paid?

b. briefly describe how the fair value of investments is de-
termined, including the methods and significant as-
sumptions used to estimate the fair value of invest-
ments if that fair value is based on other than quoted
market prices?
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14. For all OPEB plans (both those that are administered as trusts
or equivalent arrangements and those that are reported as
agency funds), do the notes to the financial statements

a. identify the nature of the plan (for example, as a single-
employer, agent multiple-employer, or cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan) and dis-
close the number of participating employers and other
contributing entities?

b. disclose the classes of employees covered (for example,
general employees and public safety employees) and
the current membership, including the number of retir-
ees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits, ter-
minated members entitled to but not yet receiving ben-
efits, and current active members? (If the plan is closed
to new entrants, that fact should be disclosed.)

c. briefly describe the benefit provisions, including the
types of benefits, the provisions or policies with respect
to automatic and ad hoc postretirement benefit in-
creases, and the authority under which benefit provi-
sions are established or may be amended?

d. disclose the authority under which the obligations of
the plan members, employers, and other contributing
entities to contribute to the plan are established or may
be amended?

e. disclose the funding policy, including a brief descrip-
tion of how the contributions of the plan members, em-
ployers, and other contributing entities are determined
(for example, by statute, through an actuarial valua-
tion, or in some other manner) and how the costs of
administering the plan are financed?

f. disclose legal or contractual maximum contribution
rates disclosed, if applicable?

g. include the required contribution rates of active or re-
tired plan members, in accordance with the funding
policy, expressed as a rate (amount) per member or as
a percentage of covered payroll?

h. briefly describe the terms of any long-term contracts for
contributions to the plan and disclosure of the amounts
outstanding at the reporting date?
[GASB 43 par. 30a–30c(4) (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.126
and 2300.107) and 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.137)]

15. For OPEB plans that are administered as trusts or equivalent
arrangements, do the notes to the financial statements also
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a. disclose the balances in the plan’s legally required re-
serves at the reporting date? (Amounts of net assets
designated by the plan’s board of trustees or other gov-
erning body for specific purposes also may be disclosed
but should be captioned designations, rather than re-
serves.)

b. briefly describe the purpose of each reserve and desig-
nation and whether the reserve is fully funded?

c. disclose information about the funded status of the
plan as of the most recent valuation date, including the
actuarial valuation date, the actuarial value of assets,
the actuarial accrued liability, the total unfunded actu-
arial accrued liability, the actuarial value of assets as a
percentage of the actuarial accrued liability (funded ra-
tio), the annual covered payroll, and the ratio of the un-
funded actuarial liability to annual covered payroll?

d. disclose information about actuarial methods and as-
sumptions used in valuations on which reported infor-
mation about the ARC of the employers and the funded
status and funding progress of OPEB plans are based,
including the following:

i. That actuarial valuations involve estimates of the
value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of events far into the future,
and that actuarially determined amounts are sub-
ject to continual revision as actual results are
compared to past expectations and new estimates
are made about the future?

ii. That the required schedule of funding progress
immediately following the notes to the financial
statements presents multiyear trend information
about whether the actuarial value of plan assets
is increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial accrued liability for benefits?

iii. That calculations are based on the benefits pro-
vided under the terms of the substantive plan in
effect at the time of each valuation and on the
pattern of sharing of costs between the employer
and plan members to that point? (In addition, if
applicable, disclosure should indicate that the
projection of benefits for financial reporting pur-
poses does not explicitly incorporate the poten-
tial effects of legal or contractual funding limita-
tions on the pattern of cost sharing between the
employer and plan members in the future.)



106 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,100.03

Yes No N/A

iv. That actuarial calculations reflect a long-term
perspective? (In addition, if applicable, disclosure
should indicate that, consistent with that per-
spective, actuarial methods and assumptions
used include techniques that are designed to re-
duce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued li-
abilities and the actuarial value of assets.)

v. Identification of the actuarial methods and signif-
icant assumptions used to determine the ARC for
the current year and the disclosures listed in
question 15c, including

(1) the actuarial cost method?

(2) the method(s) used to determine the actu-
arial value of assets?

(3) the assumptions with respect to the infla-
tion rate, investment return (discount rate)
(including the method used to determine a
blended rate for a partially funded plan, if
applicable), projected salary increases if
relevant to determination of the level of
benefits, and, for postemployment health-
care plans, the healthcare cost trend rate?
(If the economic assumptions contemplate
different rates for successive years [year-
based or select and ultimate rates], the
rates that should be disclosed are the initial
and ultimate rates.)

(4) the amortization method (level dollar or
level percentage of projected payroll) and
the amortization period (equivalent single
amortization period, for plans that use
multiple periods) for the most recent actu-
arial valuation and whether the period is
closed or open? (Plans that use the aggre-
gate actuarial cost method should disclose
that because the method does not identify
or separately amortize unfunded actuarial
accrued liabilities, information about the
plan’s funded status and funding progress
has been prepared using the entry age ac-
tuarial cost method for that purpose, and
that the information presented is intended
to approximate the funding progress of the
plan.)
[GASB 43 par. 30c(5) and d (GASB Cod.
sec. 2300.107 and Po50.126)]
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16. If a plan uses the alternative measurement method permitted
by GASB Statement No. 43, do the notes disclose that the plan
uses that method and the source or basis of all significant as-
sumptions or methods selected in addition to all other disclo-
sures required by GASB Statement No. 43?
[GASB 43 par. 39 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.135 and GASB No. 57
par. 6)]

17. For plans that are reported as agency funds, do the notes also
disclose that each participating employer is required by
GASB Statement No. 45 to disclose additional information
with regard to funding policy, the employer’s annual OPEB
cost and contributions made, the funded status and funding
progress of the employer’s individual plan, and actuarial
methods and assumptions used?
[GASB 43 par. 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.137)]

Required Supplementary Information for OPEB Plans That Are Ad-

ministered as Trusts or Equivalent Arrangements

18. Are schedules of funding progress and of employer contri-
butions for each plan presented as RSI immediately after the
notes to the financial statements?
[GASB 43 par. 13, 17, and 31 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.109, .113,
.117, and 2200 fn 39)]

19. Does the schedule of funding progress present for the most
recent valuation and the two preceding valuations the infor-
mation listed in question 15c?
[GASB 43 par. 35 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.131)]

20. Does the schedule of employer contributions present for the
most recent valuation and the two preceding valuations, at a
minimum

a. the dollar amount of the ARC applicable to that year?

b. the percentage of that ARC that was recognized in the
plan’s statement of changes in plan net assets for that
year as contributions from the employer(s)?

21. When the plan’s funding policy includes contributions from
sources other than the plan members and employers (for ex-
ample, contributions from a state government to a local gov-
ernment plan), are the required contributions of those other
contributing entities and the percentage recognized as made
included in the schedule of employer contributions? (The
schedule should be titled schedule of contributions from the em-
ployer(s) and other contributing entities.)
[GASB 43 par. 36 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.132)]

22. Are the schedules accompanied by notes that disclose factors
that significantly affect the identification of trends in the
amounts reported in the required schedules, including, for
example, changes in benefit provisions, the size or composi-
tion of the population covered by the plan, or the actuarial
methods and assumptions used?
[GASB 43 par. 37 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.133)]
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Defined Benefit OPEB Plans—Sponsor and Employer Reporting

Overview

23. Are defined benefit OPEB plans that are within the scope of
GASB Statement No. 43, including those that are fiduciary
component units, included as employee benefit trust or
agency funds in the entity’s financial statements? (Trust fund
reporting is limited to plans that are administered as trusts or
equivalent arrangements as defined in GASB Statement No.
43 paragraph 4. Plan sponsors should report multiple-em-
ployer OPEB plans that do not meet those criteria as agency
funds.)
[GASB 43 par. 4, 8, 17, and 41 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.101, .105,
.113, and .137)]

24. Is each plan considered a separate fund?
[GASB 43 par. 13–15 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.109 and .111 and
2200 fn 39)]

25. Are the financial statements for individual plans presented in
the notes to the sponsor’s or employer’s financial statements
if the plans have not issued separate financial reports that in-
clude financial statements prepared in conformity with
GAAP and, if applicable, RSI?

a. If the plans have issued such separate financial reports,
do the notes instead include information about how to
obtain those separate reports?
[GASB 43 par. 15 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.111)]

Financial Statements and Note Disclosures

26. Do the statement of fiduciary net assets and statement of
changes in fiduciary net assets meet the GASB standards for
the display of pension (and other employee benefit) trust and
agency funds as listed in questions 4–12?
[GASB 34 par. 108–109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11
(GASB Cod. sec. Po50.108), and GASB 43 par. 41 (GASB Cod.
sec. Po50.137)]

27. Are required note disclosures as listed in questions 13–16
made for plans that are administered as trusts or equivalent
arrangements? (If the plan’s financial statements are pre-
sented in both the employer’s report and a publicly available,
stand-alone GAAP financial report, and the employer dis-
closes information about how to obtain the stand-alone plan
financial report, the employer may limit its disclosures to
those listed in questions 13, 14a, 14h, and 16.)
[GASB 43 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.107 and Po50.128)]
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28. Are required note disclosures as listed in questions 13, 14,
and 17 made for plans that are reported as agency funds? (If
the plan’s financial statements are presented in both the em-
ployer’s report and a publicly available, stand-alone GAAP
financial report, and the employer discloses information
about how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial report, the
employer may limit its disclosures to those listed in questions
13, 14a, and 14h.)
[GASB 43 par. 30 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.107 and Po50.128)]

29. When similar note disclosures are required by GASB State-
ment Nos. 43 and 45, are disclosures presented in a manner
that avoids unnecessary duplication?
[GASB 45 par. 24 fn 19 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50 fn 19)]

Required Supplementary Information

30. For each plan that is administered as a trust or equivalent
arrangement, are schedules of funding progress and em-
ployer contributions and notes to RSI as required by GASB
Statement No. 43, paragraphs 35–37, and as listed in ques-
tions 19–22 presented immediately after the notes to the fi-
nancial statements unless (a) the required schedules are in-
cluded with the plan’s financial statements in a publicly
available, stand-alone plan financial report and (b) the em-
ployer discloses in its notes to the financial statements infor-
mation about how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial re-
port?
[GASB 43 par. 31–32 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.127–.128)]

31. For each single-employer plan for which (a) the required
schedules are included with the plan’s financial statements in
a publicly available, stand-alone plan financial report and (b)
the employer includes in its notes to the financial statements
information about how to obtain the stand-alone plan finan-
cial report, is a schedule of funding progress and notes to RSI
presented as required by GASB Statement No. 43, paragraphs
35 and 37, and as listed in questions 19 and 22 for the three
most recent actuarial valuations?
[GASB 43 par. 32 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50.128)]

32. When similar RSI is required by GASB Statement Nos. 43 and
45, is the information presented in a manner that avoids un-
necessary duplication?
[GASB 45 par. 24 fn 19 (GASB Cod. sec. Po50 fn 19)]

Defined Contribution OPEB Plans

33. Are defined contribution plans that provide OPEB included
as employee benefit trust funds or fiduciary component units
in the entity’s financial statements?
[GASB 43 par. 42 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6 fn 2)]

34. Is each plan considered a separate fund?
[Generally Accepted]
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35. Do the financial statements apply the detailed display re-
quirements of GASB Statement Nos. 25 and 43 as listed in
questions 4–7 and 8–12?
[GASB 34 par. 108–109, as amended by GASB 43 par. 11;
GASB 43 par. 42 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6 fn 2)]

36. Do the notes to the financial statements of the plan include
the following disclosures when the financial statements are
presented in a stand-alone report or solely in the financial re-
port of an employer:

a. A plan description, including

i. identification of the plan as a defined contribu-
tion plan and disclosure of the number of partic-
ipating employers and other contributing enti-
ties?

ii. classes of employees covered (for example, gen-
eral employees, public safety employees) and the
total current membership?

iii. brief description of plan provisions and the au-
thority under which they are established or may
be amended?

iv. contribution requirements (for example, the con-
tribution rates in dollars or as a percentage of sal-
ary) of the plan members, employers, and other
contributing entities and the authority under
which the requirements are established or may
be amended?

b. A summary of significant accounting policies, includ-
ing the basis of accounting, fair value of plan assets
(unless plan assets are reported at fair value), and a
brief description of how the fair value is determined?

c. Identification of concentrations in investments (other
than those issued or guaranteed by the U.S. govern-
ment or those in mutual funds, external investment
pools, and other pooled investments) in any one orga-
nization that represent 5 percent or more of plan net
assets?

37. When a plan’s financial statements are presented in both an
employer’s report and a publicly available stand-alone plan
report that includes all disclosures indicated in question 36,
and the employer limits its plan disclosures to those in ques-
tions 36a(1), 36b, and 36c, has the employer disclosed infor-
mation about how to obtain the stand-alone plan financial re-
port?
[GASB 25 par. 41, as amended by GASB 40 par. 12 (GASB
Cod. sec. Pe5.124), and GASB 43 par. 42 (GASB Cod. sec. Pe6
fn 2)]
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J. Pension Benefits—Employer Reporting

Practice Tips

The pension plans to which employers contribute may be defined benefit or defined contribution plans.
Defined benefit plans may be single-employer (sole), agent multiple-employer (agent), cost-sharing multi-
ple-employer (cost-sharing), or insured plans. GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and
Local Governmental Employers, defines the types of plans.

Some governments are legally responsible for contributions to pension plans that cover the employees of
another entity. In those cases, the entity that is legally responsible for the contributions should comply with
all applicable provisions of GASB Statement No. 27 for recognition, measurement, display, note disclosures,
and RSI. If the plan is a defined benefit pension plan and the entity with legal responsibility for contribu-
tions is the only contributing entity, the requirements of GASB Statement No. 27 for sole employers apply,
regardless of the number of entities whose employees are covered by the plan.
[GASB 27 par. 28 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.126)]

GASB Statement No. 25 requires that certain note disclosures for pension trust funds be included in the
employer’s financial reports. When similar disclosures are made for the employer and the pension trust
fund, the employer should present the disclosures in a manner that avoids unnecessary duplication. (See
the subsection on employee benefit pension plans—sponsor and employer reporting in this section of this
checklist.)
[GASB 27, fn 15 and 19 (GASB Cod. sec. P20 fn 21and 23)]

Assets and Liabilities

1. Are pension liabilities and assets to different plans not offset
in the financial statements?
[GASB 27 par. 17, 19, and 25 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.114, .116,
and .122)]

Assets and Liabilities—Sole and Agent Defined Benefit Plans

2. For pensions relating to governmental funds, is a positive
(negative) year-end balance in the net pension obligation
(NPO) not reported in the governmental funds but as a gen-
eral long-term liability (asset) only in the governmental activ-
ities column in the government-wide statement of net assets?
[GASB 27 par. 16, as amended by GASB 34 par. 82 (GASB
Cod. sec. P20.113)]

3. For pensions relating to proprietary funds, is a positive (neg-
ative) year-end balance in the NPO reported as a year-end
liability (asset) in the proprietary fund and government-wide
financial statements?
[GASB 27 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.114); GASB 34 par. 16
(GASB Cod. sec. P20.115)]

Assets and Liabilities—Cost-Sharing Defined Benefit Plans and

Defined Contribution Plans

4. Are pension assets and liabilities reported in the govern-
mental fund, proprietary fund, and government-wide finan-
cial statements, as applicable?
[GASB 27 par. 19 and 25, as amended by GASB 34 par. 16
(GASB Cod. sec. P20.116 and .122)]
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Disclosures—Defined Benefit Plans, Except Insured Plans

5. Are disclosures made for each defined benefit pension plan,
with disclosures for more than one plan combined in a man-
ner that avoids unnecessary duplication?
[GASB 27 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.117)]

6. Is the following information disclosed:

a. A plan description, including

i. name of the plan, identification of the public em-
ployee retirement system or other entity that ad-
ministers the plan, and identification of the plan
as a single-employer, agent multiple-employer,
or cost-sharing multiple-employer defined bene-
fit pension plan?

ii. brief description of the types of benefits and the
authority under which benefit provisions are es-
tablished or may be amended?

iii. whether the pension plan issues a stand-alone fi-
nancial report, or is included in the report of a
public employee retirement system or another
entity, and, if so, how to obtain the report?

b. The funding policy, as follows:

i. Authority under which the obligations to contrib-
ute to the plan of the plan members, employer(s),
and other contributing entities (for example, state
contributions to local government plans) are es-
tablished or may be amended?

ii. Required contribution rate(s) of active plan mem-
bers?

iii. Required contribution rate(s) of the employer in
accordance with the funding policy, in dollars or
as a percentage of current-year covered payroll?

(1) If the plan is a sole or agent plan and the
rate differs significantly from the ARC,
how the rate is determined (for example,
by statute or contract, or the plan is fi-
nanced on a pay-as-you-go basis)?

(2) If the plan is a cost-sharing plan, the re-
quired contributions in dollars and the per-
centage of that amount contributed for the
current year and each of the two preceding
years?
[GASB 27 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.117)]

c. Additionally, for sole and agent plans

i. for the current year, annual pension cost and the
dollar amount of contributions made?
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ii. if the employer has a net pension obligation
(NPO), the components of annual pension cost
(ARC, interest on the NPO, and adjustment to the
ARC), the increase or decrease in the NPO, and
the NPO at the end of the year?

iii. for the current year and each of the two preced-
ing years, annual pension cost, percentage of an-
nual pension cost contributed that year, and NPO
at the end of the year?

iv. date of the actuarial valuation and identification
of the actuarial methods and significant assump-
tions used to determine the ARC for the current
year, including

(1) the actuarial cost method?

(2) the method(s) used to determine the actu-
arial value of assets?

(3) the assumptions with respect to the infla-
tion rate, investment return, projected sal-
ary increases, and postretirement benefit
increases?

(4) the amortization method (level dollar or
level percentage of projected payroll)?

(5) the amortization period (equivalent single
amortization period, for plans that use
multiple periods) for the most recent actu-
arial valuation and whether the period is
closed or open?

(6) if the aggregate actuarial cost method is
used, a statement that the method does not
identify or separately amortize unfunded
actuarial liabilities?

v. Do the notes disclose information about the
funded status of the plan as of the most recent
valuation date, including the actuarial valuation
date, actuarial value of plan assets, actuarial ac-
crued liability, the total unfunded actuarial ac-
crued liability, the actuarial value of plan assets
as a percentage of the actuarial accrued liability,
the annual covered payroll, and the ratio of the
unfunded actuarial liability to annual covered
payroll?
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vi. Do the notes disclose information about the ac-
tuarial methods and assumptions used in valua-
tions on which information on the ARC, annual
pension cost, and funded status and funding pro-
gress of the plan are based, including the actuar-
ial cost method, methods used to determine ac-
tuarial value of assets, assumptions with respect
to investment returns and salary and benefit in-
creases, amortization methods?

vii. Do the notes disclose that the projection of bene-
fits for financial reporting purposes does not ex-
plicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal
or contractual funding limitations, if applicable?
[GASB 27 par. 21; GASB 50 par. 8 (GASB Cod.
sec. P20.118)]

Disclosures—Insured Defined Benefit Plans37

7. Do the notes to the financial statements disclose

a. a brief description of the insured plan, including the
benefit provisions and the authority under which ben-
efit provisions are established or may be amended?

b. the fact that the obligation for the payment of benefits
has been effectively transferred from the employer to
one or more insurance companies and whether the em-
ployer has guaranteed benefits in the event of the in-
surance company’s insolvency?

c. the current-year pension expenditures or expense, or
both, and contributions or premiums paid?
[GASB 27 par. 23 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.121)]

Disclosures—Defined Contribution Plans

8. Is the following information disclosed for each plan to which
the employer is required to contribute:

a. Name of the plan, identification of the public employee
retirement system or other entity that administers the
plan, and identification of the plan as a defined contri-
bution plan?

b. Brief description of the plan provisions and the author-
ity under which they are established or may be
amended?

c. Contribution requirements (for example, the contribu-
tion rate in dollars or as a percentage of salary) of the
plan members, employer, and other contributing enti-
ties and the authority under which the requirements
are established or may be amended?

37 An insured plan is a pension financing arrangement whereby an employer accumulates funds with an insurance company, while
employees are in active service, in return for which the insurance company unconditionally undertakes a legal obligation to pay the
pension benefits of those employees or their beneficiaries, as defined in the employer’s plan (GASB 27 par. 23 [GASB Cod. sec. P20.1200]).
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d. The contributions actually made by plan members and
the employer?
[GASB 27 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.124)]

Required Supplementary Information for Defined Benefit Plans

Practice Tips

Presentation of the schedule of funding progress as RSI is not required if the employer elects to disclose the
required information for all three valuations in the notes to the financial statements. If a sole employer
includes the plan in its financial statements and presents the RSI required for that plan by GASB Statement
No. 25, the following RSI for the employer is not also required. For agent employers, the following RSI
should be presented only for the employer’s individual plan, even if the aggregate multiple-employer plan
(all employers) is included as a pension trust fund in the employer’s report and the RSI required for the
aggregate plan is presented. However, when similar RSI is required for the employer and the plan, the
employer should present it in a manner that avoids unnecessary duplication.
[GASB 27 fn 15 and 17, as amended by GASB 50 par. 8 and fn 4 (GASB Cod. sec. P20 fn 16 and 18)]

For RSI required for plans presented in an employer’s report, see the subsection on pension plans—sponsor
and employer reporting in this section of this checklist.

9. Do sole and agent employers present as RSI the following for
the most recent actuarial valuation and the two preceding
valuations, unless the aggregate actuarial cost method was
used:

a. A schedule of funding progress, including:

i. The actuarial valuation date?

ii. The actuarial value of plan assets?

iii. The actuarial accrued liability?

iv. The total unfunded actuarial liability or funding
excess?

v. The actuarial value of assets as a percentage of
the actuarial accrued liability (funded ratio)?

vi. The annual covered payroll?

vii. The ratio of the unfunded actuarial liability (or
funding excess) to annual covered payroll?

b. Factors that significantly affect the identification of
trends in the amounts reported, including, for example,
changes in benefit provisions, the size or composition
of the population covered by the plan, or the actuarial
methods and assumptions used?
[GASB 27 par. 22 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.119)]

10. For sole and agent employers participating in defined benefit
plans that use the aggregate actuarial cost method, does the
required supplementary schedule of funding progress use the
entry age actuarial cost method and disclose that fact and that
the purpose of the disclosure is to provide information that
approximates the funding progress of the plan?
[GASB 50 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.119)]
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11. For employers participating in a cost-sharing defined benefit
plan that does not issue a stand-alone financial report for the
plan and the plan is not included in another entity’s report,
does the employer present the required supplementary infor-
mation schedule of funding progress and employers contri-
butions to the plan in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement No. 25?
[GASB 50 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. P20.120)]

K. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions—Employer Re-

porting38

Practice Tip

GASB Statement No. 45 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for OPEB expense or
expenditures, or both, and related OPEB liabilities or OPEB assets, note disclosures, and RSI in the financial
reports of state and local governmental employers. (See the definition of OPEB in the section of this appen-
dix that discusses GASB Statement No. 43.)
[GASB 45 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.101)]

GASB Statement No. 45 applies to single-employer (sole), agent multiple-employer (agent), and cost-sharing
multiple-employer (cost-sharing) defined benefit OPEB plans, defined contribution plans that provide
OPEB, and insured benefits.

If a multiple-employer plan is not administered as a formal trust, or equivalent arrangement in which (a)
employer contributions to the plan are irrevocable, (b) plan assets are dedicated to providing benefits to
retirees and their beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of the plan, and (c) plan assets are legally pro-
tected from creditors of the employer(s) or plan administrator, GASB Statement No. 45 requires that plan to
be classified as an agent multiple-employer plan for financial reporting purposes.
[GASB 45 par. 22 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.118)]

Some governments are legally responsible for contributions to OPEB plans that cover the employees of
another governmental entity or entities. In those cases, the entity that is legally responsible for the contri-
butions should comply with all applicable provisions of GASB Statement No. 45 for measurement and rec-
ognition of expense or expenditures, or both, liabilities, assets, note disclosures, and RSI. If the plan is a
defined benefit OPEB plan and the entity with legal responsibility for contributions is the only contributing
entity, the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 for sole employers apply, regardless of the number of
entities whose employees are covered by the plan.
[GASB 45 par. 32 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.129)]

GASB Statement No. 45 supersedes or amends all previous authoritative guidance on accounting and finan-
cial reporting for an employer’s OPEB expense or expenditures, or both, and related information. Most
notably, it supersedes GASB Statement No. 12, which provides note disclosures for OPEB, and paragraph
24 of GASB Statement No. 27, which permits governments to apply the provisions of GASB Statement No.
27 to postemployment healthcare benefits.
[GASB 45 par. 10]

38 GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, supersedes
or amends all previous authoritative guidance on accounting and financial reporting for an employer’s OPEB expense or expenditures,
or both, and related information. Most notably, it supersedes GASB Statement No. 12, Disclosure of Information on Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pension Benefits by State and Local Governmental Employers, which provides note disclosures for OPEB, and paragraph 24 of
GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers, which permits governments to apply the
provisions of GASB Statement No. 27 to postemployment healthcare benefits. The provisions of GASB Statement No. 45 are effective in
three phases starting in periods beginning after December 15, 2006, based on the entity’s implementation phase for purposes of applying
GASB Statement No. 34.

1
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The provisions of GASB Statement No. 45 are effective in three phases based on the entity’s implementation
phase for purposes of applying GASB Statement No. 34. Specifically:

If the entity’s GASB 34 phase was
The entity should apply GASB 45

for periods beginning after

Phase 1 December 15, 2006

Phase 2 December 15, 2007

Phase 3 December 15, 2008

Component units should implement the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 no later than the same year
as their primary government. The provisions of GASB Statement No. 45 generally may be applied prospec-
tively.
[GASB 34 par. 142 and 143; GASB 45 par. 36–38]

The disclosures in this section should be included in or accompany an entity’s basic financial statements.
Note that the disclosure requirements in the following section are not included in the June 30, 2004, GASB
Codification. Appendix G of GASB Statement No. 45 provides instructions for codifying the pronouncement’s
standards.

Assets and Liabilities

1. Are OPEB liabilities and assets to different plans not offset in
the financial statements?
[GASB 45 par. 20–21, 23, and 29 (GASB Cod. sec.
P50.116–.117, .119, and .125)]

Note Disclosures—Defined Benefit Plans

2. Are disclosures made for each defined benefit OPEB plan,
with disclosure for more than one plan combined in a manner
that avoids unnecessary duplication?
[GASB 45 par. 24 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106 and P50.120)]

3. When similar note disclosures are required by GASB State-
ment Nos. 43 and 45, are disclosures presented in a manner
that avoids unnecessary duplication?
[GASB 45 par. 24 fn 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2300.106 and P50.120
fn 19)]

4. Is the following information disclosed:

a. A plan description, including

i. name of the plan, identification of the PERS or
other entity that administers the plan, and iden-
tification of the plan as a single-employer, agent
multiple-employer, or cost-sharing multiple-em-
ployer defined benefit OPEB plan?

ii. brief description of the types of benefits and the
authority under which benefit provisions are es-
tablished or may be amended?

iii. whether the OPEB plan issues a stand-alone fi-
nancial report or is included in the report of a
PERS or another entity, and, if so, how to obtain
the report?
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b. The funding policy, as follows:

i. Authority under which the obligations of the
plan members, employer(s), and other contribut-
ing entities (for example, state contributions to
local government plans) to contribute to the plan
are established or may be amended?

ii. Required contribution rate(s) of plan members?
(The required contribution rate(s) could be ex-
pressed as a rate (amount) per member or as a
percentage of covered payroll.)

iii. Required contribution rate(s) of the employer in
accordance with the funding policy, in dollars or
as a percentage of current-year covered payroll,
and, if applicable, legal or contractual maximum
contribution rates?

(1) If the plan is a single-employer or agent
plan and the rate differs significantly from
the ARC, how the rate is determined (for
example, by statute or by contract) or that
the plan is financed on a pay-as-you-go ba-
sis?

(2) If the plan is a cost-sharing plan, the re-
quired contributions in dollars and the per-
centage of that amount contributed for the
current year and each of the two preceding
years, and how the required contribution
rate is determined (for example, by statute
or by contract, or on an actuarially deter-
mined basis) or that the plan is financed on
a pay-as-you-go basis?

c. Additionally, for single-employer and agent plans

i. for the current year, annual OPEB cost and the
dollar amount of contributions made?

ii. if the employer has a net OPEB obligation, the
components of annual OPEB cost (ARC, interest
on the net OPEB obligation, and adjustment to
the ARC), the increase or decrease in the net
OPEB obligation, and the net OPEB obligation at
the end of the year?

iii. for the current year and each of the two preced-
ing years, annual OPEB cost, percentage of an-
nual OPEB cost contributed that year, and net
OPEB obligation at the end of the year? (For the
first two years, the required information should
be presented for the transition year, and for the
current and transition years, respectively.)
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iv. information about the funded status of the plan
as of the most recent valuation date, including
the actuarial valuation date, the actuarial value of
assets, the actuarial accrued liability, the total un-
funded actuarial liability (or funding excess), the
actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the ac-
tuarial accrued liability (funded ratio), the annual
covered payroll, and the ratio of the unfunded
actuarial liability (or funding excess) to annual
covered payroll? (Employers that use the aggre-
gate actuarial cost method should prepare this in-
formation using the entry age actuarial cost
method for that purpose only.)39

v. information about actuarial methods and as-
sumptions used in valuations on which reported
information about the ARC, annual OPEB cost,
and the funded status and funding progress of
OPEB plans is based, including

(1) that actuarial valuations involve estimates
of the value of reported amounts and as-
sumptions about the probability of events
far into the future, and that actuarially de-
termined amounts are subject to continual
revision as actual results are compared to
past expectations and new estimates are
made about the future?

(2) that the required schedule of funding pro-
gress immediately following the notes to
the financial statements presents multiyear
trend information about whether the actu-
arial value of plan assets is increasing or
decreasing over time relative to the actuar-
ial accrued liability for benefits?

39 For sole employers that include the plan in the financial reporting entity as a trust fund, presentation of information about the plan’s
funded status and funding progress as required for the plan by GASB Statement No. 43 meets this requirement. For agent employers,
this requirement applies to the employer’s individual plan. The information should be presented even if the aggregate multiple-employer
plan (all employers) is included as an OPEB trust fund in the employer’s report and the required funded status and funding progress
information is presented for the aggregate plan (GASB 45 par. 25 [GASB Cod. sec. P50.121] and fn 21 [GASB Cod. sec. P50 fn 21]).
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(3) that calculations are based on the types of
benefits provided under the terms of the
substantive plan at the time of each valua-
tion and on the pattern of sharing of costs
between the employer and plan members
to that point. (In addition, if applicable, the
employer should disclose that the projec-
tion of benefits for financial reporting pur-
poses does not explicitly incorporate the
potential effects of legal or contractual
funding limitations [as discussed in the
disclosure of funding policy in question
4b(3)] on the pattern of cost sharing be-
tween the employer and plan members in
the future.)

(4) that actuarial calculations reflect a long-
term perspective? (In addition, if applica-
ble, the entity should disclose that, consis-
tent with that perspective, actuarial
methods and assumptions used include
techniques that are designed to reduce
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued li-
abilities and the actuarial value of assets.)

(5) identification of the actuarial methods and
significant assumptions used to determine
the ARC for the current year and the infor-
mation listed in question 4c(4), including
the actuarial cost method?

(6) identification of the actuarial methods and
significant assumptions used to determine
the ARC for the current year and the infor-
mation listed in question 4c(4), including
the method(s) used to determine the actu-
arial value of assets?
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(7) identification of the actuarial methods and
significant assumptions used to determine
the ARC for the current year and the infor-
mation listed in question 4c(4), including
the assumptions with respect to the infla-
tion rate, investment return (including the
method used to determine a blended rate
for a partially funded plan, if applicable),
postretirement benefit increases if applica-
ble, projected salary increases if relevant to
determination of the level of benefits, and,
for postemployment healthcare plans, the
healthcare cost trend rate? (If the economic
assumptions contemplate different rates
for successive years [year-based or select
and ultimate rates], the rates that should be
disclosed are the initial and ultimate rates.)

(8) identification of the actuarial methods and
significant assumptions used to determine
the ARC for the current year and the infor-
mation listed in question 4c(4), including
the amortization method (level dollar or
level percentage of projected payroll) and
the amortization period (equivalent single
amortization period, for plans that use
multiple periods) for the most recent actu-
arial valuation and whether the period is
closed or open? (Employers that use the
aggregate actuarial cost method should
disclose that because the method does not
identify or separately amortize unfunded
actuarial liabilities, information about
funded status and funding progress has
been prepared using the entry age actuarial
cost method for that purpose, and that the
information presented is intended to ap-
proximate the funding progress of the
plan.)
[GASB 45 par. 25 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.121)]

5. If an entity uses the alternative measurement method permit-
ted by GASB Statement No. 45, do the notes disclose that it
uses that method and the source or basis of all significant as-
sumptions or methods selected in accordance with paragraph
34 of GASB Statement No. 45 in addition to all other disclo-
sures required by GASB Statement No. 45?
[GASB 45 par. 33–34 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.130–.131)]
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Note Disclosures—Insured Benefits40

6. Do the notes to the financial statements disclose

a. a brief description of the insured benefit, including the
authority under which benefit provisions are estab-
lished or may be amended?

b. the fact that the obligation for the payment of benefits
has been effectively transferred from the employer to
one or more insurance companies?

c. whether the employer has guaranteed benefits in the
event of the insurance company’s insolvency?

d. the current-year OPEB expense or expenditures, or
both, and contributions or premiums paid?
[GASB 45 par. 28 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.124)]

Note Disclosures—Defined Contribution Plans

7. Is the following information disclosed for each plan to which
the employer is required to contribute:

a. Name of the plan, identification of the PERS or other
entity that administers the plan, and identification of
the plan as a defined contribution plan?

b. Brief description of the plan provisions and the author-
ity under which they are established or may be
amended?

c. Contribution requirements (for example, the contribu-
tion rate in dollars or as a percentage of salary) of the
plan members, employer, and other contributing enti-
ties (for example, state contributions to local govern-
ment plans) and the authority under which the require-
ments are established or may be amended?

d. The contributions actually made by plan members and
the employer?
[GASB 45 par. 31 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.127)]

Required Supplementary Information41

Sole and Agent Employers42

40 An insured benefit is an OPEB financing arrangement whereby an employer pays premiums to an insurance company while
employees are in active service, in return for which the insurance company unconditionally undertakes an obligation to pay the postem-
ployment benefits of those employees or their beneficiaries, as defined in the employer’s plan. If an employer’s OPEB financing arrange-
ment with the insurance company does not meet those criteria, the benefit is not an insured benefit for financial reporting purposes, and
the employer should comply with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 for sole and agent employers (GASB 45 par. 28 [GASB
Cod. sec. P50.124]).

41 GASB Statement No. 43 includes the requirements for required supplementary information (RSI) of OPEB plans reported as trust or
agency funds in the employer’s financial reports. When similar information is required by GASB Statement Nos. 43 and 45, the employer
should present the disclosures in a manner that avoids unnecessary duplication (GASB 45 par. 24 fn 19 [GASB Cod. sec. P50.120 fn 19]).

42 For sole employers that include the plan in the financial reporting entity (as a trust fund), presentation of information about the
plan’s funded status and funding progress as required for the plan by GASB Statement No. 43 meets these requirements. For agent
employers, these requirements apply to the employer’s individual plan. The information should be presented even if the aggregate
multiple-employer plan (all employers) is included as an OPEB trust fund in the employer’s report and the required funded status and
funding progress information is presented for the aggregate plan (GASB 45 par. 26 fn 24 [GASB Cod. sec. P50.122 fn 24]).
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8. Do sole and agent employers present as RSI the following in-
formation for the most recent actuarial valuation and the two
preceding valuations:43

a. Information about the funding progress of the plan, in-
cluding, for each valuation, each of the elements of in-
formation listed in question 4c(4)?

b. Factors that significantly affect the identification of
trends in the amounts reported, including, for example,
changes in benefit provisions, the size or composition
of the population covered by the plan, or the actuarial
methods and assumptions used?

9. If the entity uses the aggregate actuarial cost method, has it
prepared the RSI using the entry age actuarial cost method
and disclosed that fact and that the purpose of the disclosure
listed in question 6 is to provide information that approxi-
mates the funding progress of the plan?
[GASB 45 par. 26 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.122)]

Cost-Sharing Employers

10. If the cost-sharing plan in which an entity participates does
not issue and make publicly available a stand-alone plan fi-
nancial report prepared in accordance with the requirements
of GASB Statement No. 43, and the plan is not included in the
financial report of a PERS or another entity, does the entity
present as RSI schedules of funding progress and employer
contributions for the plan (and notes to those schedules), pre-
pared in accordance with the requirements of GASB State-
ment No. 43? (The employer should disclose that the infor-
mation presented relates to the cost-sharing plan as a whole,
of which the employer is one participating employer, and
should provide information helpful for understanding the
scale of the information presented relative to the employer.)
[GASB 45 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. P50.123)]

L. Pollution Remediation Obligations

Assets, Liabilities, Revenues, and Expenditures/Expenses

1. Are assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenditures or expenses,
or both, related to pollution remediation obligations reported
in the government-wide financial statements and fund finan-
cial statements?
[GASB 49 par. 23–24 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.121–.122)]

43 Until three actuarial valuations have been performed in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45, the RSI should
be presented for as many years as it is available. Retroactive application of GASB Statement No. 45 is not required. However, employers
that have available actuarial information that was calculated using methods and assumptions that do not differ significantly from the
parameters for periods prior to the implementation date may elect to apply the measurement requirements of GASB Statement No. 45
retroactively. Those employers may be able to provide information in accordance with the parameters for the prior three actuarial
valuations when GASB Statement No. 45 is first implemented (GASB 45 par. 26 fn 23 [GASB Cod. sec. P50.122 fn 23]).
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2. For pollution remediation activities reported in governmental
funds, are such activities reported on the current financial re-
sources measurement focus and modified accrual basis of ac-
counting?
[GASB 34 par. 79 (GASB Cod. sec. 1100.110a)]

3. For pollution remediation activities reported in proprietary
funds and the government-wide financial statements, are
such activities reported on the economic resources measure-
ment resources focus and accrual basis of accounting?
[GASB 34 par. 16 and 92 (GASB Cod. sec. 1100.109 and .110b)]

4. In the proprietary funds and government-wide financial
statements, are pollution remediation outlays capitalized
when they meet any of the following circumstances:

a. The outlays are for preparing property in anticipation
of a sale? Capitalization should be of only amounts that
would result in the carrying amount of the property
not exceeding the fair value upon completion of the re-
mediation.

b. The outlays are for preparing property for use when
the property was acquired with known or suspected
pollution that was expected to be remediated? Capital-
ization should be of only outlay amounts expected to
be necessary to place the asset into its intended location
and condition for use.

c. The outlays are for performing pollution remediation
that restores a pollution-caused decline in service util-
ity that was recognized as an asset impairment? Capi-
talization should be of only outlay amounts expected to
be necessary to place the asset into its intended location
and condition for use.

d. The outlays are to acquire property, plant, and equip-
ment that have a future alternative use? Capitalization
should be of only outlay amounts to the extent of the
estimated service utility that will exist after pollution
remediation activities have ceased.
[GASB 49 par. 22; GASB 34 par. 18, as amended (GASB
Cod. sec. P40.120)]

5. In governmental funds financial statements, are pollution re-
mediation outlays reported as pollution remediation expen-
ditures?
[GASB 49 par. 23 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.121)]

6. Are pollution remediation liabilities reported once an obligat-
ing event occurs and the amount can be reasonably esti-
mated?
[GASB 49 par. 10–13 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.108–.111)]

7. Are pollution remediation liabilities measured at the current
value of outlays expected to be occurred using the expected
cash flow technique?
[GASB 49 par. 14–17 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.112–.115)]
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8. If applicable, have pollution remediation liability estimates
been adjusted when benchmarks are met or when new infor-
mation indicates changes in the estimated outlays?
[GASB 49 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.116)]

9. Are pollution remediation liabilities reported net of expected
recoveries from insurance policies or other third parties when
the expected recoveries are not yet realized or realizable?
[GASB 49 par. 19–21 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.117–.119)]

10. Are expected recoveries that are realized or realizable re-
ported separately from the pollution remediation liability as
recovery assets, such as cash or receivables?
[GASB 49 par. 19–21 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.117–.119)]

Note Disclosures

11. For recognized pollution remediation liabilities and recover-
ies of pollution remediation outlays, did the government dis-
close

a. the nature and source of pollution remediation obliga-
tions, such as federal or state laws and regulations?

b. the amount of the estimated liability (if not apparent
from the financial statements) the methods and as-
sumptions used for the estimate, and the potential for
changes to the estimate due to such circumstances as
price increases or decreases, technology advancements,
or changes in applicable laws and regulations?

c. estimated recoveries reducing the liability?

12. For pollution remediation liabilities, or portions thereof, that
are not yet recognized because they are not reasonably esti-
mable, did the government disclose a general description of
the nature of the pollution remediation activities?
[GASB 49 par. 25–26 (GASB Cod. sec. P40.123–.124)]

M. Public Entity Risk Pools

Practice Tip

A public entity risk pool is a cooperative group of governmental entities joining together to finance an
exposure, liability, or risk. A pool may be a stand-alone entity or part of a larger governmental entity that
acts as the pool’s sponsor. If a government provides insurance or risk management coverage separate from
its own risk management activities to individuals or organizations outside its reporting entity and there is
material transfer or pooling of risk among the participants, it should report that activity as a public entity
risk pool. A governmental entity that is a pool’s sponsor also may participate in the pool for its own risk
management function. If a government provides risk transfer or pooling coverage combined with its own
risk management activities to individuals or organizations outside its reporting entity, those activities
should be reported as a public entity risk pool if the sponsoring government is not the predominant partic-
ipant in the activity.
[GASB 10 par. 10–11 and 76 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.109–.110)]
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Basic Financial Statements

1. Does the public entity risk pool account for its activities in an
enterprise fund, regardless of whether there is a transfer or
pooling of risk?
[GASB 10 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.115)]

2. Do the pool’s financial statements apply all applicable GASB
pronouncements as well as private-sector standards as pro-
vided in GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Re-
porting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities
That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended?
[GASB 20 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.115) and 7 (GASB Cod.
sec. P80.103)]

3. Does the pool report include an MD&A; a statement of net
assets; a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
assets; a statement of cash flows; notes to the financial state-
ments; and RSI other than MD&A, as applicable?
[GASB 34 par. 138 (GASB Cod. sec. P80.103)]

4. If a portion of premiums is specifically identified as being col-
lected for future catastrophe losses, is that amount separately
identified as a reservation of pool equity if it is contractually
restricted for that specific future use or if it is legally re-
stricted for that specific use by an organization or individual
outside the entity?44

[GASB 10 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.118)]

5. If the pool purchases annuity contracts in the claimant’s name
to satisfy a claim liability, and the likelihood that the pool
will be required to make future payments on the claim is re-
mote, are the contracts not reported in, and the related liabil-
ity removed from, the pool’s statement of net assets?
[GASB 10 par. 26 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.123)]

6. If no accrual is made for an insured event, or if an exposure
to loss exists in excess of the accrual, is a loss contingency
disclosed if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss
or an additional loss may have been incurred?

a. Does the disclosure indicate the nature of the contin-
gency and give an estimate of the possible loss or range
of loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made?

b. If it is considered probable that a claim will be asserted
and there is a reasonable possibility that the outcome
will be unfavorable, is disclosure of the possible claim
made?
[GASB 10 par. 27 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.124)]

44 This question and the remaining questions in this subsection do not apply to a public entity risk pool that does not involve any
transfer or pooling of risk among pool participants. In those situations, the pool is acting as a claims servicer, not as an insurer. Instead,
the activity statement of this type of pool should report claims-servicing revenue and administrative costs. Amounts collected or due
from pool participants, including capitalization contributions, and paid or to be paid to settle claims should be netted and reported as an
asset or a liability, as appropriate (GASB 10 par. 51; GASBI 4 par. 13 [GASB Cod. sec. Po20.149]).
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7. Are unamortized acquisition costs classified as an asset, and
do proceeds from reinsurance transactions that represent re-
covery of acquisition costs reduce applicable unamortized ac-
quisition costs?
[GASB 10 par. 29 and 38 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.126 and .135)]

8. Are policyholder dividends that are used to reduce premi-
ums reported as dividend expense and premium income?
[GASB 10 par. 32 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.129)]

9. If experience refund arrangements exist under experience-
rated contracts, is a separate liability accrued for those
amounts, with those amounts reducing revenue?
[GASB 10 par. 33 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.130)]

10. Are premium deficiencies in excess of unamortized acquisi-
tion costs reported as a premium deficiency liability and as a
premium deficiency expense?

11. Are premium deficiencies resulting from risk-sharing pool
participation contracts reported as revenue and assessments
receivable?
[GASB 30 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.133)]

12. Are amounts that are recoverable from reinsurers or excess
insurers and that relate to paid claims and claim adjustment
expenses classified as assets (with an allowance for estimated
uncollectible amounts) and as reductions of expenses?

13. Are estimated amounts recoverable from reinsurers that re-
late to the liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment
expenses deducted from those liabilities rather than reported
as assets?

14. Are unearned premiums on contracts ceded to a reinsurer by
a pool netted with related premiums paid to but not yet
earned by the reinsurer?

15. Are receivables and payables from the same reinsurer, in-
cluding amounts withheld, netted?
[GASB 10 par. 37 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.134)]

16. Does the pool report a liability if it has agreed to service
ceded insurance contracts without reasonable compensation?
[GASB 10 par. 38 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.135)]

17. To the extent that a reinsurance or excess insurance contract
does not, despite its form, provide for indemnification of the
pool by the reinsurer against loss or liability, is the premium
paid less the premium to be retained by the reinsurer re-
ported as a deposit (or as a liability, if a net credit)?
[GASB 10 par. 39 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.136)]
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18. Does the pool report capitalization contributions to another
public entity risk pool as provided for proprietary funds in
GASB Cod. sec. C50.133, .134, and .136, and not as an equity
interest in a joint venture? (See the subsection on risk financ-
ing and related financing issues—entities other than risk
pools in this section of this checklist.)
[GASBI 4 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. J50.113); GASBI 4 par. 10
and fn 9 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.137)]

19. Are capitalization contributions received reported as a liabil-
ity or as unearned premiums, depending on the probability
that the contributions will be returned?
[GASBI 4 par. 11–12 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.138–.139)]

20. Concerning investments:

a. Does the pool apply the accounting and financial re-
porting standards for debt securities, marketable equity
securities, and certain other, similar investments pro-
vided in GASB Cod. Section I50?
[GASB Cod. sec. Po20.140]

b. Is the amortization of purchased premiums or dis-
counts on mortgage loans, and other related charges or
credits, charged or credited to investment income?

c. Are changes in the allowance for estimated uncollecti-
ble amounts relating to mortgage loans included in re-
alized gains and losses?
[GASB 10 par. 42 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.141)]

d. Is depreciation and other related charges or credits on
real estate investments charged or credited to invest-
ment income?

e. Are changes in the allowance for any impairment in
value relating to real estate investments included in re-
alized gains and losses?
[GASB 10 par. 43 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.142)]

f. Are other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of
other investments below their carrying amounts re-
ported as a realized loss and a reduction of the carrying
amount of the investment?
[GASB 10 par. 44, as amended by GASB 31 par. 6
(GASB Cod. sec. Po20.143)]

g. Are loan origination and commitment fees and direct
loan origination costs accounted for as prescribed in
SFAS No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs
Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial
Direct Costs of Leases—an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 13, 60, and 65 and a rescission of FASB Statement No.
17?
[GASB 10 par. 45 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.144)]
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h. Is all investment income, including changes in the fair
value of investments (except those that are accounted
for as foreign currency or futures contract hedges as re-
quired by SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation,
and SFAS No. 80, Accounting for Futures Contracts), re-
ported in the statement of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net assets as a component of other income?
[GASB 10 par. 46, as amended by GASB 31 par. 13
(GASB Cod. sec. Po20.145); GASB 10 fn 7 (GASB Cod.
sec. Po20 fn 7)]

21. Concerning real estate:

a. Is such real estate classified either as an investment or
as real estate used in the pool’s operations, depending
on its predominant use?

b. Are depreciation and other real estate operating costs
classified as investment expenses or operating expenses
consistent with the classification in the statement of net
assets of the related asset?

c. Is imputed investment income and rental expense not
reported for real estate used in the pool’s operations?
[GASB 10 par. 48 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.146)]

22. Does the pool disclose the following matters in the notes to
the financial statements:

a. A description of the risk transfer or pooling agreement,
including the rights and responsibilities of the pool and
the pool participants?

b. A brief description of the number and types of entities
participating in the pool?

c. The basis for estimating the liabilities for unpaid claims
and claim adjustment expenses?

d. A statement that the liabilities are based on the esti-
mated ultimate cost of settling the claims, including the
effects of inflation and other societal and economic fac-
tors?

e. The nature of acquisition costs capitalized, the method
of amortizing those costs, and the amount of those costs
amortized for the period?

f. The face amount and carrying amount of liabilities for
unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses that are
presented at present value in the financial statements
and the range of annual interest rates used to discount
those liabilities?
[GASB 10 par. 49 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.147)]

g. Whether the pool considers anticipated investment in-
come in determining if a premium deficiency exists?
[GASB 10 par. 49 and fn 6 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.147
and fn 5)]
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h. The nature and significance of excess insurance or re-
insurance transactions to the pool’s operations, includ-
ing the type of coverage, reinsurance premiums ceded,
and estimated amounts that are recoverable from ex-
cess insurers and reinsurers and that reduce the liabili-
ties as of the financial statement date for unpaid claims
and claim adjustment expenses?
[GASB 30 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.147)]

i. A reconciliation of total claims liabilities, including an
analysis of changes in aggregate liabilities for claims
and claim adjustment expenses for the current fiscal
year and the prior fiscal year, in this tabular format:

i. Amount of liabilities for unpaid claims and claim
adjustment expenses at the beginning of each fis-
cal year?

ii. Incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses,
including the provision for insured events of the
current fiscal year and the increase (decrease) in
the provision for insured events of prior fiscal
years?

iii. Payments for claims and claim adjustment ex-
penses attributable to insured events of the cur-
rent fiscal year and claims and claim adjustment
expenses attributable to insured events of prior
fiscal years?

iv. Other items, with an explanation of each material
item?

v. Amount of liabilities for unpaid claims and claim
adjustment expenses at the end of each fiscal
year?
[GASB 10 par. 49 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.147)]

j. The aggregate outstanding amount of liabilities for
which annuity contracts have been purchased from
third parties in the claimants’ names and for which the
related liabilities have been removed from the state-
ment of net assets. (Annuity contracts used to settle
claims for which the claimant has signed an agreement
releasing the entity from further obligation and for
which the likelihood that the pool will be required to
make future payments on those claims is remote
should not be included in this disclosure.)
[GASB 10 par. 26 and 49 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.123 and
.147)]
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Required Supplementary Information

Practice Tips

In separate pool financial reports, the following RSI should be presented immediately after the notes to the
financial statements. Pools that are included as part of a governmental reporting entity and that do not
issue separate financial reports also should present the following RSI after the notes to the reporting entity’s
financial statements. However, if such a reporting entity issues a comprehensive annual financial report
(CAFR), the entity may present the RSI for the pool with the statistical information.
[GASB 30 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.148 and fn 10)]

If the 10 years of information about claims liabilities and claim adjustment expenses is not available (see
question 23a), all required information should be presented only for as many years as that information is
available. If changes in a pool’s loss, expense, reinsurance, excess insurance, or other transactions materially
affect pool revenue, expenses, or liabilities in a manner not fairly disclosed or presented in the RSI tables,
the pool should expand the information to show additional detail (such as separate information for each
type of contract) to keep the schedules from being misleading or to keep trends from becoming obscured.
[GASB 30 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.148)]

23. Is the following claims development information presented
as RSI:

a. A table that presents

i. amount of gross premium (or required contribu-
tion) revenue and reported investment revenue,
amount of premium (or required contribution)
revenue ceded, and amount of net reported pre-
mium (or required contribution) revenue (net of
excess insurance or reinsurance) and reported in-
vestment revenue for each of the past 10 fiscal
years including the latest fiscal year?

ii. amount of reported unallocated claim adjustment
expenses and reported other costs for each of the
past 10 fiscal years including the latest fiscal
year?

iii. total gross amount of incurred claims and allo-
cated claim adjustment expenses (both paid and
accrued before the effect of loss assumed by ex-
cess insurers or reinsurers), loss assumed by ex-
cess insurers or reinsurers (both paid and ac-
crued), and total net amount of incurred claims
and allocated claim adjustment expenses (both
paid and accrued)?

iv. the cumulative net amount paid as of the end of
the accident year, report year, or policy year (as
appropriate) and each succeeding year for each
of the incurred claims and allocated expense
amounts presented in question 23a(3)?
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v. the reestimated amount for loss assumed by ex-
cess insurers or reinsurers as of the end of the
current year for each of the accident years, report
years, or policy years (as appropriate) presented
in question 23a(3)?

vi. the reestimated amount for net incurred claims
and claim adjustment expenses as of the end of
each succeeding year for each of the accident
years, report years, or policy years (as appropri-
ate) presented in question 23a(3)?

vii. the change in net incurred claims and claim ad-
justment expenses from the original estimate,
based on the difference between the latest reesti-
mated amount presented in question 23a(6) for
each of the accident years, report years, or policy
years (as appropriate) and the original net in-
curred claims and claim adjustment amounts re-
ported in question 23a(3)?

b. A table that reconciles claims liabilities by type of con-
tract, including an analysis of changes in liabilities for
claims and claim adjustment expenses for the current
fiscal year and the prior year, in the same tabular for-
mat required by question 22i?
[GASB 30 par. 7 (GASB Cod. sec. Po20.148)]

N. Risk Financing and Related Financing Issues—Entities Other

Than Risk Pools45

1. Are accrued liabilities for claims and judgments reported in
the government-wide and proprietary and fiduciary fund fi-
nancial statements, but only reported in the governmental
fund financial statements to the extent the liabilities are "nor-
mally expected to be liquidated with expendable available fi-
nancial resources"?
[GASB 34 par. 16, 82, 92, and 107 (GASB Cod. sec. 100.108
and C50.120 and .124); GASB 6 par. 14 (GASB Cod. sec.
C50.124)]

2. If a single fund is used in the fund financial statements to
account for the entity’s risk financing activities, is that fund
either the general fund or an internal service fund?46

[GASB 10 par. 63 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.124)]

3. If the entity uses the general fund to account for its risk fi-
nancing activities and allocates loss expenditures or expenses,
or both, to the other funds of the entity

45 The practice tip in the subsection on public entity risk pools in this section of this checklist discusses how an entity that provides
insurance or risk management coverage to individuals or organizations outside the governmental reporting entity should report that
activity.

46 Stand-alone entities that engage only in business-type activities or fiduciary activities and that are not considered to be a part of
another financial reporting entity should not use an internal service fund to report their own risk-financing activities (GASB 10 fn 12, as
amended by GASB 14 par. 66; GASB 34 par. 138–139 [GASB Cod. sec. C50 fn 8]).
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a. are amounts charged to other funds from the general
fund reported as interfund reimbursements (that is, as
expenditures or expenses in the paying fund and as re-
ductions of the expenditure or expense in the general
fund)?

b. if the total amounts charged to the other funds (includ-
ing the general fund itself) exceed total expenditures
and liabilities determined in accordance with Cod. Sec-
tion C50.110–.114, are the excess amounts reported as
transfers?
[GASB 10 par. 64; GASB 34 par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec.
C50.126)]

4. If the entity uses an internal service fund to account for its
risk financing activities

a. are charges made by the internal service fund to the
other funds calculated in accordance with the provi-
sions of GASB Cod. Section C50.128 reported as reve-
nue by the internal service fund and as expenditures or
expenses in the paying funds?

b. is the excess of charges greater than the amount result-
ing from the application of GASB Cod. Section C50.128
reported in both the internal service fund and the pay-
ing funds as a transfer?

c. if the charge by the internal service fund to the other
funds fails to recover the full cost of claims over a rea-
sonable period of time, is any deficit fund balance in
the internal service fund charged back to the other
funds and reported as an expenditure or expense of
those funds?

d. do the notes to the financial statements disclose a defi-
cit net asset balance in the internal service fund?

e. are net assets in the internal service fund resulting from
a charge by the internal service fund to the other funds
for a reasonable provision for expected future catastro-
phe losses disclosed in the notes to the financial state-
ments as equity designated for future catastrophe
losses?
[GASB 10 par. 67; GASB 34 par. 98 (GASB Cod. sec.
C50.129); GASB 10 par. 68, as amended by GASB 34
par. 112 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.130)]

5. Are risk financing internal service fund asset and liability bal-
ances that are not eliminated in the statement of net assets
reported in the governmental activities column unless enter-
prise funds are the predominant or only participants in the
risk financing internal service fund?
[GASB 34 par. 62 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.122)]
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6. Are eliminations made in the government-wide statement of
activities to remove the "doubling-up" effect of risk financing
internal service fund activity?
[GASB 34 par. 59 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.123)]

7. If no accrual is made for a loss contingency, or if an exposure
to loss exists in excess of the accrual, is a loss contingency
disclosed if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss
or an additional loss may occur?

a. Does the disclosure indicate the nature of the contin-
gency and give an estimate of the possible loss or range
of loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made?
[GASB 10 par. 58 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.115)]

8. If the entity purchases an annuity contract in a claimant’s
name to satisfy a claim liability and the likelihood that the
entity will be required to make future payments on the claim
is remote, is the annuity contract not reported in, and the re-
lated liability removed from, the entity’s government-wide
and proprietary fund financial statements, as appropriate? (If
it is later determined that the primary liability will revert
back to the entity, the liability should be reinstated on the
entity’s financial statements.)
[GASB 10 par. 61, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6 (GASB Cod.
sec. C50.118)]

Participation in Risk Pools

9. If the entity participates in a pool in which there is a transfer
or pooling (sharing) of risks among the participants of that
pool, does the entity

a. report its premium or required contribution (as well as
additional assessments and obligations that meet the
recognition criteria in Cod. sec. C50.132 and .133) in the
government-wide and fund financial statements as in-
surance expenditures or expenses?

b. does the entity disclose assessment and obligation
amounts that are probable but not reasonably estimable
as well as those that are reasonably possible?
[GASB 10 par. 69, as amended by GASB 34 par. 6
(GASB Cod. sec. C50.132); GASB 10 par. 70 (GASB Cod.
sec. C50.133)]

c. are capitalization contributions reported as a deposit if
it is probable that the contribution will be returned to
the entity upon either the dissolution of or the ap-
proved withdrawal from the pool?

i. In governmental funds, is fund balance reserved
to indicate that the deposit is not appropriable
for expenditure?
[GASBI 4 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.134)]
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Entities implementing GASB No. 54 should only answer

question d(i)–(iii). Entities not implementing GASB No. 54

should answer question d(i)–(ii).

d. If it is not probable that a capitalization contribution
will be returned

i. in governmental funds, is the entire amount of
the contribution reported as an expenditure in
the period of the contribution; or reported ini-
tially as prepaid insurance (an asset), and re-
ported as expenditures over the periods for
which the pool is expected to provide coverage
and fund balance reserved to indicate that the
amount is not appropriable for expenditure?

ii. in the government-wide and proprietary fund fi-
nancial statements, is the contribution reported
initially as prepaid insurance (an asset), and re-
ported as expenses over the periods for which the
pool is expected to provide coverage?

iii. in governmental funds, is the entire amount of
the contribution reported as an expenditure in
the period of the contribution, or reported ini-
tially as prepaid insurance (an asset) and re-
ported as expenditures over the periods for
which the pool is expected to provide coverage
and nonspendable fund balance to indicate it is
not in spendable form?
[GASBI 4 par. 5–7 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.135 and
.137–.138); GASBI 4 par. 6, as amended by GASB
34 par. 6 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.136); GASB 54 par.
6]

10. If the entity participates in a pool without transfer or pooling
of risks, is a capitalization contribution reported as a deposit
or a reduction of claims liabilities, as appropriate?
[GASB 10 par. 71, and GASBI 4 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec.
C50.139)]

Retrospectively Rated Insurance Policies

11. If the entity is insured under a retrospectively rated insurance
policy whose ultimate premium or required contribution is
based primarily on the entity’s loss experience, does it dis-
close in the notes to the financial statements a contingency if
it cannot estimate losses from reported and unreported
claims?
[GASB 10 par. 73 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.141)]

12. If the entity is insured under a retrospectively rated insurance
policy with premiums or required contributions that are
based primarily on the experience of a group of entities, does
it disclose in the notes to the financial statements

a. the fact that it is insured under a retrospectively rated
insurance policy?
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b. that premiums are accrued based on the ultimate cost
of the experience to date of a group of entities?

c. a contingency if it cannot estimate losses from reported
and unreported claims?
[GASB 10 par. 74 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.142)]

Other Disclosures

13. Is disclosure made if claims liabilities include allocated or un-
allocated claims adjustment expenditures or expenses other
than specific, incremental claims adjustment expenditures or
expenses?
[GASB 30 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. C50 fn 6)]

14. Are the following disclosed in the notes to the financial state-
ments, if applicable, including in the separately issued finan-
cial statements of component units that participate in their
primary government’s risk management internal service
fund:

a. A description of the risks of loss to which the entity is
exposed and the way(s) in which those risks of loss are
handled (for example, purchase of commercial insur-
ance, participation in a public entity risk pool, risk re-
tention)?

b. A description of significant reductions in insurance
coverage from coverage in the prior year by major cat-
egories of risk, and an indication whether the amount
of settlements exceeded insurance coverage for each of
the past three fiscal years?

c. If an entity participates in a risk pool, a description of
the nature of the participation, including the rights and
the responsibilities of both the entity and the pool?
[GASB 10 par. 77, as amended by GASB 30 par. 10 and
GASB 34 par. 6, and GASB 10 par. 79, as amended by
GASB 14 par. 65 (GASB Cod. sec. C50.145 and .148)]

15. If an entity retains the risk of loss, does it disclose the follow-
ing:

a. The basis for estimating the liabilities for unpaid
claims, including the effects of specific, incremental
claim adjustment expenditures or expenses, salvage,
and subrogation, and whether other allocated or unal-
located claim adjustment expenditures or expenses are
included?

b. The carrying amount of liabilities for unpaid claims
that are presented at present value in the financial
statements and the range of discount rates used to dis-
count those liabilities?
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c. The aggregate outstanding amount of claims liabilities
for which annuity contracts have been purchased in the
claimants’ names and for which the related liabilities
have been removed from the statement of net assets?
(Annuity contracts used to settle claims for which the
claimant has signed an agreement releasing the entity
from further obligation and for which the likelihood
that the pool will be required to make future payments
on those claims is remote should not be included in this
disclosure.)

d. A reconciliation of changes in the aggregate liabilities
for claims for the current fiscal year and the prior fiscal
year, in the following tabular format:

i. Amount of claims liabilities at the beginning of
each fiscal year?

ii. Incurred claims, representing the total of a pro-
vision for events of the current fiscal year and
any change (increase or decrease) in the provi-
sion for events of prior fiscal years?

iii. Payments on claims attributable to events of both
the current fiscal year and prior fiscal years?

iv. Other items and explanations of each material
item?

v. Amount of claims liabilities at the end of each fis-
cal year?
[GASB 10 par. 77; GASB 30 par. 10 (GASB Cod.
sec. C50.145)]

O. Sales and Pledges of Receivables and Future Revenues

Assets, Liabilities, Revenues, and Expenditures/Expenses

1. Do the financial statements include activities related to the
sale or collateralized borrowing of receivables or future reve-
nues?
[GASB 48 par. 5–14 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.102–.111)]

2. For transactions in which the government receives, or is enti-
tled to receive, proceeds in exchange for future cash flows
from receivables, and the government’s continuing involve-
ment with those receivables have been effectively terminated,
has the government reported the transaction as a sale?
[GASB 48 par. 6–9 and 13–14 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.103–.106
and .110–.111)]

3. For transactions in which the government receives, or is enti-
tled to receive, proceeds in exchange for future cash flows
from receivables, and the government’s does not meet the cri-
teria for the transaction to be classified as a sale, has the gov-
ernment reported the transaction as a collateralized borrow-
ing?
[GASB 48 par. 11–12 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.108–.109)]
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4. For transfers of assets and future revenues within the same
reporting entity, has the transferee recognized the assets or
future revenues at the same carrying value of the transferor,
and any difference recorded as income or expense as follows:

a. Gain or loss by the transferor in separately issued fi-
nancial statements?

b. Revenue or expenditure or expense, or both, by the
transferee in separately issued financial statements?

c. Transfers or subsidies in the financial statements of the
reporting entity?

d. For sales of future revenues, a deferred charge by the
transferee and amortized over the life of the agree-
ment?

e. For sales of future revenues, deferred revenue to be rec-
ognized over the duration of the sale agreement?
[GASB 48 par. 15–16 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.112–.113)]

5. For the receipt of a note or a residual certificate arising from
a sale of specific receivables or future revenues, has the gov-
ernment properly reported the residual interest as follows:

a. For the transferor, as an adjustment to the sale gain or
loss in the period of the sale, and as revenues in subse-
quent periods?

b. For the transferee, as a liability for its obligation to re-
mit residuals?
[GASB 48 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.114)]

6. Has the transferor recognized estimated liabilities arising
from the agreement, such as recourse obligations or repur-
chase commitments, when information available prior to the
issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is proba-
ble that a liability has been incurred at the date of the finan-
cial statements and the amount can be reasonably estimated?
[GASB 48 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.115)]

7. For pledges of future revenues when the resources are not
received by the pledging government, and a component unit
issues debt for the benefit of the pledging government where
the future revenue has been pledged to the component unit,
has the pledging government and component unit reported
the arrangement as follows:

a. At the time of the pledge agreement, the pledging gov-
ernment has not recognized a liability, and the compo-
nent unit has not recognized a receivable?

b. Upon recognition of the revenue that is pledged, the
pledging government has recorded the revenue and a
liability and related expenditure or expense, or both?
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c. The debt-issuing component unit has recognized reve-
nue when the pledging government is obligated to
make the payments?
[GASB 48 par. 19–20 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.116–.117)]

Note Disclosures

8. For each period in which secured debt remains outstanding,
do the notes to the financial statements of the pledging gov-
ernment disclose:

a. Identification of the specific revenue pledged and the
approximate amount of the pledge?

b. Identification and the general purpose of the debt se-
cured by the pledge?

c. The period of time during which the pledged revenue
will not be available for other purposes?

d. The relationship of the pledged amount to the total for
that specific revenue, if estimable?

e. A comparison of the pledged revenues recognized dur-
ing the period to the principal and interest requirement
for the debt directly or indirectly collateralized by the
pledged revenues?
[GASB 48 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.118)]

9. In the year of sales of future revenues, do the notes to the
financial statements of the selling government disclose

a. identification of the specific revenue sold, including the
approximate amount sold, and the significant assump-
tions used in determining the approximate amount?

b. the period to which the sale applies?

c. the relationship of the sold amount to the total for that
specific revenue, if estimable?

d. a comparison of the sale proceeds and the present
value of the future revenues sold, including significant
present value assumptions?
[GASB 48 par .21 (GASB Cod. sec. S20.119)]

P. Special Assessments

1. Are the transactions of a service-type special assessment re-
ported in the fund type that best reflects the nature of the
transactions (usually the general fund, a special revenue
fund, or an enterprise fund) as well as in the government-
wide financial statements?
[GASB 6 par. 14, as amended by GASB 33; GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. S40.114)]

a. In the government-wide financial statements, are ser-
vice-type special assessment revenues reported as
charges for services, a program revenue?
[GASB 37 par. 13 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.134)]
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2. Is general obligation debt that will be repaid, in part, from
special assessments reported as general long-term liabilities
only in the governmental activities column in the govern-
ment-wide statement of net assets?
[GASB 6 par. 17; GASB 34 par. 82 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.116a)]

3. Is special assessment debt for which the government is not
obligated in any manner not displayed in the government’s
financial statements? (However, if the government is liable
for a portion of that debt—the public benefit portion, or as a
property owner—that portion should be reported like other
general long-term liabilities.)
[GASB 6 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.116c)]

a. Are the debt service transactions for this special assess-
ment debt reported in an agency fund?
[GASB 6 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 1300.107 and S40.119)]

b. Is the construction phase reported in a capital projects
or other appropriate fund, with the source of funds
identified by a description other than "bond proceeds,"
such as "contribution from property owners"?
[GASB 6 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 1800.108 and S40.119)]

c. Are the capital assets constructed or acquired reported
only as general capital assets in the governmental activ-
ities column in the government-wide statement of net
assets?
[GASB 6 par. 19; GASB 34 par. 80 (GASB Cod. sec.
S40.119)]

d. Is the "contribution" of the capital assets reported as
program revenue with other grants or contributions re-
stricted for capital purposes in the government-wide
statement of activities?
[GASB 6 par. 19; GASB 34 par. 16 and 50 (GASB Cod.
sec. S40.125)]

e. Do the notes to the financial statements disclose the
amount of the debt and the fact that the government is
in no way liable for repayment but is only acting as
agent for the property owners?
[GASB 6 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.127)]

4. For special assessment debt for which the government is ob-
ligated in some manner

a. and that debt is not a direct obligation of a proprietary
fund nor expected to be repaid from operating reve-
nues of a proprietary fund

i. are all expenditures reported in the same manner
as any other capital improvement and financing
transaction?

ii. is a capital projects or other appropriate fund
used to report the transactions of the construction
phase?
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iii. is a debt service fund used to report the transac-
tions of the debt service phase if legally man-
dated or if financial resources are being accumu-
lated for principal and interest payments
maturing in future years?
[GASB 6 par. 15, as amended by GASB 33 par.
12–13 and 17–18; GASB 34 par. 80 and 82 (GASB
Cod. sec. S40.118)]

iv. is the debt reported as general long-term liabili-
ties only in the governmental activities column in
the government-wide statement of net assets?
[GASB 6 par. 15 and 17, as amended by GASB 34
par. 82 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.116b and .118)]

(1) Is the portion of the debt that will be re-
paid from property owner assessments re-
ported as "special assessment debt with
governmental commitment"?
[GASB 6 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec.
S40.116b(1))]

(2) Is the portion of the debt that will be re-
paid from general resources of the govern-
ment (the public benefit portion, or the
amount assessed against government-
owned property) reported like other gen-
eral long-term liabilities?
[GASB 6 par. 17, as amended by GASB 34
par. 15, 30, and 82 (GASB Cod. sec.
S40.116b(2))]

v. are the capital assets constructed or acquired re-
ported and depreciated, as appropriate, as gen-
eral capital assets only in the governmental activ-
ities column in the government-wide financial
statements?
[GASB 6 par. 15, 19, and 23, as amended by
GASB 34 par. 6, 22, and 80 (GASB Cod. sec.
S40.116d and .118 and 1400.120)]

b. and that debt that is a direct obligation of a proprietary
fund or expected to be repaid from operating revenues
of a proprietary fund

i. are all transactions reported in the same manner
as any other capital improvement and financing
transaction reported in proprietary funds?
[GASB 6 par. 15; GASB 34 par. 92 (GASB Cod.
sec. S40.121)]
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ii. is the debt reported as liabilities in the proprie-
tary fund as well as in the business-type activities
column in the government-wide statement of net
assets?
[GASB 6 par. 23, as amended by GASB 34 par. 15
(GASB Cod. sec. S40.116b and .123)]

iii. are capital assets constructed or acquired re-
ported and depreciated, as appropriate, in the
proprietary fund and in the business-type activi-
ties column in the government-wide financial
statements?
[GASB 6 par. 15, 19, and 23, as amended by
GASB 34 par. 6, 22, 80, and 92 (GASB Cod. sec.
S40.116d, .122, and .124 and 1400.120)]

iv. is the "contribution" of the capital assets to the
proprietary fund reported in the fund as capital
contributions after nonoperating revenues and
expenses?
[GASB 6 par. 23; GASB 34 par. 92 and 100 (GASB
Cod. sec. 1400.120 and S40.122)]

c. do the notes to the financial statements disclose

i. information otherwise required by GASB stan-
dards for long-term debt?

ii. the nature of the government’s obligation, in-
cluding the identification and description of any
guarantee, reserve, or sinking fund established to
cover defaults by property owners?

iii. the amount of special assessment receivables that
are delinquent if not separately displayed on the
face of the financial statements?
[GASB 6 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.126)]

5. If the entity establishes a special assessment bond reserve,
guarantee, or sinking fund to provide cash if the assessed
property owners default, are the related transactions and bal-
ances reported in a debt service fund?
[GASB 6 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. S40.117)]

6. If a special assessment district is a component unit, are the
accounts of that unit, including the special assessment debt
for which the component unit is obligated in some manner,
included in the reporting entity financial statements in accor-
dance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 14, even
though the primary government may have no obligation for
the debt?
[GASB 6 par. 24, as amended by GASB 14 par. 13 (GASB Cod.
sec. S40.128)]
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Q. Termination Benefits

Assets, Liabilities, Revenues, and Expenditures/Expenses

1. Are assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenditures or expenses,
or both, related to employee termination benefits (such as
early retirement benefits or severance benefits) reported in
the government-wide financial statements and fund financial
statements?
[GASB 47 par. 3–7 (GASB Cod. sec. P20 fn 2 and
T25.101–.103)]

2. For termination benefits reported in governmental funds, are
such activities reported on the current financial resources
measurement focus and modified accrual basis of account-
ing?
[GASB 47 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.112)]

3. For termination benefits reported in proprietary funds and
the government-wide financial statements, are such activities
reported on the economic resources measurement resources
focus and accrual basis of accounting?
[GASB 47 par. 12–15 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.108–.111)]

4. Are healthcare-related termination benefits measured at the
discounted present value of expected future benefits?
[GASB 47 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.105)]

5. Are nonhealthcare-related termination benefits measured ei-
ther at the discounted present value of expected future bene-
fits or undiscounted total of estimated future benefit pay-
ments at current cost levels?
[GASB 47 par. 10–11 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.106–.107)]

6. Has the employer recognized a liability and expense for vol-
untary termination benefits when the employees accept the
offer and the amounts can be estimated?
[GASB 47 par. 12 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.108)]

7. Has the employer recognized a liability and expense for in-
voluntary termination benefits when a plan of termination
has been communicated to employees and the amounts can
be estimated?
[GASB 47 par. 13–15 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.109–.111)]
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Note Disclosures

8. Do the notes to the financial statements disclose the follow-
ing:

a. In the period in which an employer becomes obligated
for termination benefits and in any additional period in
which employees are required to render future service
in order to receive involuntary termination benefits, a
description of the termination benefit arrange-
ment(s)—for example, information about the type(s) of
benefits provided, the number of employees affected,
and the period of time over which benefits are expected
to be provided?
[GASB 47 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.114)]

b. In the period in which an employer becomes obligated
for termination benefits, the cost of termination benefits
if that information is not otherwise identifiable from in-
formation displayed on the face of the financial state-
ments? (To meet this requirement, an employer that
provides termination benefits that affect defined benefit
pension or OPEB obligations should disclose in the
notes the change in the actuarial accrued liability for
the pension or OPEB plan attributable to the termina-
tion benefits.)
[GASB 47 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.115)]

c. In all periods in which termination benefit liabilities are
reported, the significant methods (for example,
whether termination benefits are measured at the dis-
counted present value of expected future benefit pay-
ments) and assumptions (for example, the discount rate
and healthcare cost trend rate, if applicable) used to de-
termine the liabilities?
[GASB 47 par. 20 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.116)]

d. If so, the fact that a termination benefit that otherwise
meets the recognition criteria of GASB Statement No.
47 is not recognized because the expected benefits are
not estimable?
[GASB 47 par. 21 (GASB Cod. sec. T25.117)]
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R. Going Concern

Practice Tips

GASB Statement No. 56, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in the AICPA
Statements on Auditing Standards, incorporates into authoritative literature guidance presented in the AICPA
Statements on Auditing Standards. Three issues are addressed by the statement: related party transactions,
going concern considerations, and subsequent events. Related party transactions and subsequent events are
discussed in other parts of this checklist.

Continuation of a legally separate governmental entity as a going concern is assumed in the absence of
significant information to the contrary. Information that may significantly contradict the going concern as-
sumption would relate to a governmental entity’s inability to continue to meet its obligations as they become
due without substantial disposition of assets outside the ordinary course of governmental operations, re-
structuring of debt, submission to the oversight of a separate fiscal assistance authority, or financial review
board or similar actions.

Preparers should evaluate if there is substantial doubt about a government’s ability to continue as a going
concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement date. [GASB 56 par. 16 (GASB Cod. sec.
2250.114–.117)].

1. Are there indicators that there may be substantial doubt
about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in-
cluding, but not limited to

a. Negative trends—recurring periods in which ex-
penses/expenditures significantly exceed revenues, un-
subsidized operating losses in business-type activities,
consistent working capital deficiencies, negative oper-
ating cash flows in business type activities or other ad-
verse key financial ratios?

b. Other indications of possible financial difficulties—for
example, default on bonds, loans, or similar agree-
ments; proximity to debt and tax limitations; denial of
usual trade credit from suppliers; restructuring of debt
(other than refundings); noncompliance with statutory
capital or reserve requirements; or the need to seek new
sources or methods of financing or to dispose of sub-
stantial assets?

c. Internal matters—for example, work stoppages, labor
difficulties or substantial dependence on the success of
a particular project or program, uneconomic long-term
commitments (burdensome labor contracts, for exam-
ple), or the need to significantly revise operations?

d. External matters—legal proceedings, legislation, or
similar matters that might jeopardize intergovernmen-
tal revenues and the fiscal sustainability of key govern-
mental programs; the loss of a critical license or patent
for a business-type activity; the loss of a principal cus-
tomer, taxpayers, or supplier; or a uninsured or under-
insured catastrophe such as a drought, earthquake or
flood?
[GASB 56 par. 17 (GASB Cod. sec. 2250.114–.117)]
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e. Have these indicators been balanced against the taxing
power and borrowing capabilities of the government?
[GASB 56 par. 18 (GASB Cod. sec. 2250.114–.117)]

Note Disclosures

2. If there is substantial doubt about a governmental entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, do the notes include
disclosure, as appropriate

a. pertinent conditions and events giving rise to the as-
sessment of substantial doubt about the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time?

b. the possible effects of such conditions and events?

c. the entity’s officials’ evaluation of the significance of
those conditions and events and any mitigating factors?

d. possible discontinuance of operations?

e. government officials’ plans including relevant prospec-
tive financial information?

f. information about the recoverability or classification of
recorded asset amounts or the amounts or classification
of liabilities?
[GASB 56 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2250.114–.117)]

S. Chapter 9 Bankruptcies47

1. Governments that have filed for bankruptcy should disclose
the following:

a. Pertinent conditions and events giving rise to the peti-
tion for bankruptcy

b. The expected or known effects of such conditions and
events, including

i. principal categories of the claims subject to com-
promise or that already have been adjusted

ii. principal changes in terms and the major features
of settlement

iii. aggregate gain expected to occur by remeasuring
liabilities subject to a proposed plan of adjust-
ment, or realized, as appropriate; or a statement
that any gain is not yet reasonably estimable and
the reasons therefore

47 GASB Statement No. 58, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Chapter 9 Bankruptcies, applies to governments that have petitioned for
protection from creditors by filing for bankruptcy under Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The statement requires those
governments to remeasure liabilities that are adjusted in bankruptcy when the bankruptcy court confirms a new payment plan and is
effective for period beginning after June 15, 2009 (early application is encouraged). Retroactive application is required for all prior periods
presented during which a government was in bankruptcy. If restatement of the financial statements of the prior periods is required but
not practical, then the cumulative effect of applying the statement should be reported as a restatement of beginning net assets (or equity
or fund balance, as appropriate) for the earliest period restated. If the information for previous years is not restated, governments should
explain the nature of the differences from the prior information and why restatement was not practical.
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iv. contingent claims not subject to reasonable esti-
mation based on the provisions of NCGA State-
ment No. 4

c. Significance of those conditions and events on the lev-
els of service and operations of the government, and
any mitigating factors, such as assumption of services
by other governments

d. Possibility of termination of the government or any
plans to terminate the government, as appropriate

e. How to obtain a copy of the government’s plan of ad-
justment or a statement that a plan is not yet available
and an estimate of when it will be completed

VIII. Required Supplementary Information

1. Except as indicated elsewhere in this checklist, is RSI pre-
sented immediately following the notes to the financial state-
ments?
[GASB 34 par. 6 and fn 5 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.102c and fn 3
and 34)]

2. Does RSI distinguish between information pertaining to the
primary government (including its blended component units)
and that of its discretely presented component units?
[GASB 14 par. 62 (GASB Cod. sec. 2600.121)]

A. Management’s Discussion and Analysis

1. Is MD&A presented preceding the basic financial statements?
[GASB 34 par. 8 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.106)]

2. Does the MD&A

a. discuss the current-year results in comparison with the
prior year, with emphasis on the current year?48

b. discuss the positive and negative aspects of the com-
parison with the prior year?
[GASB 34 par. 9 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.107)]

c. focus on the primary government and distinguish be-
tween information pertaining to the primary govern-
ment and that of its component units?

d. discuss matters related to a component unit based on
the individual component unit’s significance to the to-
tal of all discretely presented component units and that
component unit’s relationship with the primary gov-
ernment?

e. refer readers to the component unit’s separately issued
financial statements, when appropriate?
[GASB 34 par. 10 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.108)]

48 If a government is presenting comparative prior-year financial statements, the MD&A should address both years presented in the
comparative financial statements and include comparative condensed financial information and related analysis for both years. That is,
the MD&A should discuss both (a) the current-year results in comparison with the prior year and (b) the prior-year results in comparison
with the second prior year. Completely separate MD&As are not required (Q&A item 7.5; AAG-SLV 14.57).
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3. Does the MD&A include the following topics, if relevant:

a. A brief discussion of the basic financial statements, in-
cluding the relationships of the statements to each
other, and the significant differences in the information
they provide? (This discussion should include analyses
that assist readers in understanding why measure-
ments and results reported in fund financial statements
either reinforce information in government-wide state-
ments or provide additional information.)

b. Condensed financial information derived from govern-
ment-wide financial statements comparing the current
year to the prior year, including the following:

i. Total assets, distinguishing between capital and
other assets?

ii. Total liabilities, distinguishing between long-
term liabilities and other liabilities?

iii. Total net assets, distinguishing among amounts
invested in capital assets, net of related debt; re-
stricted amounts; and unrestricted amounts?

iv. Program revenues, by major source?

v. General revenues, by major source?

vi. Total revenues?

vii. Program expenses, at a minimum by function?

viii. Total expenses?

ix. Excess (deficiency) before contributions to term
and permanent endowments or permanent fund
principal, special and extraordinary items, and
transfers?

x. Contributions?

xi. Special and extraordinary items?

xii. Transfers?

xiii. Change in net assets?

xiv. Ending net assets?

c. An analysis of the government’s overall financial posi-
tion and results of operations that addresses whether
financial position has improved or deteriorated as a re-
sult of the year’s operations? (The analysis should ad-
dress both governmental and business-type activities
and should include reasons for significant changes
from the prior year and important economic factors
that significantly affected operating results for the
year.)
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d. An analysis of balances and transactions of individual
funds, including the reasons for significant changes in
fund balances or fund net assets and whether restric-
tions, commitments, or other limitations significantly
affect the availability of fund resources for future use?

e. An analysis of significant variations between original
and final budget amounts and between final budget
amounts and actual budget results for the general fund
(or its equivalent), including any currently known rea-
sons for those variations that are expected to have a sig-
nificant effect on future services or liquidity?

f. A description of significant capital asset and long-term
debt activity during the year, including a discussion of
commitments made for capital expenditures, changes
in credit ratings, and debt limitations that may affect
the financing of planned facilities or services? (Alter-
natively, the MD&A could summarize information dis-
closed in the notes to the financial statements as re-
quired by GASB Cod. sec. 2300.111–.115 and refer to it
for additional details.)

g. A discussion by governments that use the modified ap-
proach to report some or all of their infrastructure as-
sets, including the following:

i. Significant changes in the assessed condition of
eligible infrastructure assets from previous con-
dition assessments?

ii. How the current assessed condition compares
with the condition level the government has es-
tablished?

iii. Any significant differences from the estimated
annual amount to maintain or preserve, or both,
eligible infrastructure assets compared with the
actual amounts spent during the current period?

h. A description of currently known (as of the date of the
auditor’s report) facts, decisions, or conditions that are
expected to have a significant effect on financial posi-
tion or results of operations?
[GASB 34 par. 11 and fn 6 and 8, as amended by GASB
37 par. 5 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.109 and fn 6 and 9)]

i. A description of subsequent events that are nonrecog-
nized as of the date of the auditors report that are ex-
pected to have a significant impact on the govern-
ment’s financial position or results of operations
[GASB 56 par. 15 (GASB Cod. 2300.106-113)]

j. If it is determined that there is substantial doubt about
a governmental entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, is there discussion of going concern issues in
the MD&A depending on facts and circumstances?
[GASB 56 par. 16 and 19 (GASB Cod. 2300.106-113)]
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4. Is MD&A confined to the topics listed in question 3? (Govern-
ments can provide additional details about the required top-
ics. However, information that does not relate to the required
topics should not be included in MD&A, but may be pro-
vided elsewhere, such as in the letter of transmittal or in other
forms of supplementary information.)
[GASB 37 par. 4 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.109 and fn 8)]

B. Budgetary Comparison Schedules

Practice Tips

In general, governments may elect to report the required budgetary comparison information in budgetary
comparison statements as part of the basic financial statements, rather than as RSI. (Governments that pres-
ent their budgetary comparison information based on the fund, organization, or program structure that it
uses for its legally adopted budget are required to present the information as RSI and can not choose to
present it in the basic financial statements.) If presented in the basic financial statements, the budgetary
comparison statement and notes to the financial statements should include the same items of information
indicated in the following section for RSI.
[GASB 34 fn 53, as amended by GASB 41 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200 fn 35 and 2400 fn 1); GASB 34 fn 56
(GASB Cod. sec. 2200 fn 38 and 2400 fn 5)]

Chapter 11 of the Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments discusses the auditor’s respon-
sibility for and procedures on budgetary comparison information, which may differ depending on whether
the information is presented as RSI or as a basic financial statement.

1. Does the entity present budgetary comparison schedules for
the general fund and for each major special revenue fund that
has a legally adopted annual budget?
[GASB 34 par. 130, as amended by GASB 41 par. 3 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2200.182 and 2400.102)]

a. If the entity has significant budgetary perspective dif-
ferences that result in its not being able to present
budgetary comparisons for the general fund and each
major special revenue fund, does it present budgetary
comparison schedules for the activities reported in
those funds based on the fund, organization, or pro-
gram structure that the government uses for its legally
adopted budget?
[GASB 41 par. 3 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.182 and fn 36
and 2400.102 and fn 2)]

b. If a budget is not adopted for the general or a major
special revenue fund because it is not legally required
and, therefore, presentation of budgetary comparison
information is not required, is that situation disclosed
in the notes to RSI?
[AAG-SLV 11.16 and 14.57]

2. Does the budgetary comparison schedule present

a. the original appropriated budgets for the reporting pe-
riod?
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b. the final appropriated budgets for the reporting pe-
riod?

c. actual inflows, outflows, and balances, stated on the
government’s budgetary basis?
[GASB 34 par. 130 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.182 and
2400.102)]

3. Is the budgetary comparison schedule presented either using
the same format, terminology, and classifications as the
budget document, or using the format, terminology, and clas-
sifications in a statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances?
[GASB 34 par. 131 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.183 and 2400.103)]

4. Are individual fund budgetary comparisons presented at the
legal level of budgetary control? (If the government presents
budgetary comparisons at the legal level of control as supple-
mentary information or in a separate budgetary report that is
referred to from the notes to RSI, the presentation of required
budgetary comparison information in RSI may be made at a
level that aggregates budgetary accounts through revenue
source and expenditure function or program.)
[NCGAI 10 par. 14, as amended by GASB 34 (GASB Cod. sec.
2400.121); AAG-SLV 11.12]

5. Is the schedule accompanied by information (either in a sep-
arate schedule or in notes to RSI) that reconciles budgetary
information to GAAP information?
[NCGAI 10 par. 25, as amended by GASB 34 par. 131 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2200.183 and 2400.103 and .119)]

6. Do notes to RSI disclose excesses of expenditures over appro-
priations in individual funds presented in the budgetary
comparison?
[GASB 37 par. 19 (GASB Cod. sec. 2200.183 and 2400.103)]

7. Do notes to RSI refer to a separate budgetary report, if one is
prepared?
[NCGAI 10 par. 14, as amended by GASB 34 par. 131 (GASB
Cod. sec. 2400.121)]

C. Modified Approach for Eligible Infrastructure Assets

1. Does the entity present the following schedules, derived from
asset management systems, for all eligible infrastructure as-
sets that are reported using the modified approach:49

a. The assessed condition, performed at least every three
years, for at least the three most recent complete con-
dition assessments, indicating the dates of the assess-
ments?

49 The three most recent complete condition assessments and the estimated and actual amounts to maintain and preserve the infrastruc-
ture assets for the previous five reporting periods may not be available initially. In these cases, the required information should be
presented for as many complete condition assessments and years of estimated and actual expenses as are available (GASB 34 par. 153
[GASB Cod. sec. 1400.130]).
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b. The estimated annual amount calculated at the begin-
ning of the fiscal year to maintain and preserve at (or
above) the condition level established and disclosed by
the government compared with the amounts actually
expensed for each of the past five reporting periods?
[GASB 34 par. 132 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.118)]

c. If a government applies the modified approach to sub-
systems of infrastructure assets (rather than at the net-
work level), is the information in these schedules by
subsystem?
[GASB 34 fn 57 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400 fn 12)]

2. Do the following disclosures accompany the schedules:

a. The basis for the condition measurement and the meas-
urement scale used to assess and report condition?

b. The condition level at which the government intends to
preserve its eligible infrastructure assets reported using
the modified approach?

c. Factors that significantly affect trends in the informa-
tion reported in the required schedules, including any
changes in the measurement scale, the basis for the con-
dition measurement, or the condition assessment meth-
ods used during the periods covered by the schedules?

d. If there is a change in the condition level at which the
government intends to preserve eligible infrastructure
assets, an estimate of the effect of the change on the es-
timated annual amount to maintain and preserve those
assets for the current period?
[GASB 34 par. 133 (GASB Cod. sec. 1400.119)]

D. Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits

Plans

See the subsections on employee benefit pension plans and em-
ployee other postemployment benefit plans in the section of this
checklist titled "Specialized Topics."

E. Pensions and Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pen-

sions—Employer Reporting

See the subsections on pensions—employer reporting and postem-
ployment benefits other than pensions—employer reporting in the
section of this checklist titled "Specialized Topics."

F. Public Entity Risk Pools

See the subsection on public entity risk pools in the section of this
checklist titled "Specialized Topics."
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FSP Section 13,200

Auditors’ Reports Checklist for Audits
Performed in Accordance with Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards

.01 This checklist can be used by auditors in reporting on audits of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS). Illustrative auditor’s reports are in chapter 14 of the
Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments. This checklist does not address

● the requirements for reporting on audits of financial statements in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards (also referred to as the Yellow Book), issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, or on audits performed under the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 in
accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 (see the checklist for
reporting on those audits at FSP section 13,300).

● restricted-use reports (see AU section 532, Restricting the Use of an Auditor’s Report [AICPA, Pro-
fessional Standards, vol. 1]).

● auditor’s reports on special-purpose regulatory presentations (see AU section 623, Special Reports
[AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1], and AAG-SLV paragraph 14.70).

● auditor’s reports on summary financial information—popular reports (see AAG-SLV paragraphs
14.71–.78 and example A-17 in appendix A [paragraph 14.79]).

● auditor’s reports on financial statements prepared in conformity with a comprehensive basis of
accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), known as other com-
prehensive basis of accounting (OCBOA) financial statements (see AAG-SLV chapter 15 and the
AICPA Practice Aid Applying OCBOA in State and Local Governmental Financial Statements [prod-
uct no. 006614]).

.02 Explanation of References:

AAG-SLV 5 AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments (with conforming
changes as of March 1, 2010)

AU 5 Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)
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.03 Checklist Questionnaire:

Yes No N/A

Basic Financial Statements

Practice Tip

The auditor’s report on governmental financial statements generally is based on opinion units. Normally,
the opinion units in a government’s basic financial statements are (as applicable) the governmental activi-
ties; the business-type activities; the aggregate discretely presented component units; each major govern-
mental and enterprise fund; and the aggregate remaining fund information (nonmajor governmental and
enterprise funds, the internal service fund type, and the fiduciary fund types). In certain circumstances,
auditors may choose to combine the two aggregate opinion units—the one for the aggregate discretely
presented component units and the one for the aggregate remaining fund information—into a single opin-
ion unit. The resulting combined unit is referred to as the aggregate discretely presented component unit and
remaining fund information opinion unit. The AICPA’s fourth standard of reporting requires that the audi-
tor’s report contain either an expression of opinion regarding the financial statements, taken as a whole, or
an assertion to the effect that an opinion cannot be expressed. In reporting on a government’s basic financial
statements, this fourth standard generally is applied by expressing opinions on the financial statements for
each opinion unit required to be presented in those financial statements, or asserting that an opinion on one
or more opinion units cannot be expressed. The auditor may express an unqualified opinion on the financial
statements of one or more opinion units and modified opinions or disclaimers of opinion on one or more
of the other opinion units. Further, the auditor’s evaluation of the results of audit procedures that would
lead to an opinion modification on one opinion unit may or may not result in an opinion modification on
another opinion unit.
[AAG-SLV 14.04–.08]

1. If the titles of the financial statements are referred to in the introductory
paragraph of the auditor’s report, do those titles match the titles of the
financial statements presented?
[Generally Accepted]

2. Do the dates of the financial statements referred to in the introductory
paragraph of the report match the dates of the financial statements pre-
sented?
[Generally Accepted]

3. Does the auditor’s report

a. identify in the introductory paragraph each financial statement au-
dited, which may involve reference to the table of contents or to the
pages of the financial report on which the financial statements are
displayed?
[AU 508.06; AAG-SLV 14.13]

b. identify in the introductory paragraph each opinion unit covered
by the report?
[AAG-SLV 14.13]

c. refer in the introductory and opinion paragraphs to the govern-
ment’s major funds individually or, alternatively, refer to them in a
general manner if the financial statements clearly identify which
governmental and enterprise funds are major?
[AAG-SLV 14.15]
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4. Does the report express or disclaim opinions on each opinion unit or, if
the entity has a single opinion unit, on the financial statements taken as a
whole? (See also question 16.)
[AU 508.04; AAG-SLV 14.04, .09, .16, fn 7, and examples A-1–A-3 in ap-
pendix A (14.79)]

a. If prior-period financial statements include the minimum informa-
tion required by GAAP for a complete set of financial statements
and we audited those financial statements, have we updated the
report on those prior-period financial statements? (See also question
8d.)
[AU 508.65; AAG-SLV 14.35]

5. If the terms of the engagement cause us to set the scope of the audit and
assess materiality at a more-detailed level than by the opinion units re-
quired for the basic financial statements (for example, at an individual
fund or fund type level), does the report reflect both the standard opinion
units for the basic financial statements and the additional opinion units
resulting from the more-detailed audit scope?
[AAG-SLV 14.11 and .47]

a. If the financial statements that are subject to the more-detailed audit
scope are reported separately in the government’s basic financial
statements, does the report on that more-detailed audit scope refer
to the presentation of the subject financial statements in the basic
financial statements?
[AAG-SLV 14.48 and example A-13 in appendix A (14.79)]

b. If the financial statements that are subject to the more-detailed audit
scope are not reported separately in the basic financial statements,
does the report on that more-detailed audit scope refer to the pre-
sentation of the subject financial statements outside of the basic fi-
nancial statements as supplementary information (SI), which is sup-
plementary information other than required supplementary
information (RSI)?
[AAG-SLV 14.49 and example A-14 in appendix A (14.79)]

Practice Tip

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) establishes standards for audits of issuers, as
that term is defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the act) or whose audit is prescribed by the rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Other entities, including state and local governments, are
referred to as nonissuers. Interpretation No. 17, "Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of Testing of
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards," of
AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AU sec. 9508 par. .85–.88), provides language that
may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the financial statements of a nonissuer to clarify differ-
ences between a GAAS audit and an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. (See
also the discussion about that interpretation and that language in AAG-SLV, paragraph A-3, example A-1,
and footnote 2 of appendix A [paragraph 14.79].) Interpretation No. 18, "Reference to PCAOB Standards in
an Audit Report on a Nonissuer," of AU section 508 (AU sec. 9508 par. .89–.92) explains how the auditor
should report if engaged to also follow PCAOB auditing standards in the audit of a nonissuer.

6. Does the auditor’s report include

a. the appropriate addressee?
[AU 508.09]
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b. a title that includes the word independent?1

[AU 508.08a]

c. a statement that the financial statements identified in the report
were audited?
[AU 508.08b]

d. a statement that the financial statements are the responsibility of
management and that the auditor’s responsibility is to express
opinion(s) on the financial statements based on his or her audit?
[AU 508.08c; AAG-SLV 14.14]

e. a statement that the audit was conducted in accordance with GAAS
and an identification of the United States of America as the country
of origin of those standards?
[AU 508.08d]

f. a statement that those standards require that the auditor plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement?
[AU 508.08e]

g. a statement that an audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-
dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments; assessing the accounting principles used and significant es-
timates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation?
[AU 508.08f]

h. a statement that the auditor believes that his or her audit provides
a reasonable basis for his or her opinion(s)?
[AU 508.08g]

i. an opinion as to whether the financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position as of the financial posi-
tion statement date and the changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows2 for the period then ended of each
opinion unit in the entity’s financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), with an identifi-
cation of the United States of America as the country of origin of
those accounting principles?
[AU 508.08h; AAG-SLV 14.12]

j. the manual or printed signature of the auditor’s firm?3

[AU 508.08i]

k. the date (or dual dates) of the auditor’s report?
[AU 530.03–.05; AU 508.08j and .28]

1 If the auditor is not independent, see paragraph .10 of AU section 504, Association With Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1).

2 If a government presents required budgetary comparison information as basic financial statements instead of as required supplemen-
tary information (RSI), the opinion paragraph(s) should refer to that budgetary comparison information. Explanatory paragraphs, if any,
also may need to refer to that budgetary comparison information (AAG-SLV paragraph 14.14 and appendix A [paragraph 14.79] to
chapter 14, paragraph A.1 and examples A-1 footnote 3, A-5 footnote 16, A-15 footnote 45, and A-16 footnote 47).

3 When the auditor performs an audit with another auditor on a subcontract, joint audit, or joint venture basis, considerations should
be given to how the report is signed (AAG-SLV paragraphs 14.29–.31).
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7. If the opinion(s) is based in part on the report of another auditor and the
principal auditor decides not to assume responsibility for the work of the
other auditor

a. do the introductory and scope paragraphs disclose this fact?

i. Does the reference in the introductory paragraph indicate the
division of responsibility for the performance of the audit?

b. does the opinion paragraph(s) include a reference to the report of
the other auditor?
[AU 543.03 and .07; AU 508.11a and .12–.13; AAG-SLV 14.26–.28,
14.63, and example A-9 in appendix A (14.79)]

8. Certain circumstances, while not affecting the auditor’s unqualified opin-
ion, may require that the auditor add explanatory language to the stan-
dard report. Is explanatory language added to the report if

a. to prevent the financial statements from being misleading because
of unusual circumstances, the financial statements contain a depar-
ture from an accounting principle promulgated by a body desig-
nated by the AICPA Council to establish such principles?
[AU 508.11b and .14–.15]

b. there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time?4

[AU 508.11c; AU 341.12–.13]

c. there is a material change between periods in accounting principles
or in the method of their application, including a component unit’s
change in accounting principles?5, 6, 7

[AU 508.11d and .16–.18; AAG-SLV 14.32 and .46]

d. in an updated report on comparative financial statements, the opin-
ion on the prior period is different from the one previously ex-
pressed?
[AU 508.11e and .68–.69]

e. the financial statements of a prior period (presented for compara-
tive purposes) have been audited by a predecessor auditor whose
report is not presented?
[AU 508.11e and .74]

4 If the auditor concludes that the entity’s disclosures with respect to its ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time are inadequate, this represents a departure from generally accepted accounting principles that may result in either a qualified or
an adverse opinion. Reporting guidance for such situations is provided in AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1) (see paragraph .14 of AU section 341, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going
Concern [AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1]).

5 The auditor should express a qualified or an adverse opinion on the financial statements of the affected opinion unit(s) (a) if a newly
adopted accounting principle is not a generally accepted accounting principle (GAAP), (b) the method of accounting for the effect of the
change is not in conformity with GAAP, or (c) management has not provided reasonable justification for the change in accounting
principle (paragraphs .50–.57 of AU section 508).

6 The standards for selecting major funds could result in different funds being reported as major each year. Such changes should not
be considered a change in accounting principles affecting consistency, and thus no modification to the auditor’s report is needed (AAG-
SLV paragraph 14.39).

7 The adoption of certain Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards constitute changes in accounting principles
that, unless immaterial, should be referred to in an explanatory paragraph regarding consistency in the auditor’s report (AAG-SLV
paragraph 14.17 footnote 9).
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f. a matter regarding the financial statements needs to be empha-
sized?
[AU 508.11 and .19; Interpretation 3 of AU 410 (AU 9410.18); Inter-
pretation 1 of AU 342 (AU 9342.03)]

g. the auditor uses the work of a specialist in performing the audit and
decides to add an explanatory paragraph?
[AU 336.15–.16]

9. If prior-period financial information presented with the current-period fi-
nancial statements is a partial or summarized presentation

a. does the continuing auditor’s report not mention the prior-period
information in the description of the financial statements audited or
in the opinion paragraph(s)?

b. does the auditor’s report include an explanatory paragraph follow-
ing the opinion paragraph(s) if note disclosure about the nature of
the information presented is omitted or incomplete?

c. does the continuing auditor’s report make clear the degree of re-
sponsibility that he or she is assuming in relation to the prior-pe-
riod information by stating in the introductory paragraph that the
partial or summarized information has been derived from a com-
plete set of financial statements; the date of the auditor’s report on
the complete financial statements; and the type of opinions ex-
pressed?

d. if prior-period partial or summarized information has been derived
from financial statements that were audited by another auditor,
does the report state that fact and not express an opinion on that
information?
[AAG-SLV 14.37–.38, and fn 14, fn 15, and fn 16]

Practice Tip

Scope limitations are restrictions on the scope of the audit, whether imposed by the client or by circum-
stances, such as the timing of the auditor’s work, the inability to obtain sufficient competent evidential
matter, or an inadequacy in the accounting records. Scope limitations include situations in which the audi-
tor is unable to obtain sufficient evidential matter to support management’s assertions about the nature of
a matter involving an uncertainty and its presentation or disclosure in the financial statements. Scope limi-
tations should be differentiated from situations in which the auditor concludes that the financial statements
are materially misstated due to departures from GAAP.
[AU 508.22 and .31–.32; AAG-SLV 14.18]

10. Is a qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion considered if scope limita-
tions preclude application of one or more auditing procedures considered
necessary in the circumstances?
[AU 508.22–.32 and .61–.63]

11. If a qualified opinion is expressed because of a scope limitation

a. are all of the substantive reasons for the qualification disclosed in
one or more explanatory paragraphs preceding the opinion para-
graph(s)?

b. is the situation described and referred to in both the scope and
opinion paragraphs?
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c. does the qualified opinion include the word except or exception in a
phrase such as except for or with the exception of?

d. does the wording in the opinion paragraph indicate that the quali-
fication pertains to the possible effects on the financial statements
of the affected opinion unit(s) and not to the scope limitation itself?
(That is, the qualification should indicate that the auditor is unable
to reach a conclusion on one or more matters material to the finan-
cial statements of the affected opinion unit(s), rather than that the
auditor’s procedures were restricted.)
[AU 508.21 and .25–.26; AAG-SLV 14.19 and example A-4 in appen-
dix A (14.79)]

12. If an opinion is disclaimed because of a scope limitation

a. is the introductory paragraph modified to state that "we were en-
gaged to audit" rather than "we have audited" the affected opinion
unit(s) and to indicate, in the last sentence, the extent of the audi-
tor’s responsibility to express opinions on the financial statements?
[AU 508 fn 21 and AAG-SLV 14.04]

b. are all of the substantive reasons for the disclaimer stated in a sep-
arate paragraph(s)?

c. does the report state that the scope of the audit was not sufficient
to warrant the expression of an opinion?

d. does the report avoid identifying procedures that were performed?

e. is the scope paragraph omitted if the disclaimer is on the financial
statements taken as a whole? (See question 16.)

f. does the report describe the auditor’s reservations about fair pre-
sentation in conformity with GAAP?
[AU 508.61–.63 ; AAG-SLV 14.20 and fn 10, 14.21, and example A-4
in appendix A (14.79)]

Practice Tip

Consult the AU Topical Index to the AICPA Professional Standards, under "Departures From Established
Principles," "Adverse Opinions," and "Qualified Opinions," for additional references to specific types of
GAAP departures that could result in qualified or adverse opinions. See also chapter 14 of AAG-SLV, es-
pecially paragraph 14.22, for descriptions of GAAP departures in governmental financial statements.

13. Is a qualified or an adverse opinion considered in the following circum-
stances:

a. The financial statements contain a material departure from GAAP,
including inadequate disclosure, omission of RSI, inappropriate ac-
counting principles, or unreasonable accounting estimates?
[AU 508.35–.60; AAG-SLV 14.22]
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i. If the fund financial statements do not report one or more
governmental or enterprise funds as major in conformity
with the quantitative criteria of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic
Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analy-
sis—for State and Local Governments, does the report express
adverse opinions on the "missing" major fund opinion units
because of the omitted display and modify the opinion on the
aggregate remaining fund information opinion unit if the
missing major fund is contained therein?
[AAG-SLV 14.40 and example A-10 in appendix A (14.79)]

b. Essential data concerning an impending change in GAAP and the
future resulting restatement are not disclosed?
[Interpretation 3 of AU 410 (AU 9410.15)]

c. The auditor concludes that an illegal act has a material effect on the
financial statements, and the act has not been properly accounted
for or disclosed?
[AU 317.18]

14. If a qualified opinion is expressed because of a GAAP departure

a. are all of the substantive reasons for the qualified opinion disclosed
in one or more separate explanatory paragraphs preceding the
opinion paragraph(s)?

b. does the explanatory paragraph disclose the principle effects of the
departure on financial position, results of operations, and, where
applicable, cash flows,8 if practicable, or state that the effects are not
reasonably determinable, if not practicable to do so?

c. does the qualified opinion include the word except or exception in a
phrase such as except for or with the exception of and a reference to
the explanatory paragraph?
[AU 508.21, .35–.44, and .52; AAG-SLV 14.23 and A.1 in appendix
A (14.79)]

15. If an adverse opinion is expressed because of a GAAP departure

a. are all of the substantive reasons for the adverse opinion disclosed
in one or more separate explanatory paragraphs preceding the
opinion paragraph(s)?

b. does the explanatory paragraph disclose the principle effects of the
departure on financial position, results of operations, and, where
applicable, cash flows,9 if practicable, or state that the effects are not
reasonably determinable, if not practicable to do so?

c. state that the financial statements do not present fairly the financial
position, changes in financial position, or, where applicable, cash
flows10 in conformity with GAAP?
[AU 508.58–.60; AAG-SLV 14.24–.25 and examplesA-6–A-7, A-10
and A-12 in appendix A (14.79)]

8 See footnote 2.
9 See footnote 2.
10 See footnote 2.
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16. Does the report render an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion on
the financial statements taken as a whole when

a. the required government-wide or fund financial statements are not
presented?

b. adverse opinions or disclaimers of opinion are appropriate for both
the governmental activities and business-type activities opinion
units (or for only the governmental activities opinion unit if that is
the only required presentation for the primary government in the
reporting entity’s government-wide financial statements)?

c. in the auditor’s judgment, the financial statements, taken as a
whole, are not presented fairly in conformity with GAAP or it is
appropriate to disclaim an opinion on the financial statements
taken as a whole?
[AAG-SLV 14.10, .21, .25, and example A-8 in appendix A (14.79)]

Practice Tip

Consult the AU Topical Index to the AICPA Professional Standards, under "Departures From Standard Re-
port," for additional references to specific auditor’s report modifications.

Financial Statements That Include Only Part of the Reporting Entity

17. If the government also has issued audited financial statements for the re-
porting entity, does the auditor’s report on separate primary government
financial statements

a. indicate that the financial statements are those of the primary gov-
ernment and not of the financial reporting entity?

b. define the term primary government?

c. indicate that the primary government’s financial statements do not
purport to, and do not, fairly present financial position, changes in
financial position, or, where applicable, cash flows11 of the financial
reporting entity in conformity with GAAP?

d. indicate that the entity has issued separate audited reporting entity
financial statements?

e. give opinions or disclaimers of opinion on the opinion units in the
primary government’s financial statements?
[AAG-SLV 14.42 and example A-11 in appendix A (14.79)]

18. If the government has not also issued audited financial statements for the
reporting entity, does the auditor’s report on separate primary govern-
ment financial statements express opinions on the opinion units that are
presented and express an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion on the
missing aggregate discretely presented component unit opinion unit? (If
the reporting entity financial statements would have included blended
component units, the auditor should consider expressing a modified
opinion on the opinion units that would have presented those blended
component units.)
[AAG-SLV 14.43, fn 18, and example A-12 in appendix A (14.79)]

11 See footnote 2.
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19. If the financial statements omit the financial information of one or more
(but not all) component units, is the effect of the GAAP departure on the
auditor’s report considered in relation to the relevant opinion unit(s)?
[AAG-SLV 14.44]

20. Does the auditors’ report disclose that the entity is a component unit of a
financial reporting entity, if applicable?
[AAG-SLV 14.45 and example A-2 in appendix A (14.79)]

Other Financial Statement Presentations

21. Does the auditor’s report on GAAP-basis financial statements for one or
more individual funds

a. report on the audit based on each fund as a separate opinion unit?

b. indicate in the introductory and opinion paragraphs the specific
fund(s)?

c. include an explanatory paragraph after the scope paragraph indi-
cating that the financial statements do not purport to, and do not,
present the government’s financial position, changes in financial
position, or, where applicable, cash flows?12

d. consider whether the financial statements include all relevant
GAAP financial statements, note disclosures, management’s discus-
sion and analysis (MD&A) topics, and other RSI?

e. consider the extent to which the financial statement presentation
may be misleading to financial statement users who might misun-
derstand that the financial statements are meant to represent the
overall government? (For example, if a government presents a com-
plete set of fund financial statements, that results in a misleading
presentation and should result in the auditor expressing an adverse
opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. See question
16.)
[AAG-SLV 14.65–.68 and example A-15 in appendix A (14.79)]

22. Does the auditor’s report on GAAP-basis financial statements for govern-
mental departments, agencies, or programs13

a. report on the audit based on the involved opinion units?

b. include an explanatory paragraph after the scope paragraph indi-
cating that the financial statements do not purport to, and do not,
present the government’s financial position, changes in financial
position, or, where applicable, cash flows?14

c. consider whether the financial statements include all relevant
GAAP financial statements, note disclosures, MD&A topics, and
other RSI?
[AAG-SLV 14.69 and example A-16 in appendix A (14.79)]

12 See footnote 2.
13 When an organizational unit is coterminous with a single fund, it is appropriate for the government to issue a fund financial

statement, rather than a departmental financial statement (AAG-SLV 14.69 footnote 27).
14 See footnote 2.
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Required Supplementary Information and Supplementary Information Other

Than Required Supplementary Information15

Practice Tip

The Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments includes flowcharts that summarize auditor
procedures and reporting on RSI and SI.

23. If the auditor is so engaged, does the report render an opinion on whether
either or both RSI and SI are fairly presented, in all material respects, in
conformity with GAAP?16

[AU 550A.03; AU 558A.02; AAG-SLV 14.53]

a. Is the reporting on the results of the audit based on the terms of the
engagement?
[AAG-SLV 14.53]

24. For unaudited RSI

a. does the report include an explanatory paragraph if

i. applicable RSI is omitted?17

ii. the measurement or presentation of such information departs
materially from prescribed guidelines?

iii. the auditor is unable to complete the prescribed procedures
with respect to such information?

iv. the auditor is unable to remove substantial doubts about
whether such information conforms to prescribed guidelines?
[AU 558A.08; AU 551A.16; AAG-SLV 14.56]

b. if the RSI is presented in an auditor-submitted document, or if the
auditor chooses to or is engaged to report on the RSI in a client-
prepared document, does the report

i. state that the audit was performed for the purpose of forming
opinions on the financial statements that collectively com-
prise the entity’s basic financial statements?

15 In February 2010, the Auditing Standards Board issued Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 118, Other Information in
Documents containing Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 550); SAS No. 119, Supplementary Infor-
mation in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 551); and SAS No. 120, Required
Supplementary Information (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 558). These SASs amend or supersede AU section 550A, Other
Information in Documents containing Audited Financial Statements, AU section 551A, Reporting on Information Accompanying the Basic Financial
Statements in Auditor-Submitted Documents, and AU section 558A, Required Supplementary Information (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol.
1), respectively. Collectively, these statements address the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to information that is required by a
designated standard setter (such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board [FASB], GASB, Federal Accounting Standards Advisory
Board, and the International Accounting Standards Board) to accompany an entity’s basic financial statements and supplementary
information that is presented outside the basic financial statements. The effective date of these SASs is for audits of financial statements
for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2010. Early application is permitted. More information is available at www.aicpa.org.

16 Unless the auditor is engaged to express an opinion whether RSI or supplementary information (SI) is fairly presented in conformity
with GAAP, this checklist refers to the information as unaudited, even though generally accepted auditing standards require the auditor
to perform specific procedures and perhaps to report on the information.

17 This includes situations in which all of the required budgetary comparison information is omitted or if only part of the required
budgetary comparison information is presented as RSI. If, however, the government chooses to present required budgetary comparison
information as a basic financial statement and presents only part of the required information, the omission constitutes a departure from
GAAP in the basic financial statements that the auditor should consider in evaluating his or her opinions on the opinion units for which
budgetary presentations are required but not made (AAG-SLV paragraph 14.56 footnote 22).
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ii. specifically identify the RSI?

iii. state that the RSI is presented for purposes of additional anal-
ysis and is not a required part of the basic financial state-
ments?

iv. include either or both an opinion on whether the RSI is fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole or a disclaimer of opinion?

v. consider the effect of any modifications in the report on the
basic financial statements?
[AU 550A.07; AU 551A.06, .10, and .12–.15; AU 558A.09;
AAG-SLV 14.60–.62 and example A-1 in appendix A (14.79)]

c. if the RSI on which the report provides an "in relation to" opinion
includes prior-year information and the basic financial statements
for the prior year are not also presented in the financial report

i. and a continuing auditor subjected the prior-year RSI to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements in the prior year, does the report include

(a) a statement that the prior-year basic financial statements
are not included in the current-year presentation?

(b) the date of the auditor’s report on the prior-year financial
statements?

(c) the types of opinions expressed on those prior-year finan-
cial statements?

ii. and a predecessor auditor audited the basic financial state-
ments in the years for which the prior-year RSI is presented,
and that auditor subjected the prior-year RSI to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial state-
ments in the prior year and expressed an "in relation to" opin-
ion on that information, does the report include

(a) statements that the prior-year basic financial statements
are not included in the current-year presentation and that
those financial statements were audited by another audi-
tor?

(b) the date of the predecessor auditor’s report?

(c) the types of opinions expressed on those prior-year finan-
cial statements and on the RSI?
[AAG-SLV 14.64]

25. For unaudited SI

a. if the SI is materially inconsistent with information appearing in the
financial statements, has it been determined whether the financial
statements, the auditor’s report, or both require revision?
[AU 550A.04; AU 508.11h; AAG-SLV 14.59]

b. if the SI is presented in an auditor-submitted document, or if the
auditor chooses to or is engaged to report on the SI in a client-pre-
pared document, does the report
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i. state that the audit was performed for the purpose of forming
opinions on the financial statements that collectively com-
prise the entity’s basic financial statements?

ii. specifically identify the SI?

iii. state that the SI is presented for purposes of additional anal-
ysis and is not a required part of the basic financial state-
ments?

iv. include either or both an opinion on whether the SI is fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole or a disclaimer of opinion?

v. consider the effect of any modifications in the report on the
basic financial statements?
[AU 550A.07; AU 551A.06, .10, and .12–.14; AAG-SLV
14.60–.62 and example A-1 in appendix A (14.79)]

c. if the SI on which the report provides an "in relation to" opinion
includes prior-year information and the basic financial statements
for the prior year are not also presented in the financial report

i. and a continuing auditor subjected the prior-year SI to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements in the prior year, does the report include

(a) a statement that the prior-year basic financial statements
are not included in the current-year presentation?

(b) the date of the auditor’s report on the prior-year financial
statements?

(c) the types of opinions expressed on those prior-year finan-
cial statements?

ii. and a predecessor auditor audited the basic financial state-
ments in the years for which the prior-year SI is presented,
and that auditor subjected the prior-year proper SI to the au-
diting procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements in the prior year and expressed an "in relation to"
opinion on that information, does the report include:

(a) statements that the prior-year basic financial statements
are not included in the current-year presentation and that
those financial statements were audited by another audi-
tor?

(b) the date of the predecessor auditor’s report?

(c) the types of opinions expressed on those prior-year finan-
cial statements and on the SI?
[AAG-SLV 14.64]

26. If the auditor is relying on another auditor’s work on RSI or SI, is the
report modified to refer to the work of the other auditor?
[AAG-SLV 14.63 and example A-9 in appendix A (14.79)]
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Other Auditor Communications

27. Has the auditor communicated, in writing to management and those
charged with governance within 60 days following release of the auditor’s
report on the financial statements, internal control deficiencies identified
in the audit that are considered to be significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses, including those communicated in prior audits and have not
yet been remediated? The communication should include

a. a statement that the purpose of the auditor’s consideration of inter-
nal control was to express an opinion on the financial statements,
but not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting.

b. a statement that the auditor is not expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control.

c. a statement that indicates the auditor’s consideration of internal
control was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal con-
trol that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

d. a definition of the term material weakness and, where relevant, the
definition of the term significant deficiency.

e. identification of the matters that are considered to be significant de-
ficiencies, and if applicable, those that are considered to be material
weaknesses.

f. a statement that the communication is intended solely for the infor-
mation and use of management, those charged with governance,
and others within the organization, and that the communication is
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specific parties.

g. if an entity is required to furnish such auditor communications to a
governmental authority, specific reference to such governmental
authorities may be made.
[AU 325.17–.26; AAG-SLV 4.96–.97 and 13.36–.37]

Practice Tips

SAS No. 115, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA, Professional Stan-
dards, vol. 1, AU sec. 325), further clarifies standards and provides guidance on communicating matters
related to an entity’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) identified in an audit of
financial statements. It is applicable whenever an auditor expresses an opinion on financial statements (in-
cluding a disclaimer of opinion) and is effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 2009.

In general, SAS No. 115 provides guidance to (a) enhance the auditor’s ability to identify and evaluate
deficiencies in internal control during an audit, and then (b) communicates to management and those
charged with governance those deficiencies or material weaknesses. Under SAS No. 115, the auditor applies
the criteria of magnitude and likelihood (reasonable possibility) when classifying control deficiencies as de-
ficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses.

The AICPA published Audit Risk Alert Communicating Internal Control Related Matters in an Au-
dit—Understanding SAS No. 115 (product no. 022539kk) to assist in understanding the requirements of this
SAS. This Audit Risk Alert provides specific case studies to help determine whether identified control weak-
nesses would constitute a significant deficiency or material weakness; it can be obtained by calling the
AICPA at (888) 777-7077 or visiting www.cpa2biz.com.
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28. Does the auditor follow the reporting requirements of AU section 380
when communicating the following to management and those charged
with governance:

● The auditor’s responsibilities under generally accepted auditing stan-
dards, and where applicable Government Auditing Standards and OMB
Circular A-133 (see FSP section 13,300);

● An overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit; and

● Significant findings from the audit.
[AU 380.23–.47]

29. If the auditor has determined that there is evidence that fraud may exist,
has the auditor complied with the reporting requirements of AU section
316, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit, paragraphs
.79–.82?
[AU 316.79–.82]

30. Has the auditor adequately informed those charged with governance with
respect to illegal acts that come to the auditor’s attention?
[AU 317.17]

31. If during a GAAS audit of the financial statements the auditor becomes
aware that the entity is subject to an audit requirement that may not be
encompassed in the terms of the engagement, has the auditor communi-
cated to management and the audit committee, or to others with equiva-
lent authority and responsibility, that an audit in accordance with GAAS
may not satisfy the relevant legal, regulatory, or contractual require-
ments?

a. Did the auditor consider how the client’s actions in response to
such communication relate to other aspects of the audit, including
the potential effect on the financial statements and on the auditor’s
report on those financial statements?
[AU 801A.22–.23]
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FSP Section 13,300

Auditors’ Reports Checklist for Audits
Performed in Accordance With Government
Auditing Standards and OMB Circular
A-133

.01 Government Auditing Standards (GAS or the Yellow Book), issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States of the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO), applies to the audits of governmental
entities, programs, activities, and functions, and of governmental assistance administered by contractors,
not-for-profit entities (NFPs), and other nongovernmental entities, when required by statute or other man-
dates or when auditors hold themselves out as following those standards.1 The Single Audit Act Amend-
ments of 1996 (the Single Audit Act) and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits
of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations (Circular A-133), require a single or program-specific
audit for entities that expend $500,000 or more of federal awards in a fiscal year. The Single Audit Act
requires single audits and program-specific audits of federal awards to be performed in accordance with
GAS. Similarly, GAS requires the use of its standards when auditing compliance with regulations relating
to federal award expenditures and other governmental financial assistance in conjunction with or as a by-
product of a financial statement audit.

.02 This checklist has two parts: part I is for auditor’s reports on financial statement audits performed
in accordance with GAS. (This checklist does not address the performance auditing or attestation standards
of GAS. It also does not address types of financial audits other than financial statement audits, except for
Circular A-133 audits.) Part II contains the additional requirements for auditor’s reports on audits performed
in accordance with the Single Audit Act and Circular A-133.2 For audits performed in accordance with
Circular A-133, both parts I and II of this checklist should be completed. Illustrative auditor’s reports on
financial statement audits performed in accordance with GAS and illustrative auditor’s reports and an illus-
trative schedule of findings and questioned costs for Circular A-133 audits are in the AICPA Audit Guide
Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits.

1 As discussed in paragraph 4.26 of the AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits (the guide),
paragraph 5.06 of Government Auditing Standards (GAS) acknowledges that an auditee may need a financial statement audit for purposes
other than to comply with a requirement calling for an audit in accordance with GAS. For example, the auditee may need a financial
statement audit to issue bonds. In that case, GAS permits auditors to issue a separate report on the financial statements conforming only
to the requirements of generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS). The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Govern-
ments discusses auditor association with municipal securities filings and the use of GAS reports and references in the official statement.
That guide states that the official statement should not include the reports required by GAS and that guide states that it generally is
advisable for the official statements to use an auditor’s report on the financial statements that does not refer to the GAS audit or to those
reports. The information contained in this checklist is based on the 2007 revision of GAS, which is effective for audits of periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2008.

2 In January 2010, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) approved Statement on Auditing Standard (SAS) No. 117, Compliance Audits
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 801), which supersedes SAS No. 74, Compliance Auditing Considerations in Audits of Govern-
mental Entities and Recipients of Governmental Financial Assistance (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 801A), and will therefore
significantly affect AU section 801. SAS No. 117 is applicable when an auditor is engaged or required by law or regulation to perform a
compliance audit in accordance with (1) GAAS, (2) standards for financial audits under GAS, and (3) a governmental audit requirement
that requires an auditor to express an opinion on compliance. This SAS addresses the application of GAAS to a compliance audit and
makes changes to certain previously presumptively mandatory requirements. Additionally, SAS No. 117 does not apply to the financial
statement audit that may be performed in conjunction with a compliance audit. SAS No. 117 is effective for compliance audits for fiscal
periods ending on or after June 15, 2010, and earlier application is permitted.
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.03 The OMB issues an annual Circular A-133 compliance supplement for conducting single audits. That
supplement is available from the Government Printing Office by calling (202) 512-1800 and on the OMB’s
website at www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grantspcirculars/. The AICPA issues an annual Audit Risk Alert Gov-
ernment Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Developments as a complement to the Audit Guide Govern-
ment Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits.

.04 The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) establishes standards for audits of is-
suers, as that term is defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the act) or whose audit is prescribed by the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Other entities are referred to as nonissuers. Because state
and local governments are nonissuers, this checklist does not address PCAOB standards. However, although
not common, the auditor may be engaged to audit and report on the effectiveness of a state or local govern-
ment’s internal control over financial reporting in accordance with PCAOB auditing standards. In those
cases, the auditor should modify this checklist considering the guidance in PCAOB standards, the GAO
Internet Notice at www.gao.gov/govaud/ybk01.htm titled Guidance on Complying with Government Auditing
Standards Reporting Requirements for the Report on Internal Control for Audits of Certain Entities Subject to the
Requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Government Auditing Standards, and Interpretation No.
18, "Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report on a Nonissuer," of AU section 508, Reports on
Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89–.92), as well as the
discussion in the prefaceof the AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133
Audits.

.05 As explained in chapter 14 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments
and the first practice tip in FSP section 13,200, the auditor generally expresses or disclaims an opinion on a
government’s basic financial statements by providing an opinion or disclaimer of opinion on each opinion
unit required to be presented in those financial statements. This checklist sometimes uses the singular terms
opinion and disclaimer of opinion to encompass the multiple opinions and disclaimers of opinions that gener-
ally will be provided on a government’s financial statements.

.06 This checklist has been updated for the revisions to OMB Circular A-133 published in the Federal
Register on June 26, 2007, the latest revision to Circular A-133. In March 2010, OMB issued a revised Circular
A-133 that shows the changes published in the Federal Register on June 27, 2003, and June 26, 2007. (Prior to
this, the June 26, 2007, revision had not been formally incorporated into the circular.) Of particular impor-
tance is a statement published the same day on OMB’s website (in the introductory section of Circular A-
133) that clarified the terms significant deficiency and material weakness are to be used as defined in generally
accepted auditing standards (GAAS) issued by the AICPA and GAS issued by the GAO. The result of this
clarification is that Circular A-133 reports should be updated for the guidance in AU section 325, Communi-
cating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1). Interpreta-
tion No. 1, "Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control over Compliance in an Office of Management
and Budget Circular A-133 Audit," of AU section 325 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9325
par. .01–.03) provides guidance on implementing these reporting requirements. This checklist has been up-
dated for OMB reports based on AU section 325.

.07 Explanation of References:

A-133 5 Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, as revised for the June 27, 2003, and
June 26, 2007, revisions.

AAG-SLA 5 AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits
(with conforming changes as of May 1, 2010)

AU 5 Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)

GAS 5 Government Accountability Office 2007 revision to Government Auditing Standards
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.08 Checklist Questionnaire:

Yes No N/A

Part I—Reports on Audits Performed in Accordance With

Government Auditing Standards

1. In a financial statement audit performed in accordance with Govern-
ment Auditing Standards, has the auditor issued the following re-
ports:3

a. A report on the entity’s financial statements that provides an
opinion or disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements?
[GAS 5.03; AAG-SLA 4.04 and .22]

b. A report on internal control over financial reporting and on
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of con-
tracts or grant agreements based on an audit of financial
statements performed in accordance with Government Audit-
ing Standards?
[GAS 5.07; AAG-SLA 4.04, .08, .16, and .27–.28]

Report on the Financial Statements

2. In addition to the elements listed in the checklist for the auditor’s
report on the financial statements at FSP section 13,200, does the
auditor’s report on the financial statements contain

a. a statement that the audit was conducted in accordance with
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Gov-
ernment Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller Gen-
eral of the United States?4

[GAS 5.05; AAG-SLA 4.05a, .22d, and .24]

b. a statement or a reference to a separate report on internal con-
trol over financial reporting and on compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agree-
ments and other matters prepared in accordance with Govern-
ment Auditing Standards,5 which includes

3 No provision in GAS requires the auditee to prepare financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP). If an auditee prepares financial statements in conformity with comprehensive bases of account-
ing other than GAAP, known as other comprehensive bases of accounting (OCBOA), the auditor still is required to express or disclaim
an opinion and should follow the reporting guidance in AU section 623, Special Reports (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1) (GAS
paragraph 5.03 footnote 62, and AAG-SLA paragraph 4.22h).

4 When personal, external, and organizational impairments to independence exist, a government auditor who cannot decline to per-
form the work because of a legislative requirement or for other reasons should report the impairment in the scope section of the auditor’s
report (GAS paragraph 3.05 and AAG-SLA paragraph 4.22d).

5 If the reporting on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters is included in the report on the
financial statements, the reference to the separate report is not required. The Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular
A-133 Audits recommends separate reporting (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.05b and 4.22i).



172 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,300.08

Yes No N/A

i. a description of the scope of testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance with laws, reg-
ulations, and provisions of contracts or grant agree-
ments and the results of that testing, and a statement as
to whether the tests performed provided sufficient ap-
propriate evidence to support an opinion on the inter-
nal control over financial reporting or on compliance
with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or
grant agreements?6

ii. if a separate report is issued, a reference to the separate
report is included in the report on the financial state-
ments and a statement that the separate report is an in-
tegral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards and should be consid-
ered in assessing the results of the audit?
[GAS 5.08–.09; AAG-SLA 4.05b and .22i]

3. If the auditor does not follow an applicable standard of Government
Auditing Standards, does the scope section of the report disclose the
standard that was not followed, the reasons therefore, and how not
following the standard affected, or could have affected, the results
of the audit?
[GAS 1.12b; AAG-SLA 4.25]

4. If a component unit or fund that is material to an opinion unit is
not required to have an audit in accordance with Government Audit-
ing Standards, has the scope paragraph of the report on the financial
statements been modified to indicate the portion of the entity that
was not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards?
(If it is not evident from the financial statements to which opinion
unit the component unit or fund relates, the auditor should con-
sider identifying the opinion unit in addition to the name of the
component unit or fund.)
[AAG-SLA 4.39–.40]

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compli-

ance and Other Matters Based on an Audit Performed in Accordance

With Government Auditing Standards7

5. Does the auditor’s report on internal control over financial report-
ing and on compliance and other matters conform to the standard
report language illustrated in AAG-SLA?
[AAG-SLA examples 4-3–4-5 and 4-7 in appendix A (par. 4.51)]

6. Does the auditor’s report on internal control over financial report-
ing and on compliance and other matters contain

6 Paragraph 4.08 of the guide notes that GAS permits, but does not require, an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or
on compliance if sufficient work was performed. This statement should be modified if the auditor is providing an opinion on internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance in the GAS report (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.05b and 4.22i).

7 The reports in appendix A in chapter 4 (paragraph 4.51) of the guide are based on the guidance in SAS No. 115, Communicating
Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 325), and provide the correct language
for periods ending on or after December 15, 2009.
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a. a statement that the auditor has audited the financial state-
ments of the auditee’s opinion units and a reference to the
auditor’s report on the financial statements, including a de-
scription of any departure from the standard report (for ex-
ample, a qualified opinion, a modification as to consistency
because of a change in accounting principle, or a reference to
the report of other auditors)?
[AAG-SLA 4.28a and .51 and examples 4-3, 4-5, and 4-7 in
appendix. A (4.51)]

b. a statement that the audit was conducted in accordance with
GAAS (with an identification of the United States of America
as the country of origin of those standards) and with the stan-
dards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States?8

c. a statement that in planning and performing the audit, the
auditor considered the auditee’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting as a basis for designing the auditing procedures
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial
statements and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-
ing; and accordingly, does not express an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the auditee’s internal control over financial re-
porting?9

d. the definitions of deficiency in internal control and material
weakness?

e. if material weaknesses are identified, a description of the ma-
terial weakness identified (including the views of responsible
officials and their planned corrective action) or a reference to
a separate schedule in which material weaknesses, views of
responsible officials, and their planned corrective action are
described?

f. A statement that the auditor’s consideration of internal con-
trol over financial reporting is not designed to identify all de-
ficiencies in internal control that might be deficiencies, signif-
icant deficiencies, or material weaknesses? If material
weaknesses are noted, a statement that there can be no assur-
ance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material
weaknesses have been identified?

g. if no significant deficiencies are noted, a statement that no
material weaknesses were identified; if significant deficien-
cies are noted but no material weaknesses were identified, a
statement that no material weaknesses were identified?

8 See footnote 4 (GAS paragraph 3.06 and AAG-SLA paragraph 4.28b).
9 Paragraph 4.08 of the guide notes that GAS permits, but does not require, an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or

on compliance if sufficient work was performed. This statement should be modified if the auditor is providing an opinion on internal
control over financial reporting (AAG-SLA paragraph 4.28c of the guide).
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h. if material weaknesses are noted, a statement that certain de-
ficiencies in internal control over financial reporting were
identified that the auditor considers to be material weak-
nesses?

i. if significant deficiencies are noted, a statement that certain
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting were
identified that the auditor considers to be significant deficien-
cies?

j. if significant deficiencies are identified, a description of the
significant deficiencies identified (including the views of re-
sponsible officials and their planned corrective action) or a
reference to a separate schedule in which significant deficien-
cies, views of responsible officials, and their planned correc-
tive action are described?10

k. if significant deficiencies are identified, the definition of a sig-
nificant deficiency?

l. a statement that as part of obtaining reasonable assurance
about whether the auditee’s financial statements are free of
material misstatement, the auditor performed tests of the au-
ditee’s compliance with certain provisions of laws, regula-
tions, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with
which could have a direct and material effect on the deter-
mination of financial statement amounts?

m. a statement that providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of the audit and that,
accordingly, the auditor does not express such an opinion?11

n. a statement that notes whether the results of tests disclosed
instances of noncompliance or other matters (certain fraud
and abuse) that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards and, if they are, describes the instances of
noncompliance and other matters (including the views of re-
sponsible officials and their planned corrective action) or re-
fers to the separate schedule in which the noncompliance and
other matters, views of responsible officials, and their
planned corrective action are described?12 When the views of
responsible officials are included (auditee’s written response)
also include a statement that the auditor did not audit the
auditee’s response and, accordingly, expresses no opinion on
it?
[AAG-SLA 4.25 and 4.28n]

10 For an audit in accordance with Circular A-133, all findings, including those required to be reported under GAS, should be included
in the schedule of findings and questioned costs. Therefore, for such audits, this report should refer to the schedule of findings and
questioned costs. See the questions about that schedule in part II of this checklist (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.28f and 13.17).

11 Paragraph 4.08 of the guide notes that GAS permits, but does not require, an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or
on compliance if sufficient work was performed. This statement should be modified if the auditor is providing an opinion on compliance
(AAG-SLA paragraph 4.28c).

12 See footnote 10 (AAG-SLA paragraph 4.28j).
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o. if applicable, a statement that additional matters were com-
municated to the auditee in a management letter?
[AAG-SLA table 4-1, paragraphs 4.28a and .37, and examples
4-3–4-7]

p. a separate paragraph at the end of the report stating that the
report is intended solely for the information and use of the
management, [identify the body or individuals charged with gov-
ernance], others within the entity, and [identify any specified leg-
islative or regulatory body]13 and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified par-
ties?14

q. the manual or printed signature of the auditor’s firm of or-
ganization?

r. the date of the auditor’s report?
[AAG-SLA 4.28]

7. Does the report carry the same date as the report on the financial
statements?
[AAG-SLA 4.28r]

8. If a component unit or fund that is material to an opinion unit is
not required to have an audit in accordance with Government Audit-
ing Standards, has the scope paragraph of the report been modified
to indicate the portion of the entity that was not audited in accor-
dance with Government Auditing Standards? (If it is not evident from
the financial statements to which opinion unit the component unit
or fund relates, the auditor should consider identifying the opinion
unit in addition to the name of the component unit or fund.)
[AAG-SLA 4.39–.41]

9. If certain pertinent information is prohibited from public disclosure
or is excluded from a report due to the confidential or sensitive na-
ture of the information (as it may be by federal, state, or local laws
or regulations), does the auditor’s report state that certain informa-
tion has been omitted and the reason or other circumstance that
makes the omission necessary?
[GAS 5.39; AAG-SLA 4.05g]

10. Does the language in the compliance and other matters section of
the report refer to findings that do or may include fraud and abuse?
(That language should appear in all reports, even if the report does
not describe or refer to findings of fraud or abuse or even if the only
findings of fraud or abuse are described in or referred to from the
section on internal control over financial reporting.)
[AAG-SLA 4.31]

13 For an audit in accordance with Circular A-133, this reference should include federal awarding agencies and, if applicable, pass-
through entities (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.28m and 13.17).

14 This paragraph conforms to AU section 532, Restricting the Use of an Auditor’s Report (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1). See AU
section 532 for additional guidance on restricted-use reports (AAG-SLA paragraph 4.28p).
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11. Are findings that relate to both internal control over financial re-
porting and to compliance reported in or referred to from both the
section of the report concerning internal control over financial re-
porting and in the section of the report concerning compliance and
other matters? (The reporting in one section of the report or sched-
ule may be in summary form with a reference to a detailed report-
ing in the other section.)
[AAG-SLA 4.30]

12. Are findings of fraud and abuse reported in or referred to from the
compliance and other matters section of the report, unless the pri-
mary nature of the finding is a significant deficiency in internal con-
trol? (Auditors should present or refer to findings of fraud and
abuse that represent significant deficiencies in internal control in
the internal control section.)
[AAG-SLA 4.31]

13. Do the reported findings include all identified deficiencies in inter-
nal control over financial reporting considered to be significant de-
ficiencies (identifying those considered material weaknesses), all
fraud and illegal acts (unless inconsequential),15 and material vio-
lations of provisions of contracts or grant agreements and material
abuse that has occurred or is likely to have occurred?16

[GAS 5.10; AAG-SLA 4.05c, .09, .16–.17, .29, and 13.33]

14. Does each finding include a reference number? (For example, find-
ings identified and reported in the audit of fiscal year 20X1 could
be assigned reference numbers 20X1-1, 20X1-2, and so forth.)
[AAG-SLA 4.34]

15. Do the reported findings place the findings in proper perspective
(or context) by describing the nature and extent of the issues re-
ported and the work performed that resulted in the finding? (The
identified instances should be related to the population or the num-
ber of cases examined and be quantified in terms of dollar value or
other measures, if appropriate.)
[GAS 5.22; AAG-SLA 4.32]

a. When reporting instances of fraud, illegal acts, violations of
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, are the
results projected? (If the results cannot be projected, auditors
should limit their conclusions appropriately.)
[GAS 5.22; AAG-SLA 4.32]

16. To the extent possible and to achieve audit objectives, do the re-
ported findings present criteria, condition, cause, effect or potential
effect, and recommendation?
[GAS 4.14–.18 and 5.21; AAG-SLA 4.33]

15 In an audit conducted in accordance with Circular A-133, the auditor should apply a financial statement materiality consideration in
reporting in the GAS report fraud and illegal acts involving federal awards that are subject to Circular A-133 reporting. That is because
those findings already are reported in the Circular A-133 report and reporting findings that are not material to the financial statements
again in the Government Auditing Standards report would be unnecessarily duplicative (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.16, 13.15, and 13.33).

16 GAS requires this reporting even if the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial statements. GAS also provides reporting
requirements for other findings of internal control deficiencies, fraud, illegal acts, violations of provisions of contracts or grants agree-
ments, and abuse; see questions 18–19.
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17. Does the auditor’s report include the views of responsible officials
concerning the findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well
as planned corrective actions?17, 18

[GAS 5.32; AAG-SLA 4.05f and 4.35]

a. If the auditor receives, in writing, the views of responsible
officials, is a copy of the officials’ written comments or a sum-
mary of the comments received included in the auditor’s re-
port?19

b. Does the auditor’s report include an evaluation of the com-
ments, as appropriate?

c. If the auditee’s views are inconsistent or in conflict with the
report’s findings, conclusions, or recommendations, and are
not, in the auditor’s opinion, valid—or if the planned correc-
tive actions do not adequately address the auditor’s recom-
mendations—does the report state reasons for disagreeing
with the comments or planned corrective actions?

d. If the auditee refused to provide comments or is unable to
provide comments within a reasonable period of time, does
the auditor’s report state that the audited entity did not pro-
vide comments?
[GAS 5.34–.38; AAG-SLA 4.36]

Other Reporting and Communication Considerations

18. Does the management letter communicate the following unless
clearly inconsequential—deficiencies in internal control that are not
significant deficiencies, immaterial violations of provisions of con-
tracts or grant agreements, and immaterial abuse?20

[GAS 5.16; AAG-SLA 4.19 and .37]

a. Are the management letter discussions worded so that read-
ers can distinguish those matters that are required to be in-
cluded by GAAS or Government Auditing Standards from mat-
ters that are recommendations for improvements or
information about "best practices"?
[AAG-SLA 4.38]

17 In an audit in accordance with Circular A-133, the auditee is required to submit a corrective action plan. For those audits, depending
on the status of the development of the corrective action plan at the time the auditor’s reports are released, the auditor may be able to
refer to the corrective action plan to satisfy as the required presentation of the auditee’s views and planned corrective actions. See the
questions about the reporting of auditee views and the corrective action plan in part II of this checklist (AAG-SLA paragraph 4.35).

18 The auditor is required to extend a reasonable effort to obtain and report auditee views and planned corrective actions. GAS does
not require the auditor to delay or withhold the release of the report if the auditee does not provide the necessary information on a timely
basis. If, however, the auditee does not provide the necessary information by the time the report is released, the report should indicate
that the audited entity did not provide comments (GAS paragraph 5.38 and AAG-SLA paragraph 4.36).

19 When the responsible officials provide oral comments only, auditors should prepare a summary of the oral comments and provide
a copy of the summary to the responsible officials to verify that the comments are accurately stated.

20 Generally, GAS requires the auditor to evaluate findings for the purpose of communication in the management letter based on their
consequence to the financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. In an audit in accordance with Circular
A-133, however, the auditor should evaluate findings involving federal awards for the purpose of that communication based only on
their consequence to the financial statements. Further, the auditor should not communicate such findings in the management letter if
they are otherwise reported as audit findings in accordance with Circular A-133 (AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.37 and 13.25).



178 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,300.08

Yes No N/A

b. Does the management letter not include personal identifica-
tion or other potentially sensitive matters?
[AAG-SLA 4.49]

19. Has the auditor used professional judgment to determine whether
and how to communicate to auditee officials deficiencies in internal
control, fraud, illegal acts, violations of provisions of contracts or
grant agreements, and abuse that are less than material but more
than inconsequential?21

[GAS par. 5.16; AAG-SLA 4.37]

20. Has the auditor reported known or likely fraud, illegal acts, viola-
tions of provisions of contracts or grant agreements, and abuse di-
rectly to parties outside of the auditee in the situations required by
Government Auditing Standards, even if the auditor has resigned or
been dismissed from the audit?
[GAS 5.18–.20; AAG-SLA 4.20]

21. In addition to the communications required by GAAS, has the au-
ditor communicated the following information regarding his or her
planned work and reporting related to testing internal control over
financial reporting and compliance with laws, regulations, and pro-
visions of contracts or grant agreements preferably in a writing
such as the engagement letter, to those charged with governance of
the audited entity and to the individuals contracting for or request-
ing the audit during the planning stages of the audit:
[AAG-SLA 2.27-.29]

a. The auditor’s responsibilities for testing and reporting on in-
ternal control over financial reporting and on compliance
with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements?

b. The nature of any additional testing of internal control and
compliance required by laws, regulations, and provisions of
contracts or grant agreements or otherwise requested, and
whether the auditor is planning on providing an opinion on
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance
with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements?

c. A contrasting of the responsibilities in items a and b of ques-
tion 21 with other audits of internal control and compliance?

d. Potential restrictions on the auditor’s reports?

e. Additional relevant topics, such as the auditor’s fieldwork
and reporting responsibilities for fraud and abuse?
[GAS 4.06–.07]

21 GAAS require that whenever the auditor has determined that there is evidence that fraud may exist, the auditor should bring that
matter to the attention of an appropriate level of management, even if the matter might be considered inconsequential (Paragraph .79 of
AU section 316, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit [AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1], and AAG-SLA paragraphs 4.12
and 4.37).
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22. If an audit is terminated before it is complete, is the reason for ter-
minating the audit communicated to auditee management, the en-
tity requesting the audit, and other appropriate officials, preferably
in writing?
[GAS 4.08; AAG-SLA 2.30]

23. If the auditor is

a. a government auditor, does the auditor submit the auditor’s
reports to the appropriate officials of the audited entity, ap-
propriate officials of the organizations requiring or arranging
for the audits (unless legal restrictions prevent it), and other
officials who have legal oversight authority or who may be
responsible for acting on audit findings and recommenda-
tions and to others authorized to receive such reports?

b. a nongovernment auditor, does the auditor clarify report dis-
tribution responsibilities with the party contracting for the
audit and follow the agreements reached?
[GAS 5.44; AAG-SLA 4.05h]

24. Unless the report is restricted by law or regulation, or contains priv-
ileged and confidential information, does the auditor clarify that
copies are made available for public inspection? (That clarification
should be made in the engagement letter and may also be made in
correspondence that transmits the reports to the auditee and other
recipients.)
[GAS 5.44; AAG-SLA 4.05h]

25. If the auditor is reporting on restated financial statements, did the
auditor’s report include an explanatory paragraph in the reissued
or updated auditor’s report that included

a. a statement disclosing that the previously issued financial
statements have been restated?

b. a statement that the previously issued report (referred to by
report date) is not to be relied upon (because previously is-
sued financial statements were materially misstated) and is
being replaced by the auditor’s report on the restated finan-
cial statements?

c. a reference to the notes to the restated financial statements
that discusses the restatement?

d. if applicable, a reference to the report on internal control con-
taining a discussion of any significant deficiency identified
related to the failure to prevent or detect the misstatement
and any management corrective action taken?
[GAS 5.29]

26. If the auditor is reporting on restated financial statements and if
management fails to include the appropriate disclosures related to
the restatement, are the omitted disclosures included in the audi-
tor’s report?
[GAS 5.28c and 5.30]
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27. Has the auditor notified those charged with governance if the en-
tity’s management (a) does not act in an appropriate time frame
after new information was available to determine the financial
statement effects of the new information and take the necessary
steps to timely inform those who are likely to rely on the financial
statements and the related auditor’s reports of the situation or (b)
does not restate with reasonable timeliness the financial statements
under circumstances in which auditors believe they need to be re-
stated?
[GAS 5.31]

Part II—Reports on Audits Performed in Accordance With

Circular A-133

1. In an audit performed in accordance with Circular A-133, has the
auditor issued the following reports in addition to those in part I of
this checklist:22

a. A report on the supplementary schedule of expenditures of
federal awards that provides an opinion (or disclaimer of
opinion) as to whether the schedule is presented fairly in all
material respects in relation to the financial statements taken
as a whole?

b. A report on compliance with requirements applicable to each
major program and on internal control over compliance in ac-
cordance with Circular A-133 that provides an opinion (or
disclaimer of opinion) regarding whether the auditee com-
plied with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants that could
have a direct and material effect on each major program, and,
where applicable, a reference to the separate schedule of find-
ings and questioned costs?

c. A schedule of findings and questioned costs?
[A-133 sec. 505; AAG-SLA 13.06]

Report on the Supplementary Schedule of Expenditures of Federal

Awards

2. Is the report on the schedule (a) included in the auditor’s report on
the financial statements, (b) included in the report on compliance
with requirements applicable to each major program and on inter-
nal control over compliance in accordance with Circular A-133, or
(c) issued as a stand-alone report?
[AAG-SLA 13.11, .14, .24, and .30]

3. If the report on the financial statements refers to the work of other
auditors, has the auditor considered the need to refer to the major
federal programs audited by other auditors in the report on the
schedule?
[AAG-SLA 13.31]

22 Because of the requirements of GAS, the auditor also has other reporting and communication responsibilities in a Circular A-133
audit. See the questions in the section titled "Other Reporting and Communication Considerations" in part I of this checklist.
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4. If the report on the schedule is included in the auditor’s report on
the financial statements or in the Circular A-133 report on compli-
ance and on internal control over compliance, does it

a. conform to the standard report language illustrated in AAG-
SLA?
[AAG-SLA 13.12 and example 13-1]

b. identify the schedule of expenditures of federal awards as ac-
companying supplementary information by descriptive title
or by page number of the document?

c. contain a statement that the audit was conducted for the pur-
pose of forming opinions on the financial statements that col-
lectively comprise the basic financial statements and that the
schedule is presented for purposes of additional analysis and
is not a required part of the financial statements?
[AAG-SLA 13.11 and example 13-1]

d. contain an opinion or a disclaimer of opinion as to whether
the Schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in rela-
tion to the financial statements taken as a whole?
[AAG-SLA 13.09, .11, and example 13-1]

e. carry the same date as the report on the financial statements,
even if that requires a dual date on the Circular A-133 report
on compliance and on internal control over compliance?
[AAG-SLA 13.28–.30]

f. consider the effect of any modifications to the report on the
basic financial statements?
[AAG-SLA 13.12]

5. If the report on the schedule is issued as a stand-alone report, is the
guidance of AU section 508 followed in issuing that report?

a. Does the report carry the same date as the Circular A-133 re-
port on compliance and on internal control over compliance?
[AAG-SLA 13.30]

Report on Compliance With Requirements Applicable to Each Major

Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance With

Circular A-133

6. Does the report conform to the standard report language illustrated
in AAG-SLA?
[AAG-SLA examples 13-1–13-5]

7. Does the report contain the following elements:

a. A title that includes the word independent?23

b. Identification of the period covered by the report?

c. A statement that the auditor has audited the compliance of
the auditee with the types of compliance requirements de-
scribed in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that
are applicable to each of its major programs?

23 This element has been added as a result of the issuance of SAS No. 117.
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d. A statement that the auditee’s major programs are identified
in the summary of the auditor’s results section of the accom-
panying schedule of findings and questioned costs?

e. A statement that compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of the au-
ditee’s major federal programs is the responsibility of the au-
ditee’s management, and that the auditor’s responsibility is
to express an opinion on the auditee’s compliance based on
the audit?

f. A statement that the audit of compliance was conducted in
accordance with GAAS (with an identification of the United
States of America as the country of origin of those standards),
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Gov-
ernment Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States, and Circular A-133?

g. A statement that those standards and Circular A-133 require
that the auditor plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether noncompliance with the types
of compliance requirements that could have a direct and ma-
terial effect on a major federal program occurred?

h. A statement that an audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about the auditee’s compliance with those require-
ments and performing such other procedures as the auditor
considered necessary in the circumstances?

i. A statement that the auditor believes that the audit provides
a reasonable basis for the auditor’s opinion?

j. A statement that the audit does not provide a legal determi-
nation of the auditee’s compliance with those requirements?

k. If instances of noncompliance are noted that result in an opin-
ion modification, a reference to a description in the accom-
panying schedule of findings and questioned costs, including

i. the reference number(s) of the finding(s)?

ii. an identification of the type(s) of compliance require-
ments and related major program(s)?

iii. a statement that compliance with such requirements is
necessary, in the auditor’s opinion, for the auditee to
comply with the requirements applicable to the pro-
gram(s)?

l. An opinion on whether the auditee complied, in all material
respects, with the types of compliance requirements that are
applicable to each of its major federal programs?

m. If applicable, a statement that the results of the auditing pro-
cedures disclosed instances of noncompliance that are re-
quired to be reported in accordance with Circular A-133, a
reference to the schedule of findings and questioned costs in
which they are described, and the reference number of the
finding(s)?
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n. A statement that the auditee’s management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to federal programs?

o. A statement that in planning and performing the audit, the
auditor considered the auditee’s internal control over compli-
ance with requirements that could have a direct and material
effect on a major federal program, to determine the auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on com-
pliance and to test and report on internal control over com-
pliance in accordance with Circular A-133, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of in-
ternal control over compliance and accordingly does not ex-
press an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance?

p. The definitions of deficiency in internal control over compliance
and material weakness in internal control over compliance?

q. If material weaknesses in internal control over compliance
were identified, a statement that deficiencies in internal con-
trol over compliance were identified that are considered to be
material weaknesses and a description of the material weak-
nesses in internal control over compliance, or a reference to
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs,
including the reference number of the finding(s)?

r. A statement that the auditor’s consideration of the internal
control over compliance was not designed to identify all de-
ficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be
deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses?
If material weaknesses in internal control over compliance
have been identified, a statement that the auditor’s consider-
ation of internal control over compliance was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses
and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all deficiencies,
significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses have been
identified?

s. If no material weaknesses in internal control over compliance
were identified, a statement to that effect?

t. If significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance
were identified, the definition of significant deficiency in inter-
nal control over compliance and a statement that deficiencies in
internal control over compliance were identified that are con-
sidered to be significant deficiencies, and a description of the
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance or
a reference to the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs, including the reference number of the find-
ing(s)? If applicable, a statement about whether the auditor
believes any of the significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance identified are material weaknesses in inter-
nal control over compliance?
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u. If applicable, a statement that the auditee’s response to find-
ings identified in the audit are described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs, and that the audi-
tor did not audit the auditee’s response and, accordingly, ex-
presses no opinion on it?

v. A separate paragraph at the end of the report stating that the
report is intended solely for the information and use of [iden-
tify the body or individuals charged with governance], others
within the entity, [identify the specified legislative or regulatory
body], federal awarding agencies, and (if applicable) pass-
through entities and is not intended to be and should not be
used by anyone other than these specified parties?24

w. The manual or printed signature of the auditor’s firm?

x. The date of the auditor’s report?
[AAG-SLA 13.23]

8. If the audit of the auditee’s compliance with requirements applica-
ble to a major program detects material instances of noncompliance
with those requirements, does the auditor’s report express a quali-
fied or adverse opinion?
[AAG-SLA 13.19]

9. Have scope limitations on the auditor’s testing of an auditee’s com-
pliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or
grant agreements been considered in the opinion on compliance
with requirements applicable to each major program?
[AAG-SLA 13.20–.22]

10. Have the cumulative effects of all instances of noncompliance with
federal programs and scope limitations been considered in the
opinion on the financial statements?
[AAG-SLA 13.19–.20]

11. If there are abuse findings reported in the federal awards section of
the schedule of findings and questioned costs that do not otherwise
meet the Circular A-133 requirements for reporting as findings, has
the auditor considered the need to modify the report on compliance
and on internal control over compliance?
[AAG-SLA 13.38]

12. Is the report dated the same as or later than the date of the auditors’
report on the financial statements?

a. If the report is dated later than the date of the auditor’s report
on the financial statements, have appropriate subsequent
events procedures been performed?
[AAG-SLA 13.29]

13. If the audit of federal awards does not encompass the entirety of
the auditee’s operations expending federal awards, are the opera-
tions that are not included identified in a separate paragraph fol-
lowing the first paragraph of the report?
[AAG-SLA 13.32]

24 See footnote 14 (AAG-SLA paragraph 13.23).
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14. If the report on the financial statements refers to the work of other
auditors, has the auditor considered the need to refer to the major
federal programs audited by other auditors in the report on com-
pliance and on internal control over compliance?
[AAG-SLA 13.30]

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

15. Does the report conform to the standard report language illustrated
in AAG-SLA?
[AAG-SLA example 13-6]

16. Is the report presented even if there are no findings to report? (In a
situation in which there are no findings or questioned costs, the au-
ditor should prepare the summary of auditor’s results section of the
schedule and either omit the other sections or include them, indi-
cating that no matters were reported.)
[AAG-SLA 13.43]

17. Does the report contain the following three sections:

a. A summary of the auditor’s results?

b. Findings related to the financial statements that are required
to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing Stan-
dards? (See the questions about those findings in part I of this
checklist.)

c. Findings and questioned costs for federal awards?
[AAG-SLA 13.33]

18. Does the summary of auditor’s results include

a. the type of report the auditor issued on the financial state-
ments of the auditee (that is, unqualified opinions, qualified
opinions, adverse opinions, or disclaimers of opinion)? (Be-
cause the auditor generally expresses or disclaims an opinion
on a government’s basic financial statements by providing an
opinion or disclaimer of opinion on each opinion unit re-
quired to be presented in those financial statements, the
schedule of findings and questioned costs may need to indi-
cate multiple types of opinions on a government’s basic fi-
nancial statements.)

b. where applicable, a statement that significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses, or both, in internal control were dis-
closed by the audit of the financial statements?

c. a statement on whether the audit disclosed any noncompli-
ance that is material to the financial statements?

d. where applicable, a statement that significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in the internal control over major pro-
grams were disclosed by the audit?

e. the type of report the auditor issued on compliance for major
programs (that is, unqualified opinion, qualified opinion, ad-
verse opinion, or disclaimer of opinion)? (If the audit report
for one or more major programs is other than unqualified,
indicate the type of report issued for each program.)



186 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,300.08

Yes No N/A

f. a statement on whether the audit disclosed any audit findings
that the auditor is required to report under Circular A-133?
(See question 20 in this section.)

g. an identification of major programs?

h. the dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
type B programs?

i. a statement on whether the auditee qualified as a low-risk
auditee?
[AAG-SLA 13.34a]

19. If there are abuse findings reported in the federal awards section of
the schedule of findings and questioned costs that do not otherwise
meet the Circular A-133 requirements for reporting as findings, has
the auditor considered the need to modify the summary of the au-
ditor’s results?
[AAG-SLA 13.36]

20. Are the following reported as audit findings related to federal
awards:

a. Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over major programs? (The auditor should identify
significant deficiencies that are individually or cumulatively
material weaknesses.)

b. Material noncompliance with the provisions of laws, regula-
tions, contracts, or grant agreements related to a major pro-
gram?

c. Known questioned costs that are greater than $10,000 for a
type of compliance requirement for a major program?

d. Known questioned costs when likely questioned costs are
greater than $10,000 for a type of compliance requirement for
a major program?

e. Known questioned costs that are greater than $10,000 for pro-
grams that are not audited as major?

f. The circumstances concerning why the auditor’s report on
compliance for major programs is other than an unqualified
opinion, if not otherwise reported as an audit finding?

g. Known fraud affecting a federal award, if not otherwise re-
ported as an audit finding? (An audit finding is not required
if the fraud was reported outside the entity as required by
GAS.)
[A-133 sec. 510(a); AAG-SLA 13.37]

h. Instances of material misrepresentation by the auditee of the
status of any prior audit findings?
[A-133 sec. 510(a); AAG-SLA 13.37 and .45]

i. Abuse involving federal awards that is material to a major
program?
[AAG-SLA 13.38]

21. Does the audit finding detail include
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a. a reference number? (For example, findings identified and re-
ported in the audit of fiscal year 20X1 would be assigned ref-
erence numbers 20X1-1, 20X1-2, and so forth.)
[A-133 sec. 510(c); AAG-SLA 13.42]

b. identification of the federal program and specific federal
award, including CFDA title and number, federal award
number and year, name of the federal agency, and name of
the applicable pass-through entity?25

c. the criteria or specific requirement upon which the audit
finding is based, including the statutory, regulatory, or other
citation?

d. the condition found, including facts that support the defi-
ciency identified in the audit finding?

e. identification of questioned costs and how they were com-
puted?

f. information to provide a proper perspective for judging the
prevalence and consequences of the audit findings?26

g. the possible asserted effect to provide sufficient information
to the auditee and Federal agency, or pass-through entity in
the case of a subrecipient, to permit them to determine the
cause and effect to facilitate prompt and proper corrective ac-
tion?

h. recommendations to prevent future occurrence of the defi-
ciency?
[A-133 sec. 510(b); AAG-SLA 13.39]

22. Do the audit findings related to federal awards also meet the pre-
sentation requirements of Government Auditing Standards? (See the
questions about those presentation requirements in part I of this
checklist.)
[AAG-SLA 13.40]

23. Are audit findings that relate to federal awards

a. and that relate to the same issue presented as one finding?

b. organized by federal agency or pass-through entity, where
practical?
[A-133 sec. 505(d)(3)(i); AAG-SLA 13.34c]

24. Are audit findings that relate to both the financial statements and
the federal awards reported in both sections of the schedule? (An
alternative is to report the finding in one section of the schedule in
summary form, with a reference to a detailed reporting in the other
section of the schedule.)
[A-133 sec. 505(d)(3)(ii); AAG-SLA 13.34c]

25 When information such as the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) title and number or the federal award number is not
available, the auditor should provide the best information available to describe the federal award (chapter 7 of the guide discusses an
alternative for presentation if a CFDA number is not available). (A-133 section 510(b)(1) and AAG-SLA paragraph 13.39a).

26 Where appropriate, the instances identified should be related to the universe and the number of cases examined and be quantified
in terms of the dollar value (A-133 section 510(b)(5) and AAG-SLA paragraph 13.39e).
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25. Are findings of abuse involving federal awards presented in the
compliance section of the schedule, unless the primary nature of the
finding is a significant deficiency in internal control? (Auditors
should present findings of abuse that represent significant deficien-
cies in internal control in the internal control section.)
[AAG-SLA 13.38]

26. Do the findings report the views of responsible officials concerning
the findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as planned
corrective actions, as required by Government Auditing Standards, or
refer to the corrective action plan, depending on the status of the
development of the corrective action plan at the time the auditor’s
reports are released?27

[AAG-SLA 13.36 and .41]

a. If the auditee’s comments oppose the report’s findings, con-
clusions, or recommendations, and are not, in the auditors’
opinion, valid—or if the planned corrective actions do not ad-
equately address the auditors’ recommendations—does the
federal awards section of the schedule of findings and ques-
tioned costs state the auditor’s reasons for disagreeing with
the comments or planned corrective actions?
[A-133 sec. 510(b)(8); AAG-SLA 13.41]

27. Do the audit report and any attached or referenced schedules not
include names, Social Security numbers, other personal identifica-
tion, or other potentially sensitive matters?
[AAG-SLA 13.54]

Data Collection Form28

28. Has the auditor completed the appropriate parts of the data collec-
tion form?

29. Has the auditor signed the form and dated it as of the date on
which the auditor completes and signs the form?
[AAG-SLA 13.48]

30. Does the information on the data collection form agree to the infor-
mation in the auditor’s reports and the summary of auditor’s re-
sults in the schedule of findings and questioned costs?
[Federal Audit Clearinghouse, Data Collection Form, No. SF-SAC]

27 See footnote 18.
28 The data collection form and related instructions are available from the Federal Audit Clearinghouse’s (FAC’s) home page at http:/

/harvester.census.gov/sac. The form number is SF-SAC. The FAC requires electronic submission of the data collection form via an online
Internet Data Entry System. The Office of Management and Budget periodically revises the data collection form and its accompanying
instructions. Auditors should exercise caution to make sure they complete the version of the form and instructions that applies to the
fiscal year audited (AAG-SLA paragraph 13.49).
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Program-Specific Audits

Practice Tip

When an auditee expends federal awards under only one federal program (excluding research and devel-
opment) and the federal program’s laws, regulations, or grant agreements do not require a financial state-
ment audit of the auditee, the auditee may elect to have a program-specific audit. A program-specific audit
may not be elected for research and development unless all federal awards expended were received from
the same federal agency (or the same federal agency and the same pass-through entity) and that federal
agency (or pass-through entity, in the case of a subrecipient) approves a program-specific audit in advance.
[A-133 sec. 200(c); AAG-SLA 14.02]

31. If a program-specific audit guide is available and current with re-
gard to the program’s compliance requirements, has the auditor is-
sued the reports required by AAG-SLA?
[A-133 sec. 235(a); AAG-SLA 14.04]

32. If a program-specific audit guide is not available or not current with
regard to the program’s compliance requirements, has the auditor
issued the following reports:29, 30

a. A report on the federal program’s financial statements that
provides an opinion or disclaimer of opinion on the financial
statements?

b. A report on compliance with requirements applicable to the
federal program and on the internal control over compliance
in accordance with the program-specific audit option under
Circular A-133?

c. A schedule of findings and questions costs for the federal
program?
[A-133 sec. 235(b)(4); AAG-SLA 14.09–.11]

33. Do the reports conform to the standard report language illustrated
in AAG-SLA?
[AAG-SLA examples 13-1–13-6 and examples 14-1–14-2]

29 If the financial statement(s) of the program present only the activity of the federal program, the auditor is not required to issue a
separate report to meet the reporting requirements of GAS. However, if the financial statement(s) of the federal program present more
than the program’s activity the auditor should issue a separate GAS report and modify it so that it refers only to the financial statement(s)
of the federal program (AAG-SLA paragraph 14.11).

30 See footnote 22.
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FSP Section 13,400

Illustrative Financial Statements

.01 The following illustrative financial statements demonstrate financial statement formats and disclo-
sures appropriate for state and local governments. These illustrations are not intended to represent the only
appropriate presentation and disclosure formats, however. State and local governments are urged to de-
velop financial statement formats that are appropriate for their individual circumstances while being consis-
tent with the accounting and reporting practices promulgated. Furthermore, the illustrative financial state-
ments do not include all disclosures and presentation items promulgated. The AICPA gratefully
acknowledges the Orange County, Florida, Office of the Comptroller for its contribution of the use of its
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended September 30, 2009, upon which the illustrative
financial statements in this publication are based.

The checklists and illustrative financial statements do not include all disclosures and presentation items
promulgated.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

.03 Durham County’s (County) discussion and analysis offers readers of the County’s financial state-
ments a narrative overview and analysis of the County’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended Septem-
ber 30, 2009. Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented here in conjunction with addi-
tional information that we have furnished in the letter of transmittal and in the financial statements and
notes to the financial statements.

The government-wide financial statements include not only Durham County and its blended component
units (known as the primary government), but also a legally separate housing finance authority and other
entities for which the County is financially accountable. Information included in this discussion and analysis
focuses on the activities of the primary government. Accordingly, information provided does not include
the activities of discretely-presented component units.

Financial Highlights

.04

● Durham County’s assets exceeded its liabilities at September 30, 2009, by $5,493.7 million (net
assets). Of this amount, $427.7 million (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the
County’s ongoing obligations to citizens, creditors and enterprise fund customers.

● The County’s total net assets increased by $117.1 million over the previous year. This change is
the result of a $124.6 million increase resulting from governmental activities and a $7.5 million
decrease resulting from business-type activities.

● At September 30, 2009, the County’s governmental fund balance sheet reported a combined
ending fund balance of $903.8 million, an increase of $34.2 million compared to the previous
fiscal year. Of the combined governmental fund balances, $823.4 million remains in the various
funds of the County as unreserved.

● The General Fund reported a fund balance of $142.0 million, a decrease of $19.6 million from
last fiscal year. This ending fund balance equates to 19 percent of General Fund expenditures
and transfers out for the year.

● Total bonded debt decreased by $63.7 million in fiscal year 2009 due to early redemptions and
scheduled payments of principal on outstanding bonds.

Overview of the Financial Statements

.05 This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial
statements. The basic financial statements comprise three components: (1) government-wide financial state-
ments, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.
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Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
The statement of net assets presents information on all of the County’s assets and liabilities, with the differ-
ence between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net assets changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported
in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, uncol-
lected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of Durham County that are princi-
pally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions
that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-
type activities). The County’s governmental activities include general government, public safety, physical
environment, transportation, economic environment, human services, and culture/recreation. The County’s
business-type activities include a convention center facility, a solid waste system, and a water/wastewater
utility system. Financial information in the government-wide financial statements distinguishes discretely-
presented component units from the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found in paragraphs .12–.13 of this section.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Durham County, like other state and
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

● Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, un-
like the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on
near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government’s near-term financing requirements. Because the focus of governmental funds is
narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the
information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for govern-
mental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the
governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expen-
ditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison be-
tween governmental funds and governmental activities. Durham County maintains 59 individ-
ual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental funds balance
sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances for the General Fund, Fire Protection MSTU Fund, and Sales Tax Trust Fund, each of
which are considered to be major funds for the 2009 fiscal year. Data from the other govern-
mental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each
of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements else-
where in this report. Durham County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its govern-
mental funds. Budgetary comparison statements have been provided for governmental funds to
demonstrate compliance with the budget.

● Proprietary funds. Durham County maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the govern-
ment-wide financial statements. The County uses enterprise funds to account for its convention
center facility, solid waste system, and water/wastewater utility system. Internal service funds
are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the County’s
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various functions. The County uses internal service funds to account for its risk management,
fleet management, and employee health benefits and insurance services. Because all of these
services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have
been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Fi-
nancial statements of proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the govern-
ment-wide financial statements, but in greater detail. The proprietary fund financial statements
provide separate information for the Durham County Convention Center, Solid Waste System,
and Water Utilities System, each of which are considered to be major funds of the County.
Individual fund data for the County’s six internal service funds is provided in the form of com-
bining statements elsewhere in this report.

● Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own
programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full under-
standing of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents certain required supplementary information concerning the County’s progress in funding its obli-
gation to provide pension and other post employment benefits with respect to the employees of Durham
County, the Clerk of Circuit and County Courts and the Durham County Library District.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds and internal
service funds are presented immediately following the notes to the financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

.06 As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. Durham County’s assets exceeded liabilities by $5,493.7 million at the close of the most recent fiscal
year, representing an increase in net assets for the year amounting to $117.1 million.

The largest portion of the County’s net assets (78.2 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets (for
example, land, buildings, infrastructure, and machinery and equipment), less any related debt used to ac-
quire those assets that is still outstanding. The County uses these capital assets to provide services to citi-
zens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the County’s investment in
its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this
debt must be provided from other sources because the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate
these liabilities.

Durham County’s Net Assets

(in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Current and other assets $1,138.5 $1,095.3 $455.9 $546.9 $1,594.4 $1,642.2
Capital assets 3,339.3 3,273.1 2,311.5 2,274.5 5,650.8 5,547.6

Total assets 4,477.8 4,368.4 2,767.4 2,821.4 7,245.2 7,189.8

(continued)
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Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Long-term liabilities
outstanding 603.4 620.4 979.0 1,019.2 1,582.4 1,639.6

Other liabilities 89.2 87.4 79.9 86.2 169.1 173.6

Total liabilities 692.6 707.8 1,058.9 1,105.4 1,751.5 1,813.2

Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of

related debt 2,904.0 2,816.6 1,394.3 1,325.8 4,298.3 4,142.4
Restricted 612.8 554.3 154.8 90.5 767.6 644.8
Unrestricted 268.4 289.7 159.4 299.7 427.8 589.4

Total net assets $3,785.2 $3,660.6 $1,708.5 $1,716.0 $5,493.7 $5,376.6

An additional portion of the County’s net assets (14.0 percent) represents resources that are subject to restric-
tions on how they may be used, most of which are restrictions imposed from external sources. The remain-
ing 7.8 percent of total net assets ($427.8 million) represents unrestricted amounts that may be used to meet
the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens, creditors, and customers within the respective govern-
mental and business-type activities.

At the end of the current fiscal year, as in the prior year, the County is able to report positive balances in all
3 categories of net assets as a whole and individually within the governmental and business-type activities.
Unrestricted net assets decreased by $161.6 million (27.4 percent) compared with the prior year, largely due
to decreases in the Solid Waste System fund ($6.5 million), the Convention Center fund ($67.3 million), the
Water Utilities System ($66.5 million) and the General Fund ($19.6 million). The most significant components
of the $122.8 million increase in restricted net assets (a 19 percent hike from the prior year) are associated
with the Debt Service Funds, which accounts for $45.1 million of the increase, and the Convention Center
Fund, which accounts for $63.9 million. These fluctuations are primarily due to a reduction in interfund
transfers from the Debt Service Funds which were not executed in order to conserve funds, and the replace-
ment of a debt service surety bond in the Convention Center Fund with available cash. Other increases in
restricted net assets are associated with, public safety ($11.5 million) and physical environment ($4.0 million)
functions, all attributable to impact fee collections.

The changes in net assets displayed subsequently shows the governmental and business-type activities dur-
ing the previous two fiscal years. The increase in net assets for each year represents the extent to which
revenues exceeded expenses during the year.

Durham County’s Changes in Net Assets

(in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Revenues:
Program revenues:

Charges for services $189.1 $194.5 $208.5 $230.3 $397.6 $424.8
Operating grants and

contributions 129.6 149.0 0.2 0.2 129.8 149.2
Capital grants and

contributions 74.0 107.1 18.7 34.9 92.7 142.0
General revenues:

Ad valorem taxes 732.6 736.9 — — 732.6 736.9
Other taxes 114.4 116.3 142.2 168.1 256.6 284.4

(continued)
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Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

State shared 139.3 154.2 — — 139.3 154.2
Interest 19.3 45.6 4.7 17.4 24.0 63.0
Other 16.5 16.1 6.2 7.0 22.7 23.1

Total revenues 1,414.8 1,519.7 380.5 457.9 1,795.3 1,977.6

Expenses:
General government 247.2 232.1 — — 247.2 232.1
Public safety 523.5 524.0 — — 523.5 524.0
Physical environment 62.0 52.9 — — 62.0 52.9
Transportation 189.4 176.0 — — 189.4 176.0
Economic environment 59.5 60.7 — — 59.5 60.7
Human services 119.3 139.8 — — 119.3 139.8
Culture and recreation 77.4 81.8 — — 77.4 81.8
Interest on long-term debt 22.1 24.0 — — 22.1 24.0
Convention Center — — 180.5 206.7 180.5 206.7
Solid Waste System — — 28.9 35.5 28.9 35.5
Water Utilities System — — 168.4 163.2 168.4 163.2

Total expenses 1,300.4 1,291.3 377.8 405.4 1,678.2 1,696.7

Increase in net assets before
transfers 114.4 228.4 2.7 52.5 117.1 280.9

Transfers in (out) 10.2 10.6 (10.2) (10.6) — —

Increase in net assets 124.6 239.0 (7.5) 41.9 117.1 280.9
Net assets, beginning of

year 3,660.6 3,421.6 1,716.0 1,674.1 5,376.6 5,095.7

Net assets, end of year $3,785.2 $3,660.6 $1,708.5 $1,716.0 $5,493.7 $5,376.6

Overall revenues decreased by $182.3 million, or 9.2 percent, compared to last fiscal year. Ad valorem taxes
were down $4.3 million, due to a reduction in taxable assessed value. Other tax revenues were down $27.8
million from last fiscal year, primarily due to a decline in tourism and a corresponding reduction in Tourist
Development Tax collections. State Shared Taxes, largely consisting of sales tax, was down $14.9 million.
Investment interest income decreased by $39.0 million compared to the prior year, due to a decline in inter-
est rates and investment in a more conservative asset mix. Program revenues experienced an overall de-
crease of $95.9 million, which is mainly attributable to a slow-down in the economy and construction indus-
try. Contributing to this decrease is a reduction in collection of capital and operating grants and
contributions associated with new development in the areas of the Water Utilities System, Transportation,
and Public Safety.

Total expenses decreased by $18.5 million in comparison to last fiscal year. This is due in large part to a
reduction in programs and conservative spending practices made necessary by reduced revenue collection.

Financial Analysis of Durham County’s Funds

.07 As noted earlier, Durham County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the County’s
financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a govern-
ment’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
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As of September 30, 2009, Durham County governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $903.8
million, an increase of $34.2 million compared with the prior year balances. Approximately 91 percent of
this total amount ($823.4 million) constitutes unreserved fund balance, which is available for spending at
the County’s discretion. The remainder of fund balance is reserved, to indicate that it is not available for
new spending because it has already been committed to restricted purposes, primarily debt service.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At September 30, 2009, total fund balance in
the General Fund was $142.0 million, of which $140.4 million was unreserved. As a measure of the General
Fund’s liquidity, both the total and the unreserved fund balances equate to approximately 19 percent of total
fund expenditures and transfers out. The fund balance of the General Fund decreased by $19.6 million dur-
ing the current fiscal year, largely due to increased expenditures and reductions in both investment interest
income and other miscellaneous revenues of the General Fund.

The Fire Protection MSTU special revenue fund has a total fund balance of $64.6 million (primarily unre-
served). This fund balance increased $9.6 million during the year, largely due to conservative spending
practices.

The Sales Tax Trust debt service fund has a total fund balance of $127.1 million, of which $44.4 million is
reserved for payment of debt service. The $63.2 million increase in fund balance for the year was associated
with a reduction in interfund transfers which were not executed in order to conserve funds and a reduction
in expense associated with the principal retirement of debt as compared to the prior fiscal year.

Proprietary funds. The County’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the govern-
ment-wide financial statements, but in greater detail. At September 30, 2009, total net assets amounted to
$1,708.5 million for enterprise funds, as compared to $1,716.0 million at September 30, 2008. Total net assets
of the Convention Center fund of $490.5 million recognized a $2.1 million increase for the year. Tourist
development tax collections decreased in 2009 by $25.9 million and operating revenues decreased by $15.3
million as compared with the prior year. These decreases are largely due to decreases in tourism and de-
creased attendance and occupancy at events and shows.

Total net assets of the Solid Waste System amounted to $92.4 million at the end of the fiscal year, as com-
pared to $90.9 last year. Operating revenues decreased 8 percent, or $2.5 million, compared to fiscal year
2008 due to reduction in waste delivery to the System. Operating expenditures experienced a decrease of
$6.9 million—approximately 25 percent—due primarily to a reduction in closure costs compared with the
prior year. Because the System has no outstanding bonded debt, there are no restrictions on net assets.

The Water Utilities System total net assets fell by $11.1 million during the year, to $1,125.6 million from
$1,136.7 million. This is primarily attributable to a decline in operating revenues as a result of increased
conservation efforts by utility customers and decreases in new construction causing a decline in connection
fee contributions. The largest portion of System net assets (87.5 percent) reflects its investment in capital
assets, less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. Unrestricted net assets of the System
decreased by $66.5 million to $107.8 million from a balance of $174.3 million the previous year, largely due
to operating and capital activities and the cash defeasance of a substantial portion of outstanding bonds.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

.08 A budget to actual statement is provided for the General Fund. Columns for both the original budget
adopted for fiscal year 2009 as well as the final budget are presented. During the year, the budget for fund
balance brought forward from the prior year was increased by $14.6 million to more closely reflect the final
actual amount. Revenue budgets were increased for intergovernmental revenues and decreased for invest-
ment interest, as well as increases in budgets for current expenditures and increases in the budgetary reserve
for contingencies.

Budgeted taxes revenue represents the full levy of property taxes for the year, whereas actual results reflect
early payment discounts allowed by state statute. Charges for services fell short of budgetary estimates by
$4.1 million due to a decrease in indirect services allocations. Negative revenue variances totaling approxi-
mately $23.3 million was more than fully offset by the legally-mandated statutory deduction. Expenditures
for general government, public safety and human services were under budget by a total of $53.9 million due
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to conservative spending practices. During the year, overall revenues exceeded budgetary estimates and
actual expenditures were less than budgetary estimates in every category.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

.09 Capital assets. Durham County’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
activities as of September 30, 2009, amounts to $5,650.8 million (net of accumulated depreciation). This in-
vestment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, improvements other than buildings,
infrastructure, machinery and equipment, and intangible items. The overall net increase in the County’s
capital assets for the current fiscal year was 1.6 percent (increases of 2.0 percent for governmental activities
and 1.0 percent for business-type activities for the year). Major capital asset events in the current year in-
cluded the following:

● Approximately 48 road widening and extension projects were continued or completed at a com-
bined cost of $56.1 million during the fiscal year.

● Capital assets valued at $56 million were received as capital contributions—$48.5 million for
governmental activities and $7.5 million for business-type activities.

● Approximately $5 million was expended during the year on land acquisition, construction, or
renovation of several County parks.

● At fiscal year-end, the County had outstanding construction contracts for various projects total-
ing approximately $191 million.

Durham County Capital Assets (Net)

(in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Nondepreciable assets:
Land $1,025.0 $1,006.8 $230.4 $228.8 $1,255.4 $1,235.6
Construction in progress 298.4 249.8 243.3 207.3 541.7 457.1

Depreciable assets:
Buildings and

improvements 545.1 543.3 1,057.8 1,084.9 1,602.9 1,628.2
Improvements other than

buildings — — 727.9 716.9 727.9 716.9
Infrastructure 1,364.7 1,362.6 — — 1,364.7 1,362.6
Machinery and equipment 106.1 110.6 35.5 36.6 141.6 147.2
Intangibles — — 16.6 13.1 16.6 13.1

Total capital assets $3,339.3 $3,273.1 $2,311.5 $2,287.6 $5,650.8 $5,560.7

Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in note C in the footnote section of this
report.
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Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, Durham County had total bonded debt outstanding (net
of unamortized costs) of $1,340.9 million, entirely comprising debt that is secured solely by specified revenue
sources (that is, revenue bonds). Of these revenue bonds, $893.5 million, or 67 percent, is secured by the first
5 cents of the County’s tourist development tax levy for the financing of the various expansion phases of
the Durham County Convention Center.

Durham County Outstanding Debt

Revenue Bonds

(in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Revenue bonds $434.1 $452.8 $906.8 $951.8 $1,340.9 $1,404.6

The County’s total bonded debt decreased by $63.7 million during the 2009 fiscal year—$18.7 million for
governmental activities bonds and $45.0 million for the business-type activities. The reductions were asso-
ciated with principal payments on maturing debt obligations, an early debt retirement from cash on hand,
and 2 current refunding transactions.

As of September 30, 2009, the County had no outstanding general obligation debt. Capacity for pledging
existing revenue sources are still available with respect to public service taxes, sales tax revenue, state reve-
nue sharing revenue, tourist development tax revenue, gas tax revenue, and utility systems revenue, as well
as property taxes. Bonds backed by any of these sources except property taxes could still be issued and
would not require voter approval. Any property tax bonds would be a general obligation issue requiring
voter approval.

Additional information on the County’s bonded debt and other long-term liabilities can be found in notes
I–L in the footnote section of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

.10

● The unemployment rate for Durham County increased to 11.4 percent from a rate of 6.5 percent
a year ago. This is consistent with the state’s average unemployment rate of 11.3 percent but
higher than the national average of 9.8 percent at September 30, 2009.

● Taxable property valuation decreased slightly from $107.3 billion in 2008 to $107.0 billion in
2009.

● Countywide taxable sales decreased from $34.2 billion in 2008 to $32.8 billion in 2009.

● Countywide motor fuel sales decreased from 702.9 million gallons in 2008 to 667 million gallons
in 2009.

All of these factors were considered in preparing the County’s budget for the 2010 fiscal year.

During the year ended September 30, 2009, unreserved fund balance in the General Fund decreased to $140.4
million. The County has appropriated this amount in the 2010 fiscal year budget in accordance with the
requirements of state statute. Property tax rates remain unchanged for the 2010 fiscal year; however, they
have been affected in recent years as follows.

In 2007, the Florida Legislature adopted property tax limiting legislation that impacted all counties, cities,
and special districts. This action imposed statutory changes on how property tax millage rates are adopted,
and it resulted in Durham County adopting rates in the 2008 fiscal year that were five percent below the
roll-back rate (except for Fire/EMS at three percent). Going forward, annual millage rates may be levied up
to the roll-back rate or to a rate approximating the roll-back rate based on certain allowed adjustments. Rate
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increases beyond such limitations require either a super-majority or unanimous vote of the governing body,
depending on the magnitude of the increase.

This legislative action also placed a constitutional amendment on the ballot, which was approved by Florida
voters in January 2008. Referred to as "Amendment 1," it made 4 changes affecting taxable assessed value.
First, with respect to homestead property, it increased the current $25,000 homestead exemption by another
$25,000 (for property values between $50,000 and $75,000), except for school district taxes. Second, Amend-
ment 1 allows property owners to transfer (make portable) up to $500,000 of their "Save Our Homes" benefits
to their next homestead when they move. "Save Our Homes," a 1995 amendment to the Florida Constitution,
limits the annual increase in assessed value for homestead property to the lesser of 3 percent or the percent-
age change in the Consumer Price Index. Third, the amendment limits the annual increase in assessed value
for nonhomestead property (businesses, industrial property, rental property, second homes) to 10 percent,
except for school district taxes. And fourth, it provides a $25,000 exemption for tangible personal property.
Amendment 1 was effective for property taxes collected for the 2009 fiscal year, except for the 10 percent
assessment cap on nonhomestead property, which becomes effective for the 2010 fiscal year.

For the 2009 and 2010 fiscal years, the County’s property tax millage rate levies remained unchanged from
the reduced rates adopted in 2008. In 2009, taxable assessed values were less than one-half of 1 percent
below 2008; however, for 2010, taxable assessed values decreased nearly 10 percent from 2009. Based on the
revised statutory methodology and this drop in assessed values, the County’s roll-back millage rate for 2010
was about 14 percent higher than the actual rate adopted, and the rate maximum allowed with a simple
majority vote was about 6 percent higher than the roll-back rate. Due to the weakened economy, the County
chose to reduce its budget for fiscal year 2010 rather than upwardly adjust property tax millage rates to
compensate for the reduction in taxable values. Thus, under the provisions of the 2007 legislation, the
County retains the option for millage rate adjustments in future fiscal years that could mitigate reductions
in property tax receipts due to reduced assessed values, without the requirement of a super-majority vote.

As for the County’s business-type activities, the Water Utilities System increased the top 2 tiers of the water
rate schedule by 22 percent and 44 percent in July 2009. For fiscal year 2010, the automatic 3 percent rate
increase for all categories of the water and wastewater rate schedules was allowed to occur. In the Solid
Waste System, a phased approach for tipping fee increases has been implemented. Beginning December
2008, Class I tipping fees were increased by 6.5 percent, and Class III tipping fees were increased by 39.5
percent. Class I and Class III waste categories represent the majority of the waste received by the System.
Remaining fee increase phases approved in October 2009 called for Class I tipping fees to increase by 6.5
percent in December 2009 and 2010, and for Class III tipping fees to increase by 6.5 percent in December
2009. Further, automatic annual increases of 3 percent for all tipping fee categories will begin in October
2012.

Requests for Information

.11 This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Durham County’s finances for all
those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided
in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to the County Comptroller’s Office.
Complete financial statements for each of the individual component units may be obtained at each respec-
tive administrative office as reflected in note A in the footnote section of this report.
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Basic Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements

.12

DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2009

Primary Government

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

Component
Units

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $1,016,802,267 $219,802,196 $1,236,604,463 $18,927,746
Investments 34,479,646 — 34,479,646 12,292,304
Receivables, net 35,776,455 31,625,062 67,401,517 276,128
Internal balances (70,000) 70,000 — —
Due from other governmental

agencies 40,241,823 2,981,933 43,223,756 102,204
Inventories and prepaid costs 4,912,769 18,515,520 23,428,289 49,905
Restricted assets — 182,829,724 182,829,724 547,415,668
Pension and OPEB assets 6,403,232 — 6,403,232 —
Nondepreciable capital assets 1,323,362,470 473,730,558 1,797,093,028 9,073,105
Depreciable capital assets, net 2,015,915,893 1,837,799,266 3,853,715,159 2,708,204

Total assets $4,477,824,555 $2,767,354,259 $7,245,178,814 $590,845,264

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities $76,448,696 $43,226,902 $119,675,598 $8,490,820

Due to other governmental agencies 4,011,704 2,394,647 6,406,351 53,587
Unearned revenue 1,424,089 6,922,609 8,346,698 5,111,036
Accrued interest payable 7,247,057 20,927,665 28,174,722 2,045,177
Customer deposits — 6,446,291 6,446,291 —
Long-term liabilities:

Portion due within one year 95,095,235 54,225,534 149,320,769 3,868,650
Portion due after one year 508,348,543 924,729,984 1,433,078,527 509,254,945

Total liabilities $692,575,324 $1,058,873,632 $1,751,448,956 $528,824,215

(continued)
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Primary Government

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

Component
Units

NET ASSETS

Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt $2,904,041,775 $1,394,291,948 $4,298,333,723 $11,760,747

Restricted for:
Debt service 192,097,408 108,723,786 300,821,194 9,553,835
General government 10,771,803 — 10,771,803 —
Public safety 106,304,423 — 106,304,423 —
Physical environment 43,814,400 30,167,009 73,981,409 —
Transportation 197,194,082 — 197,194,082 2,241,838
Economic environment 33,287,202 15,935,481 49,222,683 —
Human services 1,129,327 — 1,129,327 —
Culture and recreation 28,230,621 — 28,230,621 —

Unrestricted 268,378,190 159,362,403 427,740,593 38,464,629

Total net assets $3,785,249,231 $1,708,480,627 $5,493,729,858 $62,021,049

Total liabilities and net assets $4,477,824,555 $2,767,354,259 $7,245,178,814 $590,845,264

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2009

Major Funds

General

Fire
Protection

MSTU Sales Tax Trust

Other
Governmental

Funds Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $171,634,324 $66,494,401 $99,950,392 $559,355,383 $897,434,500
Investments — — 8,897,508 24,280,659 33,178,167
Receivables:

Taxes — — — 9,876,234 9,876,234
Accounts 670,696 21,015,948 — 1,680,909 23,367,553
Notes and loans — — — 11,815,323 11,815,323
Special assessments — — — 182,255 182,255
Accrued interest 603,013 287,245 332,764 2,016,512 3,239,534
Less allowance for

doubtful accounts (268,256) (12,860,253) — (707,175) (13,835,684)
Due from other funds 4,004,479 1,565,533 — 5,058,194 10,628,206
Due from other

governmental agencies 611,473 — 17,869,455 21,280,261 39,761,189
Inventories — — — 337,437 337,437
Assets held for resale — — — 2,620,486 2,620,486
Deposits and prepaid costs 421,325 3,725 — 826,508 1,251,558
Advances to other funds 1,200,000 — — — 1,200,000

Total assets $178,877,054 $76,506,599 $127,050,119 $638,622,986 $1,021,056,758

LIABILITIES AND FUND
BALANCES

Liabilities:

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $29,912,409 $5,303,955 $ — $38,134,386 $73,350,750

Matured bonds payable — — — 10,358,093 10,358,093
Matured interest payable — — — 3,428,556 3,428,556
Due to other funds 3,613,166 — — 7,420,846 11,034,012
Due to other

governmental agencies 1,461,507 — — 2,550,197 4,011,704
Due to individuals 1,201,694 — — 49,423 1,251,117
Deferred revenue 696,230 6,598,530 — 5,315,633 12,610,393
Advances from other

funds — — — 1,200,000 1,200,000

Total liabilities 36,885,006 11,902,485 — 68,457,134 117,244,625

(continued)
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Major Funds

General

Fire
Protection

MSTU Sales Tax Trust

Other
Governmental

Funds Totals

Fund balances:

Reserved for notes and
loans receivable — — — 11,815,323 11,815,323

Reserved for inventories — — — 337,437 337,437
Reserved for assets held

for resale — — — 2,620,486 2,620,486
Reserved for deposits and

prepaid costs 421,325 3,725 — 826,508 1,251,558
Reserved for advances to

other funds 1,200,000 — — — 1,200,000
Reserved for debt service — — 44,374,235 18,777,752 63,151,987
Unreserved, reported in

major funds 140,370,723 64,600,389 82,675,884 — 287,646,996
Unreserved, reported in

nonmajor:
Special revenue funds — — — 493,448,157 493,448,157
Debt service funds — — — 35,911,444 35,911,444
Capital projects funds — — — 6,428,745 6,428,745

Total fund balances 141,992,048 64,604,114 127,050,119 570,165,852 903,812,133

Total liabilities and fund

balances $178,877,054 $76,506,599 $127,050,119 $638,622,986 $1,021,056,758

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

September 30, 2009

Total fund balances for governmental funds $903,812,133
Total net assets reported for governmental activities in the statement

of net assets is different because:
1. Capital assets used in governmental activities are not

financial resources and therefore are not reported in the
funds. Those assets consist of:

Land $1,024,983,184
Construction in progress 298,379,286
Buildings and improvements, net of $194,833,245
accumulated depreciation 545,061,855

Infrastructure, net of $622,384,421 accumulated
depreciation 1,364,723,229

Machinery and equipment, net of $255,043,494
accumulated depreciation 106,130,809

Total capital assets, net 3,339,278,363
2. The pension and OPEB assets resulting from contributions

in excess of the annual required contribution in previous
years are not financial resources and therefore are not
reported in the funds. 6,403,232

3. Internal service funds are used by management to charge
costs associated with risk management, fleet maintenance,
and employee medical benefits. The assets and liabilities of
the internal service funds are included in governmental
activities in the statement of net assets. Internal service
fund net assets, net of amounts for capital assets accounted
for in item 1 preceding, are: 63,632,759

4. Amounts to be collected under long-term receivables are
not available to pay for the current period’s expenditures,
and therefore are reported as deferred in the funds. 11,186,304

5. Long-term liabilities applicable to the County’s
governmental activities are not due and payable in the
current period and accordingly are not reported as fund
liabilities, except for portions payable early in the
following year for which sufficient resources have been
accumulated in the funds to liquidate the liabilities. These
liabilities (net of portions accounted for in internal service
funds) consist of:

Bonds payable (net of unamortized costs, and net of
$10,358,093 reported as fund liabilities) (423,716,977)

Accreted interest payable (25,728,281)
Notes payable (3,513,063)
Capital leases (258,699)
Compensated absences (net of $492,641 in internal
service funds) (76,317,299)

Landfill closure costs payable (5,710,740)

Total long-term liabilities (535,245,059)
(continued)
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6. Interest payable on long-term debt is not accrued in
governmental funds; rather, it is recognized as an
expenditure when due. These liabilities are reported in the
statement of net assets. (3,818,501)

Total net assets of governmental activities $3,785,249,231

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

for the year ended September 30, 2009

Total net change in fund balances for governmental funds $34,166,466
The change in net assets reported for governmental activities in the

statement of activities is different because:
1. Governmental funds report capital outlays as

expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the
cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the
amount by which capital outlays ($125,489,080) exceed
depreciation ($85,308,775) in the current period, excluding
amounts recorded in the internal service funds. 40,180,305

2. Donations of capital assets increase net assets in the
statement of activities, but are not reported in the
governmental funds because they are not financial
resources. 48,510,474

3. In the statement of activities, a gain or loss on sales, trade-
ins, or other dispositions of capital assets is reported,
whereas in the governmental funds, the proceeds
received from dispositions of capital assets increases
financial resources. Thus, the change in net assets differs
from the change in fund balance by the net book value of
capital assets disposed. (22,472,286)

4. Proceeds of certain long-term debt are reported as
financing sources in governmental funds and thus
contribute to the increase in fund balance. In the
statement of net assets, however, issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement of
activities. Similarly, repayment of principal is an
expenditure in the governmental funds but reduces the
liability in the statement of net assets. This is the amount
by which payment of principal on this debt exceeds the
proceeds from issuance of new debt.

Bonds $19,502,409
Notes (2,726,843)
Capital leases 4,923,084

21,698,650
5. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the

governmental funds, expenditures are not recognized for
transactions that are not normally paid with expendable
available financial resources. In the statement of activities,
however, which is presented on the accrual basis,
expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when
financial resources are used. The net changes associated
with these expenses/expenditures are as follows:

Compensated absences (843,301)
Accrued/accreted interest (511,273)
Amortization of bond costs (149,333)

(continued)
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Closure costs (2,801,878)
Pension and OPEB assets 3,322,017

(983,768)
6. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the

governmental funds, revenues are not recognized until
funds are measurable and available to finance current
expenditures. In the statement of activities, however,
which is presented on the accrual basis, revenues are
reported regardless of when financial resources are
available. This is the net adjustment to current year
revenue in converting to the full accrual basis. (657,979)

7. Internal service funds are used by management to charge
costs associated with risk management, fleet maintenance,
and employee medical benefits. In the statement of
activities, the net revenue (expense) of internal service
funds is reported with governmental activities. 4,204,854

Change in net assets of governmental activities $124,646,716

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE—BUDGET AND ACTUAL (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS)

GENERAL FUND

for the year ended September 30, 2009

Budget

Original Final Actual

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

Revenues:

Taxes $439,046,578 $439,046,578 $420,695,576 $(18,351,002)
Licenses and permits 666,140 666,140 589,975 (76,165)
Intergovernmental 2,997,000 10,565,546 10,698,299 132,753
Charges for services 99,842,273 99,854,273 95,797,071 (4,057,202)
Fines and forfeitures 6,330,971 6,330,971 6,086,852 (244,119)
Interest 8,197,420 5,044,080 4,441,939 (602,141)
Miscellaneous 6,187,413 6,628,474 6,693,886 65,412
Less statutory deduction (25,545,105) (25,388,038) — 25,388,038

Total revenues 537,722,690 542,748,024 545,003,598 2,255,574

Expenditures:

Current:
General government 249,283,586 250,962,991 225,775,171 25,187,820
Public safety 369,056,386 369,881,139 349,673,997 20,207,142
Physical environment 8,443,901 8,443,901 6,971,813 1,472,088
Transportation 40,329,761 40,329,761 40,167,580 162,181
Economic environment 24,147,140 24,147,140 20,618,928 3,528,212
Human services 81,975,413 82,814,364 74,273,627 8,540,737
Culture and recreation 3,884,041 3,884,041 3,482,116 401,925
Reserve for contingencies 55,393,278 71,716,207 — 71,716,207

Debt service:
Principal retirement 4,732,886 4,757,736 4,757,723 13
Interest and fiscal charges 113,133 116,086 115,762 324

Total expenditures 837,359,525 857,053,366 725,836,717 131,216,649

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (299,636,835) (314,305,342) (180,833,119) 133,472,223

(continued)
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Budget

Original Final Actual

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers in 171,922,994 172,028,984 178,004,431 5,975,447
Transfers out (19,322,250) (19,409,266) (16,807,604) 2,601,662

Total other financing

sources (uses) 152,600,744 152,619,718 161,196,827 8,577,109

Net change in fund balance (147,036,091) (161,685,624) (19,636,292) 142,049,332

Fund balance, October 1, 2008 147,036,091 161,685,624 161,628,340 (57,284)

Fund balance, September 30, 2009 $ — $ — $141,992,048 $141,992,048

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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.19

DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE—BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FIRE PROTECTION MSTU FUND

for the year ended September 30, 2009

Budget

Original Final Actual

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

Revenues:

Taxes $131,797,931 $131,797,931 $126,718,863 $(5,079,068)
Licenses and permits 2,653,737 2,653,737 965,632 (1,688,105)
Intergovernmental 200,000 200,000 246,418 46,418
Charges for services 13,565,473 13,565,473 14,990,170 1,424,697
Interest 2,300,000 1,178,100 1,589,167 411,067
Miscellaneous 164,800 164,800 651,221 486,421
Less statutory deduction (7,611,597) (7,555,502) — 7,555,502

Total revenues 143,070,344 142,004,539 145,161,471 3,156,932

Expenditures:

Current:
Public safety 155,712,325 158,641,687 137,162,686 21,479,001
Reserve for contingencies 34,136,403 39,952,649 — 39,952,649

Total expenditures 189,848,728 198,594,336 137,162,686 61,431,650

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (46,778,384) (56,589,797) 7,998,785 64,588,582

Other financing sources:

Transfers in 1,550,000 1,550,000 1,565,532 15,532

Total other financing

sources 1,550,000 1,550,000 1,565,532 15,532

Net change in fund balance (45,228,384) (55,039,797) 9,564,317 64,604,114

Fund balance, October 1, 2008 45,228,384 55,039,797 55,039,797 —

Fund balance, September 30, 2009 $ — $ — $64,604,114 $ 64,604,114

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

September 30, 2009

Pension and
Other

Postemployment
Benefit Trust

Private Purpose
Trust Agency

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $628,100 $472,140 $60,172,524

Investments:
Domestic equity securities and mutual

funds 32,094,829 — —
International equity securities and

mutual funds 10,144,570 — —
Stable value account and mutual funds 1,334,048 — —
Fixed income mutual funds 11,019,139 — —
Money market accounts and mutual

funds 1,656,948 — —
Corporate bonds 2,491,863 — —
Government bonds 8,416,361 — —
Asset backed securities 1,527,055 — —

Total investments 68,684,813 — —

Accounts receivable 2,250,292 — —
Accrued income 75,421 — —
Due from individuals — — 19,208
Due from other governmental agencies — — 28,235
Prepaid items 23,720 — —

Total assets 71,662,346 472,140 $60,219,967

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 3,953,459 — —
Due to other funds 35,069 — —
Due to other governmental agencies — — 13,222,507
Due to individuals — — 39,594,337
Deposits — — 7,403,123

Total liabilities 3,988,528 — $60,219,967

NET ASSETS
Held in trust for pension and other

postemployment benefits 67,673,818 —
Held in trust for other purposes — 472,140

Total net assets $67,673,818 $472,140

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

for the year ended September 30, 2009

Pension and
Other

Postemployment
Benefit Trust

Private Purpose
Trust

Additions:

Employer contributions $12,426,499 $ —
Employee contributions 4,507 —
Net investment income 4,060,301 1,592

Total additions 16,491,307 1,592

Deductions:

Benefits paid to participants 2,791,439 —
Administrative expenses 238,283 —

Total deductions 3,029,722 —

Increase in net assets 13,461,585 1,592

Net assets, October 1, 2008 54,212,233 470,548

Net assets, September 30, 2009 $67,673,818 $472,140

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

COMPONENT UNITS

September 30, 2009

Durham County
Housing Finance

Authority

Nonmajor
Component

Units Totals

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $10,198,349 $8,729,397 $18,927,746
Investments — 770,485 770,485
Accounts receivable — 220,417 220,417
Accrued interest receivable 55,711 — 55,711
Due from other governmental agencies — 102,204 102,204
Deposits and prepaid costs 24,941 24,964 49,905
Restricted accrued interest receivable 1,115,326 — 1,115,326

Total current assets 11,394,327 9,847,467 21,241,794

Noncurrent assets:

Investments 11,521,819 — 11,521,819
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16,767,226 — 16,767,226
Restricted investments 116,373,994 — 116,373,994
Notes and loans receivable, net 413,159,122 — 413,159,122
Nondepreciable capital assets 112,000 8,961,105 9,073,105
Depreciable capital assets, net 233,013 2,475,191 2,708,204

Total noncurrent assets 558,167,174 11,436,296 569,603,470

Total assets $569,561,501 $21,283,763 $590,845,264

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $309,036 $827,014 $1,136,050
Current portion of long-term liabilities — 88,650 88,650
Unearned revenue — 5,111,036 5,111,036
Payable from restricted assets:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,354,770 — 7,354,770
Accrued interest payable 2,045,177 — 2,045,177
Revenue bonds payable 3,780,000 — 3,780,000
Due to other governmental agencies 53,587 — 53,587

Total current liabilities 13,542,570 6,026,700 19,569,270

(continued)
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Durham County
Housing Finance

Authority

Nonmajor
Component

Units Totals

Noncurrent liabilities:

Revenue bonds payable (net of unamortized
costs) 507,725,742 — 507,725,742

Obligation under capital leases — 10,968 10,968
Notes payable 1,518,235 — 1,518,235

Total noncurrent liabilities 509,243,977 10,968 509,254,945

Total liabilities 522,786,547 6,037,668 528,824,215

NET ASSETS

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 345,013 11,415,734 11,760,747
Restricted for bond programs 9,553,835 — 9,553,835
Restricted — 2,241,838 2,241,838
Unrestricted 36,876,106 1,588,523 38,464,629

Total net assets 46,774,954 15,246,095 62,021,049

Total liabilities and net assets $569,561,501 $21,283,763 $590,845,264

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DURHAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

INDEX TO THE NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended September 30, 2009

Paragraph
number

A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies .28–.58
B. Deposits and Investments .59–.70
C. Capital Assets .71
D. Risk Management and Insurance Coverage .72–.74
E. Retirement Systems .75–.81
F. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension Benefits .82–.87
G. Durham County, Clerk of the Circuit and County

Courts and Durham County Library District Pension
and Other Postemployment Benefit Trust Fund
Financial Statements .88

H. Notes and Loans Receivable .89
I. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities .90
J. Bonds Payable .91–.114
K. Notes and Loans Payable .115–.123
L. Lease Commitments .124–.125
M. Interfund Receivable and Payable Balances .126
N. Transfers To/From Other Funds .127
O. Restricted Assets .128
P. Community Redevelopment Agencies .129
Q. Commitments and Contingencies .130–.138
R. Budgetary Legal Compliance and Fund Deficits .139
S. Provision for Closure Costs .140
T. Subsequent Events .141–.143

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

.28 These financial statements of Durham County, Florida (County) were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for governmental entities (GAAP).
The following summary of the more significant accounting policies of the County is presented to assist the
reader in interpreting these financial statements, and should be viewed as an integral part of this report.

Reporting Entity

.29 Entity status for financial reporting purposes is governed by Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statements No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and No. 39, Determining Whether Certain
Organizations Are Component Units—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14. The GASB is the standard-
setting body for the establishment of GAAP in governmental entities. Determination of the financial report-
ing entity of the County is founded upon the objective of accountability. Therefore, these financial state-
ments include the County government (the primary government) and legally separate component units for
which operational or financial responsibility rests with the elected officials of the County or for which the
nature and significance of their relationship to the County are such that exclusion would cause the financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete.

Operational or financial responsibility is considered to have been met if the primary government appoints a
voting majority of the component unit’s governing board and it is able to impose its will on the unit or there
is potential for the unit to provide specific financial benefits or impose specific financial burdens on the
primary government. All component units of the County have a September 30 fiscal year end.
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The County is governed under the authority of the County Charter (Charter), which provides for home rule
and is derived from the Florida Constitution. Under the Charter, the principal legislative body of the County
is the Board of County Commissioners (Board), a seven-member elected body consisting of six Commission-
ers elected by district and the County Mayor elected at-large. The County Mayor also serves as the principal
executive officer. In addition, certain designated governmental functions are performed by constitutional
officers who are elected at-large. The constitutional officers are the Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts,
County Comptroller, Property Appraiser, Sheriff, Supervisor of Elections, and Tax Collector. Although these
six officers are operationally autonomous, they do not hold sufficient corporate powers of their own to be
considered legally separate component units for financial reporting purposes. Therefore, they are reported
together with the Board as part of the primary government.

Blended component units are legally separate entities that are in substance part of the County’s operation,
as they either have governing bodies that are substantively the same as the Board or they provide their
services exclusively or almost exclusively to the County government. The financial transactions of these
component units are merged in with similar transactions of the County as part of the primary government.
The blended component units of the County are as follows:

● Durham County Library District. This district serves to provide comprehensive library services
and serves County residents except for those within the cities of Durham Park and Ft. Durham.
The governing board of the District is composed of the Board of County Commissioners plus
one member appointed by the City Council of the City of Durham, Florida. This governing
board levies the property taxes necessary to operate the District, adopts the annual budget, and
approves debt issuances. The District is presented in special revenue, debt service, capital pro-
jects, internal service and fiduciary funds.

● Durham Drive Community Redevelopment Agency. This agency serves to provide improved trans-
portation and roadway conditions in the Durham Drive corridor. The governing body of the
Agency is the Board of County Commissioners. The Agency is presented as a special revenue
fund.

● Durham Blossom Trail (DBT) Community Redevelopment Agency. This agency serves to renew eco-
nomic interest and improve the commercial diversity and viability of a redevelopment area ad-
jacent to Durham Blossom Trail. The governing body of the Agency is the Board of County
Commissioners. The Agency is presented as a special revenue fund.

● Durham Blossom Trail (DBT) Local Government Neighborhood Improvement District (NID). This dis-
trict serves to provide for improvements in public safety in a designated area adjacent to Dur-
ham Blossom Trail. The governing body of the District is the Board of County Commissioners.
The District is presented as a special revenue fund.

● Water and Navigation Control Districts. The Lake Durham Water and Navigation Control District
and the Duke Water and Navigation Control District each serve to provide for the regulation of
shoreline alteration, aquatic plant management, and lake patrol activities for their designated
areas. The governing board of each District is the Board of County Commissioners. The primary
revenue source is ad valorem property taxes levied by the Board and the annual budgets of each
District must be approved by the Board. These Districts are presented together as a special rev-
enue fund.

Discretely-presented component units are legally separate entities which do not meet the criteria for blend-
ing. They are reported in separate columns to emphasize that they are legally separate from the County. The
discrete component units of the County are as follows:

● Durham Drive Master Transit and Improvement District. This district serves to administer transpor-
tation and capital planning projects along certain segments of Durham Drive. Two of the three
board members are members of the Board of County Commissioners. There is no budget ap-
proval required by the Board; however, a major portion of the District’s funding is derived from
Municipal Service Taxing Units (MSTUs) of the County. During the 2009 fiscal year, $5.5 million
was paid to the District from the County’s MSTUs.
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● Durham County Industrial Development Authority. This authority serves to assist in financing and
refinancing capital projects which will foster economic development in the County. Its five-
member board is appointed by the Board of County Commissioners. The Authority is not legally
required to adopt a budget; however, the Board must authorize the issuance of bonded debt.
Neither the Authority nor the County has any legal obligation for repayment of the revenue
bonds issued through the Authority. As an issuer of "conduit" debt obligations, the Authority
has no assets or liabilities.

● Durham County Health Facilities Authority. This authority serves to assist health facilities in the
acquisition, construction, financing and refinancing of capital projects within the County and,
under certain circumstances, outside the geographic limits of the County. Its five-member board
is appointed by the Board of County Commissioners. The Authority is not legally required to
adopt a budget; however, the Board must authorize the issuance of bonded debt. Neither the
Authority nor the County has any legal obligation for repayment of the revenue bonds issued
through the Authority. As an issuer of "conduit" debt obligations, the Authority has no assets,
liabilities, revenues, or expenses.

● Durham County Educational Facilities Authority. This authority serves to assist institutions for
higher education in the construction, financing, and refinancing of capital projects within the
County. Its seven-member board is appointed by the Board of County Commissioners. The Au-
thority is not legally required to adopt a budget; however, the Board must authorize the issu-
ance of bonded debt. Neither the Authority nor the County has any legal obligation for repay-
ment of the revenue bonds issued through the Authority. As an issuer of "conduit" debt
obligations, the Authority has no assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenses.

● Durham Blossom Trail Development Board, Inc.. This not-for-profit corporation, established by in-
terlocal agreement between the Board of County Commissioners and the City of Durham, serves
to provide management services for redevelopment of a section of Durham Blossom Trail. Six
positions of the nine-member board of directors are appointed by the Board, and they may be
removed without cause. There is no budget approval requirement nor responsibility for deficit
funding on the part of the County; however, a major portion of the Corporation’s revenues are
derived from grants and reimbursements from the County.

● Durham County Housing Finance Authority. This authority serves to finance dwelling accommo-
dations for low, moderate, and middle income persons in Durham County and three other ad-
jacent counties. Its five-member board is appointed by the Board of County Commissioners.
There is no budget approval required by the Board, although there is an approval requirement
for any bonded debt issuance. The County has no obligation to pay the outstanding debt of the
Authority; however, the Board does have the power to remove an Authority board member
without cause.

● Durham County Research and Development Authority. This authority serves to establish, develop,
and operate, in cooperation with the Board of County Commissioners and Durham, a research
and development park known as "Central Durham Research Park." Seven positions on its nine-
member board are appointed by the Board of County Commissioners. The annual budget and
amendments, as well as all bonded debt issues, must be approved by the Board. Although the
County is not legally responsible for the operations or debt of the Authority, it has given eco-
nomic assistance in prior fiscal years.

Except for the Durham County Library District, none of the blended component units prepare individual
financial statements. Individual audited financial statements for the Library District and the discretely-pre-
sented component units can be obtained directly from the respective administrative offices.
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The remainder of these notes provides disclosures for both the primary government and discretely-pre-
sented component units. If no separate component unit reference is made, the disclosure should be regarded
as equally applicable for all components of the reporting entity. In certain cases, GAAP requires special or
separate note references for discretely-presented component units. Such disclosures are correspondingly
noted as required and are displayed to the extent given in the individual audited financial statements of the
applicable component unit.

Financial Statement Presentation

.30 Government-wide financial statements. The statement of net assets and the statement of activities report
information about the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its discretely-presented com-
ponent units. Adjustments have been made to minimize the double-counting of interfund activity. These
statements distinguish between governmental activities and business-type activities. Governmental activities
are primarily financed through taxes and intergovernmental revenues, whereas business-type activities are
primarily financed through charges for services to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function of the County’s governmental activities, and for each of the business-type activities. Direct expenses
are those that are clearly identified with a specific program or segment. Indirect expense allocations are
displayed separately from the direct expenses. Program revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges for
service, and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted for the operating or capital requirements of a
specific program. All taxes and other revenues not meeting the criteria for classification as program revenues
are reported as general revenues.

Fund financial statements. The fund financial statements report information about the County’s funds, includ-
ing fiduciary funds. Separate columns are presented for each major governmental fund and for each major
enterprise fund.

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

● General Fund. This is the County’s primary operating fund; it accounts for all financial transac-
tions not required to be accounted for in another fund.

● Fire Protection MSTU . This fund accounts for fire protection and emergency medical services
financed with ad valorem taxes levied in the MSTU, as well as service fee revenues. The MSTU
encompasses the unincorporated area of the County.

● Sales Tax Trust. This fund accounts for receipt of the County’s share of state sales tax, and debt
service payments for the County’s outstanding sales tax revenue bonds.

The County reports the following major enterprise funds:

● Convention Center. This fund accounts for the operation of the Durham County Convention Cen-
ter, and the payment of debt service on the outstanding tourist development tax revenue bonds.
Major revenues are charges for services and tourist development taxes.

● Solid Waste System. This fund accounts for the County’s solid waste disposal (landfill) operation,
primarily financed through user charges.

● Water Utilities System. This fund accounts for costs associated with residential and commercial
sewer and water services provided to various sections of the County, primarily financed
through user charges.

Additionally, the County reports the following fund types:
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● Internal service funds. These funds account for risk management, fleet management, and em-
ployee medical benefits services provided to other County departments on a cost-reimburse-
ment basis, as well as Library District employee medical benefits and Sheriff’s Office health
insurance and workers’ compensation claims.

● Pension trust and other postemployment benefit fund. These funds account for the receipt and dis-
bursement of assets held in trust for participants of the Library District’s defined benefit pen-
sion, defined contribution pension, and money purchase pension plans; and other postemploy-
ment benefit plans of the County, Library District and Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts.

● Private purpose trust fund. This fund accounts for assets held in trust for the benefit of the St.
Durham River Water Management District, pursuant to a trust agreement dated February 21,
2006.

● Agency funds. These funds account for assets held on behalf of third parties. Examples include
developers’ escrows held pending satisfactory performance on construction projects, escrows for
the Durham Institute grant from the County and other funding parties, and taxes, fees and fines
collected on behalf of other governments.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

.31 The government-wide, proprietary fund, and trust fund financial statements use a flow of economic
resources measurement focus to determine net income and financial position. The accounting principles
used are similar to those applicable to businesses in the private sector and, thus, these funds are maintained
on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when
incurred.

Governmental fund financial statements use a current financial resources measurement focus, and are main-
tained on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they become susceptible
to accrual; that is, when they become both "measurable" and "available to finance expenditures of the current
period." The County considers amounts collected on grants within 120 days after year-end, and amounts
collected within 60 days after year-end on all other governmental funds, to be available and thus recognizes
them as revenues of the current year. Expenditures are recognized in the accounting period in which the
related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Principal and interest on general long-term debt are re-
corded as fund liabilities when due or when amounts have been accumulated in the debt service funds for
payments to be made early the following year.

Revenues of the County which are susceptible to accrual under the modified accrual basis include property
taxes, gas taxes, public service taxes, grant revenues, interest revenue, and charges for services. In applying
the "susceptible to accrual" concept to intergovernmental revenues (grants, entitlements and shared reve-
nues), the legal and contractual requirements of the numerous individual programs are used as guidance.
There are essentially two types of these revenues. In one, moneys must be expended on the specific purpose
or project before any amounts will be earned by the County; therefore, revenues are recognized based upon
when the expenditures are made if they meet the criterion of availability. In the other, moneys are essentially
unrestricted as to purpose of expenditure and revocable only for failure to comply with prescribed compli-
ance requirements. These resources are reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if they meet the
criterion of availability. Agency funds do not measure results of operations, but assets and liabilities are
measured on the accrual basis of accounting.

GASB Statement No. 20 Election

.32 Pursuant to the election option made available by GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, pro-
nouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued after November 30, 1989, are not
applied in the preparation of the business-type activities and the enterprise fund financial statements.
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Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

.33 Chapter 129, Florida Statutes, requires that the annual fiscal year budget be legally adopted by the
Board at the fund level, and that any expenditures or contract for expenditure in the fiscal year for an
amount greater than the total fund budget is unlawful. Pursuant to this legal requirement, an annual appro-
priated budget is adopted by resolution subject to public hearing. Such resolution sets the budget appropri-
ations in total by fund for each governmental fund and each proprietary fund of the Board. Budgets for the
trust funds and agency funds are not legally required or adopted. Budgetary information presented in this
report is in a categorized format by revenue source, expenditure function, and expenditure reserves, which
represents a detail level greater than the statutory level of control. At the close of the fiscal year, all budget
appropriations lapse to the extent that they have not been expended. Outstanding encumbrances also lapse,
but are re-established in the succeeding fiscal year against the newly adopted budget.

In addition to the statutory requirements discussed previously, the County has adopted management con-
trol and approval guidelines for expenditures and budget amendments. Key components of these manage-
ment guidelines are as follows:

1. Each fund contains allocations by object of expenditure, and for reserves for various purposes.

2. No expenditure or encumbrance may occur without a sufficient budgetary balance.

3. Allocations within a fund may be transferred within a department by action of the County’s
budget officer or between departments by action of the Board.

4. Available balances to or from reserves may be used to modify an expenditure allocation in the
same fund upon approval of the Board.

5. A revenue or other financing source which was originally unanticipated may be appropriated
by action of the Board.

6. Increased revenues for proprietary funds may be appropriated by action of the Board.

Because transfers of budget allocations between departments must be approved by the Board, the depart-
ment level is deemed the legal level of budgetary control. Such legal level of budgetary control corresponds
to the categorical breakdowns reflected in the financial statements, except for the General Fund and two
special revenue funds—the Miscellaneous Construction Projects Fund and the Grants Fund. These funds
contain multiple operating departments requiring Board approval for budget transfers. Schedules showing
budgeted and actual expenditures at the department level for these three funds are presented as supplemen-
tary information at the end of the Financial Section of this report.

In instances where total fund appropriations are amended by revenues or other financing sources unantici-
pated in the existing budget, an amending budget resolution is adopted which indicates the revised budget
appropriation for each affected fund. Amendments to overall appropriations for any other reasons also re-
quire a public hearing prior to adoption.

Budget appropriations presented in this report include all legally adopted appropriations as amended dur-
ing the fiscal year. During the 2009 fiscal year, appropriation increases of approximately $292 million were
approved by the Board, primarily due to new grant awards, for reappropriation of unexpended grant award
balances and encumbrances outstanding at the end of the 2008 fiscal year and to appropriate budget for
proceeds of bond issues during the year. The original adopted budget for the 2009 fiscal year totaled $3.47
billion and the final amended budget totaled $3.76 billion, representing an 8 percent increase during the
year.

All governmental fund budgets are prepared on a basis consistent with GAAP, except that capital outlay
expenditures and other financing sources related to the acquisition of assets through capital leases are not
budgeted. For the 2009 fiscal year, the following adjustments were necessary to present the actual data on a
budgetary basis for the General Fund (no adjustments were required for any of the other governmental fund
types, and therefore no reconciliation is presented):
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Expenditures
Other Financing
Sources (Uses)

GAAP basis $726,742,263 $162,102,373
Nonbudgeted capital lease transactions (905,546) (905,546)

Non-GAAP budgetary basis $725,836,717 $161,196,827

The budgets for the proprietary funds are prepared on an accrual basis and are consistent with GAAP except
that depreciation, amortization, noncash capital contributions, and gains/losses on the disposal of assets are
not budgeted, capitalized net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the construction of capital assets
are budgeted as interest income and interest expense, capital outlays are budgeted as expense, and debt
proceeds and principal payments are respectively budgeted as revenue and expense. Insurance liability
claims in the Risk Management internal service fund are budgeted according to the loss reserves available
for disbursement rather than by new liabilities incurred during the fiscal year. A budget is not adopted for
the Library District Internal Service Fund or for the Sheriff’s Health Insurance and Workers’ Compensation
Internal Service Funds.

Annual budgets are prepared according to the following procedures.

During the month of July, the County Mayor, after working with the County’s budget officer to establish
proposed funding priorities for the ensuing fiscal year, presents a tentative budget for each fund which
includes all estimated receipts, taxes to be levied, all other financing sources and all estimated expenditures
and reserves.

The Board examines these tentative budgets in work sessions throughout the month of July. Pursuant to
law, the budgets of each fund are balanced (that is, all revenues and other financing sources equal all expen-
ditures, reserves, and other financing uses). Subject to hearing and notice requirements, the budgets may be
revised as deemed necessary provided they remain in balance.

In September, public hearings are held to adopt tentative and final budgets. The hearings are held primarily
to explain the budget and DBTain public input. In accordance with statutory requirements, the annual budg-
ets are enacted prior to October 1 through passage of a resolution. If for some reason a budget is not enacted
by October 1, Florida Statutes provide for continued operation under the previous year’s budget subject to
any amendments.

Encumbrances

.34 Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the
expenditure of moneys are recorded as a reservation of budget, is employed as an extension of the statuto-
rily required budgetary process. Under Florida Statutes, appropriations, even if encumbered, lapse at fiscal
year end. Encumbrances outstanding at September 30, 2009, represented by purchase orders and other ex-
ecutor contracts, were approximately $102.6 million. It is the County’s intention to substantially honor these
encumbrances under authority provided in the subsequent year’s budget.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

.35 Cash balances from the majority of funds are pooled for investment purposes. Earnings from such
investments are allocated to the respective funds based on applicable cash participation by each fund. The
investment pools are managed such that all participating funds have the ability to deposit and withdraw
cash as if they were demand deposit accounts, and therefore all balances representing participants’ equity
in the investment pools are classified as cash equivalents for purposes of these statements. For investments
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which are held separately from the pools, those which are highly liquid (including restricted assets) with an
original or remaining maturity of 90 days or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Investments

.36 All investments are stated at fair value. Investment fair values are based on quoted market prices,
except for bankers’ acceptances and commercial paper, which are based on accreted value. Investments in
mutual funds, which are SEC 2a-7 investment pools, and the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund
(Florida Prime), which is an external 2a7-like investment pool, are stated at share price which is substantially
the same as fair value.

Accounts Receivable

.37 Amounts due from private individuals, organizations, or other governments which pertain to
charges for services rendered by County departments are reported as accounts receivable.

Receivables are reviewed periodically to establish or update the provisions for uncollectible amounts. These
provisions are estimated based on an analysis of the age of the various accounts. The County records the
amount of earned but unbilled service revenues for the Water Utilities System enterprise fund.

Notes and Loans Receivable

.38 The County has several agreements with other agencies under which cash has been advanced to
those agencies for the purpose of financing loans to developers for multifamily affordable housing projects.
These noninterest-bearing advances will be repaid to the County over varying terms of up to 30 years. The
outstanding principal balance is reported as Notes and Loans Receivable in the Local Housing Assistance
(SHIP) special revenue fund, with a corresponding amount in Reserved Fund Balance, as these amounts are
not available for current expenditure. No uncollectible allowance has been established for these receivables,
based upon management’s evaluation of the loans.

The Durham County Housing Finance Authority component unit records loans receivable relative to the
financing of multifamily housing developments and single-family residential housing. These loans are car-
ried at original cost, including unamortized discount, less principal collections. Servicing of loans is pro-
vided by various approved and qualified private lending institutions and servicing organizations on behalf
of the Authority. Servicing costs on single-family issues are recorded as a reduction of interest income. Based
upon management’s evaluation of the loan portfolio an allowance for potential losses has been established.
Loans receivable are pledged as collateral for the payment of principal and interest on bonded indebtedness.

Interfund Balances and Activity

.39 During the course of normal operations, the County has numerous transactions between funds. Ex-
amples of these transactions include providing services, constructing assets or servicing debt. These trans-
actions are generally recorded as interfund transfers, except for internal service fund charges which are
reflected as revenues to internal service funds and expenses or expenditures to the funds receiving the ser-
vices. Additionally, short-term interfund loans are recorded from time to time as cash flow needs arise. As
of fiscal year-end, any unpaid amounts related to these transactions are reported as "due from other funds"
or "due to other funds" on the fund financial statements. Interfund loans not expected to be repaid within
one year are reported as advances. In governmental funds, advances are offset equally by a fund balance
reserve which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available financial resources and, therefore,
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are not available for appropriation. Interfund balances and transfers are consolidated for government-wide
financial reporting, and residual balances between governmental activities and business-type activities, if
any, are reported on the government-wide financial statements.

Inventories

.40 The Durham County Library District special revenue fund inventory consists of supplies held for
consumption. This inventory is carried at cost using the first-in, first-out method. The cost is recorded as an
expenditure at the time individual inventory items are consumed (consumption method).

Inventories in proprietary fund types consist of materials and supplies held for consumption and are valued
at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the Solid Waste System and the Water Utilities System
enterprise funds using the weighted average and the moving average methods, respectively. The Fleet Man-
agement internal service fund values inventory using the first-in, first-out method.

Assets Held for Resale

.41 During fiscal year 2009, the County initiated a program whereby it purchases residential properties
with the express intent of resale. Properties purchased are rehabilitated and offered for sale to purchasers
meeting certain criteria. Properties held for resale are reported at lower of cost or net realizable value in the
governmental funds.

Restricted Assets

.42 The use of certain assets of enterprise funds is restricted by specific provisions of bond resolutions
and agreements with various parties. Assets so designated are identified as restricted assets on the balance
sheet. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the County’s policy is to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. Restricted assets are classified as
noncurrent if they are for acquisition or construction of capital assets, for liquidation of long-term debt, or
are for other than current operations.

Capital Assets

.43 Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the
government-wide financial statements. Constructed or purchased assets are recorded at historical cost or
estimated historical cost. Donated assets are recorded at the estimated fair market value on the date of
donation. The thresholds for capitalization of assets range from $1,000 to $1 million, depending on the asset
class. Costs of maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of assets or extend their useful lives are
not capitalized.

All capital assets except land and construction in progress are depreciated using the straight-line method
over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 20–50 years
Improvements other than buildings 5–50 years
Machinery and equipment 3–15 years
Infrastructure—roadways 20–50 years
Infrastructure—drainage 20–75 years

The enterprise funds capitalize costs associated with various intangible assets. These include initial pay-
ments under agreements in exchange for rights to services to be received over future periods. These capital-
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ized costs are being amortized using the straight-line method over the expected lives of the assets, which is
3 to 40 years.

Capitalization of Interest

.44 As required by the interest topic of FASB Accounting Standards Codificatione (ASC), the enterprise
funds capitalize net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the construction of capital assets. Interest
cost information for the enterprise funds for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, is as follows:

Convention
Center

Water Utilities
System

Total interest cost $46,393,467 $1,120,502
Net amount capitalized $ — $1,120,502

The net amount capitalized included amortization of bond issuance costs.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

.45 Liabilities reported as Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities on the government-wide statement
of net assets are comprised of the following components:

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities

Current payables due to vendors $56,930,402 $37,440,919
Salaries and wages payable 14,167,882 1,728,560
Retainage on contracts payable 5,350,412 4,057,423

Total accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $76,448,696 $43,226,902

Developer Agreements Payable

.46 The Water Utilities System (System) enterprise fund has entered into several water or wastewater
agreements with developers whereby the developer conveys land, easements, treatment plants, distribution
systems, and so on to the System. In return, the System either reserves water/wastewater treatment capacity
for future drawdowns by the developer or makes cash payments to the developer over current and future
periods based upon provisions of the particular agreement. Assets acquired under these agreements are
recorded at their fair market value at the time of acquisition.

Unearned Revenue and Deferred Revenue

.47 In instances where assets have been received by the County for services to be rendered in future
periods, asset balances have been offset by an unearned revenue liability account in the financial statements.
Unearned revenues of the County at September 30, 2009, are associated with cash received to secure future
bookings at the Convention Center.

Deferred revenue liabilities are reported in the governmental funds to offset receivables and deposits that
do not meet the availability criterion under the modified accrual basis of accounting. Primary examples of
the County’s deferred revenues are amounts associated with outstanding receivables for EMS transport ser-
vices, 911 system service provider fees and grants, where payments will be received in cash over future
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periods. Also included are deposits held from builders for future building permit issuance, where revenue
will be earned in future periods.

Landfill Closure Costs

.48 Under the terms of current state and federal regulations, the County is required to place a final cover
on closed landfill areas, and to perform certain monitoring and maintenance functions for a period of up to
30 years after closure. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Land-
fill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs, the County is recognizing these costs of closure and postclosure main-
tenance over the active life of each landfill area, based on landfill capacity used during the period. Required
obligations for these costs are recognized in the governmental activities for internal landfill operations and
in the Solid Waste System enterprise fund for public landfill operations.

Accretion of Original Issue Discount on Bonds

.49 The original issue discount on compound interest bonds is being accreted to maturity using the
interest method.

Obligation for Bond Arbitrage Rebate

.50 Pursuant to Section 148(f) of the U. S. Internal Revenue Code, the County must rebate to the United
States Government the excess of interest earned from the investment of certain debt proceeds and pledged
revenues over the yield rate of the applicable debt. Arbitrage rebate, if any, is due and payable on each 5
year anniversary of the respective debt issue. As of September 30, 2009, the County had no outstanding
arbitrage rebate liability.

Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

.51 The proprietary fund financial statements distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nono-
perating items. Operating revenues and expenses are those that result from providing services associated
with the principal activities of the respective fund. Primary examples of operating revenues are charges for
hall and room rentals of the Convention Center, landfill tipping fees of the Solid Waste System, and charges
for water and wastewater treatment services of the Water Utilities System. Operating expenses include the
cost of sales and services, administrative costs, and depreciation expense. Nonoperating revenues and ex-
penses are all those that do not meet the criteria described previously, and include interest and tax revenues,
and debt service expenses.

Compensated Absences

.52 It is the policy of the County to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but
unused leave benefits which will be paid to employees upon separation from service. Unpaid compensated
absences are recorded as a liability when the benefits are earned in the proprietary fund financial statements.
For governmental funds, there is no legal requirement to accumulate expendable available financial re-
sources to liquidate the obligation; thus expenditures are recognized in the governmental funds when pay-
ments are made to employees. The valuation of accrued leave benefits is calculated in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences. The liability is typically liquidated with resources of
the same fund that has paid the applicable employee’s regular salaries and fringe benefits. The current
portion of the accrued compensated absences liability is based on the average annual amount of leave
charged over the preceding three years.
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Net Assets

.53 The government-wide statement of net assets reports a total of $767,655,542 of restricted net assets,
of which $260,342,159 is restricted by enabling legislation.

Fund Balance Reserves and Designations

.54 Reserves of fund balances in the governmental fund financial statements represent portions of fund
balance which are not available to be appropriated for expenditures or which have been segregated for
specific future uses. The fund balances reserved in governmental funds at September 30, 2009, are for long-
term notes and loans receivable, inventories, assets held for resale, deposits and prepaid costs, advances to
other funds, and debt service reserves. Designations of fund balances of governmental funds represent ten-
tative plans for financial resources utilization in a future period. Such designations are subject to change
and may never be legally authorized for expenditure or result in expenditures.

Details of unreserved fund balances of governmental funds are as follows:

Designated for Subsequent
Year’s Expenditures Undesignated

Total Unreserved
Fund Balances

General Fund $140,370,723 $ — $140,370,723
Fire Protection MSTU 64,600,389 — 64,600,389
Sales Tax Trust 82,675,884 — 82,675,884
Nonmajor special revenue funds 486,160,000 7,288,157 493,448,157
Nonmajor debt service funds 35,911,444 — 35,911,444
Nonmajor capital projects funds 6,428,745 — 6,428,745

Totals $816,147,185 $7,288,157 $823,435,342

Bond Amortization Costs

.55 In the government-wide and the proprietary fund financial statements, bond premium, discount,
and issuance costs are amortized over the life of the bonds using the interest method. Some of these costs
are capitalized as noted previously. Also, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 23, Accounting and Finan-
cial Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities, the difference between the reacquisition
price and the net carrying amount of refunded debt is being amortized over the shorter of the life of the old
debt or the life of the new debt using the interest method. Amortization of bond issuance costs which are
not capitalized are recorded as a nonoperating expense, and amortization of bond discount and the deferred
amounts on refundings which are not capitalized are recorded as components of interest expense.

Indirect Expenses Allocation

.56 General administrative overhead costs are charged to all County functions, based on the proportion-
ate benefit to each function, as determined through the County’s annually-prepared cost allocation plan.
These indirect expenses are identified in a separate column on the government-wide statement of activities.

Property Tax Revenues

.57 Ad valorem property taxes levied in September 2009 are for the purpose of financing the budget of
the 2010 fiscal year. Property tax revenues recognized for the 2009 fiscal year were levied in September 2008.
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Virtually all unpaid taxes are collected via the sale of tax certificates prior to fiscal year end; thus there is no
receivable reported for property taxes in the financial statements.

Key dates in the property tax cycle are as follows:

Revenues for fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009

Lien date January 1, 2008
Assessment roll certified August 26, 2008
Property taxes levied September 18, 2008
Beginning of fiscal year for which taxes

have been levied October 1, 2008
Tax bills rendered November 1, 2008
Property taxes payable:

Maximum discount (latest date) November 30, 2008
Delinquent April 1, 2009

Tax certificates sold on unpaid taxes May 29, 2009

Use of Estimates

.58 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities as of the financial statement date and the reported amounts of revenues and ex-
penses or expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

B. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Primary Government

.59 As of September 30, 2009, the carrying value of the County’s deposits and investments, other than
that of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds, with their respective Standard & Poor’s credit ratings, was as
follows:

Investment Type Fair Value Credit Rating

Demand and time deposits $200,448,869 NA
Florida Prime 18,784 AAAm
Money market mutual funds 220,028,065 AAAm
Repurchase agreements 1,844,749 Unrated
U.S. Treasury Bills 590,964,250 NA
U.S. Treasury Notes 501,253,780 NA

Total deposits and investments $1,514,558,497

Credit Risk

.60 The Board’s Investment Policy (Policy), as well as the separate investment policies of the constitu-
tional officers, limits credit risk by restricting authorized investments to the following: direct obligations of
the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities, direct obligations of states and municipalities, repur-
chase agreements comprised of direct obligations of the U.S. Government or its instrumentalities, the Florida
Prime Fund administered by Florida’s State Board of Administration (a 2a7-like pool), commercial paper,
bankers’ acceptances, and money market mutual funds. The Policy requires that investments in federal in-
strumentality debt be guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government sponsored agency, and
that investments in money market mutual funds have a Standard & Poor’s rating of AAAm or AAAg, and
limits eligible money market mutual funds to those comprised of direct obligations of the U.S. Government.
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For arbitrage compliance only, money market mutual funds may be comprised of state and local govern-
ment taxable and tax-exempt debt.

Concentration of Credit Risk

.61 The Policy establishes limitations on portfolio composition, both by investment type and by issuer,
in order to control concentration of credit risk. The Policy provides that a maximum of 15 percent of the
portfolio may be invested in prime commercial paper, with a limit of 2.5 percent in any one issuer. As of
September 30, 2009, there are no concentrations of credit risk beyond the stated policy.

Custodial Credit Risk

.62 The Policy requires that bank deposits be secured as provided by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. This
law requires local governments to deposit funds only in financial institutions designated as qualified public
depositories by the Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida, and creates the Public Deposits Trust Fund,
a multiple financial institution pool with the ability to assess its member financial institutions for collateral
shortfalls if a default or insolvency has occurred. At September 30, 2009, all of the County’s bank deposits
were in qualified public depositories.

The Policy requires execution of a third-party custodial safekeeping agreement for all purchased securities,
and requires that securities be held in the County’s name. As of September 30, 2009, all of the County’s
investments are held in a bank’s trust department in the County’s name.

Interest Rate Risk

.63 The Policy limits the investment of current operating funds to 13 months, and the investment of
noncurrent operating funds to 60 months. Bond reserves, construction funds, and other nonoperating funds
may be invested for up to 10 years, subject to bond covenants and liquidity needs.

As of September 30, 2009, the County’s investments have the following weighted average maturities by
investment type: U.S. Treasury Notes—20.4 months; U.S. Treasury Bills—4.0 months; money market mutual
funds—not more than 90 days.

Durham County Library District Defined Benefit Pension Plan

.64 Investments in the Plan are managed in accordance with an Investment Policy Statement (State-
ment). This Statement sets the following allocations: 40 percent for domestic equity securities, 25 percent for
foreign equity securities and 35 percent for fixed income and cash securities. The Statement authorizes in-
vestments in domestic equities, mutual funds, stable value accounts, money market funds, corporate bonds,
real estate investment trusts, exchange traded funds, commingled funds, and cash equivalent accounts.

The Statement states that the average credit quality of the fixed income portfolio shall be AA- or higher and
the average rating of the mortgage portion of the portfolio must hold a credit rating of at least AA. As a
means of limiting its exposure to interest rate risk, the Statement states that the average duration of the fixed
income portfolio shall be less than 150 percent of the duration of the Barclays Capital aggregate Bond Index.

In addition to $16,565,976 in mutual funds investing in equity securities, Defined Benefit Pension Plan in-
vestments were as follows at September 30, 2009:

Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Fidelity Institutional Domestic Money Market AAAm 56 days $199,756
Comingled Account Corporate Bonds BBB1 5.7 2,491,863

(continued)
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Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Comingled Account Government
Bonds AAA 5.1 8,416,361

Comingled Account Asset Backed
Securities AAA 3.3 1,527,055

Dreyfus Treasury & Agency
Cash Management Money Market AAAm 50 days 1,037,491

$13,672,526

Due to the nature of the District’s investments, there is no exposure to custodial credit risk, concentration of
credit risk or foreign currency risk.

Durham County Library District Defined Contribution Pension Plan

.65 Participants in the Defined Contribution Pension Plan, including all District employees, self-direct
investments from a variety of mutual funds. Accordingly, the District has not adopted an investment policy
for this Plan. Defined Contribution Pension Plan investments, other than $9,017,968 in mutual funds invest-
ing in equity securities, were as follows at September 30, 2009:

Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Cash Management Fund Money Market A1 48 days $21,771
Plus Fund Stable Value Aa2 2.9 1,189,830
PIMCO High Yield Fund Fixed Income BA- 7.7 27,313
PIMCO Total Return Fund Fixed Income AA 4.5 132,949
Core Bond Index Fund Fixed Income AAA 5.8 2,133,088
Low Duration Bond Fund Fixed Income AA 2.4 690,078

$4,195,029

Durham County Library District Money Purchase Plan

.66 Participants in this Plan self-direct investments from a variety of mutual funds offered through the
ICMA Retirement Corporation. Accordingly, the District has not adopted an investment polity for this Plan.
Money Purchase Pension Plan investments, other than $658,489 in mutual funds investing in equity securi-
ties, were as follows at September 30, 2009:

Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Plus Fund Stable Value Aa2 2.9 $144,218

PIMCO High Yield Fund Fixed Income BA- 7.7 234
PIMCO Total Return Fund Fixed Income AA 4.5 278
Core Bond Index Fund Fixed Income AAA 5.8 95,840
Low Duration Bond Fund Fixed Income AA 2.4 8,488

Total Fixed $104,840

Cash Management Fund Money Market A1 48 days $4,190
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Durham County Library District OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan

.67 There is no formal investment Policy Statement for the OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan. The
Plan is completely funded by the District. The allocation for these funds is 75 percent equity index mutual
funds and 25 percent fixed income. The OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan investments, other than
$27,957 of uninvested cash deposits and $2,382,822 in mutual funds investing in equity securities, were as
follows at September 30, 2009:

Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Core Bond Index Fund Fixed Income AAA 5.8 $596,551
Low Duration Bond Fund Fixed Income AA 2.4 389,253

Total Fixed $985,804

Due to the nature of the District’s investments, there is no exposure to custodial credit risk, concentration of
credit risk or foreign currency risk.

Durham County OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan

.68 Investments in the Durham County OPEB Trust are managed in accordance with the Trustee’s Re-
tiree Health Care Benefit Trust Investment Policy. The OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan investments,
other than $100,084 of uninvested cash deposits and $13,614,144 in index funds investing in equity securities,
were as follows at September 30, 2009:

Fund/Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating
Weighted Average
Maturity (years) Fair Value

Prime Money Market Fund Money Market Aa1 .90 days $593,496
Bond Market Index Fund Fixed Income AAA 6.5 6,945,067

Total Fixed $7,538,563

Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts OPEB Retirement Health Benefit Plan

.69 Cash and cash equivalents of the Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts OPEB Trust are managed
in accordance with Florida Statutes. As of September 30, 2009, $300,303 was deposited in an interest bearing
checking account.
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Component Unit

.70 As of September 30, 2009, the Durham County Housing Finance Authority (Authority) had the fol-
lowing deposits and investments:

Investment Type
S & P Credit

Rating

Weighted
Average

Maturity (years) Fair Value

Bank deposits NA NA $842,791

U.S. Treasuries NA , 90 days 1,983,919

U.S. governmental agencies NA 10–15 2,081,405
U.S. governmental agencies NA 16–20 2,164,879
U.S. governmental agencies NA 21–25 31,117,189
U.S. governmental agencies NA 26–30 19,414,841

54,778,314

Government National Mortgage Association AAA 16–20 10,369,892

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. AAA 25–30 9,912,163

Federal National Mortgage Association AAA 10–15 103,313
Federal National Mortgage Association AAA 16–20 1,384,609
Federal National Mortgage Association AAA 21–30 41,037,652

42,525,574

Guaranteed investment contracts AAA 16–20 1,901,208
Guaranteed investment contracts AA 21–25 222,522
Guaranteed investment contracts AA 26–30 1,222,065
Guaranteed investment contracts A 21–25 3,059,366

6,405,161

Investment agreements AAA 16–20 122,708
Investment agreements AAA 21–25 556,186
Investment agreements BBB 26–30 1,628,779
Investment agreements B 21–25 753,546
Investment agreements B 31–35 578,489

3,639,708

Mutual funds AAAm , 90 days 22,908,130
Mutual funds NA , 90 days 1,685,776

24,593,906

Notes Unrated 16–20 265,000

Less: Deferred commitment fees NA NA (455,040)

Total deposits and investments $154,861,388

Certain of the Authority’s investments are subject to credit risk and interest rate risk considerations, as
defined by GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures—an amendment of GASB Statement
No. 3. Credit risk quality, identified with Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s ratings, and interest rate risk, as
identified by weighted average maturities, are provided in the preceding table. Deposits and investments
not exposed to credit quality risk, as defined by GASB Statement No. 40, are designated as "NA" in the
credit rating column. Deposits and investment line items to which weighted average maturity disclosure is
not required by GASB Statement No. 40, are designated as "NA" in the weighted average maturity column.

At September 30, 2009, all of the Authority’s bank deposits were in qualified public depositories, as provided
by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.
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The Authority manages credit quality risk in its operating fund by limiting investments authorized to direct
obligations of the United States of America or any agency thereof, federal instrumentalities, interest-bearing
time or demand deposits with any qualified depository institution, and money market mutual funds regis-
tered under the Federal Investment Company Act of 1940 and with credit quality ratings equivalent to or
better than Standard & Poor’s ratings of AAAm or the equivalent by another rating agency.

The operating fund investment policy limits maturities of direct obligations of the United States of America,
any agency thereof, and federal instrumentalities to 2 years from the date of purchase, limits investments in
money market funds to those with weighted average maturities of 90 days or less, and limits maturities of
certificate of deposit to 1 year.

Credit quality ratings and weighted average maturities permitted for multifamily and single-family invest-
ments are based on policies provided in respective trust indentures, which vary among projects. Such in-
vestments are made at the direction of trustees based on the underlying trust indenture policies.

C. CAPITAL ASSETS

.71 During the year ended September 30, 2009, the following changes in capital assets occurred:

Balance 10/1/2008 Additions Reductions Balance 9/30/2009

Governmental activities:

Capital assets, not being
depreciated:

Land $1,006,777,340 $28,898,184 $(10,692,340) $1,024,983,184
Construction in progress 249,827,723 92,666,471 (44,114,908) 298,379,286

Total capital assets, not being
depreciated 1,256,605,063 121,564,655 (54,807,248) 1,323,362,470

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 724,124,364 21,083,543 (5,312,807) 739,895,100
Infrastructure 1,947,971,953 46,433,113 (7,297,416) 1,987,107,650
Machinery and equipment 354,325,708 28,018,090 (21,169,495) 361,174,303

Total capital assets, being
depreciated 3,026,422,025 95,534,746 (33,779,718) 3,088,177,053

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (180,762,764) (16,652,021) 2,581,540 (194,833,245)
Infrastructure (585,374,913) (37,524,549) 515,041 (622,384,421)
Machinery and equipment (243,750,070) (31,256,454) 19,963,030 (255,043,494)

Total accumulated depreciation (1,009,887,747) (85,433,024) 23,059,611 (1,072,261,160)

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 2,016,534,278 10,101,722 (10,720,107) 2,015,915,893

Governmental activities capital
assets, net $3,273,139,341 $131,666,377 $(65,527,355) $3,339,278,363

(continued)
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Balance 10/1/2008 Additions Reductions Balance 9/30/2009

Business-type activities:

Capital assets, not being
depreciated:

Land $228,782,151 $1,657,934 $ — $230,440,085
Construction in progress 207,266,633 103,034,202 (67,010,362) 243,290,473

Total capital assets, not being
depreciated 436,048,784 104,692,136 (67,010,362) 473,730,558

Capital assets, being depreciated/
amortized:

Buildings 1,359,143,054 2,132,716 — 1,361,275,770
Improvements other than

buildings 1,316,887,425 70,686,838 (3,726,462) 1,383,847,801
Machinery and equipment 103,374,873 7,222,071 (5,127,116) 105,469,828
Intangibles 22,689,043 4,282,094 — 26,971,137

Total capital assets, being
depreciated/amortized 2,802,094,395 84,323,719 (8,853,578) 2,877,564,536

Less accumulated depreciation/
amortization for:

Buildings (274,247,917) (29,235,803) — (303,483,720)
Improvements other than

buildings (599,937,141) (58,021,615) 2,067,729 (655,891,027)
Machinery and equipment (66,806,918) (8,444,285) 5,172,906 (70,078,297)
Intangibles (9,559,540) (752,686) — (10,312,226)

Total accumulated depreciation/
amortization (950,551,516) (96,454,389) 7,240,635 (1,039,765,270)

Total capital assets, being
depreciated/amortized, net 1,851,542,879 (12,130,670) (1,612,943) 1,837,799,266

Business-type activities capital
assets, net $2,287,591,663 $92,561,466 $(68,623,305) $2,311,529,824

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows:

Governmental activities:
General government $14,258,642
Public safety 25,417,350
Physical environment 1,257,472
Transportation 33,547,498
Economic environment 584,340
Human services 1,849,169
Culture and recreation 8,518,553

Total depreciation expense—governmental activities $85,433,024

Business-type activities:
Convention Center $31,000,875
Solid Waste System 8,633,362
Water Utilities System 56,820,152

Total depreciation expense—business-type activities $96,454,389
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D. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE COVERAGE

Risk Management Program

.72 The County maintains the Risk Management internal service fund which reports the costs and ben-
efits of a mutual risk management, loss prevention, and self-insurance program for property, liability, and
workers’ compensation losses. The self-insurance program covers the operations of the Board and the con-
stitutional officers with the exception of the Sheriff. Effective on October 1, 1996, the Sheriff’s Office with-
drew from the County’s self-insurance program, and assumed responsibility for general liability, automo-
bile, and workers’ compensation losses related to its operations.

The Risk Management fund covers claims on losses up to the following limits:

Amount Per
Occurrence Type of Coverage

$2,000,000 Workers’ Compensation
1,000,000 Public Liability

500,000 Property, including Terrorism
2% of unit

value Named Windstorm
250,000 Environmental Liability

50,000 Money and Securities Theft
50,000 Employee Fidelity
50,000 Boiler and Machinery Breakdown
50,000 Storage Tank Liability

The County has excess insurance coverage in place for instances where losses exceed the preceding stated
limits. For occurrences during the period October 1985 through September 1999, no excess coverage for
public liability insurance was obtained due to poor conditions in the insurance market. Any public liability
loss for that period which exceeds the self-insurance coverage limit will remain the responsibility of the
respective participant.

With regard to insurance coverage for the Sheriff’s Office, all general liability and automobile claims in-
curred subsequent to September 30, 1996, except for Fiscal Year 2000 claims covered by a commercial insur-
ance carrier, are covered by the Florida Sheriff’s Self-Insurance Fund, a risk management pool to which risk
is transferred in exchange for annual premium payments. These payments are accounted for as General
Fund expenditures. Sheriff’s Office workers’ compensation claims since October 1, 1999, are covered by
commercial insurance carriers, subject to a $250,000 per claim deductible. Effective October 1, 2004, the Sher-
iff became self-insured for workers’ compensation, subject to the same $400,000 deductible. The Sheriff has
been self-insured for health claims since October 1, 2003. The worker’s compensation and health insurance
liabilities described here are accounted for through internal service funds. In addition to certain bank de-
posits administered by the Sheriff’s third party administrators, the Sheriff has an unused $1,641,966 letter of
credit outstanding to secure payment for workers’ compensation claims incurred since October 1, 1999.
There have been no claims made against the letter of credit.

There have been no claim settlements in excess of insurance coverage during the 3 fiscal years ended Sep-
tember 30, 2009. Coverage limits for flood and earthquake damages, damages from named windstorms, and
damages from other wind or hail events, are set at $50 million, $100 million, and $250 million, respectively.

The claims liability reported in the Risk Management, Sheriff Health Insurance and Sheriff Workers’ Com-
pensation internal service funds at September 30, 2009 and 2008, in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement No. 10, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues, is
based on an actuarial review of claims pending and past experience. The liability is recorded on a present
value basis, excluding nonincremental claims adjustment expenses and using a discount factor of 3.5 per-
cent. The undiscounted liability as of September 30, 2009, is $54,367,000. Changes in the funds’ claims liabil-
ity amount during fiscal years 2009 and 2008 were:
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Year ended September 30
2009 2008

Liability beginning balance $50,426,875 $49,800,276
Claims and changes in

estimates 31,511,537 32,860,297
Claim payments (30,981,211) (32,233,698)

Liability ending balance $50,957,201 $50,426,875

Self-Insurance—Employee Medical Benefits

.73 Effective January 1, 2007, the County converted from a fully-insured to a self-insured plan for em-
ployee medical benefits. The plan covers all regular employees and certain retirees and former employees
of the County and their eligible dependents. Pursuant to interlocal agreements, all of the constitutional of-
ficers except for the Sheriff, as well as seven other small local governmental agencies, are participating in
the County’s plan. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 10, the plan is accounted for through the
County’s Employee Benefits internal service fund.

The self-insurance plan covers claims up to $450,000 per individual per year. The County has purchased an
insurance policy to cover claims in excess of this amount, up to a maximum of $1 million during the lifetime
of a covered individual.

The claims liability of $6,292,612 reported in the Employee Benefits internal service fund is the actuarially
determined undiscounted amount. The change in the fund’s claims liability amount during fiscal years 2009
and 2008 was:

Year ended September 30
2009 2008

Liability beginning balance $7,114,167 $6,330,788
Claims incurred 78,854,789 71,757,494
Claim payments (79,676,344) (70,974,115)

Liability ending balance $6,292,612 $7,114,167

Durham County Library District Self-Insurance for Employee Medical Benefits

.74 Effective January 1, 2007, the District converted from a fully-insured to a self-insured plan for em-
ployee medical benefits. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 10, the plan is accounted in a District
internal service fund.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2009, the self-insured plan covered claims up to $100,000 per
individual. The District purchased excess stop loss coverage on an individual basis where losses exceed the
$100,000 limit.

The claims liability of $98,172 reported in the District internal service fund is the actuarially determined
undiscounted amount. The change in the fund’s claims liability amount during fiscal years 2009 and 2008
was:

Year ended September 30
2009 2008

Liability beginning balance $88,505 $102,256
Claims incurred 1,572,209 1,256,504
Claim payments (1,562,542) (1,270,255)

Liability ending balance $98,172 $88,505
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E. RETIREMENT SYSTEMS

Florida Retirement System

.75 Plan description. Except for employees of the Library District, all of the employees of the primary
government participate in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), administered by the Florida Department of
Management Services. Employees elect participation in either the defined benefit plan ("Pension Plan"), a
multiple-employer cost-sharing defined benefit retirement plan, or the defined contribution plan ("Invest-
ment Plan") under the FRS. As a general rule, membership in the FRS is compulsory for all employees
working in a regularly established position for a state agency, county government, district school board,
state university, community college, or a participating city or special district within the State of Florida. The
FRS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan
members and beneficiaries. Benefits are established by Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 60S, Flor-
ida Administrative Code. Amendments to the law can be made only by an act of the Florida Legislature.

Benefits under the Pension Plan are computed on the basis of age, average final compensation, and service
credit. Regular class employees who retire at or after age 62 with at least 6 years of credited service or 30
years of service regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal to 1.6
percent of their final average compensation for each year of credited service. Vested employees with less
than 30 years of service may retire before age 62 and receive reduced retirement benefits. Special Risk class
employees (sworn law enforcement officers, firefighters, and correctional officers) who retire at or after age
55 with at least 6 years of credited service, or with 25 years of service regardless of age, are entitled to a
retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal to 3.0 percent of their final average compensation for each
year of credited service.

Senior Management Service class employees who retire at or after age 62 with at least 6 years of credited
service or 30 years of service regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life,
equal to 2.0 percent of their final average compensation for each year of credited service. Elected Officers’
class employees who retire at or after age 62 with at least 6 years of credited service or 30 years of service
regardless of age are entitled to a retirement benefit payable monthly for life, equal to 3.0 percent (3.33
percent for judges and justices) of their final average compensation for each year of credited service. A
postemployment health insurance subsidy is also provided to eligible retired employees through the FRS in
accordance with Florida Statutes.

In addition to the preceding benefits, the FRS administers a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP).
This program allows eligible employees to defer receipt of monthly retirement benefit payments while con-
tinuing employment with a FRS employer for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate.
Deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest.

For those employees who elect participation in the Investment Plan rather than the Pension Plan, vesting
occurs at one year of service. These participants receive a contribution for self-direction in an investment
product with a third party administrator selected by the State Board of Administration.

The State of Florida annually issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the FRS. The latest available report may be obtained by writing
to the State of Florida Division of Retirement.

Funding policy. The FRS is noncontributory for members. Governmental employers are required to make
contributions to the FRS based on state-wide contribution rates. The contribution rates by job class at Sep-
tember 30, 2009 were as follows: regular—9.85 percent; special risk—20.92 percent; special risk administra-
tive support—12.55 percent; county elected officers—16.53 percent; senior management—13.12 percent; and
DROP participants—10.91 percent.

The County contributed to the plan an amount equal to 14.01 percent of covered payroll during the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2009. County contributions to the FRS for the fiscal years ending September 30,
2007 through 2009 were $66,422,235, $69,807,926 and $70,816,221, respectively, which were equal to the re-
quired contributions for each fiscal year. The County has historically contributed amounts equal to required
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contributions and, therefore, does not have a pension asset or liability as determined in accordance with
GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers.

Durham County Library District Defined Benefit Pension Plan

.76 Plan description. The Durham County Library District (District) administers a single-employer de-
fined benefit pension plan (Defined Benefit Pension Plan for Employees of the Durham County Library
District) covering full-time employees hired before January 1, 2007.

The retirement plan provides retirement benefits as well as death benefits. Plan provisions and contribution
requirements are established and outlined in the plan document and may be amended by the Durham
County Library Board of Trustees. Separate, stand-alone financial statements for the defined benefit pension
plan are not prepared.

At January 1, 2009, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, plan participation consisted of:

Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 82
Terminated employees entitled to benefits

but not yet receiving them 42
Current active employees 188

Total 312

Funding policy. The District is obligated by the plan document to make periodic contributions to the plan
which are recognized in the period that the contributions are due and the employer has made a final com-
mitment to provide the contributions.

The required contributions are actuarially determined and include normal costs. Employer contribution
rates are determined using the frozen entry age actuarial cost method. The annual required contribution
(ARC) is calculated as the normal cost plus the amount necessary to fully amortize the unfunded frozen
actuarial liability by January 1, 2018, amounting to $1,844,299 or 24 percent of covered payroll for the year
ended September 30, 2009. Employees do not make contributions to the plan. The Schedule of Employer
Contributions, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial state-
ments, presents multiyear information about the contributions made by the District for the last 6 years.

Benefits and refunds paid to participants are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms
of the plan document. Administrative expenses are financed through investment earnings.

The following table shows the components of the Plan’s annual cost, the amount actually contributed, and
the changes in the Net Pension Asset (contributions in excess of requirements) as of September 30, 2009.

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $1,844,299
Interest on net pension asset (13,928)
Adjustment to ARC 17,240

Annual pension cost 1,847,611
Contributions made (1,200,648)

Decrease in net pension asset (contribution in excess of
ARC) 646,963

Net pension asset (cumulative net contribution in excess
of ARC)—beginning of year (198,966)

Net pension obligation—end of year $447,997
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Three Year Trend Information

.77

Year Ended
September 30

Annual Pension
Cost (APC) APC Contributed

Net Pension
(Asset)

Obligation

2007 $1,221,554 87% $(129,190)
2008 $933,136 107% $(198,966)
2009 $1,847,611 65% $447,997

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 27, the $447,997 cumulative net pension obligation is combined
with the County’s Other Post-Employment Benefits and is presented as an asset on the County’s entity-wide
Statement of Net Assets.

Funded Status and Funding Progress

.78 The most recent actuarial report for the Plan was prepared as of January 1, 2009. As of that point in
time, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $31,872,193 and the actuarial value of investments was
$23,147,672, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $8,724,521 and a funded ratio of 73 per-
cent. The annual covered payroll was $7,612,281 and the ratio of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability to
covered payroll was 115 percent.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment and mortality trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the
annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are com-
pared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The Schedule of Funding Pro-
gress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or de-
creasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

.79 Following is a summary of the actuarial methods and significant actuarial assumptions used in the
latest actuarial valuation, dated January 1, 2009. Plan changes, reflected in the current year’s actuarial meth-
ods and assumptions include the application of a cost of living adjustment.

Actuarial methods:
Actuarial cost method Frozen Entry Age
Asset valuation method Market Value
Amortization method Level Percent
Amortization period (open) 10 years

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment return, including inflation 7.0%
Projected salary increases 5.0%
Inflation rate 0.0%
Cost-of-living adjustment 2.0% per annum
Mortality table 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table

Durham County Library District Money Purchase Pension Plan

.80 The District administers a single employer defined contribution plan (Money Purchase Plan and
Trust for Employees of the Durham County Library District) (the Money Purchase Plan) for full time em-
ployees hired on or after January 1, 2007. In addition to new hires, existing participants in the District’s
Defined Benefit Pension Plan were given a one time opportunity to freeze their benefits in that plan and
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begin participating in the Money Purchase Plan. Sixty-six participants in the Defined Benefit Pension Plan
made this election in May 2007.

Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and outlined in the Money Purchase Plan
document, which may be amended by the District’s Board of Trustees. Separate, stand-alone financial state-
ments for the Money Purchase Plan are not prepared.

Employees are eligible to participate in the Money Purchase Plan from date of hire. At September 30, 2009,
there were 105 participants and the fair value of the Money Purchase Plan investments was $911,737.

The District is obligated by the Money Purchase Plan document to make contributions equal to 9 percent of
Annual Compensation of each member. For the year ended September 30, 2009, the District contributed
$381,867 to the Money Purchase Plan. Such contributions from the District are recognized as revenue by the
Money Purchase Plan when due and when the employer has made a final commitment to provide contri-
butions. Participants become fully vested in the District’s contributions after one year from date of hire.
Benefits paid to participants are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Money
Purchase Plan document. Administrative costs are financed through investment earnings.

Durham County Library District Defined Contribution Pension Plan

.81 The District administers a single-employer defined contribution pension plan (Defined Contribution
Plan and Trust for Employees of Durham County Library District) in lieu of participation in Social Security.
Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the Durham County
Library Board of Trustees. Separate, stand-alone financial statements for the defined contribution plan are
not prepared.

All employees are eligible to participate in the plan at date of hire. At September 30, 2009, there were 417
plan participants, the fair value of the plan investments was $13,212,997. The District is obligated by the
plan document to make a contribution equal to at least 7.5 percent of the annual compensation of each
member of the plan. There is no requirement for employees to contribute. For the year ended September 30,
2009, the District contributed $1,127,346 to the plan. Contributions from the District are recognized as reve-
nue to the plan when due and the employer has made a final commitment to provide the contribution. The
amount credited to the contribution account of an employee shall be 100 percent vested at all times. Benefits
paid to participants are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan document.
Administrative costs are financed through investment earnings.

F. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION

BENEFITS

Durham County Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

.82 Plan description. The Board and all constitutional officers, except for the Clerk of the Circuit and
County Courts, administer a single-employer defined other postemployment benefit plan (OPEB Plan) and
can amend the benefit provisions. In accordance with its Personnel Policies and Collective Bargaining Agree-
ments, the Board offers an OPEB Plan that subsidizes the cost of health care for its retirees and eligible
dependents. Board employees with at least 10 years of combined service under the Board or the Comptroller,
or both, Property Appraiser, Sheriff, Supervisor of Elections, or Tax Collector who retire and immediately
begin receiving benefits from the FRS are eligible to receive a monthly health care subsidy payment of 3
dollars per year of service up to a maximum of $90 per month. If combined service is at least 20 years and
receipt of FRS benefits is deferred to a later date, this monthly benefit may be vested for commencement at
such deferral date. Additionally, in accordance with State statute, Board employees who retire and imme-
diately begin receiving benefits from the FRS have the option of continuing in the County health insurance
plan at the same group rate as for active employees. Benefit provisions for the County Comptroller and
Supervisor of Elections are essentially the same as the Board. Benefit provisions for the Sheriff, Property
Appraiser (if employed prior to October 1, 2005) and Tax Collector differ in that the monthly health care
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subsidy payment is 5 dollars per year of service up to a maximum of $150 per month. Also, there are
differences in the service reciprocity and vesting features of their respective plans.

In September 2007, the County established the Durham County Health Care Benefit Trust (Trust), a quali-
fying trust, and began funding its OPEB Plan obligation. The Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts was
excluded from participation in the Trust, and benefit provisions of constitutional officers that exceed those
of the Board are excluded from the Trust. Separate stand-alone financial statements for the Trust are not
prepared.

At September 30, 2009, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, plan participation consisted of:

OPEB plan participants 9,512
Retirees receiving benefits 1,506

Funding policy. The County has the authority to establish and amend funding policy. For the year ended
September 30, 2009, the County contributed $12,482,327 to the OPEB Plan, including a contribution of
$8,291,980 to the Trust. It is the County’s intent to base future Trust contributions on the ARC in subsequent
annual actuarial reports; however, no Trust contributions are legally or contractually required.

Annual OPEB cost and net OPEB asset. The annual cost of the County’s OPEB Plan is calculated based on the
ARC, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45, Ac-
counting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The ARC rep-
resents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each year
and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability over a period not to exceed 30 years. The following table
shows the components of the County’s annual OPEB Plan cost for the year, the amount actually contributed,
and the changes in the net OPEB Plan obligation.

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $8,346,141
Interest on net OPEB Asset (74,162)
Adjustment to ARC —

Annual OPEB cost 8,271,979
Contributions made (12,482,327)

Increase in net OPEB asset (contribution
in excess of ARC) (4,210,348)

Net OPEB asset (cumulative net
contribution in excess of ARC)—beginning
of year (3,665,511)

Net OPEB asset (cumulative net
contribution in excess of ARC)—end of
year $(7,875,859)

Three Year Trend Information

.83

Year Ended
September 30

Annual OPEB
Cost

Annual OPEB
Cost Contributed Net OPEB Asset

2007 $7,616,400 126% ($1,983,801)
2008 $8,122,607 120% ($3,665,511)
2009 $8,271,979 151% ($7,875,859)

Funded status and funding progress. As of the September 30, 2009 actuarial valuation date, the OPEB Plan was
21.6 percent funded, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $98.5 million, and the actuarial value of
assets was $21.2 million, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $77.3 million. The
annual covered payroll was $486.5 million, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 15.9
percent. The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as required supplementary information following the
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notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of
the plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial methods and assumptions. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of
reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Exam-
ples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts de-
termined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are
made about the future.

Calculations for financial reporting purposes are based on the benefits provided under terms of the substan-
tive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) in effect at the time of each
valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of
legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan mem-
bers in the future. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective,
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.

The actuarial methods are:

Actuarial cost method Entry Age cost method
Amortization method Level percent of payroll projected to grow

3.5% per year
Amortization period (closed) 30 years
Asset valuation method Fair value

The actuarial assumptions are:

Investment rate of return 7.5%
Projected annual salaries increase 4.5%
Inflation rate Included in healthcare cost trend
Healthcare cost trend rate 9.5% for the 2009 fiscal year grading to an

ultimate rate of 5.5% for the 2014 fiscal year

Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

.84 Plan description. The Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts (Clerk) administers a single-employer
defined other postemployment benefit plan (OPEB Plan) that subsidizes the cost of health care for its retirees
and eligible dependents. Retirees with at least 10 years of service under the Clerk who are receiving benefits
from the FRS are eligible to receive a monthly benefit of 5 dollars per year of service up to a maximum of
$150 per month. Additionally, in accordance with State Statute, Clerk employees who retire and immedi-
ately begin receiving benefits from the FRS have the option of continuing in the County health insurance
plan at the same group rate as for active employees.

In June 2009, the Clerk established the Durham County Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts Retiree
Health Insurance Subsidy Trust ("Trust"), a qualifying trust, and began funding its OPEB Plan obligation.
Separate stand-alone financial statements for the Trust are not prepared.

At September 30, 2008, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, plan participation consisted of:

OPEB plan participants 605
Retirees receiving

benefits 88

Funding policy. The Clerk funds its OPEB obligations on a pay-as-you-go basis, and has the authority to
establish and amend its funding policy. However, during fiscal year 2009, the Clerk contributed $414,003,
including $300,000 as a one-time contribution to the Trust to be used to fund current subsidy payments to
participants for the next 2 fiscal years and part of the third upcoming fiscal year.
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Annual OPEB cost and net OPEB obligation. The Clerk engaged an actuarial firm to determine the estimated
obligation associated with OPEB as of September 30, 2009, as well as the ARC for funding this obligation.
Based on this report, including assumptions that the ARC is not fully funded and has an average return on
investment of 3.5 percent, the ARC for the Clerk’s office in fiscal year 2009 was $654,066. The annual cost
(expense) of the OPEB Plan is calculated based on the ARC. The Clerk’s annual OPEB cost, contributions
made, and net OPEB obligation for 2009 are as follows:

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $654,066
Interest on net OPEB Obligation 27,414
Adjustment to ARC (26,109)

Annual OPEB cost 655,371
Contributions made (414,003)

Increase in net OPEB obligation 241,368
Net OPEB obligation—beginning of year 783,262

Net OPEB obligation—end of year $1,024,630

Three Year Trend Information

.85

Year Ended
September 30

Annual OPEB
Cost

Annual OPEB
Cost Contributed

Net OPEB
Obligation

2007 $553,489 30% $387,978
2008 $612,665 35% $783,262
2009 $655,371 63% $1,024,630

The Clerk recognizes OPEB expenditures as amounts are funded.

Funded status and funding progress. The most recent actuarial report for the Clerk’s OPEB Plan was prepared
as of September 30, 2008. At that point in time, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $7,236,488,
which was also the unfunded actuarial accrued liability as the Clerk had not yet begun funding Plan bene-
fits. The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as required supplementary information following the
notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of
the plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial methods and assumptions. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of
reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Exam-
ples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts de-
termined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are
made about the future.

Calculations for financial reporting purposes are based on the benefits provided under terms of the substan-
tive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) in effect at the time of each
valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of
legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan mem-
bers in the future. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective,
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.

The actuarial methods are:

Actuarial cost method Entry Age cost method
Amortization method Level percent of payroll projected to grow 3.5%

per year
Amortization period (closed) 30 years
Asset valuation method Fair value
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The actuarial assumptions are:

Investment rate of return 3.5%
Projected annual salaries increase 4.5%
Inflation rate Included in healthcare cost trend
Healthcare cost trend rate 9.5% for the 2009 fiscal year grading to an

ultimate rate of 5.5% for the 2014 fiscal year

Durham County Library District Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

.86 Plan description. The Durham County Library District (District) administers a single-employer de-
fined other postemployment benefit plan (OPEB Plan) and can amend the benefit provisions. In accordance
with its Employee Handbook and Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA), the District provides health care
insurance coverage and a limited life insurance benefit to those employees who retire under the terms of the
District’s Defined Benefit Pension Plan on or after attaining age 55 with at least 10 years of service.

In accordance with State statute, all retiring employees must be provided access to the District’s group
health insurance coverage. For non-CBA retirees hired prior to January 1, 2007, the District pays the entire
cost of this coverage. Non-CBA retirees hired after this date pay the full cost of the coverage should they
elect this benefit. For CBA retirees hired prior to December 10, 2004, the District pays a fixed reimbursement
with the balance of the cost of the District’s group coverage being paid by the retiree. CBA retirees who
retired before October 10, 2008 also have the option of obtaining independent health coverage and receiving
the fixed reimbursement. Dependents of retirees may be covered at the retirees’ option the same as depend-
ents of active employees (retirees pay the full cost).

Non-CBA retirees are eligible to participate in the District’s dental plan like current employees. There is no
additional subsidy towards the dental insurance for retirees of the CBA and they are required to pay the
entire premium should they elect this benefit. Life insurance in the amount of $1,000 is provided to all
retirees.

In March 2007, the District established a qualifying trust and began funding its OPEB Plan obligation. Sep-
arate stand-alone financial statements for the trust are not prepared.

At January 1, 2008, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, plan participation consisted of:

OPEB plan participants 254
Retirees receiving benefits 77

Funding policy. The District has the authority to establish and amend the funding policy for its OPEB Plan.
For the year ended September 30, 2009, the District contributed $1,124,658, which was the annual required
contribution per the January 1, 2008, actuarial report for the Plan. It is the District’s intent to base future
contributions on the ARC in subsequent actuarial reports.

OPEB Plan member contributions are recognized in the period that they are due. Employer contributions to
the OPEB Plan are recognized as revenue when due and the employer has made a final commitment to
provide the contributions. The Schedule of Employer Contributions presented as required supplementary
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear information about the contri-
butions made by the District for the last 2 years. If CBA plan members elect to participate in the District’s
group health insurance coverage, they are responsible for paying the difference between the cost of this
coverage ($613 per month) and the fixed reimbursement, which varies depending on the retirement date.
All retirees are responsible for contributing the entire cost of any dependent coverage.

Annual OPEB cost and net OPEB obligation. The cost of the District’s OPEB Plan is calculated based on the
ARC, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a
level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each year and am-
ortize any unfunded actuarial liability over a period not to exceed 30 years. The following table shows the
components of the District’s annual OPEB Plan cost for the year, the amount actually contributed, and the
changes in the District’s net OPEB Plan obligation as of September 30, 2009.
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Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $1,124,658
Interest on net OPEB obligation —
Adjustment to ARC —

Annual OPEB cost 1,124,658
Contributions made (1,124,658)

Change in net OPEB obligation —
Net OPEB obligation—beginning of year —

Net OPEB obligation—end of year $ —

Three Year Trend Information

.87

Year Ended
September 30

Annual OPEB
Cost

Annual OPEB
Cost Contributed

Net OPEB
Obligation

2007 $1,624,422 100% $ —
2008 $1,627,892 100% $ —
2009 $1,124,658 100% $ —

Benefits and refunds paid to participants are recorded when due and payable in accordance with the terms
of the OPEB Plan.

Funded status and funding progress. The most recent actuarial report for the District’s OPEB Plan was prepared
as of January 1, 2008. At that point in time, the OPEB Plan was 20.4 percent funded, the actuarial accrued
liability for benefits was $8,707,308 and the actuarial value of investments was $1,774,526, resulting in a
UAAL of $6,932,782. The annual covered payroll was $10,432,375 and the ratio of the UAAL to covered
payroll was 66 percent. The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as required supplementary informa-
tion following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities
for benefits.

Actuarial methods and assumptions. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of
reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Exam-
ples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts de-
termined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are
made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as under-
stood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each
valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to
that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the
effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with
the long-term perspective of the calculations.

Valuation Date January 1, 2008

Actuarial methods:
Actuarial cost method Individual Entry Age Normal Cost

Method
Asset valuation method Market value
Amortization method Level Percent of payroll, closed period
Amortization period (closed) 15 years

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment return, including inflation 7.0%
Projected salary increases 4.0%

(continued)
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Inflation rate Included in healthcare cost trend
Healthcare cost trend rate Monthly medical and prescription

benefits are assumed to increase each
year according to the rates in the
following table

Annual Increase Rates

Year Medical/RX
Gross Premium

Contribution

2009 10.0% 10.0%
2010 9.5% 9.5%
2011 9.0% 9.0%
2012 8.5% 8.5%
2013 8.0% 8.0%
2014 7.5% 7.5%
2015 7.0% 7.0%
2016 6.5% 6.5%
2017 6.0% 6.0%
2018 5.5% 5.5%

Thereafter 5.0% 5.0%
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H. NOTES AND LOANS RECEIVABLE

.89 Notes and loans receivable of the primary government at September 30, 2009, were as follows:

SHIP-Assisted Loan Program notes due from Durham County Housing
Finance Authority dated 1998 through 2002; collateralized by mortgage
notes on property; noninterest bearing; repayment will be made over the life
of the underlying mortgages $1,271,394

Multi-Family Affordable Housing Agreements with Florida Community
Capital Corporation dated 1997 through 2001; secured by an equitable
ownership of the underlying mortgages; noninterest bearing; repayment of
principal is made quarterly over the life of the underlying mortgages, with
final maturities ranging from 2012 to 2038 10,543,929

Total $11,815,323

Notes and loans receivable of the Durham County Housing Finance Authority discretely-presented compo-
nent unit at September 30, 2009, were as follows:

Loans receivable, bond programs—multifamily mortgage loans; collateralized
by first mortgage on the property and either mortgage insurance or
irrevocable letter of credit $407,782,459

Loans receivable, bond programs—single family mortgage loans;
collateralized by second mortgage on the property 990,488

$500,000 promissory note, due November 1, 2009—construction revolving line
of credit 500,000

$78,929 fifth mortgage loan, secured by property, $254 due monthly 76,472
Down payment assistance notes, secured by property, issued 1991 through

1997 548,860
Down payment assistance notes, secured by property, issued 2006 through

2008 2,889,230
Other notes receivable, secured by property, primarily due 2030 1,208,552

413,996,061
Less allowance for losses on notes receivable (836,939)

Total $413,159,122
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J. BONDS PAYABLE

Summary of Bonded Indebtedness

.91 The following is a summary of bonded indebtedness of the primary government as of September 30,
2009:

Amount
Outstanding

Governmental Activities:
Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 1999 $31,285,000
Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A 135,495,000
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B 107,945,000
Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006 42,085,000
Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1992
(excludes $6,451,614 accreted interest on capital appreciation
bonds) 3,265,361

Capital Improvement Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 25,480,000
Public Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 1994A (excludes $19,276,667
accreted interest on capital appreciation bonds) 11,968,803

Public Service Tax Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bonds,
Series 2003 83,425,000

Total Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds $440,949,164

Amount
Outstanding

Business-type Activities:
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1994A $2,975,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998A 121,285,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998B 55,865,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2000 9,325,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002 4,710,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2002A 29,405,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A 16,775,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 237,480,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006 73,280,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2007 139,435,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A 165,015,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 83,405,000
Water Utilities System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 13,850,000

Total Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds $952,805,000
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On October 1, 2008, the System used $19,144,550 of cash on hand to currently refund bonds maturing in
2010, 2011 and 2017, including amounts subject to mandatory redemption, for a total amount of $18,955,000
of outstanding Water Utilities System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 and a call premium in the
amount of $189,550. The amount of debt refunded, net of associated unamortized costs, was $17,532,990.
The excess of the cash amount used for the refunding over the net book value of debt refunded ($1,611,560)
is reported as a nonoperating expense.

On May 7, 2009, the County issued $25,480,000 of Capital Improvement Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series
2009 to refund on a current basis all of the $27,715,000 of outstanding Capital Improvement Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 1998, and to pay expenses of issuance of the Series 2009 Bonds. The current refunding
transaction resulted in a cash flow savings over the next 13 years of $3,587,260, and a net present value debt
service savings of $2,897,233, discounted at 3.1 percent.

On September 1, 2009, the County issued $83,405,000 of Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 2009 to refund on a current basis $43,630,000 of outstanding Tourist Development Tax Refund-
ing Revenue Bonds, Series 1998A maturing on October 1, 2011–2018, and $45,300,000 of outstanding Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998B maturing on October 1, 2011–2018 and to pay expenses of
issuance of the Series 2009 Bonds. As of the closing date, the current refunding transaction resulted in a cash
flow savings of $6,610,401 over the life of the refunded maturities and a net present value debt service
savings of $5,529,980 discounted at 3.4 percent.



270 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,400.93

Summary of Defeased Debt Outstanding

.93 The amount of primary government defeased debt still outstanding and not reported on the balance
sheet as of September 30, 2009, is as follows:

Year(s)
Defeased

Original Amount
Defeased

Defeased
Amount

Outstanding

Water and Sewer Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series
1977 1985 $33,940,000 $1,910,000

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1982 1985 27,915,000 16,745,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1980 1985 34,260,000 15,035,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1985 1985 12,370,000 5,435,000
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1989 1993/1999 56,090,000 14,170,000

Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1990

1994/
1997/
2000 54,975,000 17,045,000

Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 1992A 2000/2002 71,745,000 6,235,000

Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 1994A 2000 16,025,000 6,065,000

Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2000 2005 239,050,000 239,050,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002 2006/2007 206,855,000 206,855,000
Solid Waste Facility Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series

2003 2007 31,760,000 25,870,000
Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds,

Series 1998A 2009 43,630,000 43,630,000
Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998B 2009 45,300,000 45,300,000

Totals $873,915,000 $643,345,000

Summary of Bond Resolutions

.94 The following is a summary of primary government bond resolutions pertaining to debt reflected in
the September 30, 2009, financial statements. Bond covenants of enterprise fund issues require supplemental
disclosures in addition to those mentioned subsequently. The supplemental disclosures are found in the
separate annual financial reports of each enterprise fund.

.95

$37,160,000 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 1999

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: January 1999
Final maturity: Year 2018
Principal payment date: January 1
Interest payment dates: January 1 and July 1
Interest rates: 4.30 percent to 4.875 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for the outstanding Series 1999 bonds,
$8,734,126.
Revenue pledged: All of the Half-cent State Sales Tax accruing to Durham County. The total principal and
interest remaining to be paid on this series is $40,142,822. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on
this series was $2,590,024 and total pledged revenue was $113,182,774.
Purpose: Advance refunding of all outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1989.
Call provisions: Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2010, are subject to redemption prior to their matur-
ity, at the option of the County in whole or in part by lot on any date with no premium.
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.96

$164,960,000 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A, and $113,105,000 Sales Tax Revenue
Bonds, Series 2002B

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: October 2002
Final maturity: Series 2002A—Year 2024; Series 2002B—Year 2032
Principal payment date: January 1
Interest payment date: January 1 and July 1
Interest rates: 3.375 percent to 5.125 percent
Reserve requirement: None, so long as annual pledged revenues exceed 3 times the maximum annual debt
service for all outstanding Sales Tax bonds.
Revenue pledged: All of the Half-cent State Sales Tax accruing to Durham County. The total principal and
interest remaining to be paid on these series is $408,569,217. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid
on this series was $18,016,522 and total pledged revenue was $113,182,774.
Purpose: Series 2002A—current refunding of $36,495,000 Sales Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1993A,
$121,060,000 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1993B, and $14,025,000 Capital Improvement and Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 1992; Series 2002B—to finance design and construction of correctional complex and
other facilities, and to retire $64,536,000 commercial paper notes.
Call provisions: Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2014, are subject to redemption prior to their matur-
ity, at the option of the County in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after January 1, 2013, with no
premium.
Series 2002B term bonds maturing January 1, 2027, 2029, and 2032 are subject to mandatory redemption
prior to maturity in part by lot at no premium in the following principal amounts on the dates specified:

Term bonds maturing January 1, 2027
Date Amount

January 1, 2026 $9,375,000
January 1, 2027 (final maturity) 9,845,000

Term bonds maturing January 1, 2029
Date Amount

January 1, 2028 $10,335,000
January 1, 2029 (final maturity) 14,495,000

Term bonds maturing January 1, 2032
Date Amount

January 1, 2030 $15,185,000
January 1, 2031 15,960,000
January 1, 2032 (final maturity) 16,780,000

.97

$43,585,000 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: January 2006
Final maturity: Year 2028
Principal payment date: January 1
Interest payment dates: January 1 and July 1
Interest rates: 3.50 percent to 4.375 percent
Reserve requirement: None, so long as annual pledged revenues exceed 3 times the maximum annual debt
service for all outstanding Sales Tax bonds.
Revenue pledged: All of the Half-cent State Sales Tax accruing to Durham County. The total principal and
interest remaining to be paid on this series is $60,644,745. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on
these series was $3,212,915 and total pledged revenue was $113,182,774.
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Purpose: Together with certain funds provided by the County, current refunding of all outstanding Sales
Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998.
Call provisions: Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2017, are subject to redemption prior to their matur-
ity, at the option of the County in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after January 1, 2016, with no
premium.

.98

$43,280,361 Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1992

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: December 1992
Final maturity: Year 2013
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment date: October 1—only capital appreciation bonds remain outstanding.
Interest rates: 6.50 percent to 6.65 percent yield
Reserve requirement: None
Revenue pledged: County receipts from the State Revenue Sharing Trust Fund provided by Chapter 218,
Florida Statutes in an amount equal to 50 percent of the revenue received from this source in the immedi-
ately preceding fiscal year. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on this series is $11,135,000.
For the fiscal year, no principal and interest was paid. Total pledged revenue was $14,246,081.
Purpose: Advance refunding of $1,150,000 original principal of Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series 1988A, $14,482,815 original principal of Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 1988B,
$15,000,000 principal of outstanding Commercial Paper Notes, and to finance the cost of stormwater man-
agement projects, public safety facilities, criminal justice structures, and other capital improvement projects
of the County.
Call provisions: Series 1992 bonds that remain outstanding are not subject to redemption prior to their stated
dates of maturity.

.99

$25,480,000 Capital Improvement Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009

Type: General Government Revenue Bonds
Dated: May 2009
Final maturity: Year 2022
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 2.50 percent to 5.25 percent
Reserve requirement: None
Revenue pledged: County receipts from the State Revenue Sharing Trust Fund provided by Chapter 218,
Florida Statutes in an amount equal to 50 percent of the revenue received from this source in the immedi-
ately preceding fiscal year. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on this series is $34,709,278.
For the fiscal year, no principal and interest was paid. Total pledged revenue was $14,246,081.
Purpose: Current refunding of outstanding Capital Improvement Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998.
Call provisions: Series 2009 bonds are not subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to their stated
dates of maturity.

.100

$33,843,803 Public Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 1994A

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: June 1994
Final maturity: Year 2019
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: October 1—only capital appreciation bonds remain outstanding.
Interest rates: 6.25 percent to 6.50 percent yield
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Reserve requirement: The lesser of (1) 125 percent of the average annual debt service, (2) the maximum
annual debt service, or (3) 10 percent of the initial total principal of the bonds, $4,355,000.
Revenue pledged: All of certain non-ad valorem revenues of the County. Among these are state sources of
license revenues, local license and permit fees, local charges for service, and miscellaneous local revenue.
The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on this series is $43,550,000. For the fiscal year, no
principal and interest was paid. Total pledged revenue was $28,045,902.
Purpose: To finance costs of construction and improvements to various County facilities and to redeem
$20,818,000 of commercial paper used for correctional facilities and telecommunication systems.
Call provisions: Series 1994A bonds that remain outstanding are not subject to redemption prior to their
stated dates of maturity.

.101

$117,035,000 Public Service Tax Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2003

Type: Governmental Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: September 2003
Final maturity: Year 2025
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 3.00 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The lesser of (1) 125 percent of average annual debt service, (2) the maximum annual
debt service, or (3) the maximum allowed without subjecting same to yield restriction or causing interest on
the bonds to become taxable, $8,004,697.
Revenue pledged: All of the Public Service Tax levied by the County. The total principal and interest re-
maining to be paid on this series is $107,160,290. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series
was $12,375,919 and total pledged revenue was $60,019,912.
Purpose: To advance refund $27,795,000 outstanding Public Service Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1995; to ad-
vance refund $18,485,000 outstanding Public Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 1994A; to currently refund
$17,240,000 outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1996; to prepay the remaining $18,049,794 obliga-
tion under the Reedy Creek Improvement District Interchange Cost-Sharing Agreement; and to provide
funds for acquiring additional environmentally sensitive lands and acquiring and improving parks and rec-
reational facilities.
Call provisions: Bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2014, are subject to redemption prior to their matur-
ity, at the option of the County in whole or in part (in such manner as determined by the County and by lot
within a maturity) on any date on or after October 1, 2013, without premium.

.102

$24,470,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1994A

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: May 1994
Final maturity: Year 2010
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 5.90 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first five cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Conven-
tion Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to
be paid on this series is $3,153,032. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was
$1,580,451 and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Advance refunding $23,010,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Se-
ries 1990.
Call provisions: Series 1994A bonds that remain outstanding are not subject to redemption prior to their
stated dates of maturity.
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.103

$177,890,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998A, and $137,620,000 Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998B

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: December 1998
Final maturity: Year 2024
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.25 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on these series is $285,651,968. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid or defeased on these series
was $110,320,690 and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Series 1998A—refunding $24,795,000 Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1986 and
$136,155,000 of Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1994B; Series 1998B—to acquire land, de-
sign and site improvement for the Convention Center Phase V and VI expansion improvements, and im-
provements to the existing Convention Center facilities.
Call provisions: Series 1998A and Series 1998B bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2010, are subject to
redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the County in whole or in part by lot on any date on or
after October 1, 2009 with no premium.
Series 1998A term bonds maturing on October 1, 2021 and 2024, are subject to mandatory redemption prior
to maturity in part by lot at no premium in the following principal amounts on the dates specified:

Term bonds maturing October 1, 2021
Date Amount

October 1, 2020 $4,130,000
October 1, 2021 (final maturity) 4,330,000

Term bonds maturing October 1, 2024
Date Amount

October 1, 2022 $33,940,000
October 1, 2023 35,555,000
October 1, 2024 (final maturity) 37,240,000

.104

$299,705,000 Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2000

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: July 2000
Final maturity: Year 2009
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rate: 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first five cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Conven-
tion Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to
be paid on this series is $9,558,125. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was
$9,578,500 and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: To pay a portion of the costs of the Phase V expansion of the Convention Center.
Call provisions: Series 2000 bonds that remain outstanding are not subject to redemption prior to their stated
dates of maturity.
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.105

$216,460,000 Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: March 2002
Final maturity: Year 2012
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.25 percent to 4.50 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement, for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue bonds, taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $5,136,387. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was $1,286,025
and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: To pay a portion of the costs of the Phase V expansion of the Convention Center.
Call provisions: Series 2002 bonds that remain outstanding are not subject to redemption prior to their stated
dated of maturity.

.106

$57,340,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2002A

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: May 2002
Final maturity: Year 2013
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.00 percent to 5.50 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $33,541,441. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was $6,755,532
and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Current refunding of the outstanding $58,165,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 1992A.
Call provisions: Series 2002A bonds are not subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to maturity.

.107

$17,330,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: September 2003
Final maturity: Year 2019
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 3.00 percent to 4.25 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $22,458,222. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was $792,790
and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Refunding $15,780,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1994B.
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Call provisions: Series 2003A bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2014, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County, in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after October 1,
2013, with no premium.

.108

$238,285,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: May 2005
Final maturity: Year 2031
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 3.50 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $386,771,132. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was
$12,003,725 and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Refunding $239,050,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2000.
Call provisions: Series 2005 bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2016, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County, in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after October 1,
2015, with no premium.

.109

$73,435,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2006

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: June 2006
Final maturity: Year 2032
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 3.65 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $151,854,539. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was $3,599,938
and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Refunding $70,475,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002.
Call provisions: Series 2006 bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2017, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after October 1, 2016,
with no premium.
Series 2006 term bonds maturing on October 1, 2024 and 2030, are subject to mandatory redemption prior
to maturity in part by lot at no premium in the following principal amounts on the dates specified:

Term Bonds maturing October 1, 2024
Date Amount

October 1, 2023 $2,290,000
October 1, 2024 (final maturity) 2,395,000

Term bonds maturing October 1, 2030
Date Amount

October 1, 2025 $125,000
October 1, 2026 130,000

(continued)
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October 1, 2027 135,000
October 1, 2028 140,000
October 1, 2029 145,000
October 1, 2030 (final maturity) 155,000

.110

$139,635,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2007

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: June 2007
Final maturity: Year 2030
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.00 percent to 4.75 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement all outstanding series of Tourist De-
velopment Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $252,928,278. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was $6,544,544
and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Refunding $136,380,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002.
Call provisions: Series 2007 bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2018, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County, in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after October 1,
2017, with no premium.

.111

$167,800,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: July 2007
Final maturity: Year 2021
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.00 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement all outstanding series of Tourist De-
velopment Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development Tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $239,045,475. For the fiscal year, principal and interest paid on this series was
$10,994,750 and total pledged revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Refunding $176,345,000 of the outstanding Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 1997.
Call provisions: Series 2007A bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2018, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County, in whole or in part by lot on any date on or after October 1,
2017, with no premium.

.112

$83,405,000 Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: September 2009
Final maturity: Year 2018
Principal payment date: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.00 percent to 5.00 percent
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Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for all outstanding series of Tourist
Development Tax Revenue Bonds taken as a whole, $74,832,550.
Revenue pledged: All of the first 5 cents of the Tourist Development tax levied by the County, Convention
Center net operating revenues, and investment earnings. The total principal and interest remaining to be
paid on this series is $106,412,313. For the fiscal year, no principal and interest was paid. Total pledged
revenue was $116,570,300.
Purpose: Current refunding of $43,630,000 of outstanding Tourist Development Tax Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 1998A and $45,300,000 of outstanding Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998B.
Call provisions: Series 2009 bonds are not subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to their stated
dates of maturity.

.113

$50,675,000 Water Utilities System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998

Type: Business-type Activities Revenue Bonds
Dated: February 1998
Final maturity: Year 2014
Principal payment dates: October 1
Interest payment dates: April 1 and October 1
Interest rates: 4.375 percent to 5.00 percent
Reserve requirement: The maximum annual debt service requirement for the outstanding Series 1998 bonds,
$3,981,500.
Revenue pledged: All of the Water Utilities System operating revenues and investment earnings. The total
principal and interest remaining to be paid on this series is $16,325,422. For the fiscal year, principal and
interest paid or defeased on this series was $23,017,595 and total pledged revenue was $33,656,473.
Purpose: To advance refund $47,725,000 of outstanding Water Utilities System Revenue Bonds, Series 1992.
Call provisions: Series 1998 bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2009, are subject to redemption prior to
their maturity, at the option of the County, in whole or in part by lot on any date on and after October 1,
2009, with no premium.

Bonded Indebtedness—Discretely-Presented Component Units

.114

Durham County Housing Finance Authority:

Bonds and other obligations issued by the Authority are payable, both as to principal and interest, solely
from the assets of the various housing programs which are pledged under the resolutions authorizing the
particular issues. These issues do not constitute an obligation, either general or special, of the County, the
State of Florida or of any local government therein. Neither the faith, credit and revenues nor the taxing
power of the County, the State of Florida or any local government therein shall be pledged to the payment
of the principal or interest on the obligations.
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The following is a summary of bonded indebtedness of the Authority as of September 30, 2009:

Amount
Outstanding

Multi-Family 1998 Series J and 2000 Series H, Variable Rate Demand
Revenue Bonds $15,415,000

Multi-Family Housing Revenue Bonds, 1995 Series A, 1997 Series A, D,
1998 Series A, C, D, 1999 Series A, E, G, I, L, 2000 Series E, F, 2001
Series A, C, F, G, 2002 Series A, C, D, E, G, H, 2004 Series A, 2005
Series A, B, C, D, 2006 Series B, 2007 Series A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J,
K, L, M, N, O, P and 2008 Series A 327,009,000

Multi-Family Housing Revenue Refunding Bonds 1995 Series, 1997
Series C, E, F, and 2001 Series E 82,100,000

Taxable Multi-Family Revenue Bonds, 1998 Series B, 1999 Series F, H, J,
M, 2000 Series G, 2001 Series D, H, and 2002 Series B, F 10,190,000

Single-Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, 1992 Series A, 1998 Series A,
1999 Series A, 2000 Series A, B, C, 2001 Series A, 2002 Series A, B, 2003
Series A, B, 2004 Series A, DD, 2006 Series A, and 2007 Series A, B 83,459,750

Total bonded indebtedness 518,173,750

Add unamortized bond premium 3,693,165
Less unamortized bond issuance costs (10,361,173)

Total bonded indebtedness net of unamortized discount/premium and
issuance costs (includes current portion of $3,780,000) $511,505,742

The following represents the debt service requirements to maturity for Authority bonded indebtedness as
of September 30, 2009 (in thousands):

Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $3,780 $12,563 $16,343
2011 1,555 12,494 14,049
2012 1,525 12,420 13,945
2013 955 12,352 13,307
2014 3,530 12,260 15,790

2015–2019 14,730 58,988 73,718
2020–2024 15,625 55,612 71,237
2025–2029 85,877 45,292 131,169
2030–2034 137,154 34,451 171,605
2035–2039 144,435 17,874 162,309
2040–2043 109,008 4,271 113,279

Totals $518,174 $278,577 $796,751

The following is summarized bond information relative to the bonded indebtedness of the Authority. De-
tailed disclosures are reported in the separate financial statements of the Authority.

Multifamily programs. The Authority uses bond proceeds to finance the construction or acquisition of multi-
family housing developments which are intended for occupancy in part by persons of low, moderate, and
middle income. Bonds are issued in the form of serial and term bonds with fixed or variable interest rates.
Bonds with fixed interest rates range from 4.60 percent to 9.00 percent. The interest rate on the variable rate
bonds is computed weekly by a remarketing agent at a rate that will price the bonds at a market value of
approximately 100 percent of the principal balance outstanding, plus accrued interest. Final maturity dates
for fixed and variable rate bonds range from 2010 to 2042. Assets of the programs are pledged for payment
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of principal and interest on the applicable bonds. Each issue is collateralized by a separate collateral pack-
age. In addition, certain assets are further restricted for payment of principal and interest in the event that
the related debt service and other available funds are insufficient.

Provisions of the bond resolutions provide for various methods of redemption. Bonds are to be redeemed
at par primarily from prepayments of mortgage loans securing the issues, from unexpended bond proceeds,
and excess program revenues. Bonds are generally redeemable at the option of the Authority at premiums
ranging up to 6.00 percent. Certain term bonds require mandatory sinking fund payments for their redemp-
tion.

Single-family programs. The Authority uses bond proceeds primarily to purchase mortgage loans from certain
qualified lending institutions and to purchase GNMA certificates to the extent mortgage loans are originated
by participating lenders on single family residences for persons of low to moderate income. Bonds are issued
in the form of serial, term, draw-down, or capital appreciation bonds with fixed or variable interest rates.
Bonds with fixed interest rates range from 2.70 percent to 7.03 percent. Final maturity dates for fixed and
variable rate bonds range from 2009 to 2039. Assets of the programs are pledged for payment of principal
and interest on the applicable bonds. Each issue is collateralized by a separate collateral package. In addi-
tion, certain assets are further restricted for payment of principal and interest in the event that the related
debt service and other available funds are insufficient.

Provisions of the bond resolutions provide for various methods of redemption. Bonds are to be redeemed
at par primarily from prepayments of mortgage loans securing the issues, from unexpended bond proceeds,
and excess program revenues. Bonds are generally redeemable at the option of the Authority at premiums
ranging up to 6.00 percent. Certain term bonds require mandatory sinking fund payments for their redemp-
tion.

Durham County Industrial Development Authority, Durham County Health Facilities Authority, and Dur-
ham County Educational Facilities Authority:

These Authorities serve to assist in the financing and refinancing of certain types of capital projects for third
parties. Revenue bonds issued are payable solely from moneys and other assets pledged under the inden-
tures of trust with the bond trustees and do not constitute debt of the Authorities. The Authorities serve
only as "conduit" agents for their respective bond issues. The County also has no financial obligation for
bonds issued by the Authorities. Therefore, the bonds outstanding are not reported in the accompanying
financial statements because neither the Authorities nor the County has any commitment for their repay-
ment.

The Industrial Development Authority assists with capital projects which will foster economic development.
From inception through the end of the 2009 fiscal year, approximately $594.8 million in revenue bonds have
been issued by the Authority. During the year ended September 30, 2009, the Authority issued $48,000,000
in industrial development revenue bonds. The aggregate principal amount outstanding for the bonds issued
after October 1, 1996, is approximately $266,065,000 at September 30, 2009.

The Health Facilities Authority assists with capital projects which serve to improve health-related facilities.
At September 30, 2009, the total outstanding principal of revenue bonds issued by the Authority was ap-
proximately $1.4 billion.

The Educational Facilities Authority assists with capital projects which serve to improve higher educational
facilities. At September 30, 2009, the total outstanding principal of revenue bonds issued by the Authority
was approximately $72 million.
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K. NOTES AND LOANS PAYABLE

Commercial Paper Notes

.115 The County has established a commercial paper program whereby Commercial Paper Notes issued
are secured by a pledge of the County’s non-ad valorem tax revenues. Proceeds from note issuances may be
used on various capital projects according to the specific authorizing resolutions.

Total active notes authorized as of September 30, 2009, was $332,000,000. Of that, notes in the total amount
of $125,536,000 had been issued. A total of $125,536,000 had been redeemed, leaving no outstanding princi-
pal balance at September 30, 2009. There were no transactions during fiscal year 2009. The status of the
authorized notes is as follows:

.116

$32,000,000 Commercial Paper Notes Authorized February 1996

Issuances—prior fiscal years: $29,000,000
Redemptions—prior fiscal years: $29,000,000
Redemption source: sales tax revenues, internal service user charges, and Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series
1998
Purpose: Courthouse construction project; various other capital projects of the County
Outstanding at September 30, 2009: none

.117

$30,000,000 Commercial Paper Notes Authorized June 1998

Issuances—none
Redemption source: operating revenues of the Water Utilities System
Purpose: Water Utilities System capital improvements
Outstanding at September 30, 2009: none

.118

$30,000,000 Commercial Paper Notes Authorized December 1999

Issuances—prior fiscal years: $28,936,000
Redemptions—prior fiscal years: $28,936,000
Redemption source: Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B
Purpose: Land acquisition for jail expansion; administrative and Sheriff’s Office buildings acquisition
Outstanding at September 30, 2009: none

.119

$90,000,000 Commercial Paper Notes Authorized September 2001

Issuances—prior fiscal years: $47,600,000
Redemptions—prior fiscal years: $47,600,000
Redemption source: Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, and sales tax revenues
Purpose: Jail facilities expansion
Outstanding at September 30, 2009: none

.120

$150,000,000 Commercial Paper Notes Authorized September 2006

Issuances—prior fiscal years: $20,000,000
Redemptions—prior fiscal years: $20,000,000
Redemption source: Sales Tax revenue bonds, Public Service Tax revenue bonds, or bonds payable from
other non-ad valorem revenues of the Board



282 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,400.121

Purpose: The various projects identified as the "Invest in Durham County, Our Children’s Legacy Initiative,"
including roadways, streetscaping, trails, pedestrian sidewalks and bridges, gymnasiums, regional com-
muter rail system, environmental lands, intersection improvements, and bus shelters.
Outstanding at September 30, 2009: none
The County’s commercial paper debt program is administered as follows: The notes mature within 270 days
of issuance, with interest payable at maturity based on market rates not to exceed 10 percent. The notes are
not subject to redemption prior to maturity. As each block of notes matures, new notes are issued to refi-
nance the principal amount, and current eligible revenues of the County are used to pay the interest amount
due. The County deactivated use of this program during fiscal year 2009 upon the expiration of its broker/
dealer and backup line of credit agreements and the termination of its issuance and paying agent agreement.
Outstanding obligations under this program, when any exist, are reported as long-term liabilities in the
government-wide statement of net assets of the County.

Bank Line of Credit Note—Durham County Library District

.121 In September 2003, the Durham County Library District obtained financing from a bank in an
amount not to exceed $7,500,000. The District used this facility to refund the $2,547,963 outstanding on its
prior bank revenue line of credit. At September 30, 2009, the District had $4,952,037 available under this
agreement for capital improvements.

Semiannual payments of $204,729, including interest at 3.3 percent, are due on February 1 and August 1 of
each year through 2010. The line of credit note is secured by a covenant to budget and appropriate non-ad
valorem revenues of the District sufficient to pay the principal and interest. Annual principal and interest to
maturity on the outstanding balance is as follows:

Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $399,543 $2,197 $401,740

State Revolving Fund Loan—Water Utilities System

.122 In June 2002, the County entered into a Clean Water State Revolving Fund Construction Loan
Agreement with the State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection. Funds are being utilized by
the Water Utilities System to finance Phases 2 and 3 of the construction of a central wastewater collection
system in an area of the county formerly served by septic tanks. The initial loan approved in 2002 was for a
total available amount of $8,457,900. This was reduced in fiscal year 2008 to the actual amount drawn of
$6,241,215 to reflect the final cost of Phase 2 of the construction project. In August of 2006, a second loan
was approved for Phase 3 of the project, in the additional amount of $8,339,312.

For the 2002 loan, the principal balance outstanding was $4,980,030 as of September 30, 2009. Semiannual
payments of $193,774, including interest at 3.09 percent, are due on March 15 and September 15 of each year,
through March 15, 2026.

For the 2006 loan, periodic draws have been made and eligibility remains for additional draws. The principal
balance outstanding was $6,040,867 as of September 30, 2009. Semiannual payments of $274,628, including
interest at 2.63 percent, will be due on January 15 and July 15 of each year, for a 14-year period beginning
January 2010.

The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these loans was $13,573,187 as of September 30,
2009. Principal and interest paid was $387,548. Total available pledged revenue, which consists of all of the
Water Utilities System operating revenues and investment earnings less bond debt service requirements,
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was $30,007,129 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009. Future principal and interest payments (in
thousands) required on the State Revolving Loans are as follows as of September 30, 2009:

Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $628 $309 $937
2011 646 291 937
2012 664 272 936
2013 683 254 937
2014 703 234 937

2015–2019 3,821 863 4,684
2020–2024 3,312 312 3,624
2025–2026 564 17 581

Totals $11,021 $2,552 $13,573

Loan Payable—Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts

.123 In May 2009, the Clerk entered into a loan agreement in the amount of $3,113,520 to assist with
funding current and prior years’ costs expended on a new Case Maintenance System (CMS). Proceeds and
use of proceeds related to this loan are accounted for in the Clerk’s Public Records Modernization Trust
Fund. Repayment of the loan is to be made in 10 equal annual payments of $412,075, beginning October 15,
2010 and ending October 15, 2019. The stated rate of interest is 4.89 percent. Because the loan repayment
does not begin in the month after the initial loan draw as is typical for most loans, the actual imputed
interest rate is approximately 5.45 percent. The loan can be paid off early with no penalty. The loan is
secured by a first lien on marriage and passport fees and a second lien on recording fees in the Clerk’s
Public Records Modernization Trust Fund.

Future annual debt service payments are as follows at September 30, 2009:

Year Ending September 30 Principal Interest Total

2010 $ — $ — $ —
2011 242,388 169,687 412,075
2012 255,598 156,477 412,075
2013 269,529 142,546 412,075
2014 284,218 127,857 412,075

Thereafter 2,061,787 410,666 2,472,453

Totals $3,113,520 $1,007,233 $4,120,753

L. LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital Leases

.124 The County has entered into various leasing agreements for vehicles, machinery and equipment.
The terms of these leases are such that the Board capitalized the leases as required by the lease topic of FASB
ASC. The obligations are reported in the government-wide statement of net assets of the County.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments applicable to governmental activities for
$687,579 of assets (all equipment assets) capitalized under lease agreements, and the net present value of
future minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2009:

Year Ending September 30 Amount

2010 $157,324
2011 71,304
2012 36,163

(continued)
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Year Ending September 30 Amount

Total minimum lease payments 264,791
Less amount representing interest (6,092)

Present value of future minimum
lease payments $258,699

There are no capital lease obligations outstanding at September 30, 2009, for business-type activities.

Operating Leases

.125 The primary government leases office facilities, branch library facilities, and equipment under var-
ious operating lease agreements which have noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year. The following
is a schedule by years of future minimum rentals on such leases as of September 30, 2009:

Year Ending September 30 Amount

2010 $8,993,723
2011 6,441,813
2012 4,583,426
2013 4,148,147
2014 3,259,346

2015–2019 2,470,258
2020 92,597

Total future minimum rentals $29,989,310

Rental expenditures on operating leases amounted to approximately $11.1 million for the year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2009. The primary government also leases other office facilities and equipment on a monthly
basis.

M. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES

.126 Interfund receivable and payable balances as of September 30, 2009, are detailed subsequently:

Due to/from other funds:
Receivable fund Payable fund Amount

General fund Nonmajor governmental funds $4,004,479
Fire Protection MSTU General fund 1,565,533
Nonmajor governmental funds General fund 1,711,827
Nonmajor governmental funds Nonmajor governmental funds 3,346,367
Water Utilities System Nonmajor governmental funds 70,000
Internal service funds General fund 335,806
Internal service funds Fiduciary funds 35,069

Total due to/from other funds $11,069,081

Advances to/from other funds:
Receivable fund Payable fund Amount

General fund Nonmajor governmental funds $1,200,000
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N. TRANSFERS TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

.127 Significant transfers between funds of the County included excess amounts from debt service
funds. Pledged revenues are placed in debt service funds when initially received. After debt service require-
ments are fulfilled, the excess amounts are then transferred to other funds for operating expenditure pur-
poses. Additionally, the Special Tax Equalization District special revenue fund collects the revenues neces-
sary for certain programs or functions, and then transfers them out for expenditure purposes. The
Convention Center fund records the transfer of available Tourist Development tax monies to other funds for
cultural tourism functions. The Water Utilities System enterprise fund transfers certain available funds an-
nually to the General Fund pursuant to Board resolution.

Interfund transfers for the 2009 fiscal year were as follows:

Transfers to

General Fund
Fire Protection

MSTU

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds Totals

Transfers from:
General Fund $ — $1,565,532 $15,242,072 $16,807,604
Sales Tax Trust 3,619,674 — 24,063,303 27,682,977
Nonmajor governmental

funds 167,004,274 — 88,511,770 255,516,044
Convention Center 2,380,483 — 2,844,194 5,224,677
Water Utilities System 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000

Totals $178,004,431 $1,565,532 $130,661,339 $310,231,302

The primary purpose of these interfund receivables and payables is to provide temporary loans for cash
flow needs, primarily associated with reimbursable grant programs.
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O. RESTRICTED ASSETS

.128 The use of certain assets is restricted by specific provisions of bond resolutions and agreements
with various outside parties. Restricted assets at September 30, 2009, consist of the following:

Cash and Cash
Equivalents Investments Totals

Convention Center

Bond interest $20,901,901 $ — $20,901,901
Bond principal 28,035,000 — 28,035,000
Bond reserve 40,482,548 34,490,340 74,972,888
Bond issuance costs 334,875 — 334,875
Sixth cent TDT 1,787,497 — 1,787,497
Hotel surcharge 15,936,164 — 15,936,164

Fund totals 107,477,985 34,490,340 141,968,325

Solid Waste System

Customer deposits 285,754 — 285,754

Fund totals 285,754 — 285,754

Water Utilities System

Operation and maintenance reserve 22,181,942 — 22,181,942
Net revenues 282 — 282
Bond principal 2,985,000 — 2,985,000
Bond interest 332,172 — 332,172
Renewal and replacement 7,730,458 — 7,730,458
Customer deposits 6,160,537 — 6,160,537
Rate stabilization 254,327 — 254,327
Loan debt service 169,808 — 169,808
Loan repayment reserve 761,119 — 761,119

Fund totals 40,575,645 — 40,575,645

Total restricted assets 148,339,384 34,490,340 182,829,724

Less: Current portion (83,935,887) — (83,935,887)

Restricted assets, noncurrent

portion $64,403,497 $34,490,340 $98,893,837
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P. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCIES

.129 As explained in note A, the Durham Drive Community Redevelopment Agency and the Durham
Blossom Trail Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) are blended component units of the County and
each is presented as a special revenue fund. As required by State statute, additional description of CRA
financial information during fiscal year 2009 is as follows:

International
Drive CRA

Durham Blossom
Trail CRA

Source of Deposits
County tax increment $9,731,887 $472,172
City of Orlando tax increment 868,724 342,694
Interest income 500,436 22,980

Total sources $11,101,047 $837,846

Purpose of Withdrawals
CRA administration $175 $303,943
Residential and commercial

development — 136,315
Roadway improvements 3,575,003 64,181
Neighborhood enhancements — 34,890

Total withdrawals $3,575,178 $539,329

CRA Indebtedness
Neither CRA has pledged incremental revenues or incurred any debt to

carry out their activities.

Q. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments Under Construction Contracts

.130 At September 30, 2009, the County had outstanding construction and operating contracts for vari-
ous projects totaling approximately $265 million.

Grants

.131 Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by gran-
tor agencies. If any expenditures are disallowed as a result of these audits, the claims for reimbursement to
the grantor agency would reduce receivables or become a liability of the County, or both. In the opinion of
management, any such adjustments would not be material to the County’s operating results or fund bal-
ances.

Litigation

.132 The County is a party in various lawsuits and other claims incidental to the ordinary course of its
operation, some of which are covered by the County’s risk management program (see note D). Although
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the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes the final out-
come will not have a material adverse impact on the County’s financial position.

Secondary Pledge of Constitutional Gas Tax

.133 The County’s share of the 80 percent portion of the two-cent Constitutional Gas Tax has been
pledged to repayment of the bonded debt of the City of Durham—Durham County Expressway Authority
(Authority). Florida law provides that any funds borrowed by the Authority from the County will be repaid
with interest at such time as the Authority deems practical. There were no borrowed funds outstanding at
September 30, 2009.

Advances to Other Governmental Agencies

.134 Under the provisions of a tri-party agreement with the City of Durham and the Civic Facilities
Authority (CFA), the County has advanced sums totaling $7,529,000 to the CFA. The County is committed
to advancing $200,000 annually until the year 2010, if necessary, to enable the CFA to meet debt service and
operating requirements. The advances do not bear interest. There is no repayment schedule or due date and
repayment is subordinate to certain other debt obligations of the CFA. Neither the receivable nor the equiv-
alent uncollectible allowance is shown in the financial statements.

Community Redevelopment Agencies

.135 Pursuant to State statute, various local jurisdictions have created 13 CRAs within the County, in-
cluding 2 formed by the County and reported as blended component units. Funding for these agencies is
derived from incremental ad valorem tax proceeds generated by improvements made within the CRA. The
County is obligated to pay to each CRA from its current year’s ad valorem tax proceeds the increment
related to taxable property improvements made since the designated "base year." Other jurisdictions which
have created CRAs are the Cities of Durham, Durham Park, Ocoee, Ft. Durham, Durhamville, Avondale,
and Durham Garden. The total amount paid to CRAs by the County amounted to $29,964,594 for the 2009
fiscal year.

Durham Blossom Trail Improvements

.136 In 1987, the County created 2 MSTUs for properties situated on and in the immediate environs of
South Durham Blossom Trail (US 441), from Interstate 4 to the Beach Line Expressway. These MSTUs are
reported as a part of the Municipal Service Districts’ special revenue funds. The purpose of the MSTUs was
to fund capital costs and ongoing maintenance for enhanced improvements to a US 441 road widening
project by the State of Florida, and thereby stimulate economic revitalization. The enhanced improvements
consisted of streetscape/landscape features and undergrounding of utilities for the segment of US 441 noted
previously. When the State initiated the widening project in 1993, the MSTUs had not raised sufficient funds
to pay for all of the planned enhancements. At that time, the County elected to use Local Option Gas Taxes
and Public Service Taxes in the combined amount of $8.8 million to cover the difference, with an under-
standing that the MSTUs would be able to reimburse this amount in subsequent fiscal years.

Due to the ongoing maintenance costs of the completed project, less than expected growth in MSTU reve-
nues and property tax reform, actual project reimbursements from the MSTUs have totaled only $630,000.
Reimbursements from unspent project funds totaled an additional $759,000, leaving an unreimbursed total
of approximately $7.4 million as of the end of fiscal year 2009. Reimbursements from the MSTUs in subse-
quent fiscal years will be made as funds are available; however, management’s current expectation is that
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most of the amount outstanding will remain unreimbursed at the time the MSTUs are scheduled to sunset
in fiscal year 2018. There is no repayment schedule, and the unreimbursed amounts are not shown in the
financial statements.

Transportation Impact Fee Credits

.137 The County has entered into a number of agreements with developers under which the developer
donates transportation infrastructure improvements or rights of way to the County and receives credit for
future transportation impact fee payments. As of September 30, 2009, credit balances for future impact fees
total approximately $25.4 million.

Hightower Loan Commitment

.138 Under a 2001 agreement, the County committed to provide a no-interest loan of $2.2 million to
Hightower Hotel, LLC (Hightower) toward Hightower’s costs of construction of an above-ground pedes-
trian walkway which will connect the County’s Convention Center (Center) and a hotel to be constructed
adjacent to the Center. The loan was disbursed to Hightower using funds from the Center’s enterprise fund,
in two increments: one-half when construction commenced, and the remainder at completion of the walk-
way. Repayment of the loan to the County will begin when the hotel opens for business, with quarterly
payments of no less than 0.5 percent of the hotel’s gross room rental revenue for the prior quarter. The entire
loan amount must be repaid no later than six years from the date the hotel opens. The first half of the loan
was advanced to Hightower in June 2007, and the remaining half was advanced in September 2009.

R. BUDGETARY LEGAL COMPLIANCE AND FUND DEFICITS

.139 For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, no excess of expenditures over appropriations at the
legal level of budgetary control occurred except as follows. No budgets were adopted for the Sheriff’s Health
Insurance and Workers’ Compensation internal service funds contrary to the requirements of Florida stat-
utes. Operating revenues received as charges for services in these internal service funds were budgeted as
expenditures in the General Fund.

The Sheriff intends to eliminate the deficit balance in the Sheriff Workers’ Compensation internal service
fund through effective claims management and additional future charges to the General Fund.

S. PROVISION FOR CLOSURE COSTS

.140 As explained in note A, current regulations of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the
Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) require municipal solid waste landfills to place a
final cover on closed landfill areas, and to maintain those areas for up to 30 years after closure. The County
periodically obtains updated and revised estimates of total future closure and postclosure costs from its
consulting engineers. All amounts recognized are based on what it would cost to perform closure and po-
stclosure functions in current dollars. Actual costs may be different due to inflation, changes in technology,
or changes in laws and regulations.

The internal landfills have ceased operation. Required closure work is complete and the entire estimated
future cost for postclosure maintenance is reported as a long-term liability of the Governmental Activities
on the government-wide statement of net assets. These costs are recognized as governmental fund expen-
ditures as they become obligations to be liquidated with available financial resources, using resources in two
special revenue funds: the Transportation Trust and the Miscellaneous Construction Projects funds.
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For the public landfill, accounted for in the Solid Waste System (System) enterprise fund, expenses associ-
ated with final closure and postclosure maintenance of landfill areas are recognized over the active life of
those areas. These costs are recognized in each operating period based on the amount of waste received
during that period, regardless of when cash disbursements are made for these costs. The cumulative effect
of updated and revised estimates of closure-related costs is recognized in the period of the change to the
extent it relates to current and past operations.

The total unrecognized closure and postclosure costs attributable to the currently active areas of the public
landfill are approximately $219 million. These costs will be recognized in future periods as the remaining
capacity of approximately 38.1 million tons is filled. As of September 30, 2009, the active landfill areas were
filled to approximately 3 percent and 14 percent of capacity for areas 2A, cell 2, and 9–12, respectively. The
current landfill facilities are expected to provide the needed capacity through 2056.

The County is required by FDEP annually to show proof of ability to finance closure and postclosure costs,
and has done so by fulfilling the requirements of the financial test provision of the regulation. In addition,
the County is making deposits to a closure costs account in the System enterprise fund to provide for the
financing of future closure activities of the public landfill. The balance in this account as of September 30,
2009, was approximately $31.8 million. The liability for closure and postclosure activities, calculated in ac-
cordance with GASB Statement 18 and reported on the System’s balance sheet, was approximately $52.8
million as of September 30, 2009.

T. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Library District

.141 On October 1, 2009, the Library District paid off the outstanding balance on the Bank Revenue Line
of Credit Note to save $7,700 in interest.

Durham County Health Facilities Authority

.142 On October 15, 2009, $167,035,000 of Series 2009A bonds and $150,000,000 of Series 2009B, 2009C-
1, and 2009C-2 bonds were issued on behalf of Durham Foundation. On December 1, 2009, $241,135,000 of
Series 2009 bonds were issued on behalf of Durham Health, Inc. primarily to refund its Series 1999D, 1999E,
2004, 2008D, 2008F, and 2008G bonds.

Durham County Housing Finance Authority

.143 On December 23, 2009, the Durham County Housing Finance Authority issued $47,000,000 of Tax-
able Multifamily Mortgage Revenue Bonds NIBP Series 2009A; $30,000,000 Homeowner Mortgage Revenue
Bonds NIBP Series 2009, and $15,200,000 Tax Exempt Non-AMT, Multifamily 2009 Series. These bond issues
are for multifamily rental housing projects and single family mortgage loans. Bonds issued under the New
Issue Bond Program (NIBP) must be used by December 31, 2010.
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292 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,400.145

.145

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Employer Contributions

Year Ended
September 30

Annual Required
Contribution (ARC)

Percentage of ARC
Contributed*

2009 $1,844,299 65%
2008 931,296 108
2007 1,217,763 87
2006 514,803 117
2005 586,329 126
2004 747,233 100

*Plan is on a calendar year. The District made its required
contributions based on the calendar year.
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FSP §13,400.146

.146

Durham County

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial Valuation Dates

09/30/09 09/30/08 09/30/07

Actuarial Value of Assets [a] $21,252,791 $12,094,128 $6,221,354

Actuarial Accrued Liability
(AAL) - Frozen Entry Age [b] $98,457,536 $91,318,669 $92,410,467

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a] $77,204,745 $79,224,541 $86,189,113

Funded Ratio [a/b] 21.59% 13.24% 6.73%

Covered Payroll [c] $486,465,249 $476,252,158 $459,952,672

UAAL as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll [(b-a)/c] 15.87% 16.63% 18.73%

September 30, 2007, was the first fiscal year that an actuarial valuation was performed on the
County’s Other Postemployment Benefits Plan.
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FSP §13,400.147

.147

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Employer Contributions

Year Ended
September 30

Annual Required
Contribution (ARC)

Percentage of ARC
Contributed

2009 $8,346,141 150%
2008 8,162,745 120%
2007 7,616,400 126%
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FSP §13,400.148

.148

Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial Valuation Dates
09/30/08 09/30/07

Actuarial Value of Assets [a] $ — $ —

Actuarial Accrued Liability
(AAL) - Frozen Entry Age [b] $7,236,488 $6,642,820

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a] $7,236,488 $6,642,820

Funded Ratio [a/b] — —

Covered Payroll [c] $23,483,981 $21,465,620

UAAL as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll [(b-a)/c] 30.81% 30.95%

September 30, 2007, is the first fiscal year that an actuarial valuation was
performed on the Clerk’s Other Postemployment Benefits Plan. No actuarial
valuation was performed on 09/30/09.
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FSP §13,400.149

.149

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Employer Contributions

Year Ended
September 30

Annual Required
Contribution (ARC)

Percentage of ARC
Contributed

2009 $654,066 63%
2008 612,019 36%
2007 553,489 30%
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FSP §13,400.150

.150

Durham County Library District

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial Valuation Dates

01/01/08 01/01/07 01/01/06

Actuarial Value of Assets [a] $1,774,526 $ — $ —

Actuarial Accrued Liability
(AAL) - Frozen Entry Age [b] $8,707,308 $8,795,452 $8,897,196

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) [b-a] $6,932,782 $8,795,452 $8,897,196

Funded Ratio [a/b] 20.38% 0.00% 0.00%

Covered Payroll [c] $10,432,375 $9,861,900 $8,386,327

UAAL as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll [(b-a)/c] 66.45% 89.19% 106.35%

January 1, 2006, is the first year that an actuarial valuation was performed on the District’s Other
Postemployment Benefits Plan.



298 State and Local Governments

FSP §13,400.151

.151

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Employer Contributions

Year Ended
September 30

Annual Required
Contribution (ARC)

Percentage of ARC
Contributed

2009 $1,124,658 100%
2008 1,627,892 100
2007 1,624,422 100



Your Opinion Matters

Thank you for selecting this publication for your accounting or auditing needs.

At the AICPA, we strive to provide the most useful publications available to the profession, which have been
produced with the highest quality. Responsiveness to our members and the profession as a whole is our
hallmark. We rely on feedback from our users to continually hone and improve our products.

Please take a few moments to let us know what you think of this edition. Does it meet your needs? Is it written
clearly? Is it comprehensive in its coverage? Is it easy to use? If not, how can we improve it?

Send your feedback by e-mail to A&APublications@aicpa.org.

Please note the name and edition of the publication, answers to the preceding questions, and anything else
you would like to share with us. Your feedback will help us improve subsequent editions and better serve
you.

Do you want to help even more?

Consider participating in a focus or advisory group related to this subject matter. If you are interested in, and
available for, participating in such a group, please be sure to include that information in your e-mail.

Thank you in advance for taking the time to write. We appreciate your feedback!



Additional Publications for Your Financial Reporting Library
Checklists and Illustrative Financial Statements 
AICPA publishes a full range of Checklists to help you prepare financial statements and assist you in determining the 
adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements you’re auditing. 

AICPA Checklists include:
Corporations •	

Defined Benefit Pension Plans •	

Defined Contribution Pension Plans•	

Depository and Lending Institutions•	

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans •	

Health Care Entities•	

Life and Health Insurance Entities•	

Not-for-Profit Entities •	

Property & Liability Insurance Entities•	

State and Local Governments•	  

Supplements to Corporations Checklist 
Real Estate Ventures and Construction Contractors •	

Investment Companies•	

Audit and Accounting Guides – Industry Guides
Airlines•	

Brokers and Dealers in Securities•	

Casinos •	

Construction Contractors  •	

Depository and Lending Institutions: Banks and Savings  •	
Institutions, Credit Unions, Finance Companies, and  
Mortgage Companies  

Employee Benefit Plans•	

Entities With Oil and Gas Producing Activities •	

Health Care Entities  •	

Investment Companies  •	

Life & Health Insurance Entities •	

Not-for-Profit Entities  •	

Property and Liability Insurance Entities •	

State and Local Governments  •	

For these titles and other AICPA publications, sets, and bundles, get complete details - including table of 
contents, excerpts, availability and ordering information – by visiting the AICPA Store at   

www.cpa2biz.com/publications or call 1-888-777-7077

Other  Guides
Analytical Procedures •	

Assessing and Responding to Audit •	
Risk In a Financial Statement Audit 

Audit Sampling•	

Auditing Derivative Instruments, •	
Hedging Activities, and Investments  
in Securities   

Auditing Revenue in Certain Industries  •	

Compilation and Review Engagements•	

Government Auditing Standards•	  and  
Circular A-133 Audits  

Prospective Financial Information•	



AICPA Online Professional Library
AICPA online professional library is an electronic research tool that combines the power and speed of the Web with  
comprehensive accounting and auditing literature. Through this online subscription to the AICPA Complete Library, you’ll get:

Robust search engine — helps you narrow down your research to find your results quickly •	

Links between titles —no need to search for the related information, AICPA online professional library •	
links all of the relevant materials for quick access and answers 

Improved document referencing — more easily identify your location in the literature •	

Quick Find — separates the literature by document type or subject matter so you can browse the materials •	

Timely updates — new standards and conforming changes are added to keep you current with all of the  •	
authoritative guidance

AICPA Complete Library includes the following:
AICPA Professional Standards •	

AICPA Technical Practice Aids •	

AICPA Audit & Accounting Manual •	

PCAOB Standards & Related Rules •	

Accounting Trends & Techniques•	

IFRS Accounting Trends & Techniques•	

All current AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides •	

All current Audit Risk Alerts •	

All current Checklists and Illustrative Financial Statements •	

You can also add the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ and the GASB Library

AICPA Complete Library with FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ and GASB 
Library, one-year individual online subscription 
No. WGLBY12

AICPA Complete Library and FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ ,  
one-year individual online subscription 
No. WFLBY12

AICPA Complete Library, one-year individual online subscription 
No. WALBY12

AICPA online professional library offers a range of online subscription options  
with pricing available for single products and single subscribers up to complete libraries for  

multi users – log onto www.cpa2biz.com/library for details. 
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